



Welfare investigations in farmed lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus* L.) used for sea lice control in the salmon industry



Carolina Gutiérrez Rabadán

Submitted to Swansea University in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (October 2021)

Copyright: The author, Carolina Gutiérrez Rabadán, 2022.

"En aquel nuevo paisaje, la inteligencia se centraba en encontrar modos de sobrevivir entre pezuñas y cuernos, colmillos y garras. Ese mismo instinto guía el método científico; saber equivale a progreso, progreso equivale a supervivencia."

JUAN FUEYO

"In that new landscape, intelligence was focused on finding ways to survive between hooves and horns, fangs and claws. That same instinct guides the scientific method; knowledge equals to progress; progress equals to survival."

JUAN FUEYO

Summary

Lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus* L.) are commercially important species used world-wide since 2008 as cleaner fish to control sea lice (*Lepeophtheirus salmonis*), one of the most significant parasites affecting Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and costing the industry over 500M \in annually. However, lumpfish mortalities in sea cages can be as high as 100%, raising welfare concerns on whether their use continue to be acceptable. The industry is under scrutiny by both government agencies and non-governmental organisations to improve lumpfish welfare, but they do not provide much direction as welfare standards are not developed yet for this species. This thesis examined novel ways to monitor welfare in farmed lumpfish in order to increase the sustainability and ethical use of lumpfish in aquaculture.

Chapter 1 reviewed the bases of fish welfare as well as lumpfish biology, use as cleaner fish and main challenges within the aquaculture industry. Chapter 2 developed and tested a practical, easy-to-use, validated and highly repeatable (ICC=0.83) scoring index combining six Operational Welfare Indicators to measure lumpfish welfare under farm conditions. Chapter 3 found welfare deterioration in sea cages to be dependent on time spent at sea and to be worse in smaller fish. Welfare monitoring should be particularly regular during the first months post-transfer at sea. Chapter 4 found differences in welfare, growth, feeding preferences and gut microbiota between different genetic stocks of lumpfish, with Icelandic lumpfish growing faster, showing better welfare and ingesting more formulated pellets than Scottish lumpfish. Significant associations in the gut microbiota were identified between compromised welfare and *Candidatus branchiomonas* and high plasma cortisol and *Clostridium*, suggesting these could be used as potential biomarkers. Chapter 5 investigated the effect of sea lice ingestion in lumpfish welfare and gut health and found that sea lice ingestion did not have any influence and is not detrimental for lumpfish welfare.

Welfare investigations under commercial conditions proved that lumpfish welfare status (measured by using individual morphological indicators) deteriorates in time when stocked in salmon net pens, resulting in an increase of these scores, which also differ between commercial sites and populations under the same conditions. The ability of monitoring welfare in regular basis serves as an early warning for health and welfare issues and the application of the index along the knowledge withdrawn from this thesis will help farmers to identify critical periods where lumpfish welfare starts deteriorating, as well as provide scientific reference to policy developers, welfare organisations and NGOs and quality assurance schemes. In this sense, welfare standards for these novel species can be developed, and corrective actions can be taken before any issues progress into mortalities. This will enhance the sustainability of the lumpfish industry and will reduce economic costs of sea lice management, mitigating environmental impacts for not using chemotherapeutants at sea and improving salmon welfare overall.

Declaration and Statements

I, **Carolina Gutiérrez Rabadán**, declare that this work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed

Date 21/10/2021

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used, the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s). A bibliography is appended.

Signed

Date 21/10/2021

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed

Date 21/10/2021

The University's ethical procedures have been followed and, where appropriate, that ethical approval has been granted

Signed

Date 21/10/2021

Authorship Declaration

The following people contributed to the publication of work undertaken as part of this thesis.

Role	Name	Institution	Chapter
Candidate	Carolina Gutierrez Rabadan (CGR)	Swansea University	2
Author 1	Sonia Consuegra (SC)	Swansea University	2
Author 2	Carlos Garcia de Leaniz (CGL)	Swansea University	2

Scientific publication

Gutierrez Rabadan, C., Spreadbury, C., Consuegra, S. and Garcia de Leaniz, C. (2021). Development, validation and testing of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. Aquaculture, 531, 735777.

Contribution

The experiment was conceived and designed by CGL and SC, and CGR contributed with the study idea. CGL, SC and KESS-2 secured funding. Laboratory work was conducted by CGR. CGR and CGL analysed data and prepared tables and figures. CGR, CGL and SC authored and reviewed the manuscript, and all authors approved the final draft.

We, the undersigned, agree with the Authorship Contribution stated above and agree to the inclusion of this work within the current thesis:

Candidate



Table of Contents

Summary	iii
Declaration and Statements	iv
Authorship Declaration	v
Table of Contents	vi
Acknowledgements	xi
List of abbreviations	xii
List of tables	xvi
List of figures	xviii

Chapter 1 General introduction	1
Animal welfare	1
Fish welfare	2
Aquaculture and welfare of farmed fish	4
Fish welfare assessment	5
Implications of welfare for health, performance and productivity	6
Stress responses in fish	8
Fish microbiome	9
Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.)	11
Sea lice threatening the salmon industry	12
Sea lice control	14
Use of cleaner fish in the salmon industry	18
Main challenges in the use of lumpfish	18
Thesis aims and objectives	22

Chapter 2 Development and validation of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. 25

Abstract	25
Introduction	26
Materials and methods	28

Development of the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI)	28
Selection and screening of Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs)	28
Sample collection	28
Welfare Score description	29
Validation of selected individual based OWIs	30
Reliability	31
Construct validity	31
Plasma cortisol analysis	31
Refinement and simplification	32
Pilot trial	32
Statistical analyses	33
Results	34
Selection of Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs)	34
Utility of welfare indicators for lumpfish	34
Prevalence and variation in OWIs	34
Variation of body condition and incidence of underweight/emaciated fish	35
Variation in plasma cortisol	35
Validation of OWIs	36
Reliability	36
Construct validity	36
Refinement and simplification	36
Pilot trial: LOWSI testing and application	37
Discussion	38
Acknowledgements	42
Tables	43
Figures	50

Chapter 3Changes in growth and welfare of lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus L.over time in a longitudinal study56

Abstract	56
Introduction	57

Materials and methods	59
Experimental fish	59
Experimental set up	59
Sample collection	59
Stomach content analysis	60
DNA extraction and amplification	60
Microsatellite and genotype analysis	60
Parental assignment	61
Statistical analysis	61
Results	63
Relative abundance of lumpfish of different origins	63
Changes in body size and condition between origins and over time	63
Changes in welfare between origins and over time	64
Changes in the prevalence of sea lice and pellets in stomachs over time	65
Discussion	66
Acknowledgements	69
Tables	70
Figures	71

Chapter 4 Feeding preferences, growth and gut microbial communities of two stocks of lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus L. deployed in a common sea cage 73

Abstract	73
Introduction	74
Material and methods	76
Sample collection and fish tagging	76
Growth rate	77
Welfare scores	77
Plasma cortisol determination	77
Stomach content analysis	78
Microbiome analysis	79
Bioinformatic analysis	80
Statistical analysis	80

Results	83
Comparison between stocks in body size, condition, welfare and cortisol levels	83
Growth and changes in welfare scores of individually tagged lumpfish	
before and after deployment at sea	83
Stomach content analysis	84
Microbial analyses: diversity and structure	85
Microbial analyses: differential abundance of taxa	86
Discussion	87
Acknowledgements	90
Tables	91
Figures	93

Chapter 5 Effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. welfare and gut health 101

Abstract	101
Introduction	102
Materials and Methods	105
Fish sampling	105
Welfare scores	105
Sea lice ingestion analysis	105
DNA extraction, 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing and bioinformatic analysi	s 106
Microbiome network construction and comparison	106
Statistical analysis	107
Results	108
Lumpfish welfare	108
Variation in delousing efficiency	108
Relationship between sea lice ingestion, body size and condition, welfare sc	ores
and cortisol response	108
Relationship between sea lice ingestion and diversity of microbiome	
communities	109

Characterization of lumpfish gut microbial communities and DA analysis	109
Network quantitative comparison	110
Discussion	111
Acknowledgements	114
Tables	115
Figures	119
Chapter 6 General discussion and conclusions	124
Lumpfish welfare and stress	125
Lumpfish transfer and deployment at sea	126
Lumpfish microbial communities	127
Sea lice ingestion	128
Stock differentiation	129
Lumpfish underweight and emaciation	129
Conclusions	130

References

131

Appendix

Supplementary tables	154
Supplementary figures	168
Ethics Approval	
R Scripts	
Scientific publication	137

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my first and second supervisors Prof. Carlos Garcia de Leaniz and Prof. Sonia Consuegra del Olmo for their guidance, advice and endless knowledge and for giving me the opportunity to expand my professional career in their research team. I thank the academic and commercial partners KESS-II and Ocean Matters Ltd. for funding and Centre for Sustainable Aquaculture Research (CSAR) for providing fish, this thesis would have not been possible without any of them.

Although I have seen them all go, I have been lucky to be part of a big community of post-graduate students at Swansea University and I am especially grateful to my office colleagues (Naha, Jess, Frances, Matt and Sergio) for making my journey more cheerful and make me smile. I also want to thank all the team at CSAR (Paul, Becky, Craig, Rob and Ben) for their help, always making themselves available to lend a hand if needed. I also thank my friend Nuria Illan for her creativity and help designing the fantastic cover of this thesis.

And finally, I would like to thank my family for their continuous support during these years, especially to my wife Yolanda for her infinite patience and love, for encouraging me to chase my dreams and help me keep my feet on the ground at the same time. I also thank Bruno and Bimba, my two mini-Dachshunds, for their unconditional love and company, always by my side in this journey, even when writing these lines.



This work is part-funded by the European Social Fund (ESF) through the European Union's Convergence programme administered by the Welsh Government.

List of abbreviations

%FO	Frequency of occurrence (%)
°C	Degree Celsius
μΜ	Micromolar
μl	Microlitres
16S rRNA	16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid
6-FAM	6-carboxyfluorescein
aa	Aminoacetophenone
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropin hormone
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
AL	Artificial light
am	Ante meridiem (before midday)
AMR	Antimicrobial-resistant
ARI	Adjusted Rand Index
ASVs	Amplicon Sequence Variants
bp	Base pairs
C. gigas	Crassostrea gigas
CI	Confidence intervals
CIWF	Compassion in World Farming
CNS	Central Nervous System
corr	Correlation
CpG-ODN	CpG oligodeoxynucleotides
CRH	Corticotropin-releasing hormone
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
CSAR	Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Research
CV	Coefficient of variation
DA	Differential abundance
DADA	Divisive Amplicon Denoising Algorithm
DESeq	Differential gene expression analysis
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dph	Days post-hatch

e.g.	for example
ED	Eye darkening
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunoassay
EST	Expressed sequence tag
et al.	et alia (and others)
EURLFD	European Union Reference Laboratory for Fish Diseases
F	Forward
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FT	Flow-through
g	Grams
G	Gravid
GDs	Gene drives
GI	Gastrointestinal
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GLM	Generalized linear model
HPI	Hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal
HSP	Heat-shock proteins
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
IQR	Interquartile
IRI	Index of Relative Importance
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
kg	Kilogram
kH	Kilohertz
Lat	Latitude
LM	Linear model
LMM	Linear mixed model
ln	Logarithm (natural)
Long.	Longitude
LOWSI	Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index
LR	Label Rouge

LWR	Length-weight relationship		
m	Metres		
Μ	Million		
mclr	Modified central log ratio		
min	Minutes		
mm	Millimetres		
MOS	Mannan oligosaccharides		
MS-222	Tricaine methanesulfonate		
Ν	North		
NED	2'-chloro-5'-fluoro-7',8'-benzo-1,4-dichloro-6-carboxyfluorescein		
NetCoMi	Network Construction and Comparison for Microbiome data		
NFSA	Norwegian Food and Safety Authority (Mattilsynet)		
ng/ml	Nanograms per millilitre		
NGO	Non-governmental organization		
NGS	Next-generation sequencing		
NL	Natural light		
nm	Nanometres		
nM	Nanomolar		
$nmol \cdot l^{-1}$	Nanomole per litre		
obs.	Observation		
OD	Optical density		
OIE	Office International des Epizooties		
OTUs	Operational Taxonomic Units		
OWI(s)	Operational Welfare Indicator(s)		
Padj	Adjusted p-value		
PCA	Principal Component Analysis		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PCs	Principal Components		
PE	Paired-end		
PERMANOVA Permutational ANOVA			
PERMDISP	Permutational analysis of multivariate dispersions		
pg/ml	Picograms per millilitre		

pН	Potential of hydrogen
PIT	Passive integrated transponder
pm	Post meridiem (after midday)
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
QIIME	Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology
R	Reverse
R1, R2	Rater #1, #2
RAS	Recirculating aquaculture system
RONC	Remote operated net cleaner
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RSPCA	Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals
S	Seconds
SE	Standard error
SGR	Specific Growth Rate
SIMPER	Similarity of Percentages
SP1	Sampling point 1
SP2	Sampling point 2
SRUC	Scotland's Rural College
SSRs	Simple sequence repeats
STR	Short tandem repeat
t1, t2	Time #1, #2
T1,T2	Time-points 1 and 2
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TL	Total length
U	Units
VIC	2'-chloro-7'phenyl-1,4-dichloro-6-carboxy-fluorescein
W	West
WI	Welfare Indicator
Wr	Relative weight
Ws	Standard weight
ZIP	Zero-inflated Poisson
ρ	Spearman's correlation coefficient

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Overview of different sea lice control strategies (preventive and treatments) for *L. salmonis*, unless indicated. Sources: Costello (1993), Rae (2002), Igboeli et al. (2014), Aaen et al. (2015), Holan et al. (2017), Overton et al. (2019), Barrett et al. (2020b).

Table 1.2. Most common welfare indicators used in the aquaculture of different fish species.

Table 1.3. Summary of factors affecting delousing behaviour in lumpfish.

Table 2.1. Questionnaire given to 53 participants at the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture, held on the 14th of May 2019 at Swansea.

Table 2.2. Length-weight regression (LWR) coefficients for farmed lumpfish sampled at different life stages (S1-S4), where Ws = standard weight (g) and TL = total length (mm).

Table 2.3. Rapid visual scoring of the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI).

Table 2.4. Questionnaire given to fish farmers (n=8) to test the practicality of the LOWSI.

Table 2.5. Repeatability of different operational welfare indicators (OWIs) and products from the PCA (PC1, PC2), based on the inter- and intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) of two raters (R1 and R2) that randomly scored the lumpfish.

Table 3.1. Summary of body size (BW and TL) and condition (Wr) data according to cage, origin, genetic stock and sampling time point. BW=body weight, TL=total length. Values are represented as mean \pm SD=standard deviation. Variance between time-points was significantly different for body weight and total length, but not for body condition (Wr).

Table 4.1. Lumpfish diet composition indices by genetic stock (Icelandic, n=26; Scottish, n=30). %FO: frequency of occurrence (absence/presence method); %N: percentage by number (numerical abundance method); %W: percentage by weight (gravimetric method); IRI: Index of Relative Importance.

Table 4.2. Bacterial communities (n=15) associated to the Scottish stock with stats and *p* value, using multi-level pattern analysis within the IndicSpecies package (De Caceres et al., 2020) with association function='r.g' (Pearson's phi coefficient) and α =0.01. p-values were corrected using the False Discovery Rate (FDR) method (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995). ASV=Amplicon sequence variant. D5=Genus, D4=Family.

Table 5.1. Most representative (strongest) microbial associations within non-delouser lumpfish. Positive (+) associations indicate cooperation while negative (-) associations indicate competition.

Table 5.2. Most representative (strongest) microbial associations within delouser lumpfish. Positive (+) associations indicate cooperation while negative (-) associations indicate competition.

Table 5.3. Results for quantitative network comparison in non-delouser lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=10; Good welfare, n=6) on genus-level via permutation tests (n=1000).

Table 5.4. Results for quantitative network comparison in delouser lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=13; Good welfare, n=5) on genus-level via permutation tests (n=1000).

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal axis involved in the fish stress response.

Figure 2.1. Figure 1.2. Sea lice life cycle (adapted from the Marine Institute). Stages out of the circle represent free swimming stages while stages within the circle are attached to the host.

Figure 2.1. Flow chart used to develop an operational welfare score index for farmed lumpfish.

Figure 2.2. Diverging stacked bar plot showing the variation in operational welfare indicators (OWI) in lumpfish sampled from hatcheries (A, n=60) and sea cages (B, n=35).

Figure 2.3. PCA plot with variables and their contribution (A) and PCA biplot showing variables and individuals (B), separated by stage of development: predeployment or hatchery stage (yellow triangles) and post-deployment or sea cage stage (blue circles).

Figure 2.4. Variation of body condition (relative weight, %) by stage of development. Lumpfish with normal body condition (Wr>90%) are shown in pink, while underweight (Wr=75-90%) and emaciated (Wr<75%) lumpfish are shown in green and blue, respectively.

Figure 2.5. Variation in plasma cortisol (ng/ml) of lumpfish (n=55) sampled from two hatcheries (S3 – Pre-deployment) and one sea farm (S4 – Post-deployment).

Figure 2.6. Variation in the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) pilot trial at six commercial sites (n=245 lumpfish): three hatcheries and three sea farms. The proportion of the lumpfish belonging to each of the welfare classes are represented by colour degradation in the violin plots: green for Class A (Good welfare), orange for Class B (Moderately compromised welfare) and red for Class C (Severely compromised welfare).

Figure 3.1. Lumpfish individual body weights (**a**) and total lengths (**b**) of each origin (English in pink, n=84; Norwegian in blue, n=236) at each of the time-point (1: Nov 2018, three weeks post-deployment; 2: Jan 2019, three months post-deployment). Error bars show the distribution of the data (-SD, +SD) with mean trajectories for each origin over time (continuous line for English and dotted line for Norwegian lumpfish). An interaction effect between the predictor variables (origin and time point) is shown.

Figure 3.2. a) Body condition (or relative weight, % Wr) distribution in each of the genetic origins (English, n=84; Norwegian, n=236) at each time-point (1: three weeks, 2: three months). An interaction effect between the predictor variables of body condition is shown. **b)** Variation in welfare scores (LOWSI) between lumpfish origins

and time-points (English: 1, n=43, 2, n=41; Norwegian: 1, n=117, 2, n=119).

Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of the number of lumpfish used for each analysis within the common garden experiment. Credits: Salmon (clipart-library.com), lumpfish (Philopic).

Figure 4.2. Distribution of body size (body weight and total length) and condition (Wr) in each stock of sampled lumpfish (n=142; Icelandic, n=86; Scottish, n=56).

Figure 4.3. Spaghetti plots (left) showing individual trajectories in body weight (g), total length (mm) and body condition/relative weight (%) of individually tagged Scottish lumpfish (n=55) before and after deployment at sea. Pink lines show individuals belonging to Class A (n=28), while turquoise lines represent individuals from Class B (n=27). The bar plots (right) summarise the Specific Growth Rate (SGR, %) for body weight (g) and total length (mm) and the specific change of body condition for each individual (green bars for positive SGRs, orange bars for negative SGRs).

Figure 4.4. Spaghetti plot showing individual trajectories of welfare scores (LOWSI values) of tagged Scottish lumpfish (n=55) before and after deployment. Pink lines show individuals belonging to Class A (n=28), while turquoise lines represent individuals from Class B (n=27).

Figure 4.5. Feeding preferences of Icelandic (n=29) and Scottish (n=31) lumpfish sampled at sea cages, according to food category (expressed as a total number, %). Each number indicates an individual lumpfish. Note that four individuals -15, 34, 37 and 41- (representing 6% of the total population) had no content on their stomachs.

Figure 4.6. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination plot of gut microbial community structure from two different lumpfish genetic stocks: Icelandic (n=29, green) and Scottish (n=28, orange), based on Bray Curtis dissimilarity distances. Ellipses clustered similar amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) with 95% confidence estimates.

Figure 4.7. Relative abundance bar plot showing the 25 most common ASVs, at genus level, in each of the genetic stocks of lumpfish (Icelandic, n=29 and Scottish, n=28).

Figure 4.8. Normalized intestinal bacterial counts of **a**) *Candidatus branchiomonas* (Wald test, p_{adj} =0.0002) for welfare groups (Good and Compromised) and **b**) *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* (Wald test, p_{adj} <0.001) for cortisol range groups (Low or <63 ng/ml and High or >63 ng/ml) within the Scottish lumpfish stock (n=28) sampled at the salmon farm.

Figure 5.1. Effect of size (total length, mm) on lumpfish welfare. The grey shadow represents confidence intervals (CI=95%). The green dashed line divides lumpfish from classes A and B, while the red dashed line separates lumpfish from classes B and C.

Figure 5.2. Microbial diversity and composition analysis adjusted for body size. **a)** Boxplots of alpha diversity values (Chao's species richness and Shannon diversity), according to non-sea lice eating-lumpfish (No, n=16) and sea lice eating-lumpfish (Yes, n=18) groups. **b**) Non-metric dimensional scale (nMDS) of beta diversity (Bray-Curtis distances) for the same delousing groups.

Figure 5.3. The 25 most representative ASVs (at genus level) according to each delousing group (Sea lice ingestion: No, n=16 and Yes, n=18).

Figure 5.4. Microbiome network comparison for non-delouser lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=10; Good welfare, n=6) on genus-level with 33 taxa per group, using Pearson's correlation coefficient as association measure and Fruchterman & Reingold layout. Positive associations are shown by green lines while negative interactions are shown by red lines. The thickness of the connection lines represents the correlation strength between taxa.

Figure 5.5. Microbiome network comparison for delousing lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=13; Good welfare, n=5) on genus-level with 34 taxa per group, using Pearson's correlation coefficient as association measure and Fruchterman & Reingold layout. Positive associations are shown by green lines while negative interactions are shown by red lines. The thickness of the connection lines represents the correlation strength between taxa.

Chapter 1. General introduction

Animal welfare

Animal welfare is a complex concept that has been changing over the years. Welfare was initially defined as 'the state of an individual in relation to its environment' and it was considered negatively affected if the individual could not cope to control and maintain mental and body stability when facing a challenge (Broom, 1991). It also recognised three key points: basic health and functioning, affective states and natural living (Dahrendorf, 1987). However, the concept of welfare was firstly introduced in the UK by the description of intensive livestock farming practices of the time collected in the book 'Animals Machines' (Harrison, 1964), which prompted the British government to investigate animal welfare in a technical committee chaired by Rogers Brambell (Command Paper 2836, 1965). The *Five Freedoms* framework, born by the combination of the assessment of animal needs and a scientific approach of what matters to animals and how much it matters, has been the basic philosophy of the UK Farm Animal Welfare Committee, established in 1979 (FAWC, 1993, 2009). This framework contained the first principles of good welfare for animals, and was developed to assess animal welfare (Webster, 1994) including:

- Freedom from thirst, hunger and malnutrition (access to fresh water and a diet to maintain full health and vigour)
- 2. Freedom from discomfort (access to a suitable environment including shelter and a comfortable resting area)
- 3. Freedom from pain, injury and disease (access to health care by prevention or rapid diagnosis and treatment)
- 4. Freedom to express normal behaviour (access to sufficient space, proper facilities and company of another animal's own kind)
- 5. Freedom from fear and distress (access to conditions which avoid mental suffering)

The Animal Welfare Act (2006) was the first welfare law established that gave responsibility to animal owners and keepers to care for their animals by condemning unnecessary suffering to any animal. Later in 2007, the Welfare of Farmed Animals Regulations 2007 (S.I. 2007 No. 2078), made under the Animal Welfare Act, came

into force to protect the welfare of all farmed animals, avoid animal cruelty and set a minimum of welfare standards (DEFRA, 2013). After this, the concept of welfare adopted a different perspective and resulted in a scientific term within a framework of values. To achieve high animal welfare, actions must be based not only on science, but should also align with the major values that define a good life for animals (Fraser, 2008). According to the Terrestrial Animal Health Code (OIE, 2019a), animal welfare is *'the physical and mental state of an animal in relation to the conditions in which it lives and dies*' suggesting that how animals are culled is also relevant for their welfare.

Fish welfare

The World Organisation for Animal Health, formerly the Office International des Epizooties (OIE) establishes online standards and provides guidance for aquatic animals worldwide within the OIE Aquatic Animal Health Code. This was the first source to provide guidance in fish welfare, which had been previously omitted in legislation. After 22 editions (1995-2019), the Aquatic Animal Health Code (OIE, 2021), dedicates a thorough section to the welfare of farmed fish. Fish welfare is increasingly drawing attention globally from researchers, stakeholders, retailers, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), quality assurance and policy schemes and consumers (Huntingford et al., 2006), but this has not always been the case. Fish welfare has been a controversial topic as fish had not been considered sentient animals in the past by scientists and researchers, but most importantly by policy developers and the Government. Animal sentience is the ability of animals to experience positive and negative states, feelings or emotions such as contentment and joy or pain, fear and boredom (Harrison, 1964, Command Paper 2836, 1965), extending to the ability to learn from experiences, assess risks and benefits, and make choices (Conradt and Roper, 2005, Sumpter et al., 2008, Brown, 2015). Sentience underlies animal welfare, as without sentience the concept of welfare would be meaningless (Chandroo et al., 2004, Duncan, 2006). Comparative neuroanatomical research of species with different evolutionary levels has shown that the mammalian brain is more complex and comprises more regions than the fish brain (Butler and Hodos, 1996). Hence, some authors have argued that it is unlikely that fish can perceive fear or pain due to the absence of neuro-anatomical regions (or analogous counterparts) or morphological features with such functionality required to feel subjective mental states and claim that fish responses to nociceptive stimuli are limited because they are not even conscious (Rose, 2002, Rose et al., 2014, Key, 2015). However, others have demonstrated that fish can experience pain. Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) possess cutaneous nociceptors that respond to noxious stimuli such as mechanical pressure, extreme temperatures, or poisonous substances with significant adverse behaviour (Sneddon, 2003). Behavioural responses present in goldfish *Carassius auratus* after analgesic administration also showed that similar mammal receptors are present in fish (Ehrensing et al., 1982). Additionally, many of the fish abilities such as navigation, avoiding places where negative experiences previously occurred or recognising social companions are undoubtedly associated with the presence of some degree of emotions and feelings (reviewed by Broom, 2016). Fish are physiologically and behaviourally sentient, and can therefore experience good and bad welfare, just as mammals do (Broom, 2001, Sneddon, 2003, Chandroo et al., 2004, Broom, 2014).

Fish welfare concerns are increasingly growing across the human population: several studies have addressed whether welfare issues are important to consumers and results suggest that they use 'welfare' as a standard indicator of product quality and safety (Harper, 2001), which impacts their food choices. Apparently, when purchasing fish in Spain, environmental perception had more significance than welfare concerns (Honkanen and Olsen, 2009). A later study performed in Denmark showed that important reasons for not buying farmed fish were concerns on medicine residues, environmental impacts and farming conditions; but 48% of the respondents were willing to pay more for trout with a quality label certifying good fish welfare (reviewed by Solgaard and Yang, 2011). This highlights how consumers' perception of fish welfare is changing and gives insights on possible guidelines for standards of good fish welfare to be imposed by the EU in the future.

Aquaculture and welfare of farmed fish

Aquaculture is defined as the production of aquatic organisms, such as finfish, shellfish (molluscs and crustaceans) and aquatic plants, occurring in an established water environment (inland, coastal or marine areas) that implies individual or corporate ownership of the stock being cultivated (FAO, 1988). Global aquaculture production has grown from less than 20M tonnes in 1950 to near 180M tonnes in 2018 (FAO, 2020). Salmon farming is considered the fastest growing food-production sector worldwide (OIE, 2021), and it is a highly concentrated industry: only four countries namely Norway, Chile, Scotland, and Canada account for 96% of the global production (FAO, 2020, Economics, 2021). Salmon aquaculture has the potential to secure food supply for the continually growing human population (Naylor et al., 2000), but achieving this goal requires a reduction of production costs which generally implies the use of intensive methods. These include the production of fish stocked at high densities, fed with formulated diets in an environment of reduced quality, which promotes the incidence of production-related diseases (Martos-Sitcha et al., 2020). The more intensive aquaculture becomes, the more concerning fish welfare is. For example, in contemporary Atlantic salmon farming, the main welfare issues that have been identified are: closed cage containment (being salmon migratory species) where they cannot express their appropriate behaviour, high mortality rates (due to disease and sea lice), use of antibiotics and sea lice treatments, environmental pollution and degradation, predator control, incidence of deformities, feeds made with vegetal inclusion but also wild-caught fish, inhumane slaughter methods, regular stressful farming practices such as crowding, pumping, handling and grading, high stocking densities and water quality problems (Compassion In World Farming, 2009, Borthwick, 2020, Hvas et al., 2021).

The interest on welfare research and stress of farmed fish has been growing steadily since the early 1990s, with the focus changing from welfare during transport, slaughterhouse, and husbandry systems, to stress management and production optimisation (Barton, 2002, Volpato, 2009, Noble et al., 2012), but the way on how fish welfare should be assessed remained unclear (Huntingford et al., 2006, Ashley, 2007, Huntingford and Kadri, 2009). More recent research has focused on how to define fish welfare through the use of welfare indicators (Segner et al., 2012, Martins et al., 2012, Noble et al., 2012, Noble et al., 2018, Saraiva et al., 2019, Toni et al., 2019).

Fish welfare assessment

Assessing fish welfare is challenging (Volpato, 2009). In the absence of welfare standards for any fish species, the collection of relevant information is the best option (Turnbull and Kadri, 2007). The 'fish-preference approach', based on the assumption that a sentient fish does not liberally choose an uncomfortable condition when better conditions are given, provides useful information to improve fish welfare, if used cautiously (Volpato et al., 2007). The use of preference tests (Volpato, 2009) can help to better understand fish needs, but research has focused on the improvement of methods for data collection along with routine observations of the environmental conditions such as water quality parameters (Relić et al., 2010) for instance, and behaviour (Noble et al., 2012, Martins et al., 2012) and the scientific knowledge available of the species. Fish welfare can also be assessed using Welfare Indicators (WIs), which are parameters measured directly (animal-based; focusing on physiology, health, morphology and behaviour) or indirectly (resource-based; focusing on the rearing environment) on the fish (Huntingford et al., 2006, Huntingford and Kadri, 2009, Noble et al., 2018). Not all the WI, such as plasma cortisol levels for instance, are suitable under a farm environment, as they may lack accuracy or be too impractical to use for routine monitoring. Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs), on the other hand, are WIs appropriate for an on-farm setting, and they must be relevant, practical to use, repeatable and suitable for different life stages, husbandry conditions and rearing systems (Noble et al., 2018, Treasurer, 2018a). For example, fin erosion or damage is a common OWI in many different species (Noble et al., 2012) and more prevalent under aquaculture conditions (Bosakowski and Wagner, 1994). The scoring of OWIs such as eye loss/damage, snout injury, jaw and operculum deformity, fin damage, spine deformity, scale loss/skin damage and sea lice damage are included in the welfare standards for farmed Atlantic salmon (RSPCA, 2021). Additionally, stocking density, disturbance and aggression are also used as welfare indicators (Adams et al., 2007). Darkening of the eye sclera and the body have also been used as indicators of welfare in Atlantic salmon, as well as in other species such as Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus; suggesting that darker animals have a lower social rank (submissive) and higher stress levels (O'Connor et al., 1999, Volpato et al., 2003, Vera Cruz and Tauli, 2015). The most common indicators of welfare used in different aquaculture species have been summarised in Table 1.2.

Table 1.2. Most common welfare indicators used in the aquaculture of different fish species.

Welfare indicators	Specie	Reference	
Eye pathology	Atlantic salmon	Noble et al. (2012), RSPCA (2018)	
(damage,	Rainbow trout		
exophthalmia,			
cataracts, loss)			
Eye and skin darkening	Atlantic salmon	O'Connor et al. (1999)	
	Nile tilapia	Volpato et al. (2003), Vera Cruz and Tauli (2015)	
Snout/mouth injury	Atlantic salmon	Noble et al. (2018), RSPCA (2018)	
Deformities (jaw,	-		
operculum, spinal)			
Opercular damage			
Skin damage/scale loss			
Fin damage	Atlantic salmon	Noble et al. (2018), RSPCA (2018)	
	Rainbow trout	Noble et al. (2020), RSPCA (2020)	
	Cleaner fish	Treasurer and Feledi (2014)	
	Europeen see hess	Person-Le Ruyet and Le Bayon (2009)	
~	European sea bass	DSDG4 (2010)	
Sea lice damage	Atlantic salmon	RSPCA (2018)	
Stocking density	Atlantic salmon	Adams et al. (2007)	
	Rainbow trout	North et al. (2006)	
	European sea bass	Person-Le Ruyet and Le Bayon (2009)	
Aggression (behaviour)	Atlantic salmon	Adams et al. (2007)	

Implications of welfare for health, performance and productivity

Although welfare and health are closely linked (Ashley, 2007), welfare is not synonymous of health. Good health is crucial to welfare, but welfare is a broader concept and englobes many other aspects as well (Manteca et al., 2012), suggesting that a healthy animal does not necessarily have a good welfare status, but poor welfare can be either a pre-condition or a result of poor health. Good welfare implies that an animal is able to cope with a stressor, maintain its biological functions working properly, and live with good health (Segner et al., 2012). Stressors affect basal

physiological functions as they inflict an allostatic load to the animal, which is the achievement of stability through change (Treasurer, 2018a). The internal homeostasis of an organism is the dynamic equilibrium to maintain stability of vital systems within an optimal range for survival, despite challenges from the external environment (Stott, 1981, McEwen and Wingfield, 2003), and it is also disrupted by stress. Allostasis requires energetic expense, as the fish energy will be reallocated forstress coping and acclimation, instead of being used for other biological functions such as growth, reproduction and immune responses (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997). For instance, chronic stress was proven to decrease food intake and had a negative effect on feed conversion efficiency in European sea bass, Dicentrarchus labrax (Leal et al., 2011). Also, females under stress may not invest energy in maturing eggs and spawning and must take a decision between: (1) generating a nutritionally deficient progeny but in high numbers, or (2) saving energy by allowing some eggs to become atretic and maximize reproductive investment into a smaller offspring with higher fitness (Schreck et al., 2016). Although under certain conditions short-term stress can activate the innate immune responses in fish (for instance, the mucosal immune function), in general, chronic stressors lead to immunosuppression and increase the risk of disease susceptibility. In that sense, chronic stress induced pronounced transcriptional differences and caused lasting changes in the genome of stressed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, fry (Uren Webster et al., 2018b). To prevent fish spending energy on getting through changes in the environment, all potential stressors should be removed, so the allostatic load does not progress to an overload, which would surpass the fish's individual ability to cope. However, farmed fish are constrained to production facilities, and it is practically impossible to eliminate all stressful conditions. For example, injuries and deformities, which are common in standard aquaculture practices, can lead to reduced feeding activity, resulting in poor growth, loss of productivity (Noble et al., 2012), increasing predisposition to infections (Turnbull et al., 1996), reduced market value (Michie, 2001) and increasedmortalities (Miyashita et al., 2000). This negatively impacts the performance (Noble et al., 2012) and the welfare of the fish (Huntingford et al., 2006). Therefore, welfarecan be optimised by reducing the incidence of injuries and deformities, which will concurrently promote good health and reduce the risk of disease, increasing in turn thesuccess and economic sustainability of the business fish farm (Segner et al., 2012).

Stress responses in fish

Stress responses are reactions fundamentally preserved among all vertebrates (Segner et al., 2012). Considered as an adaptive mechanism (Barton, 2002), they can be beneficial for individual fish, as long as the stressor is not extreme and it lasts for a short period of time, allowing the fish to adapt to the current situation. Contrarily, if the stressor is too intense or lasts for too long, it might result in maladaptation and allostatic overload, and a detrimental state of 'distress' might follow (Barton and Iwama, 1991, Moberg, 2000, McEwen and Wingfield, 2003). Exposure to a stressor typically triggers a physiological response by the central nervous system (CNS) which is mediated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal (HPI) axis. Via cholinergic receptors, the chromaffin cells (homologous of adrenal glands in mammals), located in the anterior region of the kidney in teleost fish (Reid et al., 1998), release catecholamine hormones such as adrenaline and noradrenaline immediately into the blood stream (Barton and Iwama, 1991, Barton, 2002), whose plasma levels vary depending on the type and severity of the stressor and the species' response/tolerance to stress (Reid et al., 1998). The release of cortisol in blood plasma is posterior to catecholamine hormones, following activation of the HPI axis and release of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which stimulates the secretion of adrenocorticotropin hormone (ACTH) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal axis involved in the fish stress response.

ACTH is responsible for the stimulation of interrenal cells to secrete cortisol, which will be distributed to target tissues (Barton, 2002) and whose levels could be maintained longer than catecholamines (Segner et al., 2012). Secondary responses to stress entail haematological, osmoregulatory, metabolic, immunological and cellular alterations, expressed as changes in blood pressure, increase of glucose and lactate levels, haematocrit, ion composition, production of heat-shock proteins (HSPs), lysozyme activity and antibody production, amongst others (Barton and Iwama, 1991, Wendelaar Bonga, 1997, Barton, 2002). Tertiary stress responses such as changes in feeding activity, decreased growth and condition, disease resistance, metabolic scope for activities like swimming, altered behaviour and lately, survival, are functional and affect the overall performance and welfare of the fish (Barton, 2002, Segner et al., 2012).

There is strong evidence that stressors also modulate changes in gut microbiome (Galley et al., 2014, Uren Webster et al., 2020b). Stress in fish can be controlled with the use of pre- and probiotics. By enhancing the gut microbiota, these can decrease the stress response by lowering CRH and cortisol levels (Forsatkar et al., 2017) and reduce the anxiety behaviour (Davis et al., 2016) in zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. At the same time, stress induces modifications of the gut microbiota, for example, causing a reduction of mucus and removal of autochthonous communities that are protective against potential pathogens (Vatsos, 2017), altering the host immune response as well. Consequently, recent focus has been directed towards the adjustment of the gut microbiota, as well as maintaining health and welfare, so microbiome applications could be an interesting approach to improve host physiological processes (Egerton et al., 2018).

Fish microbiome

The term *microbiota* comprises the collection or community of microbes that reside within a host or are present in a particular environment, including symbiotic, commensal and pathogenic microorganisms, while *microbiome* refers to the genome of the microbiota (Burokas et al., 2015). Fish microbiome research has grown significantly since the early 1990s with the expansion of the aquaculture industry and the replacement of the Sanger sequencing approach by the revolutionary next-generation sequencing (NGS) platform technologies (Behjati and Tarpey, 2013, Legrand et al., 2020).

Fish have an exceptional and intimate interaction with the aquatic environment they live in (Egerton et al., 2018), as well as with the surrounding coexisting microorganisms. Fish larvae are sterile and microbes originating from the chorion, the surrounding water and the first feeding, start colonisation of the fish skin, the gills and the digestive tract, right after hatching (Austin, 2006). Microbes can also colonise larvae liver and ovaries (reviewed by Vatsos, 2017). The microbial community of the gastro-intestinal tract (GIT), also known as the gut microbiota, has been extensively studied in fish (Vatsos, 2017). It is classified as autochthonous or indigenous (adherent), if colonising the epithelial surface and associated with microvilli; or allochthonous or transient (non-adherent), if present in the lumen and associated with the ingesta (Ringø et al., 2016). Bacteria are the dominant microbiota found in the fish intestine (Rombout et al., 2011) and includes Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria phyla (Butt and Volkoff, 2019). Intrinsic factors such as the host age (life stage or maturity), gender, genetic genotype, physiological and stress status and pathobiology, or extrinsic like the diet or feeding strategy, the season, the environment (water quality, salinity, temperature, etc.) and the farming system, contribute to shape the composition and the diversity of the gut microbiome, as well as its functionality (Vatsos, 2017, Butt and Volkoff, 2019, Legrand et al., 2020). This creates significant inter- and intra-species variations (Vatsos, 2017). The gut microbiota plays an important role on feeding/digestion/metabolism, stress and immune response, by interacting with the gut-brain axis through a bidirectional communication using hormonal, immune and neural signs (Butt and Volkoff, 2019). This has also repercussion on the behaviour, energy homeostasis and health of the host (Butt and Volkoff, 2019). It is well-known that healthy gut microbiota is essential to promote host health and well-being (Ringø et al., 2016). Knowing how the microbial systems in the host adapt and respond to stressors in farmed species is key to improve health, nutrition and optimise productivity in aquaculture (Legrand et al., 2020). Once the gut microbiome is characterised in healthy species of interest, bacterial communities can be modified to improve host health (Tarnecki et al., 2017). One of the most important applications of fish microbiome research into aquaculture is the use of specific bacterial communities that are beneficial for fish health; for instance, the use of probiotics to avoid the use of antibiotics to mitigate emerging diseases (de Bruijn et al., 2018), and consequently prevent the development of antimicrobial-resistant (AMR) bacteria (Butt and Volkoff, 2019, Yukgehnaish et al., 2020).

Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.)

The lumpfish or lumpsucker, Cyclopterus lumpus (Linnaeus, 1758), is a cold-water marine fish belonging to the Cyclopteridae (Scorpaeniforme) family, and the only species within the genus Cyclopterus (Davenport, 1985). Some of their specific anatomical features are a dorsal hump where the dorsal fin grows from, three rows of tubercles organised longitudinally along the main body and a distinctive suction disc (or sucker) located ventrally (Davenport, 1985). Lumpfish are generally solitary benthic species living close or attached to rocky seabed (Davenport, 1985, Stein, 1986), although they are occasionally pelagic and found in open waters (Holst, 1993). The species is widely distributed along both sides of the North Atlantic Ocean (Davenport, 1985), from the Barents Sea, Iceland and Greenland to the Iberian Peninsula in southwestern Europe on the Eastern side (Vasconcelos et al., 2004, Dulčić and Golani, 2006, Bañón et al., 2007, Eriksen et al., 2014, Froese and Pauly, 2014) to Nunavut, Hudson Bay, James Bay and Labrador in Canada to New Jersey and Bermuda in USA on the Western side (Froese and Pauly, 2014). Lumpfish can migrate long distances but show homing behaviour, returning to coastal and shallower areas to breed (Kennedy et al., 2015). Females spawn on rocky substrate and males will fertilize and guard the eggs until fry hatch (Thorsteinsson, 1981).

Lumpfish females have been targeted since 1950s in Iceland, Norway, Easter Canada and Greenland for the roe market as a cheaper alternative to caviar, producing annually 4M kg (Johannesson, 2006). For example, only in Canada, lumpfish roe landings dropped substantially from an annual average of 349T (1986-2009) to 35T (2010-2015) (Gauthier et al., 2017). After 2013, both Greenland and Iceland accounted for >94% of the landings (Kennedy et al., 2019), and given that lumpfish return to the same spawning sites every year, local overexploitation is very likely (Gauthier et al., 2017). In recent years, lumpfish are also being fished to supply brood stock for lumpfish hatcheries, being used as cleaner fish in the salmon farming industry (Imsland et al., 2014a), which has also caused a significant reduction in abundance due to intensive fishing of wild stocks (Pampoulie et al., 2014). Unfortunately, due to industry logistics, poor survival and biosecurity reasons, lumpfish lifespan in the aquaculture industry is as short as a single salmon production cycle in sea water (Powell et al., 2018b), and demands cannot be satisfied without oppressing wild stocks (Whittaker et al., 2018). Consequently, the species have been classed as 'Near Threatened' by the IUCN Red list (Lorance et al., 2015). Lumpfish commercial production has opened a new market, abruptly increasing from close to 3.5M in 2014 to almost 16M in 2016, and it has been steadily growing up to 39M in 2019 only in Norway (Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, 2021b), for their use as a biological control against sea lice (Powell et al., 2018b, Imsland et al., 2018a). Therefore, there is concern about the sustainability of the lumpfish industry and the potential impacts that this escalation in production could have on wild populations (Kennedy et al., 2019).

Lumpfish have been exploited mostly for the roe market as a cheaper alternative to caviar, producing annually 4M kg (Johannesson, 2006). They are also being used as cleaner fish in the salmon farming industry (Imsland et al., 2014a), which has caused a significant reduction in abundance due to overexploitation of some wild stocks (Pampoulie et al., 2014). Consequently, the species have been classed as 'Near Threatened' by the IUCN Red list (Lorance et al., 2015). Lumpfish commercial production has increased abruptly, from close to 3.5M in 2014 to almost 16M in 2016, and it has been steadily growing up to 39M in 2019 only in Norway (Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, 2021b), for their use as a biological control against sea lice (Powell et al., 2018b, Imsland et al., 2018a).

Sea lice threatening the salmon industry

The term 'salmon louse' includes diverse species of sea lice from the family Caligidae (Copepoda), the marine parasite with the widest geographical distribution (Costello, 2006). Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer, 1837) and Caligus elongatus (von Nordmann, 1832) are the most common species infecting Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) in Northern Europe (North Atlantic) and North America, causing the greatest impact to salmonid aquaculture in the Northern hemisphere (Pike and Wadsworth, 1999, Costello, 2006). L. salmonis, showing higher incidence and impact than C. *elongatus*, is an obligate ectoparasite and its life cycle involves eight different stages separated by a moult (Hamre et al., 2013). These are divided into two nauplii (Nauplius I and II), one copepodid, two chalimi (Chalimus I and II), two pre-adults (Pre-adults I and II) and an adult stage (male/female) (Figure 2.1). Early stages cause less physiological effects and damage in the host than mobile (pre-adults and adults) stages (Grimnes and Jakobsen, 1996). High fecundity rate is characteristic of L. salmonis since a single mature female can produce up to 11 generations of egg strings within a breeding season, where around 285 eggs/string can hatch into nauplii (Heuch et al., 2000). Copepodids swim primarily to find a host and attach to it, grazing and feeding on fishmucus and skin and causing epidermal abrasion even in the underlying soft tissues (Pike and Wadsworth, 1999, Tully and Nolan, 2002, Johnson and Fast, 2004). Depending on the severity and extension of these lesions, osmoregulatory disturbances can occur (Wagner et al., 2003), leading to the onset of the primary stress response (Finstad et al., 2000) and potential immunosuppression of the host (Tully and Nolan, 2002). This also contributes to making the host more susceptible to secondary and opportunistic infections (Mustafa et al., 2000), compromising the overall fitness and welfare of salmon and potentially impacting its swimming performance (Wagner et al., 2003). This could culminate in mortalities especially when fish are heavily infested (Grimnes and Jakobsen, 1996, Tully and Nolan, 2002). Considering that the generation time for *L. salmonis* to complete a whole life cycle is around 7.5-8 weeks at 10°C (Johnson and Albright, 1991) or as short as 30 days at 12.2°C (Heuch et al., 2000), and how effortlessly the planktonic stages disperse in some farm environmentsdue to water currents (Krkošek et al., 2005), it is not surprising that sea lice is still themost persisting challenge for salmon aquaculture (Igboeli et al., 2014).



Figure 2.1. Figure 1.2. Sea lice life cycle (adapted from the Marine Institute). Stages out of the circle represent free swimming stages while stages within the circle are attached to the host.

Sea lice inflicts significant economic costs (Abolofia et al., 2017), which includes not only the cost of prevention and management strategies, but also financial losses caused by a reduction in fish growth and poor feed conversion ratio (Mustafa et al., 2001, Rae, 2002). Production losses for mortalities attributed to treatments are also significant. In 2006, total global sea lice costs were estimated approximately to €300M (US\$480M) annually, representing 6% of the product value and an individual cost of €0.1-0.2/kg of fish (FAO, 2008, Costello, 2009a). More than a decade later, sea lice costs are surrounding €490M (NOK 5B) only in Norway (Fletcher, 2019), and are expected to increase in the future. The impact of sea lice has certainly become more evident since salmon farming has intensified, as the increase in population density and the conditions are ideal for the parasitic copepod to proliferate and propagate (Torrissen et al., 2013, Abolofia et al., 2017). This implies a substantial problem not only for local farmed salmon and other neighbouring farms, but also for wild salmonid stocks and other hosts (Johnson et al., 2004, Krkošek et al., 2005, Costello, 2009b, Torrissen et al., 2013). The decrease of some wild salmon populations has been attributed to the presence of greater numbers of sea lice in commercial sea cages (Costello, 2009b).

Sea lice control

Numerous approaches have been developed to control sea lice infestation in salmon cages: from physical barriers to prevent the encounter between sea lice and salmon, to delousing treatments to remove already settled sea lice. An overview of sea lice control strategies is presented (Table 1.1). Good management practices such as disinfection routines, biosecurity measures, stocking only single-year class smolts, fallowing after each production cycle and daily removal of mortalities (Bron et al., 1993) are essential for efficient sea lice management. Different combined treatments are tactically applied and continually reviewed as an integrated anti-lice strategy. Relying only in one treatment can only be successful as a short-term solution, and treatment rotation is recommended for efficacious control (Igboeli et al., 2014). Perpetuation of thisparasite is linked to two facts: (1) none of the available anti-lice methodologies appearto have 100% efficiency and (2) resistance has developed by evolutionary adaptation and natural selection against different chemotherapeutants (Denholm et al., 2002, Igboeli et al., 2014, Aaen et al., 2015, Coates et al., 2021).

Due to the emergence and spread of sea lice resistance, a current shift has been identified from the use of pharmaceutical treatments to non-medicinal approaches, such as thermal and mechanical delousing (Overton et al., 2019, Sommerset et al., 2021). The latter are responsible for 31% and 25% of all the sea lice treatment mortalities in salmon, respectively, in addition of welfare deterioration (Overton et al.,

2019). Although there has been an increase in mechanical innovation recently, biological innovation and cleaner fish research (19%) still has a significant representation, particularly in Norway (Greaker et al., 2020).

Table 1.1. Overview of different sea lice control strategies (preventive and treatments) for *L. salmonis*, unless indicated. Sources: Costello (1993), Rae (2002), Igboeli et al. (2014), Aaen et al. (2015), Holan et al. (2017), Overton et al. (2019), Barrett et al. (2020b). Efficacy scores estimate the effectiveness of sea lice control strategies based on costs applied on Scottish salmon farms under standard efficacy level (£/unit of effectiveness per fish) as suggested by Toma et al. (2020).

Aim	Approach	Method type	Agent description	Sea lice stage target	Efficacy score	Reference
Prevention	Barrier	Skirts	Use of 3m tarpaulin around the cage	All stages	0.58 (0.40-0.90)	Stien et al. (2012)
	technology	Snorkel cages	Roof net and air dome	All stages	Unknown	Stien et al. (2016)
		Full enclosure	Filtered or deep-pumped water	All stages	Unknown	Nilsen et al. (2017)
	Behavioural	On-demand feeding	Use of Aquasmart TM feeding system	Mobile stages	Unknown	Lyndon and Toovey (2000)
	manipulation	Temporal	AL and NL at different depths	Chalimus	Unknown	Hevrøy et al. (2003)
		submergence	AL (10 m) + deep feeding (5 m)	All stages	Unknown	Frenzl et al. (2014)
	Geographic	Fallowing	Production pause and single-year class	All stages	Unknown	Bron et al. (1993)
	management	Location	Light, salinity and current speed	Copepodids	Unknown	Genna et al. (2005)
		Firebreaks	Modelling no-farming areas	All stages	Unknown	Samsing et al. (2019)
	Traps/filters	Light traps	Photomechanical device	Larval stages and G females	Unknown	Pahl et al. (1999)
		Filtering	Pacific oyster (C. gigas) racks at 1,3,6 m	Larval stages	Unknown	Byrne et al. (2018)
	Attachment	Repellents and host	In-water compounds (2-AA)	All stages	Unknown	Hastie et al. (2013)
	evasion	cue masking	Light modification	All stages	Unknown	Browman et al. (2004)
	Incapacitation	Electricity	Direct current electric fence	Larval stages	Unknown	Bredahl (2014)
		Ultrasound	Sound frequencies of 9.3,21,54 kHz	Copepodids	Unknown	Skjelvareid et al. (2018)
		Irradiation	Use of short-wavelength light	All stages	Unknown	No published studies
	Population	Pathogens	Rhabdovirus infecting sea lice	All stages	Unknown	No published studies
	control	Gene drives (GDs)	CRISPR-based GDs for pest control	All stages	Unknown	No published studies
	Functional feeds	Immunomodulation	Diet supplemented with nucleotides	Mobile stages	Unknown	Burrells et al. (2001)
			Additives (β -glucans and MOS)	Mobile stages	Unknown	Refstie et al. (2010)
			CpG-ODNs and Aquate®	Copepodids	Unknown	Poley et al. (2013)
			Sex hormones (17 β -estradiol/testosterone)	Copepodids/Chalimus	Unknown	Krasnov et al. (2015)
			Peptidoglycan extract	Chalimus	Unknown	Sutherland et al. (2017)
			Skretting Shield (Norway)	Copepodids/Chalimus	Unknown	Bui et al. (2020a)
-						
-------------	-------------	-------------------	---	------------------------------	------------------	----------------------------
		Repellents/toxins	Phytochemicals	Mobile stages	Unknown	Holm et al. (2016)
	Vaccination	Commercial	Providean Aquatec Sea Lice (Tecnovax®)	C. rogercresseyeri (Chile)	Unknown	Barrett et al. (2020b)
		Experimental	<i>my32</i> recombinant protein	All stages	Unknown	Kumari Swain et al. (2018)
			P21, P30, P33, P37 recombinant proteins	Chalimus and adult females	Unknown	Contreras et al. (2020)
	Breeding	Louse resistance	Resistant salmon families	Mobile stages	Unknown	Holm et al. (2015)
Treatment	In-feed	Avermectins	Ivermectin (Ivomec®)	Chalimus and mobile stages	Unknown	Palmer et al. (1987)
			Doramectin (Dectomax®)	Chalimus and mobile stages	Unknown	Roth (2000)
			Emamectin benzoate (Slice®)	Chalimus and mobile stages	0.73 (0.50-0.80)	Stone et al. (1999)
		Benzoylphenyl	Teflubenzuron (Ektobann®, Calicide®,	Larval stages and pre-adults	Unknown	Branson et al. (2000)
		ureas	Cal-X®)			
			Diflubenzuron (Lepsidon®)	Larval stages and pre-adults	Unknown	Roth (2000)
	Bath	Organophosphates	Dichlorvos (Nuvart®, Aquagard®)	Mobile stages	Unknown	Wootten et al. (1982)
			Trichlorfon (Neguvon®)	Mobile stages	Unknown	Costello (1993)
			Carbaryl (Sevin®)	Mobile stages	Unknown	Costello (1993)
			Azamethiphos (Alfacron®, Salmosan®)	Mobile stages	0.60 (0.50-0.90)	Roth et al. (1996)
		Pyrethrin/	Pyrethrum (Py-Sal®)	Mobile stages	Unknown	Costello (1993)
		Pyrethroids	Cypermethrin (Excis®, Betamax®)	Chalimus and mobile stages	Unknown	Hart et al. (1997)
			Deltamethrin (AlphaMax®)	Mobile stages	0.60 (0.50-0.90)	Roth (2000)
		Oxidising agent	Hydrogen peroxide (Salartect®,	Chalimus and mobile stages	0.43 (0.10-0.60)	Treasurer and Grant (1997)
			Paramove®)			
		Freshwater	Low salinity water	Copepodids	0.64 (0.20-1.00)	Stone et al. (2002)
	Mechanical	Flushing	Hydrolicer®, FLS®, SkaMik®	Mobile stages	0.80 (0.70-0.95)	Gismervik et al. (2017)
	Thermal	Warm temperature	Thermolicer [®] and Optilicer [®]	Mobile stages	0.80 (0.70-0.95)	Grøntvedt et al. (2015)
	Optical	Automated laser	Stingray Marine Solutions AS TM	Mobile stages	Unknown	Bui et al. (2020b)
	Biological	Cleaner fish	Wrasse (<i>Labridae</i> family)	Mobile stages	0.72 (0.60-0.90)	Bjordal (1991)
	control	(predation)	Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.)			Imsland et al. (2014a)
Prevention	Combined	Multiple methods	Skirts + Deep feeding + Lighting +	All stages	Unknown	Bui et al. (2020a)
+ treatment	approach		Functional Feed + Cleaner fish			

Use of cleaner fish in the salmon industry

The use of cleaner fish in aquaculture develops from the biological control of pests extensively used in agriculture. It consists in the control of invertebrate pests using other organisms that can act by different mechanisms such as predation, parasitism, pathogenicity, competition, etc., and generally requires human involvement (Murdoch et al., 1985, Flint and Dreistadt, 1998, Eilenberg et al., 2001). Cleaning mutualism interactions between 'cleaner' and 'client' fish are prevalent and well-studied in the marine environment (Bshary and Côté, 2008). Several wild wrasse species with cleaning behaviour to salmon infested with sea lice were identified as facultative cleaners in the late 80s: goldsinny (Ctenolabrus rupestris), corkwing (Crenilabrus melops), rock cook (Centrolabrus exoletus), cuckoo (Labrus mixtus) and ballan wrasse (Labrus berggylta); and started being used as a delousing control strategy in commercial salmon farms (Bjordal, 1988, 1990, 1991). Lately, the cunner wrasse (Tautogolabrus adspersus) was also trialled to be used as cleaner fish (Costa et al., 2016). Since then, the use of wild wrasse has progressively escalated from 1.7M in 2008 to 20M in 2016 and the production of farmed wrasse from 270K in 2012 up to 1.3M, only in Norway (last update 27/05/2021)(Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, 2021b). However, wrasse are not active at low temperatures (Morel et al., 2013) and lumpfish have proven to be a suitable alternative in cold water temperatures, reducing the number of sea lice females in trials under a salmon farming set-up (Imsland et al., 2014a).

Main challenges in the use of lumpfish

Only in Norway, more than 60M cleaner fish are being used annually for the salmon industry (Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries, 2020), but welfare and ethical concerns about the use of live animals for delousing control are currently being raised (Overton et al., 2020, Geitung et al., 2020, Imsland et al., 2020). It is well known that lumpfish experience mass mortalities, especially following deployment in sea cages. Although the exact number is unknown, these can range from 27% up to 100% of the stocked population (Poppe, 2017, OneKind, 2018, Geitung et al., 2020, Stien et al., 2020), with bacterial infections among the main causes (Nilsen et al., 2014, Hjeltnes et al., 2017). Other reasons for lumpfish mortality could be poor husbandry, starvation, extreme environmental conditions (such as high-water temperatures, strong currents, and low

oxygen), and physical damage (Stien et al., 2020, Grefsrud et al., 2019, Anon, 2020a). Recent surveys in Norway indicate that the current situation has not improved in several years. Just as few as 5.3% of respondents reported lower lumpfish mortalities, while most did not know if the situation had improved (Sommerset et al., 2021). Another issue is the unregistered losses, potentially caused not only by mortalities and carcass decomposition, but also by predation (Davenport, 1985) and escapes, which indeed lead to a high risk of disease transmission and genetic contamination of wild populations (Herrmann et al., 2021).

Farmers are being criticized by the Norwegian Food and Safety Authority (NFSA, Mattilsynet) for inadequate care to lumpfish (Stranden, 2020) and the whole industry is being forced to improve lumpfish welfare globally (Garcia de Leaniz et al., 2021), but there is not much guidance available. Individual and grouped-based OWIs have been recently developed for lumpfish, along environmental and laboratory-based indicators (Noble et al., 2019). For example, the individual liver colouration, which informs of the nutritional status of the fish, has been recently used as a welfare indicator in lumpfish (Eliasen et al., 2020). However, as many other laboratory-based OWIs, this requires training, instruments and sacrificial sampling, which may not be practical in a farm environment. It is hence necessary that regulators and policy makers work together and produce agreed standards for the species. In this sense, the RSPCA has recently included 'Cleaner fish' within the last published version of welfare standards for farmed Atlantic salmon. This section covers important guidelines about the husbandry, management/handling, transport, enrichment and feeding aspects, as well as the arrival at the slaughterhouse (RSPCA, 2021), but does not address practical and morphological measurements within the farm.

Stress management is also key to improve welfare and the efficient use of lumpfish in aquaculture (Staven et al., 2021). It is thought that mortalities after deployment in salmon farms could potentially be caused by the struggle in coping with the transition from hatchery to sea cages, where lumpfish are exposed to numerous stressors. Habituation is highly recommended to reduce physiological and behavioural stress responses, such as burst swimming activity, swimming distance from salmon and plasma cortisol levels, which were reduced in experienced lumpfish compared to naïve individuals (Staven et al., 2019). In comparison with species susceptible to stress such as Atlantic salmon and ballan wrasse, lumpfish only show a moderate cortisol stress response with cortisol levels in plasma around 200 nM, while salmon and wrasse

plasma levelsare around 700 nM and 600 nM, respectively; suggesting lumpfish are bolder and moreresilient to stress (Treasurer et al., 2018b). This could be explained by the absence of Mauthner neurons, which are responsible to initiate an escape response (escape reflexor C-start response). Instead, lumpfish would use their suction disc to attach to a solidsurface and hide (Hale, 2000).

Stress also influences the microbiome. Little is known of lumpfish microbiome, but recently published studies focus on characterising bacterial communities in different scenarios, with the main effort on improving health and survival (Klakegg et al., 2020): different life stages (Christie et al., 2018), within healthy populations (Roalkvam et al., 2019), or in different rearing systems with different water treatments (Dahle et al., 2020). Yet, changes in gut microbiota related to their sea lice ingestion ability or a connection between stress and microbial communities have not yet been addressed.

Lumpfish are considered facultative and not 'true' cleaners (Vaughan et al., 2017) as they do not naturally eat sea lice. A recent study, however, showed that lumpfish personality influences the interaction between lumpfish and salmon that promotes the cooperative cleaning behaviour (Whittaker et al., 2021). The delousing efficacy attributable to lumpfish is highly variable, with 10-36% of the population consuming sea lice (Imsland et al., 2014a, Eliasen et al., 2018) and causing a reduction of sea lice levels of 9-73%, although up to 97% for adult female lice (Imsland et al., 2014a, 2014b, 2014c, 2015a, 2015b, 2016a, 2016b, 2018a). It seems that the delousing effect is fairly site-dependent (Barrett et al., 2020a) and potentially larger at big (53-73%) than at a small scale (9-60%) (reviewed by Overton et al., 2020), but there is widespread suboptimal use (Barrett et al., 2020a). Although smaller lumpfish of around 20-30g are thought to be more effective than larger (>75g) (Imsland et al., 2016b), there is evidence that sea lice removal efficiency increases with time spent at sea (Imsland et al., 2014a, 2014b, 2014c), and lumpfish as big as 545g can still ingest sea lice (Eliasenet al., 2018). Sea lice ingestion has a genetic component and appears to be parentally controlled (Imsland et al., 2016a), but many other factors, summarised in Table 1.2, can influence the cleaning behaviour.

Group	Factor	References	
Genetic	Parental control	Imsland et al. (2016a)	
Individual	Stocking density	Overton et al. (2020)	
	Health/welfare status: disease	Brooker et al. (2018),	
	outbreak or compromised welfare	Powell et al. (2018b),	
		Erkinharju et al. (2021)	
	Skeletal deformities	Fjelldal et al. (2020b)	
Environmental	Sea lice infection pressure	Imsland et al. (2018a)	
	Adverse conditions (offshore)	Hvas et al. (2021)	
	Sea water temperature	Leclercq et al. (2018)	
Host	Size	Groner et al. (2013)	
	Depth distribution	Gentry et al. (2020)	
Husbandry	Acclimatation/habituation	Staven et al. (2019)	
	Pre-conditioning (use of live feed)	Imsland et al. (2019e)	
Farm practices	Other anti-lice strategies	Gentry et al. (2020)	
	Dirty pen nets (food source)	Imsland et al. (2014c),	
		Imsland et al. (2015a),	
		Eliasen et al. (2018)	

Table 1.3. Summary of factors affecting delousing behaviour in lumpfish.

Thesis aims and objectives

This thesis investigated novel ways of monitoring and improving the welfare of lumpfish with the ultimate goal to help increase the sustainability and ethical use of lumpfish as cleaner fish to control sea lice in salmon aquaculture. The primary aim was to develop a tool to measure lumpfish welfare in a practical and efficient manner under farming conditions (Chapter 2), and to use this tool to better understand changes over time at sea (Chapter 3), variation between different genetic stocks (Chapter 4) and the effect of sea lice ingestion on welfare through the assessment of gut microbial communities (Chapter 5).

Chapter 2. Development and validation of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L.

Lumpfish are increasingly being used by the salmon industry to control sea lice infestations, but their survival in cages is often poor and there are concerns in relation to their welfare (Treasurer et al., 2018b). Some Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs) have been developed for lumpfish, but the industry needs a practical index that can be routinely used under farming conditions. Chapter 2 developed and validated individual-based OWIs, selected according to their practicality, variability and individuality. The selected OWIs were validated using both reliability and construct validity. By examining correlation between traits and selecting the most sensitive and representative measurable parameters, the index was refined and simplified, and tested in six different commercial sites (hatcheries and sea farms) to assess repeatability and practicality by asking eight different salmon farmers. The translation of this scoring index into a practical platform (Lumpfish Welfare Watcher tool) is currently in progress.

Gutierrez Rabadan, C., Spreadbury, C., Consuegra, S. and Garcia de Leaniz, C. (2021). Development, validation and testing of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus L. Aquaculture, 531, 735777.

Chapter 3. Changes in growth and welfare of lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. over time in a longitudinal study

Intensive farming conditions can quickly deteriorate fish welfare. Lumpfish can lose condition in less than four weeks if not optimally reared (Johannesen et al., 2018) and there are indications that their welfare deteriorates in commercial conditions (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), especially in sea cages. I assessed whether time spent at sea had a negative effect on welfare and whether frequent monitoring could help to identify critical periods. The aim of Chapter 3 was to assess changes in average growth, welfare and feeding preferences over time at two time points (three weeks and three months) after deployment, but also between two different genetic stocks of lumpfish (using microsatellite markers and parental assignment) deployed in the same commercial salmon farm. Feeding preferences were based on the prevalence of ingested sea lice and ingested marine formulated pellets.

Chapter 4 Feeding preferences, growth and gut microbial communities of two stocks of lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. deployed in a common sea cage

Phenotypic variation has been reported between different genetic populations of lumpfish (Whittaker et al., 2018). Due to production logistics, salmon farmers combine lumpfish from different origins in the same commercial cages, so I examined whether different stocks of lumpfish performed differently under a common environment. Lumpfish originated from Iceland and Scotland were stocked at similar ages in a commercial sea cage within a salmon farm under a common garden design. Microbial communities were characterized for each of the stocks using 16S rRNA gene sequencing and differential abundance analyses were performed to investigate possible associations between gut microbial communities and welfare and gut microbial communities and stress. Also, a subsample of individually tagged Scottish lumpfish, scored before and two months after deployment, were used to monitor changes in welfare following deployment at sea.

Chapter 5 Effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. welfare and gut health

Lumpfish are considered facultative cleaners (Vaughan et al., 2017) and do not eat sea lice under natural conditions; however, they are produced to delouse salmon but the impact of feeding on sea lice on lumpfish gut health and welfare is unknown. Chapter 5 investigates the effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfish welfare and intestinal microbial communities under commercial conditions. As seen in Chapter 4, different diets can shape the microbial communities in the lumpfish intestine. I hypothesised that sea lice ingestion could influence not only the welfare but also the diversity and composition of the lumpfish gut microbiota, where specific taxa could be promoted/demoted in sea lice eating-lumpfish. To address this hypothesis, the composition of the gut microbiome was characterized according to the presence/absence of sea lice in their stomach contents and microbiome networks were compared and quantified for both delousing groups, also considering their welfare status.

Finally, the key findings of this thesis are compiled and discussed in **Chapter 6**, along with some conclusions.

Chapter 2Development and validation of anOperational Welfare Score Index for
farmed lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus L.

Abstract

Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) are widely used for controlling sea lice in salmon farming, but their welfare is often challenged by poor husbandry and disease outbreaks, which compromise their health and ability to delouse salmon. It is necessary to identify when the welfare of lumpfish is being compromised in a fast, simple and effective manner. An Operational Welfare Score Index was developed and validated by visually assessing skin and fin damage, eye condition, suction disc deformities and body condition, indicators that fish farmers considered to be the most informative. Also, percentile length-weight charts are presented to enable the detection of underweight and emaciated lumpfish at different stages of development. The lumpfish welfare score index proved to be repeatable (ICC= 0.83 ± 0.05 , p<0.001), practical (<2min) and easy to be used in a farm environment, according to the results of its application at six commercial sites. Although most lumpfish showed good welfare (71%) and significant differences were found between sites, 28% of lumpfish had lower than expected weights for their length, and 10% were emaciated. The most common welfare problems were suction disc deformities and fin damage in hatcheries, and poor eye condition and body damage in sea cages, conditions that might increase the risk of emaciation. This index, along with the percentile charts, will be particularly useful to assess lumpfish welfare in farm conditions in a quick and accurate manner, which will help to improve their welfare, reduce stress-related mortalities and improve the sustainability of the salmon industry overall.

Introduction

Fish welfare is a growing area of research due to increasing consumers' demands for ethically produced food (Ashley, 2007). Increasing concern about the welfare of farmed fish has led to the development of welfare standards for a few farmed species (Cooke, 2016). However, to what extent welfare criteria that work well for some species such as Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. (Pettersen et al., 2014, RSPCA, 2018) can also be applied to other farmed species, is not known (Treasurer and Feledi, 2014). Cleaner fish are novel species to aquaculture, used to control sea lice (Lepeophtheirus salmonis), one of the major threats to the salmon farming industry since 1970 (Torrissen et al., 2013). This ectoparasite not only results in significant economic losses, but has also an impact on fish welfare, the environment, and the public perception of aquaculture (Costello, 2009a, Aaen et al., 2015). Increasing resistance to chemotherapeutants traditionally used to combat sea lice has raised the interest in cleaner fish as environmentally friendly 'green' alternative to the use of medicines (Powell et al., 2018b). The public and retailers generally support the use of cleaner fish to control sea lice because of the environmental and efficacy benefits, but only if the welfare of cleaner fish is not compromised (Treasurer et al., 2018b).

Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs) represent a practical approach to measure welfare in farmed species. These need to be tailored and be species-specific, although some OWIs can be adapted from other species. Many traits related to welfare, such as the presence of external injuries or deformities, have also potential to impact aquaculture production (Noble et al., 2012). Other criteria, such as a fin damage (or 'fin erosion') is a welfare issue common to many different species, particularly when they are reared at high densities (Hoyle et al., 2007, Noble et al., 2012). Fin damage can result from mechanical abrasion, nutritional deficiencies, systemic or external bacterial infections (Ellis et al., 2008), aggression (MacLean et al., 2000), but also from stress (Turnbull et al., 1996); and may have a detrimental effect upon production performance (growth and survival) and welfare, by increasing the susceptibility to infection and potentially impacting swimming ability (Noble et al., 2012). Eye darkening (ED), for instance, has been used as an indicator of social status in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus L. (Volpato et al., 2003, Cruz and Brown, 2007, Miyai et al., 2011, Vera Cruz and Tauli, 2015, Champneys et al., 2018) and Atlantic salmon (O'Connor et al., 1999, Suter and Huntingford, 2002). Eyedarkening is also a reliable,

easy, and inexpensive indicator of stress in fish as it can be induced by stressors like confinement and air exposure in Nile tilapia (Freitas et al.,2014). Darkening of the body in Atlantic salmon has also been associated with aggressive encounters with dominant fish, and both the eye sclera and the overall bodycoloration tended to darken in the fish that were losing territorial encounters, while victors retained their original coloration (O'Connor et al., 1999). Other traits are morespecific, for example, sucker deformity is unique to lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. or fish that possess suctorial organs.

Commercial production of cleaner fish has grown exponentially over the past few years. Lumpfish are efficient for sea lice control in commercial salmon sea cages (Imsland et al., 2018a) due to their short production cycle (5-7 months to reach deployment size) compared to other cleaner fish species such as ballan wrasse Labrus bergylta, which needs around 18 months to reach a deployable size (Brooker et al., 2018). In addition, lumpfish continue foraging on sea lice under cold temperatures, unlike wrasse (Brooker et al., 2018, Imsland et al., 2014a, Morel et al., 2013). Only in the UK, lumpfish production reached 1.9 million in 2016 (Munro and Wallace, 2017) and it is estimated that 10M lumpfish will be required by 2020 (Powell et al., 2018a). However, the survival of cleaner fish in net pens cohabiting with Atlantic salmon is often poor, and there is increasing concern regarding their welfare (Treasurer and Feledi, 2014, Treasurer et al., 2018b). Recent surveys suggest that between 33% and 50% of lumpfish may die following deployment in salmon cages. Emaciation, poor welfare and lack of specific knowledge of their husbandry needs appear to be the principal challenges for lumpfish farming (Nilsen et al., 2014, Hjeltnes et al., 2019). Although several OWIs for lumpfish have been put together (Noble et al., 2019), there are no agreed lumpfish welfare standards, and it is important that these are developed for quality assurance (Brooker et al., 2018, Treasurer, 2018a). The aim of this study was to develop a scoring index for lumpfish by screening several individual-based OWIs to measure lumpfish welfare under farming conditions in a rapid but accurate manner.

Material and Methods

Development of the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI)

Four steps were followed to develop this score index (Figure 2.1): (1) identification and selection of individual-based OWIs (including the exclusion of non-relevant ones); (2) validation of the selected OWIs against measures of plasma cortisol and body condition using relative weight (Wr); (3) refinement and simplification by assessing correlated traits, and (4) pilot trial to test the use of the index in the farm environment and its suitability through a questionnaire.

Selection and screening of Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs)

Sample collection

The welfare of 95 juvenile farmed lumpfish was examined at two different life stages: pre-deployment (n=60, ranging between 4.8 g and 152 g, from 2 different hatcheries in the UK) and post-deployment (n=35, between 22 g and 100 g, from a sea farm in Scotland). Measurements of body weight (g) and standard and total length (mm) were taken for each fish, as well as photographs of overall condition and detailed measurements of fins, eyes and ventral suction disc. Sampling to define the Welfare Score, detailed below, took less than 2 minutes per fish. Photographs were taken with a Canon EOS 800D (CANON EFS 18-55mm, TAMRON 90mm lens) mounted on a tripod against a black background, a ruler and a reference colour chart (Colour Checker Passport, X-rite) and stored in high resolution.

The results of a questionnaire given to 53 participants at the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture (May 2019, Swansea) were used to select potential welfare indicators for testing. During the focus group, respondents were asked to rank the utility of 12 welfare indicators for lumpfish (Table 2.1). To select the OWIs for this study, all those indicators that were laboratory based or required specialized training (blood parameters, parasite/disease screening), or that had proved unreliable (body/eye darkening) or shown limited or no variation in pilot trials (operculum/gill damage, body deformities) were excluded. After the screening, six of the most representative parameters were selected to develop the Welfare Score, based on this previous

research: (1) external condition, (2) fin damage, (3) eye condition, (4) eye darkening, (5) suction disc deformity and (6) relative weight.

Welfare Score description

(1) External damage

External damage was assessed as the presence or absence of physical damage and/or skin lesions in a 2-point scale from 0 to 1 (Appendix, Figure S2.1). Lesions included any reddening, erosion, abrasion, inflammation, or ulcers.

(2) Fin damage

Fin damage of the 4-rayed fins: dorsal fin, caudal fin, anal fin and pectoral fins were recorded in a Likert scale (5-point) from 0 to 4 according to the extension of the tissue area affected (Appendix, Figure S2.2). The ventral section of the pectoral fin was also recorded and included in fin damage. Left and right pectoral fins were averaged and scored to the next highest score. All the fins combined resulted in a total fin damage score with values ranging from 0 to 20.

(3) Eye condition

Eye condition was scored from 0 to 6 and consisted in the measurement of three parameters: (a) eye damage, (b) exophthalmia or pop-eye and (c) eye cataracts (Appendix, Figure S2.3). Each of these parameters was measured in a 3-point scale from 0 to 2 depending on the extension of the condition (0: absence; 1: unilateral or one eye affected; 2: bilateral or both eyes affected).

(4) Eye darkening

For the assessment of eye darkening (ED), both eyes were drawn by hand in circular templates divided into 8 equal areas. The percentage of darkened area was estimated in each octant (with values between 0 and 1), then summed and multiplied by 12.5% (Volpato et al., 2003, Freitas et al., 2014, Champneys et al., 2018). Eye darkening was calculated as an average of left and right eyes and classified into a Likert-scale from 0 to 4 depending on the percentage of ED (Appendix, Figure S2.4).

(5) Suction disc deformity

Deformity of the ventral suction disc was assessed by measuring the extension of area affected based on five different parameters: (1) symmetry of the suction cup, (2) presence and severity of indentations, (3) depression of the centre of the suction cup, (4) papillae or muscular pad development and (5) deformity of the ventral section of the pectoral fin. Each of these parameters was assessed on a Likert scale (0-4). All the scores were combined into a total suction disc deformity score with values ranging from 0 to 20 (Appendix, Figure S2.5).

(6) Relative weight

Farmed lumpfish (n=2658) weights (g) and total lengths (mm) were collected from 2015 to 2019 from different hatcheries and sea farms and at different life stages. Length-weight relationships (LWRs) were examined to obtain relative weight (*Wr*) as a measure of body condition, due to the unusual shape lumpfish possess. Every individual was classified into the following life stages: (S1) Larvae (0-1g), (S2) Predeployment juveniles (1-10g), (S3) Pre-deployment juveniles (+10g) and (S4) Post-deployment. According to this, standard weight (*Ws*) was computed using the regression parameters from the respective fitted models following the formula: Ws = $10^{a} \cdot TL^{b}$, where a is the intercept, b is the slope of the linear regression and TL is the total length (mm). Relative weight was then calculated as the ratio of the observed weight (*W*) and the length-specific standard weight value (*Ws*) (Quist et al., 1998, Blackwell et al., 2010) according to the following formula: Wr = $100 \cdot (W/Ws)$ (Table 2.2).

Validation of selected individual-based OWIs

To validate the selected OWIs, both reliability and construct validity were used. Reliability measures the magnitude of the measurement error in relation to the inherent variability between subjects (Bartlett and Frost, 2008). Construct validity is the degree to which scores are consistent with a priori hypothesised differences between relevant groups, based on the assumption that the scale validly accurately captures the construct it purports to measure (Mokkink et al., 2010).

Reliability

Two trained raters (R1 and R2), working independently, blindly scored the images of the 95 lumpfish used for the OWI selection above. The images were allocated randomly. Rater 1 also scored the images twice (after 8 months) to provide a measure of intra-rater reliability. Reliability of the OWIs was measured as repeatability of the scores. The repeatability of each of the OWIs and the products of the PCA (PC1 and PC2) were calculated by the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) forboth intra-rater (raters R1 t₁ vs R1 t₂) and inter-rater (raters R1 vs R2) reliability, using the *irr* R package (Gamer et al., 2019). ICC estimates were computed by a single- rating, absoluteagreement, 2-way random-effects model with 2 observers across 95 subjects. The ICC is a suitable tool to measure reliability as it considers both the degree of correlation and the agreement between measurements (Koo and Li, 2016).

Construct validity

The absence of an agreed gold standard test for assessing lumpfish welfare means that construct validity must be evaluated through measures of welfare that have been previously described in other farmed species (Noble et al., 2018). I used plasma cortisol, involved in the stress response, and relative weight, calculated as described above, as an indication of poor growth or emaciation. Individually, each of the OWI scores was summed in an aggregated welfare score (range:0-51), which was standardized and centred by subtracting the mean and dividing by the standard deviation before being analysed by Principal Component Analysis (PCA) using the *factoextra* R package (Kassambara and Mundt, 2019).

Plasma cortisol analysis

Lumpfish were humanely euthanised by an overdose of anaesthetic (tricaine methanesulfonate) according to Schedule 1 of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986. Blood samples were obtained from a subsample of lumpfish (n=55, ranging between 22 and 152 g) by puncturing the caudal vein with a lithium-heparinized vacutainer blood collection system. To reduce sampling variation, all samples were collected within 30 seconds from cessation of opercular movement, by the same person, using the same equipment and mainly in the morning (9am-1pm). Samples were kept on ice until they were centrifuged at 1500rpm for 10 minutes at 15° C,

following the protocol from ThermoFisher Scientific (Thavasu et al., 1992). Plasma was separated and stored at -80°C until analysis. For cortisol analysis, a well-known multi-species competitive ELISA test (Arbor Assays DetectX® Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay Kit, Michigan, USA) was employed. Each sample was treated with dissociation reagent to increase its yield and diluted with buffer before cortisol determination. Standards, blanks and test samples were loaded in duplicate and absorbance values (OD) were read with a SpectroStar Nano Plate Reader (BMG Labtech, Germany) at 450nm wavelength. The average of two duplicates was used to create a standard curve (R^2 =0.994), and concentrations were multiplied by the dilution factor (1:100) to obtain total plasma cortisol values (in ng/ml). Intra and inter-assay precision (CV%) for duplicate samples, calculated following the protocol from Salimetrics (USA), was 15.4% and 6.8%, respectively. The total assay sensitivity was 24.7 pg/ml, and the lowest limit of detection was 18.01 pg/ml.

Refinement and Simplification

As the index had to be practical, all fins were assessed for correlation using the nonparametric pairwise matrix Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (ρ) in order to identify the most sensitive fins to score, as it was noted that lumpfish with damage in one fin, typically presented damage in others. The original welfare score (range:0-51), described above in step 1, was then simplified and refined to contain the most representative OWIs to include into the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI, range:0-10), which included relative weight and the four most reliable OWIs (skin damage, caudal fin damage, eye condition and suction disc deformity), all scored on a 3-point scale to ensure equal weighting (Table 2.3).

Pilot trial

To test the application of the LOWSI, a pilot trial was performed at six different commercial sites: three hatcheries (H1-H3, n=120) and three sea farms (F1-F3,n=125), where 245 lumpfish were scored by one or two raters during 2018 and 2019.Lumpfish were classified into three different welfare classes, depending on theLOWSI points obtained (Table 2.3): (A) Good welfare (<3 points), (B) Moderately compromised welfare (3-5 points), and (C) Severely compromised welfare (>5 points). Both the reliability and the practicality of the LOWSI were tested by (1) using the scores of the author and eight fish farmers on a subsample (n=150) of lumpfish scoredtwice, and

(2) a Likert questionnaire (Table 2.4) given to the eight farmers that scored the lumpfish, respectively.

Statistical analyses

All data was analysed using R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). To assess the results of the questionnaires (a - the utility of 12 welfare indicators for lumpfish, and b - the LOWSI performance), the Wilcoxon signed rank test with continuity correction was used to calculate (pseudo)medians, 95% confidence intervals and *p* values on the Likert-scale responses (Mangiafico, 2016). The *clmm2* function in the *ordinal* R package (Christensen, 2019) was computed into a cumulative link mixed model to evaluate the degree of agreement amongst participants. Model selection was performed based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) values and the function *dredge* in the MuMIn R package (Barton, 2019). The variation of the two principal components (PC1 and PC2) was investigated against plasma cortisol and relative weight while statistically controlling for variation in size (total length). Model assumptions were tested by analysing the linearity, normality, homogeneity of variances and leverage of residuals. Overly influential observations were detected as outliers and excluded from the validation of relative weight (obs. #19) and plasma cortisol (obs. #17).

Results

Selection of Operational Welfare indicators (OWIs)

Utility of welfare indicators for lumpfish

The 12 welfare indicators tested by 53 participants on the questionnaire given during the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture differed significantly in utility (χ^2 =47.11, df=11, p<0.001). Focusing only on individual based OWIs, fin and skin damage were the most useful, while body/eye darkening and blood parameters were the least useful (Appendix, Table S2.1). The consensus between participants was high, as 87% of them did not deviate from the response of the average rater (Appendix, Figure S2.7).

Prevalence and variation in OWIs

The prevalence of the different OWIs varied significantly depending on the life stage of the individuals (Figure 2.2). For instance, the prevalence of external body damage was higher in lumpfish in sea cages (45.7%) than in lumpfish in hatcheries (1.67%; ztest for equality of proportions with continuity correction, $\chi^2=26.27$, df=1, p<0.001), and the same occurred with eye damage, being more notorious in sea cages (22.9%) than in hatcheries (6.67%, χ^2 =3.89, df=1, p=0.048). In general, lumpfish in hatcheries were mostly affected by fin damage, in particular the ventral section of the pectoral fins (53.3%) and the caudal fin (51.7%), and by suction disc deformities (range: 36.7-58.3%). These differences between stages of development were confirmed by Principal Component Analysis. The two first Principal Components (PCs) of the PCA revealed eigenvalues higher than 1 (PC1=1.938 and PC2=1.037), being used as a cutoff point for which PCs were retained. PC1, which accounted for 38.8% of the variability in the data, was mainly associated with suction disc deformities (-0.78), eye darkening (0.67) and external body damage (0.64); while PC2 (20.7%) captured variation in eye condition (-0.81) and fin damage (-0.46). The relationship between all the OWIs and the contribution (contrib.) of the representation is showed in Figure 2.3 (A), along with the PCA biplot with variables and individuals, highlighting the different stages of development (B).

Variation of body condition and incidence of underweight/emaciated fish

The length-weight relationships of farmed lumpfish varied significantly between life stages (Table 2.1). Lumpfish growth was shown to be positively allometric (b>3) in hatcheries (at pre-deployment stage, S1-S3) and negatively allometric in sea cages (at post-deployment stage, S4), suggesting that lumpfish get fatter as they grow in the hatcheries, but they become progressively thinner over time once they have been deployed in sea cages. The length-weight relationship was assessed based on one (Ws1, all stages) and four equations (Ws4, four stages) and found that a single length-weight regression would overestimate relative weight in hatcheries and underestimate it in sea cages (mean absolute error of 5.2%).

The frequency of underweight (weights between 10-25% below their expected) and emaciated (weight below 25% expected) lumpfish differed significantly between life stages (χ^2 =73.86, df=1, p<0.001). In general, most of the lumpfish showed normal weights for each life stage (average 74%), but the proportion of lumpfish with poor body condition -both underweight and emaciated- was higher in life stage 1 (larvae 0-1g, 16 and 18.4%, respectively), which was the most variable stage (Figure 2.4). Overall, 28% of the 2658 sampled lumpfish had lower than normal weights for their respective length and 10% were emaciated.

Variation in plasma cortisol

Mean values of plasma cortisol varied significantly between life stages (Welch two sample t-test, t=6.56, df=35.98, p<0.001), being higher on lumpfish sampled in salmon sea cages (mean=84.70 ng/ml ± 10.99 SE) than juvenile lumpfish sampled in hatcheries (mean=11.61 ng/ml ± 1.88 SE, Figure 2.5). Cortisol values were also significantly more variable post-deployment (CV=76%) than pre-deployment (CV=72.6%; Fligner-Killeen test of homogeneity of variances, χ^2 =21.84, df=1, p<0.001). The highest cortisol value obtained was 261.71 ng/ml.

Validation of OWIs

Reliability

Reliability of the OWIs was measured through repeatability of the scores. All of the selected individual-based OWIs showed good (ICC=0.75-0.90) or excellent (ICC>0.90) repeatability (Table 2.5), although eye condition was highly repeatable when measured by different raters (ICC=1.0, 95% CI=1.00-1.00, p<0.001), but not as significant as when assessed by the same rater at two different times (ICC=0.60, 95% CI=0.46-0.72, p<0.001). The OWI with the highest reliability (ICC=0.85 and ICC=0.94) for intra- and inter-rater repeatability values, respectively, was suction disc deformities.

Construct validity

Relative weight and plasma cortisol values differed significantly between pre- and post-deployment stages (p<0.001), so they were both assessed separately. PC1, PC2 and their interaction with total length, were significant predictors of relative weight during pre-deployment stages (WR_{pre} ~ PC1 x PC2 x TL; F_{5,54}=6.6, R²_{adj}=0.32, p<0.001), but relative weight was only dependent on total length during post-deployment (WR_{post} ~ PC1; F_{1,32}=6.9, R²_{adj}=0.13, p=0.01, Appendix, Table S2.3). In contrast, PC1 was a significant predictor of plasma cortisol during pre-deployment (Cortisol_{pre} ~ PC1; F_{1,17}=9.66, R²_{adj}=0.31, p<0.01), while plasma cortisol was dependent on PC2 and the interaction between PC2 and total length at post-deployment (Cortisol_{post} ~ PC2 x TL; F_{3,31}=4.58, R²_{adj}=0.24, p<0.01; Appendix, Table S2.4).

Refinement and Simplification

The caudal was the most affected fin, with 47% of lumpfish showing mild to severe fin damage. It was also the easiest one to score when handling the fish and the one that showed the highest variation between individuals, with scores ranging from 0 to 4. The ventral section of the pectoral fins was also highly variable, but it was less affected (43%) than the caudal fin. Damage of the dorsal and anal fins was positively correlated (Spearman's ρ =0.3017, p<0.01), as well as damage on the anal fin and the ventral section of the pectoral fins (Spearman's ρ =0.2222, p<0.05), both positioned in the ventral part of the longitudinal axis of the lumpfish. Scores of the ventral section of the pectoral fin and deformity of the suction disc were also positively correlated (Spearman's ρ =0.5309, p<0.01), suggesting that deformities or curling in the ventral section of the pectoral fin contributed significantly to the deformities in the suction cup. Most of the suction cup conditions were positively correlated, for instance, with papillae development (Spearman's ρ =0.786, p<0.001), highlighting redundancy and providing support to the use of a more simplified and practical Welfare Score Index (Table 2.3).

Pilot trial: LOWSI testing and application

The refined Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index, tested on 245 lumpfish across six commercial sites, showed a high repeatability (ICC=0.826, 0.767-0.871, *p*<0.001). Consensus amongst farmers who used the LOWSI to test its performance was high (Appendix, Figure S2.8) with 75% of them not deviating from the average response. The results of the questionnaire given to eight farmers supported that LOWSI is (1) practical to use, (2) quick, as each fish can be scored in less than 2 minutes, (3) easy to implement, and (4) simple enough that farm managers would be willing to train their staff to use it (Appendix, Table S2.2). Overall, 71% of the lumpfish were classified as class A (good welfare, LOWSI <3 points), 27% as class B (moderately compromised welfare, LOWSI=3-5 points) and 2% as class C (severely compromised welfare, LOWSI > 5 points), but the proportion of welfare classes varied significantly between the different sampled sites (6-sample for equality of proportions without continuity correction, χ^2 =44.69, df=5, p<0.001; Figure 2.6). The average value for LOWSI across all the sites was 1.9 and ranged from 0.82 (Farm 3) to 3.37 (Farm 1), indicating that the welfare of lumpfish at Farm 1 was significantly poorer than the rest of sites, with 57% of lumpfish classified as class B and 11% as class C. Poor welfare was mainly associated with fin damage and suction disc deformities in hatcheries and poor growth and eye damage in sea cages.

Discussion

The salmon farming industry is nowadays under the spotlight for not maintaining an adequate lumpfish welfare in sea cages, and for allowing unacceptable high mortalities of these species at post-deployment (Imsland et al., 2016a, Compassion in World Farming, 2018, Stranden, 2020); which has instigated some pressure groups to discourage the use of cleaner fish until mortalities are addressed and their welfare is guaranteed (Marine Conservation Society, 2018, OneKind, 2018). Recently, the Norwegian Food Safety Authority has informed salmon farms to stop using cleaner fish until their welfare standards are met (Anon, 2020c), whose development has been flagged as a priority for lumpfish (FAWC, 2014, OneKind, 2018, Noble et al., 2019). With no agreed welfare standards for lumpfish, mortality might be the only proxy of poor welfare and by then is too late to take any corrective action (Stranden, 2020). Although several parameters have been proposed as welfare indicators for lumpfish (Noble et al., 2019, Imsland et al., 2020, Eliasen et al., 2020), some of them require sacrificial sampling or are just not easily applicable and can be subjective and time consuming. Therefore, a fast and simple scoring system would result more practical for the industry. A repeatable and practical Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) has been developed, which is simple and practical to use, and suitable for routine assessment under farm conditions (Table 2.3). The application of this index at six commercial sites indicated that, although the welfare of lumpfish was generally good (71%), it was moderately compromised in 27% of the cases and undoubtedly poor in the remaining 2%. However, there was a significant variation in welfare scores between sites (with a difference of 4x), indicating that some farms are achieving high welfare standards, while others still not.

The high incidence of underweight lumpfish at all stages of development was a critical finding in this study. While 28% of the lumpfish had lower than expected weights for their length, 10% were emaciated, which indicates ethical concerns. Previous authors reported that up to 30% of lumpfish had empty stomachs in sea cages (Eliasen et al., 2018) and only 13 to 38% actually ate sea lice (Imsland et al., 2014a, Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2016a, Eliasen et al., 2018), indicating that lumpfish are susceptible species to suffer from malnutrition due to starvation. Also, sea lice are considered as 'snacks' for lumpfish and they are not highly nutritional to be their only

food source (Merakerås, 2020). The use of appropriate diets and feeding methods for supplementary feeding at sea cages (Imsland et al., 2019f) is key to reduce the risk of emaciation, but also to reduce stress and excessive energy expenditure. Thus, percentile length-weight charts (Appendix, Figure S2.6) were purposely created for fish farmers not only to monitor growth but also to control the incidence of underweight/emaciated lumpfish and take remedial actions before it becomes a real problem. Estimations of length-weight relationship in fish have been widely used by fisheries researchers and managers as an essential biological parameter, to predict biomass of a sample or estimate weight-at-age for fish distribution, but more importantly, as a practical index to assess fish condition (Le Cren, 1951, Mokhtar et al., 2015). Lumpfish possess an unusual body shape and their Fulton's condition index (K) is higher than in any other teleost (Imsland et al., 2014a, Brooker et al., 2018), which indicates that might not be representative enough. For this reason, the calculation of relative weight (Wr), which compensates for inherent changes in body form (Blackwell et al., 2010), was used as an estimation of lumpfish condition. Relative weight, which was selected as one of the indicators included in the LOWSI, is a useful index for monitoring health and welfare simultaneously (Blackwell et al., 2010, Kumolu-Johnson and Ndimele, 2010).

Four welfare conditions that affected lumpfish in a different manner depending on their stage of development were identified: suction disc deformities and fin damage were the most important determinants of lumpfish welfare in hatcheries, while body damage and eye damage were more significant in sea cages. The prevalence of suction disc deformities was relatively high (37-58%) and greater in hatcheries than in sea cages, probably due to the quality assessment carried out by lumpfish producers before sending lumpfish to salmon farms. Suction disc deformities have been reported in 65% of juvenile lumpfish in a rearing facility (Treasurer et al., 2018b), whose causes are not clear but could possibly be related to nutrition, environment and/or genetic factors, as it has been suggested in other type of deformities in different farmed species (Berillis, 2015). Hence, malformations of the suction disc in lumpfish might be exacerbated by high temperatures at incubation (Imsland et al., 2019b), poor nutritional status (Kousoulaki et al., 2018) and inbreeding depression of lumpfish populations (Whittaker et al., 2018). Independently of the causes, deformities are known to negatively impact the welfare and performance of farmed fish (Noble et al.,

2012) and they can represent a particular problem for lumpfish because they can affect their ability to swim or move (Davenport and Thorsteinsson, 1990), to rest (Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2018a, Johannesen et al., 2018, Leclercq et al., 2018) and possibly to cope with stress by clinging (Hvas et al., 2018) due to the lack of Mauthner cells, involved in the fast scape response (Hale, 2000).

Fin damage was also found as another common welfare problem in lumpfish in hatcheries, with 62% of the juveniles showing caudal fin damage across three different hatcheries (range: 50-93%), which is in accordance with the 69-87% prevalence that other authors (Johannesen et al., 2018) have reported. Most of the health challenges affecting lumpfish are related to stress (Brooker et al., 2018, Powell et al., 2018b), and secondary bacterial and fungal infections will be exacerbated by fin damage, so any actions that reduce the stress will also likely improve welfare and survival. In this sense, the combination of automatic and manual feeding can reduce the stress of competition for the feeding hotspot areas (Johannesen et al., 2018) and grading frequently in hatcheries may reduce fin nipping or cannibalism (European Union Reference Laboratory of Fish Diseases, 2016). Lumpfish are relatively sedentary beyond the spawning season (Powell et al., 2018b) but active swimming is required for delousing the salmon in sea cages (Imsland et al., 2015b, Imsland et al., 2016a, Leclercq et al., 2018) which will be compromised by damaged fins. This will also probably increase the energetic cost, promoting poor growth and expanding the risk of emaciation.

Eye damage and poor eye condition was observed in more than 15% of lumpfish in this study, and it was particularly significant in sea cages, with 26% of lumpfish affected. Lumpfish are visual feeders (Jonassen et al., 2017, Powell et al., 2018a) and any eye conditions such as eye damage, exophthalmia or cataracts will affect their ability to feed, which will increase the risk of emaciation. Eye cataracts, which are rare in wild lumpfish, are relatively common in lumpfish in captivity (20-100%) (Jonassen et al., 2017, Imsland et al., 2018d) and may be indicative of malnutrition (Jonassen et al., 2017) or nutritional deficiencies (Imsland et al., 2018d). However, overfeeding can also be a cause of cataracts (Imsland et al., 2019b). Cataracts were detected in 17% of lumpfish in sea cages (only 5% in lumpfish in hatcheries), which shows that eye

condition seems to deteriorate with time and highlights the need of appropriate diets also at post-deployment stage.

Plasma cortisol levels in fish increase by activation of the hypothalamic-pituitaryinterrenal (HPI) axis after exposure to a stressor (Faught et al., 2016); however, different fish species have different cortisol tolerance. It seems that lumpfish are species with low cortisol response levels to acute stressors as authors reported cortisol basal levels in plasma of 10ng/ml before the stressor and 40-50 ng/ml after the stressor (Jørgensen et al., 2017). Other authors (Treasurer et al., 2018b) stated that, after 30 minutes crowding, lumpfish only showed a moderate increase in plasma cortisol (circa ~200nM) compared to Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. and ballan wrasse Labrus bergylta, which had levels of 700nM and 600nM, respectively. Measurements of cortisol in plasma in this study provided some insights into the stress that lumpfish experience when cohabiting with salmon in sea cages. Cortisol levels in plasma were higher in lumpfish sampled from sea cages than in lumpfish sampled from hatcheries (means: 84.70 ng/ml \pm 10.99 and 11.61 ng/ml \pm 1.88, respectively), which were already higher than those reported for stressed lumpfish (36-63 ng/ml) in other studies (Iversen et al., 2015, Jørgensen et al., 2017, Hvas et al., 2018, Hvas and Oppedal, 2019, Staven et al., 2019). Though, the cortisol levels obtained in plasma for lumpfishin hatcheries were comparable to levels observed in non-stressed lumpfish (5.6-16 ng/ml) by other authors (Jørgensen et al., 2017).

A welfare index for farmed lumpfish, consisting in the visual assessment of five operational welfare indicators: skin damage, caudal fin damage, eye condition, suction disc deformities and body condition was developed, validated and tested at six commercial sites. The results show that one third of the lumpfish sampled had a compromised welfare and undoubtedly poor in 2% of the cases. A high prevalence of emaciated lumpfish, easy to monitor with the length-weight percentile charts, was also found at most of the stages of development. This practical index was aimed to be used by the aquaculture industry (mostly lumpfish producers and salmon farmers) but can also be helpful for health and quality personnel (biologists, veterinarians), policy developers, NGOs and welfare scheme assessors.

Acknowledgements

I would like to personally thank Charlotte Spreadbury, Sophia Tretiak and the Centre for Sustainable Aquaculture Research (CSAR) team for their help with the OWI development, their assistance at sampling and scoring and for providing valuable length-weight data. All the staff from different salmon and lumpfish production companies (hatcheries and sea water sites) is thanked for their priceless involvement on the assessment of this index.

Question 1 - How useful are the following indicators for lumpfish welfare?	Not useful	Rarely useful	Moderately useful	Useful	Very useful
Fin damage	O				———————————————————————————————————————
Skin damage	O	O	O	——————————————————————————————————————	
Mortality	O	O	O		———————————————————————————————————————
Disease/Parasites	O	O	O	——————————————————————————————————————	———————————————————————————————————————
Eye damage	0		O	O	——————————
Suction disc deformities	O		O	O	———————————
Operculum/gill cover damage	O	O	O	——————————————————————————————————————	———————————————————————————————————————
Body deformities	O	O	O	——————————————————————————————————————	———————————————————————————————————————
Condition factor/Relative size	O	O	O	——————————————————————————————————————	———————————————————————————————————————
Poor growth	O		O	—————	———————————————————————————————————————
Body/eye darkening	0		O		———————————————————————————————————————
Blood parameters	O	O	O	O	———————————————————————————————————————

Table 2.1. Questionnaire given to 53 participants at the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture, held on the 14th of May 2019 at Swansea.

Table 2.1. (continuation)

Question 2 – From the list below, tick the indicators that are use facility/business to assess the welfare of lumpfish.	d in your
Fin damage	
Skin damage	
Mortality	
Disease/Parasites	
Eye damage	
Suction disc deformities	
Operculum/gill cover damage	
Body deformities	
Condition factor/Relative size	
Poor growth	
Body/eye darkening	
Blood parameters	
Others:	

Table 2.2. Length-weight regression (LWR) coefficients for farmed lumpfish sampled at different life stages (S1-S4), where Ws = standard weight (g) and TL = total length (mm).

Life stage	n	Intercept (a)	Slope (b)	Ws equation	Adjusted R ²	р
S1. Larvae (0-1g)	948	-5.023	3.532	$Ws = 10^{-5.02} \cdot TL^{3.53}$	0.903	< 0.001
S2. Pre-deployment (1-10g)	126	-4.301	2.926	Ws=10 ^{-4.301} ·TL ^{2.93}	0.950	< 0.001
S3. Pre-deployment (>10g)	1229	-4.737	3.181	Ws=10 ^{-4.74} ·TL ^{3.18}	0.970	< 0.001
S4. Post-deployment	355	-3.516	2.559	Ws=10 ^{-3.52} ·TL ^{2.56}	0.847	< 0.001
All stages	2658	-4.692	3.157	Ws=10 ^{-4.69} ·TL ^{3.16}	0.996	< 0.001
S2. Pre-deployment (1-10g)S3. Pre-deployment (>10g)S4. Post-deploymentAll stages	126 1229 355 2658	-4.301 -4.737 -3.516 -4.692	2.9263.1812.5593.157	$Ws=10^{-4.301} \cdot TL^{2.93}$ $Ws=10^{-4.74} \cdot TL^{3.18}$ $Ws=10^{-3.52} \cdot TL^{2.56}$ $Ws=10^{-4.69} \cdot TL^{3.16}$	0.950 0.970 0.847 0.996	<0.001 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001

OWI	Score 0	Score 1	Score 2
Skin damage			
	No skin damage present	Moderate and localised skin damage	Severe skin damage (abrasions/injuries)
Caudal fin damage	No erosion, splitting or damage	Moderate erosion, splitting or damage	Severe erosion, splitting or damage
Eye condition			L R L R L R

 Table 2.3. Rapid visual scoring of the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI).

	No damage, cataracts or exophthalmia	Unilateral eye damage, cataracts or exophthalmia (only one eye affected)	Bilateral eye damage, cataracts or exophthalmia (both eyes affected)
Suction disc deformity	Suction disc is fully functional, and no deformities are present	Some impairment is present in the suction disc	Suction disc is severely deformed and non-functional
Relative weight		And the second s	
	Normal Weight expected for its size (Wr>90%)	Underweight 10-25% below expected weight (Wr=75-90%)	Emaciated 25% or more below expected weight (Wr<75%)
LOWSI	<3 points Good welfare	3-5 points Moderately compromised welfare	>5 points Severely compromised welfare
ACTION	No action needed	Increase the frequency of welfare assessment and ensure the environment and food sources are adequate	Immediate corrective action (consultation with veterinary services)

Table 2.4. Questionnaire given to fish farmers (n=8) to test the practicality of the LOWSI.

	Name:	Job position:	Site:
--	-------	---------------	-------

Question 1	I believe this Welfare Score Index is practical for my weekly/monthly farm routine						
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree			
Question 2	I believe this Welfare Score Index can be done in a significantly short period of time (less than 2 minutes/fish)						
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree			
Question 3	I believe this Welfare Score Index is easy to do and implement in the farm						
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree			
Question 4	I would train my staff to implement this Welfare Score Index in my farm						
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree			

Table 2.5. Repeatability of different operational welfare indicators (OWIs) and products from the PCA (PC1, PC2) based on the inter- and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) of two raters (R1 and R2) that randomly scored the lumpfish.

OWIs	n	Inter-rater repeatability (R1 vs R2)		Intra-rate	Intra-rater repeatability (R1, t ₁ vs t ₂)		
	-	ICC	95 % CI	р	ICC	95% CI	р
External damage	95	0.83	0.76-0.88	< 0.001	0.82	0.74-0.88	< 0.001
Fin damage	95	0.93	0.90-0.96	< 0.001	0.79	0.68-0.86	< 0.001
Eye darkening	95	0.85	0.78-0.90	< 0.001	0.83	0.76-0.89	< 0.001
Eye condition	95	1.00	1.00-1.00	< 0.001	0.60	0.46-0.72	< 0.001
Suction disc deformity	95	0.94	0.91-0.96	< 0.001	0.85	0.78-0.91	< 0.001
PC1	86	0.87	0.81-0.91	< 0.001	0.79	0.70-0.86	< 0.001
PC2	86	0.86	0.80-0.91	< 0.001	0.44	0.26-0.60	< 0.001



Figure 2.1. Flowchart used to develop an operational welfare score index for farmed lumpfish.



Figure 2.2. Diverging stacked bar plot showing the variation in operational welfare indicators (OWIs) in lumpfish sampled from hatcheries (A, n=60) and sea cages (B, n=35).



Figure 2.3. PCA plot with variables and their contribution (A) and PCA biplot showing variables and individuals (B), separated by stage of development: pre-deployment or hatchery stage (yellow triangles) and post-deployment or sea cage stage (blue circles).


Figure 2.4. Variation of body condition (relative weight, %) by stage of development. Lumpfish with normal body condition (Wr>90%) are shown in pink, while underweight (Wr=75-90%) and emaciated (Wr<75%) lumpfish are shown in green and blue, respectively.



Figure 2.5. Variation in plasma cortisol (ng/ml) of lumpfish (n=55) sampled from two hatcheries (S3 – Pre-deployment) and one sea farm (S4 – Post-deployment).



Figure 2.6. Variation in the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) pilot trial at six commercial sites (n=245 lumpfish): three hatcheries and three sea farms. The proportion of the lumpfish belonging to each of the welfare classes are represented by colour degradation in the violin plots: green for Class A (Good welfare), orange for Class B (Moderately compromised welfare) and red for Class C (Severely compromised welfare).

Chapter 3 Changes in growth and welfare of lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. over time in a longitudinal study

Abstract

The use of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) as cleaner fish is essential for the salmon industry, but lumpfish welfare can become compromised by cohabiting with salmon. A longitudinal study approach was used to investigate changes in size, welfare scores and feeding preferences of lumpfish over time. Mixed lumpfish populations from two different origins (Norwegian and English) and similar size were stocked at 10% of salmon density in quadruplicate (four cages), along with Atlantic salmon (salmon average weight \pm SD: 165.13g \pm 1.44). Lumpfish were randomly sampled twice from the surface of the pen, at three weeks and at three months post-deployment. English lumpfish had higher average weights and lengths three months after deployment, suggesting they grew faster than Norwegian lumpfish.Welfare scores did not differ between stocks but worsened with time spent at sea andwere worse for small fish. All measured Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs) worsened except for caudal fin damage, which did not change significantly over time. The prevalence of ingested sea lice appeared to increase over time, but it was generally very low and also reflected the low infection levels of the farm. The prevalence of formulated pellets in stomachs was seen to increase over time, but it did not appear tobe related to welfare. Better understanding on how lumpfish welfare changes at sea over time can be valuable for the industry to identify critical periods and increase monitoring or take actions conveniently.

Introduction

Lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus* L.) is an economically important species used to control sea lice infestations in salmon aquaculture. Although lumpfish production may have reached a plateau in some areas in Norway (Berge, 2019), lumpfish worldwide production is currently over 39M annually (Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries,2021a, Anon, 2020b, Bolton-Warberg, 2018). This is not too far from the predicted 50M lumpfish needed to supply salmon farms in 2020 (Powell et al., 2018b), indicating the demand of lumpfish for salmon aquaculture will continue rising as partof an integrated cost-effective sea lice mitigation strategy. Salmon farmers stock and top-up their farms with lumpfish from different origins, including local and non-localstocks, based on season and availability. Logistically it is very challenging to rely on one single stock origin because lumpfish production still depends on wild broodstock. Also, lumpfish cannot be stocked at sea during the warmest months as it is detrimentalfor their health and welfare due to their low thermal range (Hvas et al., 2018).

The distribution of lumpfish covers a large area along both sides of the North Atlantic ocean (Davenport, 1985, Powell et al., 2018b). Mature adults show homing behaviour and return to the same areas to spawn (Kennedy et al., 2015), and larvae have limited dispersal as they attach to the substrate not long after hatching (Davenport, 1985); attributes that make stock differentiation strong. A recent study found five genetically different populations of lumpfish (West, Mid and East Atlantic, English Channel and Baltic Sea) with some substantial phenotypic variation in growth, condition and maturation between North Atlantic and Baltic regions (Whittaker et al., 2018). Also, differences have been reported in delousing ability, growth and disease resistance between lumpfish families, within the same stock origin, suggesting that variability could be explained genetically (Imsland et al., 2016a, Imsland et al., 2021), and possibly certain genotypes may be more suitable than others to be used as cleaner fish in salmon cages.

The commercial use of lumpfish in salmon farms is at present under scrutiny due to sea lice grazing variation, low survival rates and poor welfare, which appear to be important bottlenecks to achieve sustainability in the lumpfish industry. Reported lumpfish delousing efficacies are highly variable, ranging from 9 to 60%, although efficiency can be as high as 97% for adult female sea lice (Overton et al., 2020) in

land or small-scale trials. Only one study was performed at a large scale under real commercial conditions, showing lumpfish sea lice removal efficacies of 53-73% (Imsland et al., 2018a). About 13 to 38% of lumpfish are generally found with ingested sea lice in their stomachs (Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2018a, Eliasen et al., 2018). However, lumpfish are opportunistic feeders foraging on a wide variety of prey and seem to adapt to whatever food source is most readily accessible. They modify their diet according to prey availability, and do not rely on a single food source if others are present. Crustaceans have been found to make up to 91% of the diet of the juvenile lumpfish under natural conditions (Ingólfsson and Kristjánsson, 2002), but in sea cages lumpfish can consume crustaceans, hydrozoans, bivalves and fragments of macroalgae, among other sources (Imsland et al., 2015a). It is also very common to find a high proportion of lumpfish (61-96%) in salmon cages with formulated feed pellets in their stomachs (Imsland et al., 2014a, Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2016a).

Lumpfish mortalities in sea cages are an indicator of poor health and welfare (Brooker et al., 2018); hence maintaining good welfare in lumpfish is essential not only to promote cleaning behaviour, but also to reduce stress and improve survival. Although the welfare status of lumpfish appears to generally improve in small-scale trials after four months (Geitung et al., 2020), there are indications that lumpfish welfare deteriorates in commercial conditions and can be severely compromised in some commercial salmon farms (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), particularly not long after deployment at sea (Lopes, 2021). However, it has not been determined exactly at which point after sea deployment this happens or how other physiological changes over time affect lumpfish welfare. It is imperative that lumpfish health and welfare is continuously monitored to identify critical periods that can lead to detrimental welfare and take actions by correcting the husbandry at sea.

The aims of the present study were first to assess whether there were changes in size, welfare scores and feeding preferences over time by sampling lumpfish at two different time points under commercial conditions. Secondly, microsatellites markers and parental assignment were used to identify the origin where lumpfish originated from and differences between the different genetic stocks were investigated.

Materials and methods

Experimental fish

The lumpfish used for this study originated from Norway and Dorset (South Coast of England) wild stocks. Norwegian lumpfish, belonging to a single family (same parentage), were shippedas eggs to hatchery 1 (Lat: 56° 1' 39.684" N, Long: 5° 18' 1.476" W) and reared in a flow-through system. English lumpfish juveniles, belonging to three different families(Eng-1, Eng-2 and Eng-4), were reared in a RAS hatchery 2 (Lat: 51° 36' 29.8" N, Long: 3° 58' 50.4" W), until all achieved deployment size. Three different males and three different females were used for each of the English family crosses, while Norwegian lumpfish originated from a cross between a single male and a single female.

Experimental set up

A similar proportion of mixed lumpfish from Norwegian and English origins (2754 and 2256, respectively) were stocked on the 19/10/2018 in quadruplicate in four 100m circular (10mnet depth) sea cages (n=20040; 11016 Norwegian and 9024 English) at a commercialsalmon farm in Scotland (Lat: 57° 32' 31.992" N, Long: 5° 42' 40.392" W). The studylasted 84 days, and sea water temperature decreased from 12.7°C in October to 9.6°Con 11/01/2019, where the study finished. Lumpfish were deployed at a stocking rate of 10% salmon density per cage and similar average weights (Norwegian: 30.2g, English1: 28.4g, English2: 29.3g, English4: 20.7g). The three different families within English stock had the same representation on each cage (n=752/family). Other information is summarised in Table S3.2 (Appendix).

Sample collection

Lumpfish were randomly sampled with hand nets from the surface of the pen twice, at approximately three weeks (early November 2018, T1) and three months (mid-January 2019, T2) post-deployment, to assess changes over time. A total of 160 lumpfish (40 lumpfish per cage) were collected at each sampling point (total n=320). An overdose of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) (Pharmaq, Hampshire, UK) and brain destruction were used to humanely euthanise the fish. For each individual sampled, body weight (g), total length (mm) and welfare scores for body damage, caudal fin damage, eye condition, suction disc deformity and relative weight (Gutierrez

Rabadan et al., 2021) were obtained. Individual stomachs were collected for content analysis and individualfin tissue was collected in 96% ethanol for genetic analysis. Both were stored at -20°C until analysis. Sea lice counts (average count per salmon; Appendix, Figure S3.1) were recorded on a weekly basis for each of the sampled cages.

Stomach content analysis

Partially defrosted stomachs (n=320) were dissected and visually analysed for presence/absence (0: No, 1: Yes) and quantification of formulated pellets and sea lice. Fullness/distension ratio of the stomachs (0: empty, 0.25: partially full, 0.5: half-full, 0.75: moderately full, 1: completely full/bursting) was also individually recorded.

DNA extraction and amplification

Dorsal fin clip samples of approximately 5x5mm were obtained from lumpfish offspring of mixed origin (Norwegian/English, n=320). Additionally, fin clips from the wild English broodstock individuals (used as parents and caught with nets from the South Coast of England in March 2018) and 25 offspring (15 from England (English1 x5, English2 x5, English4 x5) and 10 from Norway) were also collected as controls for parents and offspring, respectively. Norwegian parents were not available for genotyping. DNA was extracted using Qiagen DNeasy 96 Tissue Kits (Manchester, UK) following the manufacturer's protocol. DNA concentration was calculated using a Nanodrop 2000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA) and DNA quality was assessed through the A260/A280 ratio. Samples were diluted when needed by adding DNA-free water to ensure all of them had similarly the same concentration.

Microsatellite and genotype analysis

Samples were sent to an external laboratory for analysis. In total, 30 genomic (g-STRs) and 30 expressed sequence tag (EST-STRs) candidate tetranucleotide microsatellites, evenly distributed between linkage groups, were identified from already published sequences (Maduna et al., 2020) and primers designed using Primer3 software (Untergasser et al., 2012). A subset of 25 yielding strongly amplifying clean amplicons were initially screened using M13 tailed primers (Blacket et al., 2012), resolved via an Applied Biosystems 3730XL DNA Analyser (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK) and 10 polymorphic candidates suitable for multiplexing were identified. This new

multiplex *M1-10mix*, along with two existent multiplex panels, *M2-4mix* and *M3-6mix* (Skirnisdottir et al., 2013) were proposed for genotyping the lumpfish offspring. Loci names, sequences, length ranges and dyes are specified in Tables S3.2 and S3.3 (Appendix). After temperature titration and optimisation of primer concentrations, markers were amplified in 10 µl reactions containing 0.1U GeneOn DFS DNA polymerase (Ludwigshafen, Germany) and 1x proprietary multiplex PCR buffer (NoahGene Ltd., Alloa, UK) using a Biometra TRIO thermal cycler with the following profile: 1 min at 96°C followed by 32 cycles of 20s at 94°C, 20s at 58.4°C and 1min at 72°C. Diluted PCR products (1:10) were resolved using an Applied Biosystems 3730XL DNA Analyser including GeneScan 400HD ROX as size standard (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK). Allele sizes were estimated by assigning the peaks on the electropherograms using both GeneMapper software 5 (Applied BioSystemsTM) and Genotyper (Applied BiosystemsTM) and binning allele peak sizes into genotypes following the Global Southern algorithm. Micro-checker v.2.2.3 (Van Oosterhout et al., 2004) was used to detect null allele frequencies, allelic dropouts and also stutter peaks for each microsatellite.

Parental assignment

All three genotype panel data were combined together and exported to the exclusionbased software VITASSIGN (Vandeputte et al., 2006), which allowed to identify mismatching loci in the genotypes (crucial for the dinucleotide panels). Only exclusions with not less than 3 loci were considered reliable. Due to the impossibility of fully reconciling di- and trinucleotide loci, trio assignments with one mismatch were allowed. All assignments were compared using CERVUS (Kalinowski et al., 2007) to assess the assignments to single parents and also to check for agreement with a trio delta>0.1. The total assignment achieved was 60%, considering that survival of both stocks would be similar and 50% of the samples would not be assigned as half of the parents (Norwegian origin) were unknown.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with R version 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021). A Chisquare goodness of fit test was performed to investigate whether the proportion of sampled fish belonging to each origin at time point 1 (T1) was different than what would be expected from the proportion stocked at deployment, for each of the cages and all together. A two-proportion z-test was employed to assess if proportions of fish belonging to each stock (Eng1, Eng2, Eng4, Norwegian) differed over time between time points T1 and T2. As the sample size for some of the English families at recapture was relatively small (e.g., families 1 and 4), origin (English, Norwegian) instead of stock, was used for the rest of the statistical analyses. Variance in body weight, total length and body condition between time points was assessed using Levene's test. Origin and time (T1: three weeks, T2: three months) were used as predictors of changes in body weight using a linear model (LM) and changes in body size and condition using a linear mixed model (LMM), with cage (n=4) as a random factor. Total length and body condition (as relative weight, Wr%) were log transformed to meet model assumptions. A generalized linear model (GLM) was fitted with Poisson distribution using the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2007), for welfare scores (LOWSI counts) as the dependent variable and origin, time and size (total length) as predictors. The same approach was used for sea lice ingestion (counts) model, which was also tested against a null model with no predictors and also against a Zero-inflated Poisson (ZIP) regression model with the Vuong test (Desmarais and Harden, 2013) using the 'pscl' package (Jackman et al., 2007). A GLM with quasi-Poisson family was used for pellet ingestion (counts) model due to data overdispersion. Model outputs are reported including estimates \pm SE (standard error), statistic test and significance p-values. Models assumptions were assessed through linearity, homogeneity of variances and normal distribution of the residuals using the ggResidPanel package (Goode and Rey, 2019). Then, models were simplified using the dredge command in the MuMIn package (Barton, 2020) and selected by the lowest AIC.

Results

Relative abundance of lumpfish of different origins

Norwegian (n=2754) and English (n=2256) lumpfish were deployed in each of the four cages of this study. The population sampled at the first time point (T1, three weeks post-deployment) was constituted by 73% of Norwegian lumpfish (117/160) and 27% of English lumpfish (43/160), which from those 22% (35/160) belonged to family 2, 4% (6/160) to family 1 and 1% (2/160) to family 4. At the second time point (T2, three months post-deployment), the proportion of sampled individuals was very similar (Norwegian: 74% and English: 26% - family 1: 5%, family 2: 19%, family 4: 2%), suggesting that the proportion of fish belonging to each stock did not differ over time (z-test; English1: χ^2 =0.08, df=1, *p*=0.8; English2: χ^2 =0.31, df=1, *p*=0.6; English4: χ^2 =1.00e-32, df=1, *p*=1; Norwegian, χ^2 =0.016, df=1, *p*=0.9), with similar representation at three weeks and at three months post-deployment (Table 3.1).

The relative abundance of Norwegian lumpfish (73%) was significantly higher than expected (2754/5010, 55%) while the relative abundance of English lumpfish (27%) was lower than expected (2256/5010, 45%; χ^2 =69.98, df=1, *p*<0.001; Appendix, Table S3.1).

Changes in body size and condition between origins and over time

Given that weights were all similar at deployment, lumpfish from different origins did not differ in weight at three weeks post-deployment (compared to deployment), but the average weight of English lumpfish (n=41, 84.2g ± 44.4) was higher than the average weight of Norwegian lumpfish (n=119, 53.5g ± 24.4; Table 3.1) at three months after deployment. There was also a significant interaction between time and stock origin, where both stocks increased their average weights between time points, although English lumpfish (t=10.25, df=316, p<0.001) gained more weight (increase in average body weight by $51.22g \pm 4.99$) in comparison to Norwegian lumpfish (- $38.63g \pm 5.82$, t=-6.64, p<0.001) over time (Figure 3.1a). Similar changes occurred with the length of lumpfish, but in this case, origins differed in length at both time points (Table 3.2). English lumpfish average length increased over time by 34.81mm ± 5.76 (t=6.05, df=316, p<0.001) and were significantly longer (n=84, 125mm ± 25.1) than Norwegian lumpfish (109.2mm \pm 15.5) at three months post-deployment (t=11.55, *p*<0.001; Figure 3.1b). The effect of time spent at sea on total length was influenced by the stock origin, with faster growth in English compared to Norwegian lumpfish (-25.01 \pm 3.6, t=-6.92, *p*<0.001). Negative estimate values for Norwegian lumpfish indicate that they grew slower in weight and length in comparison to English lumpfish. Levene's test results indicated unequal variances between time points for body weight (F_{1,318}=78.15, *p*<0.001) and total length (F_{1,318}=80.48, *p*<0.001), but homogeneity of variances for body condition (F_{1,318}=0.97, *p*=0.33).

Body condition differed between stocks (12.89 \pm 6.27, t=2.06, *p*=0.04) and was influenced by the interaction between lumpfish origin and time spent at sea, with English lumpfish showing no differences over time and Norwegian lumpfish losing condition with time spent at sea (-9.59 \pm 3.93, t=-2.44, *p*=0.02; Figure 3.2). The proportion of emaciated lumpfish (Wr <75%, between 10-25% below the expected weight for their length) increased over time (χ^2 =4.25, df=1, *p*=0.04) as none were observed at the first time point (three weeks) for any of the origins, while a small percentage (English: 7%, Norwegian: 3%) was found at three months post-deployment.

Changes in welfare between origins and over time

The full model included origin, time and size (total length) as predictors of welfare, but only time and total length, showing the lowest AIC, were retained (Appendix, Table S3.4). Welfare scores did not differ significantly between lumpfish origins. However, welfare was influenced by time spent in cages (z=11.07, df=316, p<0.001) and fish size (z=-5.14, df=316, p<0.001). LOWSI values increased (indicating worsened welfare) with increased time at sea, approximately by 1.22 points \pm 0.10, being higher at three months (English: n=41, median \pm interquartile (IQR): 2 \pm 1; Norwegian: n=119, med \pm IQR: 3 \pm 1) than at three weeks post-deployment (English: n=43, median \pm IQR: 1 \pm 1; Norwegian: n=117, med \pm IQR: 1 \pm 1; Figure 3.3). All the scored welfare indicators (body damage: 3.06 \pm 1.04, z=2.93, p=0.003; eye condition: 2.52 \pm 0.23, z=11.02, p<0.001; suction disc deformity: 1.51 \pm 0.61, z=2.46, p=0.01; relative weight: 1.46 \pm 0.31, z=4.69, p<0.001) worsened over time, except for caudal fin damage that did not vary. Also, LOWSI values were higher in smaller than bigger lumpfish (-0.015 \pm 0.003) whilst statistically controlling for stock origin and

time. These results suggest that welfare decreases with time spent at sea and is also worse for small fish, possibly reflecting poorer growth.

Changes in the prevalence of sea lice and pellets in stomachs over time

The number of sea lice found in stomachs was very low, accounting only for 1.5% (5/320) of the total population. English lumpfish belonging to family 1 (n=4, 1 sea lice each) and Norwegian lumpfish (n=1, 13 sea lice) were the two stocks that ingested sea lice. While controlling for stock origin and variation in size (Appendix, Table S3.5), counts of ingested sea lice varied with time spent at sea (3.11 ± 1.04 , z=2.98, p=0.003) with slightly increased counts found at three months (mean \pm SD: 0.1 ± 1.03) than at three weeks after deployment (mean \pm SD: 0.006 ± 0.079). Sea lice infestation levels in salmon were slightly higher at three months (average $1.0 \cdot \text{salmon}^{-1}$; Cage 3: 0.76, Cage 4: 0.9, Cage 7: 1.1, Cage 8: 1.25) than at three weeks post-deployment ($0.6 \cdot \text{salmon}^{-1}$; Cage 3: 0.9, Cage 4: 0.7, Cage 7: 0.45, Cage 8: 0.35); which could indicate that lumpfish ingested slightly more sea lice at three months than at three weeks because the infestation rates were slightly higher on the farm at that time.

Fish pellet counts in lumpfish stomachs differed between origins (z=-10.69, df=316, p<0.001), time spent at sea (z=-16.52, df=316, p<0.001) and size (z=5.08, df=316, p<0.001); with English lumpfish (44%, 37/84) eating more pellets than Norwegian lumpfish (12%, 27/236). More pellets were also eaten at three weeks (37%, 59/160) than at three months (3%, 5/160) and counts were also higher in larger size lumpfish (0.017 ± 0.003). Empty stomachs were found in almost 49% (156/320) of the total lumpfish in this study, 41% (66/160) at three weeks and 56% (90/160) at three months. The stomach fullness or distension rate was not significantly different over time (z=-1.38, df=316, p=0.17), but differed between stock origins (z=-4.38, p<0.001), with English lumpfish showing greater stomach fullness (mean ± SD: 0.51 ± .041) than Norwegian lumpfish (mean ± SD: 0.25 ± 0.36).

Discussion

This study looked at how lumpfish changed in size, welfare and diet after deployment in sea cages. Body size, body condition, welfare scores and diet changed over time, between three weeks and three months post-deployment. Also, body size, body condition and the prevalence of pellets in stomachs varied also between lumpfish origins.

English lumpfish grew faster than Norwegian lumpfish, with higher average weights and lengths (Table 3.1), and an increase of mean weight of 2.5x and 1.3x in 66 days, respectively. There are no other studies comparing growth rates between English and Norwegian lumpfish in sea cages. However, average growth in Norwegian lumpfish here was similar to the growth recently reported by Imsland et al. (2021) in a Norwegian family in a 67-day trial in sea cages, with an order of 1.8x increase of mean weight. Differences in growth rates between genetic stocks have previously been reported in lumpfish; for instance, lumpfish from the East Atlantic (including Norway) were found to have a steeper length-weight relationship than lumpfish from the English channel, indicating that wild Norwegian lumpfish could grow faster than those caught from the English channel (Whittaker et al., 2018). However, here English lumpfish displayed faster growth rates than Norwegian lumpfish in cages. Lumpfish have a high growth potential as they are capable of increasing their mean body weight by ten times in only 76 days, when reared at optimum temperatures (Nytrø et al., 2014). In contrast to most other species, fast growth is not the focus for lumpfish usedas cleaner fish (Imsland et al., 2021). This is because, while lumpfish producers prefer stocks with faster growth rates in hatcheries, so lumpfish reach deployment size sooner (Powell et al., 2018b), salmon farmers prefer lumpfish with slower growth in cages since smaller lumpfish (20-30g) appear to be more effective at sea lice removal than larger ones (>75g) (Imsland et al., 2016a, Imsland et al., 2021). If there would be a trait for selection between growth rates and sea lice removal efficiency, the second should be prioritized over the first; but because mortality rates in lumpfish are sometimes close to 100% (Poppe, 2017), disease resistance and survival should be the selected trade-off to improve sustainability of the industry.

The proportion of stocks did not differ over time, with similar representation at three weeks than at three months. Sampling was performed randomly at the surface of the

cage and the number of individuals belonging to each stock was proportional when deployed; however, the observed proportion of Norwegian lumpfish was much greater than the expected, with the English proportion being much lower than expected. Due to their higher representation at both time points (T1 and T2), it would seem that Norwegian lumpfish had a better survival rate than English lumpfish. However, other factors such as the sampling technique or English lumpfish simply swimming deeper in the cage cannot be ruled out. Under natural conditions, adult lumpfish are usually found in deep waters (Kennedy et al., 2016), with daily vertical migrations greater than 100 metres, which is deeper than the maximum depth of most salmon cages.

Welfare scores for body damage, eye condition, suction disc deformities and relative weight did not differ between lumpfish origins but varied significantly with time spent at sea and fish size, with smaller lumpfish displaying worse welfare than larger lumpfish. This has also been found by other authors, where smaller lumpfish suffered also more damage than larger lumpfish in sea cages (Rey et al., 2021). Body damage occurrence here increased from 0.63% to 10% over time. This condition can be common in sea cages, especially when weather conditions are adverse in exposed sea sites (Hvas et al., 2021), and its prevalence needs to be closely monitored as external lesions make individuals more susceptible to secondary bacterial infections (Noble et al., 2012), one of the most common causes of mortality in lumpfish (Nilsen et al., 2014, Brooker et al., 2018, Erkinharju et al., 2021).

Poor eye condition (mostly cataracts) was also found to increase over time. Eye condition has been reported to deteriorate and worsen with time in sea cages (Geitung et al., 2020, Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), especially with the increasing prevalence of cataracts as the time progresses (Imsland et al., 2021), which in-turn can increase the risk of emaciation as lumpfish depend on their vision to feed (Powell et al., 2018b). The risk of developing cataracts has been related to high growth (Jonassen et al., 2017, Imsland et al., 2018d), although in this case, cataracts affected similarly both lumpfish stocks. Although the prevalence of suction disc deformities was generally low, this condition also worsened over time (from 1.3% to 4.4%), increasing only its frequency but not its degree of affection. Farming conditions and routine procedures at sea often compromise fish health and welfare (Ashley, 2007), which can deteriorate quickly with time at sea. This can occur to both salmon and lumpfish, although lumpfish

welfare could worsen straight after transportation and deployment to sea cages, two conditions known to be very stressful for the species (Jonassen et al., 2018). Ideally, lumpfish should live in cages with salmon during their entire grow-out cycle, which can range from 12 up to 24 months (FAO, 2009). Unfortunately, this is not very common as lumpfish survival is significantly low in sea cages (Brooker et al., 2018, Klakegg et al., 2020, Erkinharju et al., 2021). Although the present study lasted for 84 days, which is not fully representative of the time expected for lumpfish to last at sea with salmon, it gives insights on how lumpfish welfare deteriorates at sea, suggesting that the more time they spend at sea, the more compromised welfare could get, especially if nothing is done to maintain good welfare.

Feeding preferences in lumpfish also changed over time, with the occurrence of sea lice in stomachs increasing from 0 to 17 specimens with time spent at sea, which also corresponded with a slight increase of the sea lice infection rate on the farm. This should be taken cautiously as the low prevalence of ingested sea lice is reflected by the low incidence of sea lice attached to salmon in this farm. However, several studies have reported that the efficiency of sea lice removal in lumpfish increases with time spent at sea (Imsland et al., 2014a, Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2018a), suggesting that lumpfish may need some time to adapt to cage conditions before they can show any cleaning behaviour. Previous habituation to salmon (Staven et al., 2019) and feeding live preys (Imsland et al., 2019e) before lumpfish are stocked in sea cages could potentially reduce this adaptation period, although the impact of the transfer and the deployment per se are not well documented yet. In contrast, the prevalence of formulated pellets in stomachs decreased over time, with more pellets eaten at three weeks than at three months post-deployment. English lumpfish (44%) ate considerably more pellets than Norwegian lumpfish (11%), and their stomachs were significantly more distended. This could be a potential reason why English lumpfish grew faster than Norwegian lumpfish in this study.

Overall, these results can be of interest for the industry. Since their growth rates are slower at sea, Norwegian lumpfish may be preferred by salmon farmers over English lumpfish to be used as cleaner fish, with the potential negative consequences of escapes and introgression. However, the low prevalence of sea lice found in stomachs (due to low infestation levels in salmon in the farm) could not make any of the stocks better than the other at delousing. The higher prevalence of pellets in stomachs in the English stock during the first period could have contributed to its faster growth rate. Welfare worsened from three weeks to three months after deployment at sea, indicating that the first three months after the transfer are crucial for lumpfish. Welfare and health should be carefully monitored during this period, especially on the smaller size fish.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Matthew Tomlinson[†], Joel Ellis, Ali Duce and Iain Webster for organising the visit to the farm and providing essential information for this study. I thank the NoahGene team for analysing the samples. I also thank Ben Overland, Ben Jennings, Sergio Trevi and Ben Whittaker for their immense efficiency and support on collecting the samples in such a short time notice. I am also grateful to Paul Howesand Becky Stringwell at CSAR for being the contact point between Swansea University and the industry and for their help organising the design of the experiment.

Table 3.1. Summary of body size (BW and TL) and condition (Wr) data according to cage, origin, genetic stock and sampling time point. BW=body weight, TL=total length. Values are represented as mean \pm SD=standard deviation. Variance between time-points was significantly different for body weight and total length, but not for body condition (Wr).

	Sample		T1 (three weeks)		Sample	T2 (three months)		
	size (n)	$BW(g) \pm SD$	TL (mm) \pm SD	Wr (%) \pm SD	size (n)	BW $(g) \pm SD$	TL (mm) \pm SD	$Wr(\%) \pm SD$
By cage								
Cage 3	40	37.8 ± 12.4	95.3 ± 10.0	103.3 ± 14.1	40	58.7 ± 28.2	111.6 ± 16.9	103.9 ± 17.2
Cage 4	40	41.3 ± 9.3	97.1 ± 8.8	111.1 ± 18.1	40	53.2 ± 28.6	104.9 ± 13.7	109.5 ± 18.8
Cage 7	40	38.1 ± 9.7	95.8 ± 7.3	105.3 ± 15.7	40	73.8 ± 37.9	122.9 ± 21.1	99.4 ± 12.3
Cage 8	40	37.9 ± 11.5	95.5 ± 10.4	104.1 ± 11.7	40	59.8 ± 35.7	112.0 ± 21.8	98.5 ± 13.4
By origin								
English	43	32.9 ± 9.2	90.9 ± 9.5	102.4 ± 12.7	41	84.2 ± 44.4	125.0 ± 25.1	106.0 ± 17.7
Norwegian	117	40.9 ± 10.5	97.7 ± 8.4	107.2 ± 15.9	119	53.5 ± 24.4	109.2 ± 15.5	101.4 ± 15.4
By stock								
English fam1	6	31.7 ± 9.3	85.8 ± 10.2	115.3 ± 12.8	8	24.3 ± 8.3	85.5 ± 6.5	87.7 ± 18.9
English fam2	35	33.9 ± 8.8	92.7 ± 8.5	100.6 ± 11.3	30	99.4 ± 35.5	136.1 ± 16.9	109.1 ± 11.7
English fam4	2	20 ± 9.9	76 ± 8.5	96.6 ± 22.1	3	92 ± 54.4	121.3 ± 19.0	129.1 ± 27.6
Norwegian	117	40.9 ± 10.5	97.7 ± 8.4	107.2 ± 15.9	119	53.5 ± 24.4	109.2 ± 15.5	101.4 ± 15.4

--- English ··•· Norwegian



Figure 3.1. Lumpfish individual body weights (**a**) and total lengths (**b**) of each origin (English in pink, n=84; Norwegian in blue, n=236) at each of the time-point (1: Nov 2018, three weeks post-deployment; 2: Jan 2019, three months post-deployment). Error bars show the distribution of the data (-SD, +SD) with mean trajectories for each origin over time (continuous line for English and dotted line for Norwegian lumpfish). An interaction effect between the predictor variables (origin and time point) is shown.

- English ··•· Norwegian



Figure 3.2. a) Body condition (or relative weight, % Wr) distribution in each of the genetic origins (English, n=84; Norwegian, n=236) at each time-point (1: three weeks, 2: three months). An interaction effect between the predictor variables of body condition is shown. **b**) Variation in welfare scores (LOWSI) between lumpfish origins and time-points (English: 1, n=43, 2, n=41; Norwegian: 1, n=117, 2, n=119).

Chapter 4Feeding preferences, growth and gut
microbial communities of two stocks of
lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L. deployed
in a common sea cage

Abstract

Lumpfish are widely used in salmon farms as a biological control of sea lice. However, there are concerns about their suboptimal use and the large variation in performance between individuals when deployed in sea cages. It has been suggested that this variation could be genetically explained. To assess whether the genetic stock influences how lumpfish perform at sea, lumpfish from Icelandic and Scottish origins were stocked in a common sea cage of a commercial salmon farm. Body size and condition, welfare scores, cortisol level, diet and intestinal microbiome communities were compared between the two stocks. Icelandic lumpfish were significantly larger and grew faster than Scottish lumpfish and fed primarily on formulated feed while Scottish lumpfish fed mostly on crustaceans. Icelandic lumpfish also displayed better welfare scores than Scottish lumpfish. In terms of microbial communities, characterized by 16S rRNA gene sequencing, the Scottish lumpfish gut microbiota showed higher diversity and variability than the Icelandic lumpfish's, which was dominated (90%) by the genus Mycoplasma. A significant association was found between abundance of *Candidatus branchiomonas*, known to be involved in complex gill disease, and low lumpfish welfare, as well as between cortisol levels and high Clostridium abundance, suggesting that some bacteria may be used as welfare and stress biomarkers.

Introduction

Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) are reared in hatcheries and deployed into commercial salmon farms for the control of the sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis. Lumpfish have been classified as 'Near Threatened' by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List (Lorance et al., 2015). Although there have been some advances in captive breeding (Anon, 2020e), over 85% of all the lumpfish deployed in Scotland in 2017 were not locally sourced (Treasurer et al., 2018c) and importing non-native lumpfish eggs is still relatively common in the salmon industry. Baltic and North Atlantic lumpfish display phenotypic differences in skin lumps and tuberculation (Davenport, 1985), size (Lampart-Kaluzniacka and Heese, 2000) and growth (Pampoulie et al., 2014, Whittaker et al., 2018). There are also differences in body morphology, longevity, feeding preferences, growth rate and behaviour between Icelandic lumpfish and lumpfish from the English Channel (Whittaker, 2019). Thus, the movement of non-local stocks of lumpfish to supply salmon farms for sea lice control may have a negative impact for both translocated and native stocks, particularly if they interact as a consequence of farm escapes. Also, local stocks may be expected to perform and survive better than non-local ones, based on environmental conditions(ranges of optimal sea water temperatures, for example).

Once lumpfish reach a deployable size around 20 g (Brooker et al., 2018), they are transferred to commercial salmon cages by boats or lorries. Transport can sometimes take longer than 24 hours (Jonassen et al., 2018), depending on the distance between the rearing facility and the sea farm, and is considered one of the most stressful activities in lumpfish farming due to the difference in water quality parameters between environments, the variation in temperature, the accumulation of total ammonia in the transport tanks with no water exchange and the repeated handling, which affects both their health and welfare (Harmon, 2009, Sampaio and Freire, 2016, Jonassen et al., 2018). Then, the first weeks at sea are also a critical period for lumpfish. Although pre-transfer health assessments are routinely carried out to ensure fish are healthy and fit to travel, acute mortalities after release into the sea are common, with some of them associated to transport (Bornø et al., 2016).

When lumpfish transfer to sea is smooth and straightforward and they are not

challenged by an outbreak of any infectious pathogen or husbandry issue, mortalities could then be explained by poor adaptation to the sea cage environment (personal observation). This may cause chronic stress that escalates to poor body condition and welfare, leading to emaciation, and posterior bacterial infections, usually caused by opportunistic *Tenacibaculum*-like bacteria (Småge et al., 2016). Stress, which is common under aquaculture settings (Conte, 2004, Davis, 2006, Mohapatra et al., 2013), is also a key driver of the diversity of fish gut microbiota (Legrand et al., 2020). The exposure to stressors in fish leads to an increase in the abundance of opportunistic pathogens and a reduction of beneficial microbiota (Legrand et al., 2020). Moreover, microbial communities have a dynamic nature in response to external conditions and any disruption is likely to impact fish health, welfare and performance (Uren Webster et al., 2020b). In addition, the characterization of microbiomes, to identify imbalances or dysbiosis, has been identified as a potential predictor of stress-related conditions and could be used as an important biomarker in aquaculture (Perry et al., 2020).

Microbiome species diversity and composition are largely influenced by environmental factors such as the diet, the habitat/geographic location (surrounding waters, salinity, temperature), the season or cohabiting hosts (Legrand et al., 2020). But host factors like the genetic background, sex, life stage, captive-state and phylogeny; and community factors, are also important in the microbial composition (Tarnecki et al., 2017, Talwar et al., 2018, Egerton et al., 2018, Huang et al., 2020). Lumpfish microbial studies are still scarce and have focused on bacteria present during the larval development (Dahle et al., 2017) or pathogens (Scholz et al., 2018), and more recently on bacterial communities of healthy lumpfish reared under different aquaculture systems (Roalkvam et al., 2019, Dahle et al., 2020), but there is no information about the influence of the geographical origin or genetic background on the lumpfish gut microbiome.

The present study had three aims. First, to compare two stocks of lumpfish toassess whether their performance in terms of growth, condition and welfare are different under the same environmental conditions. Secondly, to measure the impact of transport and deployment on welfare in tagged individuals. Lastly, to investigate lumpfish gutmicrobiota and assess the abundance of certain taxa as potential markers of welfare and stress.

Material and Methods

Sample collection and fish tagging

Juvenile farmed lumpfish of similar age (11 months old) from two different genetic stocks (Icelandic, n=1154, reared at hatchery 1 (Lat: 57.840°N, Long: 5.586°W) and Scottish, n=923, reared at hatchery 2 (Lat: 51°36'29.8"N, Long: 3°58'50.4"W) were deployed into a commercial salmon net-pen in a farm in Scotland (Lat: 55°42'10.8"N, Long: 5°43'35.0"W), to compare and assess differences. Stocks differed in early-life rearing conditions with Icelandic lumpfish reared in a flow-through system (temp. range (°C): 9-11) while Scottish lumpfish were reared at a recirculation system (temp. range (°C: 8.5-9). Despite the two stocks hatching in the same week, the Icelandic lumpfish, stocked on 27/03/2019 (255 days post-hatch), achieved deployment size sooner than Scottish lumpfish, which were deployed on 26/04/2019 (291 dph). As Icelandic lumpfish grew faster and were more mature than Scottish lumpfish at the same age, probably due to a faster metabolism, they were deployed earlier and had spent 30 days more at sea than Scottish lumpfish before they were sampled. Lumpfish were stocked at a 4% salmon stocking density in a single 100m (10m deep) circular cage. Prior to deployment and in the hatchery stage, only the Scottish lumpfish were individually tagged in the musculature below the dorsal fin using ISO 11784 134.2 kHz passive integrated transponder (PIT) tags (Loligo Systems, Denmark). Lumpfish were examined with a portable tag reader (Agrident APR500, Germany) in situ to distinguish their genetic origin (Icelandic vs Scottish) and to estimate growth rate and changes in welfare scores before and 60 days after deployment. Lumpfish with no reads were considered Icelandic but the PIT tag injection location was carefully assessed to ensure there was no misclassification. Retention of PIT tags in lumpfish (D'Arcy et al., 2020) and in dorsal musculature has proven to be high (Mamer and Meyer, 2016). Wet weight (g), total and standard length(mm) and welfare scores (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), were recorded for all sampled individuals (n=142). A subsample of the total lumpfish sampled (n=60) was humanely euthanised (overdose of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, Pharmaq, UK) followed by brain destruction under Schedule 1, according to UK Home Office regulations) for cortisol and stomach content analysis.

Fish in the sampled cage were fed a mix of salmon (Biomar® SSC LR 55 6.5mm and Biomar® SSC LR PE 9mm) and lumpfish (Biomar® Lumpfish Grower 2mm) formulated pellets at a 1.2% and 2% biomass rate daily, respectively. The biofouling on the cage net was last cleaned 10 days before the sampling, using a remote operated net cleaner (RONC), and the cleaning routine was every fortnight during the summer.

Growth rate

Individual growth rate (only for the individually tagged Scottish lumpfish) was calculated as Specific Growth Rate (Hopkins, 1992): SGR (%) = $[(\ln(BW_f) - \ln(BW_i)/\text{time interval}]$, where BW_f is final body weight, BW_i is initial body weight (both in grams) and time interval is $\Delta t = t_2-t_1$, computed in days. This formula was also applied to length and relative weight data, the latter calculated following the same formula employed for Chapter 2: Wr = $100 \cdot (W/W_s)$ (Blackwell et al., 2010) according to the life stage (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021): lumpfish sampled at hatchery 1 or time 0 were treated as pre-deployment lumpfish (stage S3) while lumpfish (stage S4). A schematic representation of the number of lumpfish used for each analysis is illustrated in Figure 4.1.

Welfare scores

Welfare status included scores for body damage (BD), caudal fin damage (CFD), eye condition (EC), suction disc deformities (SDD) and relative weight (RW), OWIs previously developed (chapter 2) and validated for lumpfish (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021). The sum of the scores for all five indicators was computed to obtain LOWSI values for each individual and categorize the fish into three classes: *class A* (good welfare or LOWSI<2), *class B* (moderately compromised welfare or LOWSI=3-5) and *class C* (severely compromised welfare or LOWSI>5).

Plasma cortisol determination

Blood samples (n=60) were collected in lithium-heparinized tubes (BD Vacutainer® blood collection system, Becton, Dickinson and Company, USA) for plasma cortisol analysis within 30 seconds after fish death, and immediately placed on ice. They were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1500rpm (15°C), and plasma extracted with a

pipette for cortisol analysis using a multispecies DetectX Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay kit (Arbor Assays, Michigan, USA). Plasma samples were treated with dissociation reagent and diluted 50% in buffer prior to cortisol determination. Cortisol concentration was calculated for each of the 60 plasma samples, run in duplicates across two plates, using the values obtained in a standard curve for each plate (R^2 =0.99) and adjusted by the dilution factor (1:100) to obtain cortisol in ng/ml. The inter-assay precision, determined by 18 samples in duplicates across 2 plates, was 10.6% and the limit of detection was established at 59.9 pg/ml (0.06 ng/ml).

Stomach content analysis

Stomachs (n=60) were dissected and placed immediately on ice and stored at -20°C until analysis. Once partially defrosted, stomachs were dissected on enamel plates over ice to keep the content as preserved as possible during the analysis. All the stomachs were visually assigned to a fullness rating according to its distension level (0 = empty; 1 =partially full (<50%); 2 =half-full (50%); 3 =moderately full (>50% filled); 4 =completely full (100%) or bursting). After that, they were opened by an incision on the greater curvature to carefully remove all the food items, which were exposed in groups of the same food source along the plate for identification and quantification. All the content was weighted to the nearest 0.001g and inspected under a dissecting microscope (Leica Geosystems DFC290) outfitted with a Nikon SMZ800 camera and pictures taken for future reference. After identification, food items were pooled and categorized into nine food groups: unknown/unidentifiable, plastics, seaweed/algae, sea lice, bivalves, hydrozoans, crustaceans (gammarids, caprellids, copepods), fish (prey, scales, tissue) and formulated feed. The contribution of each food item to the diet composition was calculated as a combination of different quantitative metrics, calculated from the stomach content analysis: (1) the frequency of occurrence (%FO) with absence/presence data using the following formula: $%FO_i = N_i/N$ (Baker et al., 2014) where N_i is the number of stomachs containing item *i* and N is the total number of stomachs containing food, (2) the percentage by number (%N) with abundance data using %N_i=N_i/N_T (Hynes, 1950, Mahesh et al., 2019) where N_i is the total number of item *i* and N_T is the total number of food items, and (3) the percentage by weight (%W) using the gravimetric method and the formula $W_i = W_i/W_T$, where W_i is the weight of food item i and W_T is the total weight of food items (Hyslop, 1980, Mahesh et al., 2019). As none of these methods is accurate enough on its own, a combination of them was used for standardised analysis as recommended by Amundsen and Sánchez-Hernández (2019). The prevalence of each food item was also calculated to visualize differences within the two stock populations. The Index of Relative Importance (IRI) was calculated to quantify the value of each food category in the diet (Mahesh et al., 2019) and was computed as $IRI = (\%N_i + \%W_i) \cdot \%FO_i$. Weekly sea lice counts, which are regularly monitored in all salmon farms following Scottish Government regulations (SRUC, 2018) were also obtained to quantify infestation levels, along sea temperatures for the whole production cycle. These included average counts of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* of different stages: adult females (gravid and non-gravid), adult males, pre-adults and juveniles (*Chalimus*), and *Caligus elongatus* (Appendix, Figure S4.1).

Microbiome analysis

The distal section of the lumpfish intestine (n=60) was collected into sterile Eppendorfs, transported on ice and stored at -80°C until DNA extraction for microbiome analysis. DNA was extracted using DNeasy PowerLyzer PowerSoil kit (Qiagen, USA), with optimized bead-based tubes for the isolation of microbial DNA, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The library preparation for the 16S rRNA amplicon was carried out by the amplification of the V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene using Earth Microbiome primers, previously selected as the best candidates for bacterial representation: F515 (5'-3':GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and R806 (5'-3': GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT) (Caporaso et al., 2011), following the Illumina MiSeq 16S metagenomic sequencing library preparation protocol (Illumina Inc., 2013) with a few modifications. The first stage PCR, which had a total reaction volume of 25µl, contained 8µl of microbial DNA, 0.5µl of each of the amplicon PCR primers (10µM), 12.5 µl of 2x PlatinumTM Hot Start PCR Master Mix (Invitrogen) and 3.5µl of molecular water. The thermal cycler program consisted in 3 minutes at 95°C to activate the polymerase enzyme, followed by 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. The elongation step involved 72°C for 5 minutes. The second stage PCR reaction was performed with 2.5µl of DNA product of the first PCR, 1.25µl of each of the Nextera XT Indexes (1: N7xx and 2: S5xx), 12.5µl of 2x PlatinumTM Hot Start PCR Master Mix (Invitrogen) -as per the first PCR- and 10µl of molecular water, giving a total reaction volume of

27.5µl. The same thermal cycler program was used but, in this case, limited only to 7 cycles of amplification. Two microbial community standards (ZymoBIOMICS, USA) of well-defined composition (Table S4.1) were also used as controls, along with the samples and two extraction blanks. Products from the second PCR were then assessed in a 1D gel electrophoresis to validate a single band of expected amplicon size and posteriorly estimate concentration for the pooling step. Pools were purified with a ratio of 1:1 using Agencourt AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter, USA) and a magnetic rack. All pooled libraries were cleaned-up with 80% ethanol twice and eluted with elution buffer pH 8.5 (Qiagen, USA) according to the Illumina protocol. Pooled and cleaned libraries were then quantified using the NEBNExt Library Quant Kit for Illumina (New England Biolabs Inc., USA), normalized and diluted to 2nM before being sequenced with an Illumina MiSeq platform (250bp PE reads).

Bioinformatic analysis

Sequences were analysed using QIIME2 v.2019.4 (Bolyen et al., 2019). Demultiplexed sequence reads (n=96) were firstly assessed for quality scores using *fastqc* reports generated with fastx toolkit and then denoised using DADA2 (Callahan et al., 2016). Both forward and reverse reads were trimmed at 250bp length and at 19bp for primer and adapter removal to reduce spurious ASVs, correct sequencing errors, filter chimeras and reduce duplicates. Taxonomy assignment was performed using the SILVA database v.132 (Glöckner, 2019) as reference and sequence reads were filtered to exclude host DNA, chloroplasts and mitochondria. After rarefaction, 91 samples (94.79%) were retained at the specific sampling depth of 4008 reads. Alpha diversity was determined using two metrics: Chao's species richness (Chao and Chiu, 2006) and Shannon diversity (Shannon, 1948); while beta diversity was determined using the Bray-Curtis distance (Bray and Curtis, 1957) between samples. All metrics were used for further microbial diversity and composition analyses.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed with R v.3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2019) and Bioconductor v.3.10 (BiocManager 1.30.10). Differences in body size (weight and length) and condition (relative weight) between stocks were tested with a Welch t-test; while a Kruskal-Wallis test was used for welfare scores (LOWSI), after assessing that size was not significant when used as covariate. Each of the individual OWIs (values:

0-2) included in the LOWSI were tested with a Mann-Whitney U test. Differences in plasma cortisol between stocks were analysed with a linear model (LM) while controlling for variation in size. Total length was used as a measurement of size as its coefficient of variation (CV=11.73%) was lower than that of body weight (CV=39.09%). Plasma cortisol levels were used as a continuous variable and also as a categorical variable called CortisolRange with two factors: Low (< 63 ng/ml) and High (>63 ng/ml), using the cut-off point described in Gutierrez Rabadan et al. (2021).

Changes in body size and condition in individually tagged lumpfish before and after deployment were tested with a linear mixed model (LMM) using time (before/after) as a fixed term and fish individual as a random term, with the lmerTest package (Kuznetsova et al., 2015). Changes in welfare were assessed with a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM), using the same fixed and random terms, but with Poisson as a family function and log as a link, under the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2011). Model assumptions for linearity, homogeneity of variance and normally distributed residuals, were checked with quantile-quantile (Q-Q) plots.

To assess dietary differences between genetic stocks, stomach content data was standardized and transformed using 'square root (x+1)' to obtain a Bray-Curtis similarity distance matrix, using the *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2013). Stomach content data consisted in three datasets containing absence/presence (FO), abundance

(N) and gravimetric (W) data. Empty stomachs (4/60) were removed from the datasetbefore the analysis. The Bray-Curtis distance matrix of each dataset was visualized using nonmetric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) and the one-way permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) with 999 permutations was performed to statistically test the null hypothesis of no difference in diet compositionamong genetic stocks (Anderson, 2001), using size as covariate in the model. An additional permutation test of multivariate homogeneity of group dispersions (PERMDISP) was performed using the *betadisper* function to test the null hypothesis of no difference in dispersion between genetic stocks. This helped to identify if significant results from the PERMANOVA are driven by the data itself and not by the dispersion of the data. The similarity percentage analysis (SIMPER) was calculated with the *simper* function within the *vegan* package to identify the food categories thatcontributed most to the similarities within stocks and dissimilarities between stocks. The microbiome datasets extracted from QIIME2 (ASV and taxonomy tables) were compiled together with the sample metadata using the *phyloseq* package. All the analyses of community data were performed at genus level. The microbial community diversity and structure analysis were also performed using the *vegan* package. Alpha diversity was treated as the dependent variable and genetic stock, welfare status and plasma cortisol levels were used as fixed predictors while statistically controlling for variation in fish size, which was used as a covariate. To identify differences in microbial community structure between genetic stocks, welfare status and cortisol levels, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity distances were computed in a non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination method using the 'metaMDS' function. Mean distance to centroids was extracted with the 'meandist' command within the *betadisper* function to obtain statistical differences in beta diversity between the groups. A permutational ANOVA (permutations=999) with the function 'adonis' wasperformed to identify significant effects between stocks, welfare scores and cortisol levels, using size as a covariate. The multi-level pattern analysis through the 'multipatt' function in the IndicSpecies package (De Caceres et al., 2020) wascomputed to assess the association between genera patterns and the different stocks, with the association function "r.g" that corrects for the unequal group sizes, significance level of α =0.01 and False Discovery Rate (FDR) corrected p-values (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995) with 'p.adjust' function. DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014) was used to assess differences in genera abundance (normalized counts) between groups of welfare status and cortisol levels, with the lowest adjusted p-value, exclusively in the Scottish stock (the only one with enough variability for the analysis).

Results

Comparison between stocks in body size, condition, welfare and cortisol levels

Icelandic lumpfish were significantly heavier (153.1 g \pm 62.1) and longer (158.8 mm \pm 19.3) than Scottish lumpfish (129.5 g \pm 42.4, 149.7 mm \pm 15.0; weight: Welch t-test, t=2.69, df=139.7, *p*=0.008; length: Welch t-test, t=3.16, df=135.33, *p*=0.002), despite being almost a week younger (332 vs 338 dph, respectively). However, the stocks did not differ in body condition or relative weight (Welch t-test, t=0.17, df=101.6, *p*=0.87, Figure 4.2).

Stocks also differed in welfare scores (Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test, χ^2 =14.80, df=1, p<0.001), with the Scottish stock showing worse welfare (0.69 ± 0.19, t=3.48, p<0.001) than the Icelandic one (3.04 ± 0.86, t=3.53, p<0.001). However, size did not have an effect on welfare (-0.010 ± 0.005, t=-1.92, p=0.06). In the Icelandic stock, 91% of lumpfish were classified as class A (highest welfare), while only 61% of the Scottish lumpfish belonged to this class. Inspection of individual welfare metrics indicated that stocks differed in caudal fin damage (W=3076, p=0.002), eye condition (W=1702.5, p<0.001) and suction disc deformities (W=970, p<0.001). Size did not have an effect on any of the OWIs measured (BD: 0.001 ± 0.001, t=0.85, p=0.39; CFD: -0.006 ± 0.003, t=-1.78, p=0.07; EC: -0.0008 ± 0.003, t=-0.25, p=0.80; SDD: - 0.002 ± 0.002, t=-1.046, p=0.30 and RW: -0.003 ± 0.001, t=-1.74, p=0.08).

After adjusting for variation in size, no significant differences were found in mean plasma cortisol levels between Scottish (62.7 ng/ml \pm 20.9) and Icelandic (72.5 ng/ml \pm 34.2) lumpfish (F_{1,58}=1.85; *p*=0.18). Plasma cortisol average value within the entire population was 67.5 ng/ml \pm 28.32.

Growth and changes in welfare scores of indidually tagged lumpfish before and after deployment at sea

Analysis of individually tagged lumpfish revealed significant changes in body weight (t=8.25, df=54, p<0.001), total length (t=17.51, df=54, p<0.001) and relative weight (t=4.89, df=54, p<0.001) before and after deployment. Although most of the population (93%) gained weight after deployment (36.15 g ± 4.38), 7% of lumpfish showed negative values for SGR (Figure 4.3), indicating post-deployment weight loss

of about 5.5 grams on average. However, all lumpfish grew in length (23.38 mm \pm 1.34). Body condition or relative weight increased post-deployment (9.8 % \pm 2.01) although 16% of lumpfish showed a reduction, and body condition declined on average by 8.4%. The overall growth of Scottish lumpfish during this period of 60 days (range: 55 – 64 days) was $0.56\% \cdot d^{-1}$ at an average sea water temperature of 10.6 °C (range: 9.5 – 11.8 °C). The welfare scores of individual lumpfish, measured as LOWSI values, remained unaltered in 45.5% of lumpfish, while worsened in 32.7% and improved in 21.8% (Figure 4.4). Nevertheless, differences in LOWSI before and after deployment were not statistically significant (0.26 \pm 0.14, z=1.91, *p*=0.06). However, the proportion of lumpfish with eye condition after deployment was significantly higher than the proportion before (χ^2 =26.61, df=1, *p*<0.001), increasing from 0/55 to 23/55 (42%).

Stomach content analysis

The stomachs of the lumpfish stocked in the salmon farm contained a wide range of food items and only 6% of the stomachs sampled (4/29 in Icelandic stock and 1/31 in Scottish stock) were completely empty (Figure 4.5). Considering the overall population (n=60) and the total number of items (%), crustaceans (mainly individuals from the Gammaridae family) accounted for the vast majority of prey items (73.4%), being the most frequent food item in lumpfish sampled at sea (Appendix, Table S4.2), while other items such as bivalves and fish prey accounted for less than 1% (0.09% and 0.04%, respectively). Sea lice infestation levels were relatively low in the sampled cage at the moment of the sampling, circa $0.2 \cdot \text{salmon}^{-1}$ (0.1 average *L. salmonis* males and 0.1 average *L. salmonis* pre-adults, at 11.8°C), and only three sea lice, representing the 0.13% of the total food items, were found as two partially digested stages of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* and a single *Caligus elongatus* (Appendix, Figure S4.2).

Based on the index of relative importance (IRI) of food categories (Table 4.1), Icelandic lumpfish primarily fed on formulated feed (%FO: 53.8%, %W: 73.3) while Scottish lumpfish mainly fed on crustaceans (%FO: 86.7%, %W: 51.1%). Results of the PERMANOVA test confirmed statistically significant differences in the composition of the diet between Icelandic and Scottish lumpfish at the presence/absence level (pseudo- $F_{1,53}$ =3.54, *p*=0.008), while controlling for variation in size. Also, a significant size effect was found at gravimetric level only (stock: pseudo-F_{1,53}=5.68, p=0.001; size: pseudo-F_{1,53}=2.79, p=0.03) suggesting that prey items weighted more in larger lumpfish. The PERMDISP test was not significant in any of the stomach content datasets (FO: F_{1,54}=1.87, p=0.21; N: F_{1,54}=1.13, p=0.28; W: F_{1,54}=0.91, p=0.35) indicating that dispersion was homogeneous within each group and differences in diet composition were solely attributed to the genetic stock. The SIMPER analysis revealed that the highest average dissimilarity in diet composition between Icelandic and Scottish lumpfish was with gravimetric data (W; 84.17%), followed by abundance (N; 80.21%) and absence/presence data (FO; 52.4%). The food categories that significantly contributed the most to the dissimilarity among genetic stocks were hydrozoans (FO, p=0.003; N, p=0.001; W, p=0.001), followed by copepods (W, p=0.01) and fish prey (W, p=0.04).

Microbial analyses: diversity and structure

After filtering and cleaning sequence reads, all retained samples were clustered into a total of 863 amplicon sequence variants (ASVs), of which there were 348 different at a genus level. From these, 307 (88.2%) were assigned to genus level, 29 (8.3%) to a family level, 7 (2%) up to an order level and 5 (1.4%) up to a class level. The most abundant bacterial genera were *Mycoplasma* (66.5%), *Vibrio* (12.5%), *Aliivibrio* (4.9%), *Photobacterium* (3%), *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* (2.1%), *Cetobacterium* (1.9%), *Aeromonas* (1.3%) and *Candidatus branchiomonas* (0.6%).

Microbiota alpha diversity differed between lumpfish stocks (both Chao richness and Shannon diversity, p<0.05). Icelandic lumpfish showed significantly lower Chao richness ($F_{2,54}=5.1$; p=0.009) and Shannon diversity ($F_{2,54}=11$; p<0.001) than Scottish lumpfish. Also, lumpfish with good welfare (*class* A, or LOWSI < 2 points) showed lower Shannon diversity (-1.1 ± 0.34; $F_{1,55}=10.5$; p=0.002) than lumpfish with compromised welfare (class B or C, LOWSI > 3 points). However, no significant differences in alpha diversity parameters were found for plasma cortisol groups (Low and High; Chao, p=0.38 and Shannon, p=0.56).

Microbial community structure for each genetic stock were plotted accordingly to their Bray Curtis dissimilarity distances (Figure 4.6) and statistically significant differences were confirmed between genetic stocks (PERMANOVA, pseudo- $F_{1,56}$ =11.24, p=0.001). The Shepard plot showed increased dissimilarity when the ordination distance increased, showing a good representation of the data in reduced dimensions (Stress=0.12; $R^{2}_{non-metric fit}$ =0.985; R2 linear=0.966). The mean distance to centroids was 0.18 for the Icelandic stock and 0.73 for the Scottish stock, indicating that the gut microbiota of the Scottish lumpfish was much more diverse and variable in composition than the gut microbiota of Icelandic lumpfish (ANOVA, F_{1.55}=74.4; *p*<0.001; Figure 4.7). *Mycoplasma* spp. was the most abundant genera in both genetic stocks, although for Icelandic lumpfish represented 90% of the total microbiome and for Scottish only the 42%, which is the main reason why Icelandic lumpfish presented both lower alpha diversity and dispersion. *Vibrio* spp., *Photobacterium* spp. and *Aliivibrio* spp. followed *Mycoplasma* spp. counts in Scottish lumpfish with 23%, 6% and 6%, respectively; while Icelandic lumpfish had *Aliivibrio* spp. (4%), *Vibrio* spp. (2%) and *Francisella* spp. (0.5%). Welfare groups also differed significantly in community structure (PERMANOVA, F_{1.56}=3.22, *p*=0.019), with higher microbial diversity in lumpfish with compromised welfare (meandist=0.69) compared to lumpfish with good welfare (meandist=0.43; ANOVA, F_{1.55}=8.19, *p*=0.006).

Microbial analyses: differential abundance of taxa

The results of the multi-level pattern analysis revealed that *Mycoplasma* was significantly associated to the Icelandic lumpfish (0.60, p_{adj} <0.03), as this stock was dominated by this genus; while there were 15 different genera associated to the Scottish stock (Table 4.2), from which Gammaproteobacteria (0.544, p_{adj} =0.001), Clostridia (0.236, p_{adj} =0.005) and Bacteroidia (0.386, p_{adj} =0.005) were the most significant classes. Differential taxa abundance was computed within the Scottish stock of lumpfish (n=28) due to its greater diversity, using DESeq2 with normalized bacterial counts. One genus (0.51%) was underrepresented when comparing the two welfare status groups (Good -class A- and Compromised -class B-) and had a positive log2fold change indicating that bacterial counts for *Candidatus branchiomonas* were significantly higher (Wald test, p_{adj} <0.001) in lumpfish with compromised welfare compared to lumpfish with good welfare within the Scottish stock (Figure 4.8a). The same pattern was observed with *Tenacibaculum*, *Staphylococcus* and *Arenicella*counts at less but still significant levels (Wald test, p_{adj} <0.05). Additionally, lumpfishwith high cortisol levels (>63 ng/ml) had significantly higher counts of *Clostridium*

sensu stricto 1 (Wald test, p_{adj} <0.001) than lumpfish with low cortisol (< 63 ng/ml) values (Figure 4.8b).

Discussion

Both stocks of lumpfish hatched at similardates (Scottish: 09/07/2018 and Icelandic: 15/07/2018) but, under a common garden design, Icelandic lumpfish were significantly heavier and longer than Scottish lumpfishwhen sampled at sea, suggesting a potential faster growth rate of the Icelandic stock. However, differences on the early-life rearing conditions (rearing systems and temperatures, stocking densities and diets) could have also intervened in these observed differences between genetic stocks in the sea cage stage. Welfare was significantly poorer (albeit only slightly) in the Scottish stock, particularly for caudal fin damage, suction disc deformities and eye condition. Both stocks had similar plasma cortisol levels (approximately 67.5 ng/ml), which is higher than expected basal levels (<20ng/ml) for unstressed lumpfish (Jørgensen et al., 2017). This could possibly highlight the stress that lumpfish experience in sea cages, even 60 days after deployment. Habituated lumpfish have shown lower cortisol levels than naïve lumpfish after an adaptation period (Staven et al., 2019). Although no intentional period of adaptation was followed in this case, cortisol levels in lumpfish would have been expected to be lowered after two months cohabiting with salmon. The sampling method may have also caused increases in plasma cortisol concentrations; however, all the fish were treated following the same protocol and variation in cortisol levels are not expected to result from handling.

Up to 13 different prey items were found in the stomachs of lumpfish at sea, which emphasises the opportunistic feeding behaviour of these species in salmon sea cages, where their choices are entirely based on what food source is available on their environment (Imsland et al., 2015a, Imsland et al., 2016a). Sea lice, however, accounted for less than 1% of the total food items as only 5% (3/60) of individuals ingested sea lice. This could be due to the low level of sea lice infestation rate in this cage at the time of sampling, although such a low incidence of sea lice in stomachs has been reported before in a study when comparing lumpfish families (Imsland et al.,

2016a). The Index of Relative Importance (IRI) indicated that Icelandic lumpfish mainly fed on formulated feed while Scottish lumpfish mostly fed on small crustaceans; which may suggest a relationship between the prey size and the size of the fish, where larger fish feed on larger prey. Significant differences were also found in feeding preferences for hydrozoans, being more representative within the Icelandic stock. The presence of biofouling growing from the cage nets (such as seaweed, crustaceans, hydrozoans/hydroids and bivalves) has been positively correlated with the presence of sea lice in stomachs, suggesting that lumpfish with foraging behaviour (biofoulers) are more predisposed to consume sea lice (Bannister et al., 2019, Eliasen et al., 2018). However, salmon farmers have been recommended to keep their nets as clean as possible to avoid 'distracting' the lumpfish from grazing on sea lice from the salmon (Powell et al., 2018b). In this study, although net-pens were cleaned 10 days before the sampling, the lumpfish with sea lice on their stomachs (5%) also presented crustaceans, adding evidence of the active foraging behaviour in lice-eating lumpfish.

Many biotic and abiotic factors can affect the fish gut microbiota (Butt and Volkoff, 2019). I assessed intrinsic factors such as the fish origin, the welfare status and the plasma cortisol level, as well as the diet composition (and sea lice consumption). The main finding was the difference in both microbial diversity and microbial composition between genetic stocks. At a similar age, the gut microbiota of Scottish lumpfish was significantly much more diverse and variable than the gut microbiota of the Icelandic lumpfish, which composition was considerably dominated by *Mycoplasma* (90%).

Low microbiome diversity has been associated with bad health and 'dysbiosis'(Talwar et al., 2018) as communities are less diverse in diseased than healthy fish (deBruijn et al., 2018), but this may not always be the case (Johnson and Burnet, 2016). Here, lumpfish with higher microbial diversity in the gut displayed worse welfare than lumpfish with a gut microbiota dominated by one specific genus (*Mycoplasma*). *Mycoplasma* was the most abundant genus in both genetic stocks, although forScottish lumpfish only accounted for 42%. This genus has been reported as the most predominant taxa (up to 96%) in the distal intestine of the Atlantic salmon (Holben et al., 2002) and several studies agree that its relative abundance becomes more prominent with time as fish mature and progress to the adult stage (Llewellyn et al., 2016, Heys et al., 2020, Wang et al., 2021). However, its role in the gastrointestinal tract of Atlantic salmon remains unclear, although a symbiotic relationship has been
recently suggested (Cheaib et al., 2020). Similarly, in comparison with smaller (1g) lumpfish, *Mycoplasma* dominated the gut microbiota of 25g lumpfish, where its abundance accounted for more than 50% of the microbiome in half of the sampled population (Christie et al., 2018). The difference in microbial communities and the dominance of *Mycoplasma* in Icelandic lumpfish could be the result of the different origin of the stocks including early rearing conditions, or longer time at sea cohabitating with salmon, or a combination of both. The preference of formulated feed by the Icelandic lumpfish is likely to have also influenced these microbial differences (Ringø et al., 2016), as well as the differences in size between the stocks (pelleted feed also promoting higher growth than crustaceans).

Within the differential taxa analysis, the genus *Candidatus branchiomonas* was significantly associated to lumpfish with compromised welfare. *Candidatus branchiomonas* sp. *cysticola* is an endosymbiont that has been associated to the presence of epitheliocysts in gills of Atlantic salmon with complex gill disease (Toenshoff et al., 2012, Mitchell et al., 2013, Gjessing et al., 2019). Gill health is a major indicator of fish health and welfare; however, the visual assessment of the gills in lumpfish can be anatomically very challenging and is not included in the practical welfare score system used in this study (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021). Furthermore, lumpfish with high levels of cortisol presented the highest counts of *Clostridium*, suggesting a potential relationship between this genus and stress. Stress can shape the gut microbiome by promoting the abundance of specific operational taxonomic units (OTUs) within Gammaproteobacteria and Clostridia classes in Atlantic salmon (Uren Webster et al., 2020b). Although both Gammaproteobacteria and Clostridia classes were predominant in the Scottish stock compared to the Icelandic stock, they were not associated to welfare or cortisol levels in this case.

One of the most critical periods within the lumpfish production cycle is the one nearby the transfer, the deployment and the acclimatization to the new environment, including the introduction to Atlantic salmon. The impact of this transition in individually tagged Scottish lumpfish was mainly reflected in this study by loss of body condition, although it was not exclusively acquired after deployment as 15% of the lumpfish were already showing underweight before deployment. At sea, 2% of these lumpfishshowed emaciation, which has also been highlighted as a welfare problem in lumpfishin sea cages, affecting up to 10% of the population (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021). In this

case, there were not significant changes in welfare before and 60 days after deployment as lumpfish welfare remained unaltered. However, the proportion of lumpfish with eye condition (including eye damage and cataracts) increased after deployment. Whilst no lesions were reported before deployment, 23 out of 55 lumpfish showed deterioration of eye condition after two months at sea. Eye condition has already been reported in lumpfish at cages in previous studies (Geitung et al., 2020, Eliasen et al., 2020), reaching up to 26% in some commercial sea sites (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021). Hence, it is important that both the transfer and deployment of the lumpfish in sea cages is thoroughly planned, and the surrounding environment is conveniently prepared for their arrival, as conditions in sea cages are not as controlled as in hatcheries.

This study showed significant differences in body size between Icelandic and Scottish lumpfish, emphasizing different metabolism and growth rates. Welfare scores and feeding preferences, which are closely related to differences in intestinal microbial communities, were also different between lumpfish stocks. A relatively small loss of body condition (8% on average) was observed in this study over time, but welfare scores remained the same. Significant associations indicated that the abundance of specific taxa in the gut microbiome, such as *Candidatus branchiomonas* and *Clostridium* could be used as potential markers of welfare and stress, respectively.

Acknowledgements

I would like to personally thank Tamsyn Uren Webster and Richard O'Rorke for their guidance on preparing microbiome libraries and Matthew Hitchings for performing the Illumina sequencing. I also thank Ben Jennings and Rob Smith at CSAR for their support when sampling, and the farm team, especially Anita Nielsen, for organising our visit to the lovely Isle of Gigha.

Table 4.1. Lumpfish diet composition indices by genetic stock (Icelandic, n=26; Scottish, n=30). %FO: frequency of occurrence (absence/presence method); %N: percentage by number (numerical abundance method); %W: percentage by weight (gravimetric method); IRI: Index of Relative Importance.

	Icelandic lumpfish			Scottish lumpfish				
Food categories	% FO	% N	% W	IRI	% FO	% N	% W	IRI
Unknown	73.1	31.9	13.1	3284.6	73.3	5.1	21.3	1941.7
Plastics	0	0	0	0	3.3	0.3	0.1	1.3
Seaweed	3.8	0.5	0.03	2.2	26.7	2.0	2.6	121.6
Sea lice	3.8	0.2	0.006	0.7	6.7	0.1	0.04	1.0
Bivalves	0	0	0	0	6.7	0.1	0.04	1.0
Hydrozoans	65.4	3.1	11.2	934.2	30	0.5	4.1	139.8
Crustaceans	84.6	36.4	2.3	3276.9	86.7	86.2	51.1	11901.9
Fish	7.7	0.4	0.1	0.4	13.3	2.2	11.1	176.4
Formulated feed	53.8	27.5	73.3	5426.1	36.7	3.5	9.6	478.7

Table 4.2. Bacterial communities (n=15) associated to the Scottish stock with stats and *p* value, using multi-level pattern analysis within the IndicSpecies package (De Caceres et al., 2020) with association function='r.g' (Pearson's phi coefficient) and α =0.01. p-values were corrected using the False Discovery Rate (FDR) method (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995). ASV=Amplicon sequence variant. D5=Genus, D4=Family.

ASV	Stats	р	FDR-corrected p
(D5) Vibrio	0.425	0.0003	0.035
(D5) Aeromonas	0.370	0.0003	0.035
(D5) Acinetobacter	0.364	0.0006	0.045
(D5) Flectobacillus	0.332	0.0028	0.082
(D5) Cetobacterium	0.325	0.0040	0.098
(D5) Plesiomonas	0.319	0.0025	0.087
(D5) Dermacoccus	0.305	0.0083	0.124
(D5) Geobacillus	0.302	0.0052	0.098
(D4) Burkholderiaceae	0.290	0.0015	0.073
(D5) Escherichia/Shigella	0.266	0.0030	0.098
(D4) Peptostreptococcaceae	0.234	0.0078	0.124
(D5) Halomonas	0.231	0.0044	0.098
(D5) Clostridium sensu stricto 1	0.223	0.0031	0.098
(D5) Candidatus branchiomonas	0.188	0.0092	0.166
(D4) Rhodobacteraceae	0.155	0.0018	0.086



Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of the number of lumpfish used for each analysis within the common garden experiment. Credits: Salmon (clipart-library.com), lumpfish (Philopic).



Figure 4.2. Distribution of body size (body weight and total length) and condition (Wr) in each stock of sampled lumpfish (n=142; Icelandic, n=86; Scottish, n=56).



Figure 4.3. Spaghetti plots (left) showing individual trajectories in body weight (g), total length (mm) and body condition/relative weight (%) of individually tagged Scottish lumpfish (n=55) before and after deployment at sea. Pink lines show individuals belonging to Class A (n=28), while turquoise lines represent individuals from Class B (n=27). The bar plots (right) summarise the Specific Growth Rate (SGR,%) for body weight (g) and total length (mm) and the specific change of body condition for each individual (green bars for positive SGRs, orange bars for negative SGRs).



Figure 4.4. Spaghetti plot showing individual trajectories of welfare scores (LOWSI values) of tagged Scottish lumpfish (n=55) before and after deployment. Pink lines show individuals belonging to Class A (n=28), while turquoise lines represent individuals from Class B (n=27).



Figure 4.5. Feeding preferences of Icelandic (n=29) and Scottish (n=31) lumpfish sampled at sea cages, according to food category (expressed as a total number, %). Each number indicates an individual lumpfish. Note that four individuals -15, 34, 37 and 41- (representing 6% of the total population) had no content on their stomachs.



Figure 4.6. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination plot of gut microbial community structure from two different lumpfish genetic stocks: Icelandic (n=29, green) and Scottish (n=28, orange), based on Bray Curtis dissimilarity distances. Ellipses clustered similar amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) with 95% confidence estimates.



Figure 4.7. Relative abundance bar plot showing the 25 most common ASVs, at genus level, in each of the genetic stocks of lumpfish (Icelandic, n=29 and Scottish, n=28).



b)





Figure 4.8. Normalized intestinal bacterial counts of **a**) *Candidatus branchiomonas* (Wald test, p_{adj} =0.0002) for welfare groups (Good and Compromised) and **b**) *Clostridium sensu stricto 1* (Wald test, p_{adj} <0.001) for cortisol range groups (Low or <63 ng/ml and High or >63 ng/ml) within the Scottish lumpfish stock (n=28) sampled at the salmon farm.

Chapter 5Effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfishCyclopterus lumpus L. welfare and guthealth

Abstract

There has been a marked increase on lumpfish welfare research recently due to concerns on the ethical use of this species as cleaner fish in salmon cages. However, there is no information on how sea lice ingestion might affect lumpfish gut health and welfare. The aim of this study was to investigate whether delousing behaviour had any effect on lumpfish cortisol stress response, intestinal microbial communities and welfare. Lumpfish were sampled from a commercial farm in Scotland at the end of the summerwhen the production cycle of salmon was completed, and fish were harvested. Analysis of 35 stomach contents revealed that half of the fish (52%) had ingested sea lice, and 340 specimens (mixed *L. salmonis* and *C. elongatus*) were recovered. Sea lice eaters did not differ in size, body condition, plasma cortisol levels, welfare scores or gut microbial diversity or composition from lumpfish that did not eat sea lice. These results indicate that sea lice ingestion does not appear to compromise lumpfish welfare under commercial conditions.

Introduction

Sea lice infestation by *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* is one of the major challenges the salmonid aquaculture has faced over the past 40 years. Countless control strategies have been implemented to confront these persistent copepod ectoparasites, whose annual economic cost is estimated around £460M only in Norway (Fletcher, 2019). Due to the development of sea lice resistance (Denholm et al., 2002), the use of biological control agents such as cleaner fish is seen as a valuable alternative to reduce the use and the environmental impact of chemotherapeutants at sea (Torrissen et al., 2013), as well as to maintain the welfare of the salmon (Overton et al., 2019).

Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) behave as suitable cleaner fish when stocked in salmon cages, efficiently reducing the counts of pre-adults and mature male and female lice stages (Imsland et al., 2014a). The feeding ecology of juvenile lumpfish has been studied (Ingólfsson and Kristjánsson, 2002), but lumpfish nutritional needs are still not well documented (Johannesen et al., 2018). The species have been considered as facultative cleaners (Vaughan et al., 2017, Treasurer et al., 2018c), although recently a study has found that certain personality profiles in lumpfish can lead to cooperative cleaning behaviour with salmon (Whittaker et al., 2021). Lumpish are generalist feeders and have shown to ingest a wide range of food items, if available, like crustaceans, hydrozoans, pellets, bivalves, etc., which indicates they have a strong opportunistic feeding behaviour in sea cages (Imsland et al., 2015a). Consequently, there is significant variation of the lumpfish lice removal ability, with lower efficacies at a small (9-60%) than at large (53-73%) scale trials (reviewed by Overton et al., 2020). Additionally, there is no information about the nutritional value of sea lice, although some studies have investigated the lipid and fatty acid composition of copepods from the *Lepeophtheirus* genus and have found that triacylglycerol (TAG) is the main energy store, and the quantities of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) vary between life stages and sea lice recovered from wild or farmed salmon, due to the influence of feeds on louse composition (Tocher et al., 2010). The biochemical composition of generic copepods used in the production of marine fish at larval stages suggests that copepods contain macronutrients capable to satisfy the demands of fish larvae (van der Meeren et al., 2008) for a short period of time, for instance at weaning, when transitioning from live feed to formulated feed. However, sea lice are considered "snack-like food" for lumpfish rather than a nutritional source (Merakerås, 2020, Johnsen, 2021), and it is thought that relying on sea lice as the unique source of food is not enough to support these fish. Hence, supplementary feeding is required to maintain lumpfish nutritional needs and welfare in sea cages (Imsland et al., 2018a, Imsland et al., 2018c). Diet (and feeding strategy) has a major effect on fish gut microbiota (Cahill, 1990), driving its composition and impacting fish metabolism. Many studies have explored the impact of dietary changes on the gastrointestinal (GI) microbiota of aquatic animals (Romero et al., 2014, Ringø et al., 2016). For example, certain microbes may contribute to the digestive process by delivering specific enzymes in coral reef fishes (Smriga et al., 2010), and members of the Fusobacteria phylum can synthetize vitamins that exert a positive effect on the health of zebra fish, *Danio rerio* (Roeselers et al., 2011).

Stressors can modulate and change the gut microbiota and, in turn, changes in the gut microbiota can regulate the stress response (reviewed by Butt and Volkoff, 2019). Probiotics are 'live microorganisms that confer a health benefit on the host by improving its intestinal microbial balance' (Fuller, 1989). These are being increasingly used to improve welfare, stress tolerance and boost the immune system, along other benefits such as the improvement of the aquaculture sustainability (Martínez Cruz et al., 2012, Carnevali et al., 2017). Farmed fish are often subjected to different stressors, which impact health and welfare (Conte, 2004) by promoting or disrupting specific microbial taxa in the GI tract. Atlantic salmon with elevated cortisol have shown specific gut microbiome signatures consisting of the dominance of genera within the Clostridia and Gammaproteobacteria classes while levels of beneficial bacteria, such as *Carnobacterium* sp., declined considerably (Uren Webster et al., 2020b). As it has been suggested in chapter 4, the potential relationship between Clostridia and stress also occurs in lumpfish deployed in sea cages (Gutierrez Rabadan, unpublished data).

Lumpfish sustainability is currently being threatened by ethical concerns of their use in the salmon industry (Anon, 2020c) and welfare awareness has significantly increased as a consequence. Microbiome research has also recently gained popularity within this species (Christie et al., 2018, Roalkvam et al., 2019, Dahle et al., 2020, Klakegg et al., 2020). However, and despite the widespread use of lumpfish in salmon cages (Overton et al., 2020), there are some fundamental unknowns that have not been fulfilled. For instance, the sea lice ingestion effect on lumpfish gut health and welfare is unknown.

The present study aimed to characterise the gut microbiota of sea lice and non-sea liceeating lumpfish sampled from a commercial salmon farm and assess the impact of sea lice consumption on the cortisol stress response and welfare, as well as on the diversity and composition of gut microbial communities.

Material and Methods

Fish sampling

Lumpfish originating from Norwegian wild brood stock were reared in a recirculating (RAS) hatchery in North Wales and were deployed in a 100x10 m deep circular cage in a salmon farm in Scotland (Latitude: 55° 55.728 N, Longitude: 005° 04.594 W) at a stocking density of 4% (812 lumpfish transferred into a cage containing 20086 salmon) on 25/05/2018. Sampling took place at the end of the salmon's production cycle (11.5 months old, 352 days post-hatch) when lumpfish had spent four months (123 days) at sea. Both salmon and lumpfish were fasted for 48h prior to harvesting. A sample of lumpfish (n=35) were humanely euthanized with an overdose of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222, Pharmaq, UK) and fish size (wet body weight and total length) and condition and blood samples (to measure physiological stress by quantifying plasma cortisol) were collected individually as described in chapters 2 and 4. Stomachs were carefully dissected on site, kept on ice and stored at -20°C until analysis. The distal section of the intestine was taken through an incision of the vent, as aseptically as possible, for microbiome analysis.

Welfare scores

Welfare scores, recorded following the LOWSI methodology (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), were categorized into three classes (A, B, C) as described in Chapters 2 and 4. Lumpfish belonging to class A were categorized in the 'Good welfare' group while lumpfish from classes B and C were categorized as 'Compromised welfare'

Sea lice ingestion analysis

Once defrosted, lumpfish stomachs were analysed for content as detailed in chapter 4, but in this case the aim was to individually quantify the number of sea lice, both *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* and *Caligus elongatus*, rather than the identification of different items. Ingested sea lice were quantified, but sea lice binary data, as presence/absence, was used as a categorical predictor and lumpfish were split in two delousing groups (No, n=16; Yes, n=18) for statistical analysis. Salmon sea lice counts were recorded by farm staff during the complete production cycle and are shown in Figure S5.1 (Appendix).

DNA extraction, 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing and bioinformatic analysis

Intestinal tissue DNA from 35 lumpfish was extracted using DNeasy PowerLyzer PowerSoil kit (Qiagen, USA) following manufacturer's instructions. The amplicon library preparation with all the reagents and the volumes used for the two-step PCRs and the thermal cycler programs (summarised in Appendix, Table S5.1), as well as the downstream analysis, were performed following the same methodology employed in Chapter 4.

Microbiome network construction and comparison

Although relatively new, the network-based analytical approach used in other research disciplines, can be used as a tool to understand microbiomes as a system and to explore microbe-microbe and microbe-host interactions (reviewed by Layeghifard et al., 2017). To compare the microbial communities (Layeghifard et al., 2017) of the two delousing groups, microbiome networks were constructed and compared according to the welfare status (Good – lumpfish belonging to class A; Compromised – lumpfish belonging to classes B and C) and interactions at genus level were analysed using the NetCoMi package in R (Peschel et al., 2020). Pearson's correlation coefficient was used as an association measure (Weiss et al., 2016) with modified central log ratio (mclr) transformation to account for compositionality (Gloor et al., 2017), common in microbial data as counts represent proportions instead of absolute abundances; and a threshold or cut-off point of 0.3 to control for sparsity, which can lead to false associations (Matchado et al., 2021). Only the 50 taxa with the highest frequency were included in the microbiome network graphs to make visualization easier. Permutation tests (n=1000) were used for quantitative comparison between networks using the function 'createAssoPerm', which allows block-wise execution (20 blocks, 5 repetitions) in parallel. Significance p-values were automatically adjusted within the function for multiple testing using the Benjamini-Hochberg method (Benjamini and Hochberg, 2000). The ARI or Adjusted Rand Index (Hubert and Arabie, 1985) is an evaluation metric used to determine whether two dimension-reduced cluster results or partitions are similar to each other. ARI values can range from -1 to 1, with ARI=1 when there is a perfect agreement between clusterings, ARI=0 when the clusterings are completely random and negative values of ARI if the agreement is less than what is expected for a random result (complementary).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were computed using R version 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021) and BiocManager version 3.13. A Welch t-test was used to identify differences between delousing groups while using body weight, total length and body condition as dependent variables. To investigate the effect of sea lice ingestion on welfare scores (LOWSI, count data), a generalized linear model (GLM) with Poisson distribution and size (total length) as covariate was used. A general linear model (LM) was used for stress response (plasma cortisol) and microbiome (alpha and beta diversity), with size (total length) as a covariate, to determine differences between delousing groups. One influential outlier (obs. #5) was detected and removed from the analysis of the cortisol dataset. Model residuals were plotted using the function 'plot' to check whether model assumptions of normality, linearity, heteroscedasticity and presence of influential points were met. A PERMANOVA was employed to explore differences in microbiome composition (Bray Curtis distance matrix) between delousing groups. To explore differentially abundant (DA) taxa, normalized bacterial counts were compared between delousing groups using DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014).

Results

Lumpfish welfare

Lumpfish ranged between 22 and 100 g in weight and between 91 and 150 mm in total length. More than half of the population (54%) were emaciated (Wr<75%, 68.8% \pm 3.9) and 40% of lumpfish were underweight (Wr=75-90%, 80.8% \pm 5.3); only 6% of the lumpfish were considered to have a 'normal' body condition (Wr>90%, 91.7% \pm 1.8). LOWSI scores for welfare (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021) ranged from 1 to 7, where 31% of lumpfish were categorized as class A (best welfare) and 46% and 23% belonged to classes B (moderately compromised welfare) and C (poor welfare), respectively. The mean LOWSI value was 3.37 (median=3, IQR=2), indicating that the general welfare of these fish was moderately compromised. Low body condition was the most frequent welfare problem (94%), followed by suction disc deformity (60%) and body damage (46%).

Variation in delousing efficiency

Lumpfish were sampled when the sea lice levels in the farm were approximately 1.8 females/salmon (Appendix, Figure S5.1). Sea lice was found in 52% (18/35) of lumpfish stomachs and 340 individual sea lice in total (mixed *L. salmonis* and *C. elongatus*; Appendix, Figure S5.2a) were recovered. Species identification was not possible due to sea lice being partially digested, but based on the sea cage prevalence, expected proportions would approximately be 255 *L. salmonis* (75%) and 85 *C. elongatus* (25%) recovered. The number of sea lice ingested per lumpfish varied between 1 and 118 specimens. The incidence of empty stomachs was 11% (4/35), and other food sources found were mainly crustacean gammarids (65%), hydroid fouling (52%) and crustacean caprellids (42%; Appendix, Figure S5.2b), based on the total number of full stomachs.

Relationship between sea lice ingestion, body size and condition, welfare scores and cortisol stress response

Lumpfish size (weight: t=0.59, df=32.74, p=0.56; length: t=0.21, df=31.14, p=0.83) and body condition (t=1.44, df=27.94, p=0.16) did not differ between delousing

groups. Whilst controlling for variation in body size, sea lice eaters and non-sea lice eaters did not differ either on plasma cortisol levels (t=1.5, p=0.14), although no control group or stress test was available in this case.

Sea lice ingestion did not have any significant effect on lumpfish welfare scores (0.17 \pm 0.19, z=0.95, p=0.34), adjusting for size variation; however, there was a significant effect of size on lumpfish welfare, indicating that smaller size lumpfish had worse welfare than larger lumpfish (-0.017 \pm 0.007, z=-2.6, p=0.009; Figure 5.1). Lumpfish classified as having good welfare (class A) were significantly larger (132 mm \pm 14.1) than lumpfish showing compromised welfare (classes B and C; 120 mm \pm 12.8; t=2.3, df=17.96, p=0.03).

Relationship between sea lice ingestion and diversity of microbiome communities

No differences were found between delousing and non-delousing lumpfish in alpha microbial diversity (Chao richness: $F_{2,31}=1.29$, p=0.29; Shannon diversity: $F_{2,31}=0.45$, p=0.64; Figure 5.2a). Microbial composition (or beta diversity) was also similar between delousers and non-delousers, while adjusting for body size (PERMANOVA, Sea lice ingestion: pseudo-F=0.76, p=0.6; Size: pseudo-F=1.57, p=0.13; Figure 5.2b). No differences were observed on mean distances to centroids between delousing groups neither (ANOVA, nperm=999, p=0.99).

Characterization of lumpfish gut microbial communities and DA analysis

A total of 389 ASVs and 191 different microbial species at a genus level were identified, classified as Bacteria (98.9%) and Archaea (1.1%). The most representative genera were *Vibrio* (27.8%), *Photobacterium* (26.6%), *Clostridium* (12.4%), *Piscirickettsia* (9.1%), *Mycoplasma* (6.3%), *Tenacibaculum* (3.8%) and *Aliivibrio* (3.6%; Figure 5.3). In terms of differential abundance (DA), no significant taxa were associated with the variables of interest sea lice ingestion and welfare (stat=2.53, p_{adi} =0.99).

Microbiome networks for sea lice ingestion and welfare were constructed and analysed separately, and finally combined for comparison. Microbiome communities in non-delousing lumpfish were selected for welfare comparison, where 33 taxa remained for each of the groups (Compromised welfare, n=10; Good welfare, n=6;

Figure 5.4). While the strongest positive associations were found between 7 and 11 taxa (corr=1.000) for compromised and good welfare, respectively (Table 5.1), the strongest negative associations were found between *Staphylococcus* and *Mycoplasma* (corr=-0.598) in lumpfish with compromised welfare and between *Piscirickettsia* and *Photobacterium* (corr=-0.945) in lumpfish with good welfare. Delousing lumpfish microbial communities consisted of 34 taxa in each welfare group (Compromised welfare, n=13; Good welfare, n=5; Figure 5.2). The strongest positive association in lumpfish with compromised welfare was found between *Burkholderia-Caballeronia-Paraburkholderia* and *Pseudoxanthomonas* (corr=1.000), while lumpfish with good welfare had positive associations between 16 taxa (corr=1.000; Table 5.6). Competition was observed between *Aliivibrio* and *Tenacibaculum* (corr=-0.698) and *Vibrio* and *Photobacterium* (corr=-0.998) for lumpfish with compromised and good welfare, respectively. The phylum Gammaproteobacteria was the most representative between cooperative (18/35, 51%) and competitive (5/8, 63%) taxa, with *Photobacterium* as the most competitive bacteria.

Network quantitative comparison

Within the non-delouser lumpfish group, vertex (p=0.029) and edge connectivity (p=0.039) were significantly higher in lumpfish with good welfare (14.000) than in lumpfish with compromised welfare (3.000), possibly indicating that the good welfare associated taxa have more resilience as a network than the one for compromised welfare, as connectivity measures the minimum elements to be removed to isolate nodes of taxa. Permutation test results, however, did not show significant quantitative differences when comparing the microbial community networks. The adjusted rand index (ARI), considered one of the best performing methods for cluster agreement or similarity between two partitions (Hoffman et al., 2016), was 0.055 (p=0.15) when analysing welfare groups within non-delousing lumpfish, and -0.022 (p=0.63) when comparing welfare groups within lumpfish that ingested sea lice. The quantitative comparison properties for each of the networks are summarised in detail in Tables 5.3 (non-delousing lumpfish) and 5.4 (delousing lumpfish).

Discussion

Lumpfish are widely used as biological agents to control sea lice infestations on salmon farms. However, lumpfish are not obligate cleaner fish and do not naturally eat sea lice in the wild, hence it is unknown if ingesting sea lice has any impact on their welfare or gut health. This is the first study performed at a commercial scale that investigates the effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfish gut microbiota and welfare. The results indicate that sea lice ingestion did not have an effect on body size, condition, physiological stress, welfare scores or gut microbiota.

Most of the lumpfish of this study were classified as class B and C, showing moderately to severely compromised welfare (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021). There was a positive association between welfare and size of the lumpfish, where larger lumpfish showed better welfare scores than smaller size lumpfish (Figure 5.1). Lumpfish with good welfare were 12 mm larger on average than those with compromised welfare. This could be explained by the most frequent conditions observed in smaller lumpfish: suction disc deformities and body damage, two conditions known to result in poor growth (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021).

Despite lumpfish were fasted (of supplementary feed pellets) prior to sampling for 48h following best practice harvest guidelines (Waagbø et al., 2017), most of them (89%) continued foraging and ingested different preys and food items available in their environment, while only a small proportion (11%) had their stomachs empty. Lumpfish are not obligate cleaners and are known to be opportunistic feeders that will not rely only on one food source if others are readily available around. In this study, half of the population was emaciated (54%) and also half of the population ingested sea lice (52%). However, there was no evidence of a relationship between ingesting sea lice and emaciation, although there are no indications that sea lice play an important role in terms of nutrition for lumpfish (Johannesen et al., 2018), as they are mostly eaten as 'snacks' (Merakerås, 2020, Johnsen, 2021). It is likely that the only way to maintain nutritional condition, health and welfare of lumpfish during the entire salmon grow-out stage at sea, is to provide lumpfish with supplementary feeding with extruded pellets or feed blocks (Imsland et al., 2020). The use of cleaner fish and their implications (supplementary feeding, additional shelter/enrichment, additional staff, vet visits and husbandry) are still considered a very low-cost effective sea lice control measure, as long as health and welfare are well managed (Overton et al., 2019, Toma et al., 2020). Some studies suggest that body condition in lumpfish can be rapidly lost if husbandry conditions are not optimal and lumpfish cannot be expected to feed solely on sea lice in sea cages (Johannesen et al., 2018, Garcia de Leaniz et al., 2021). The previous chapter showed decrement in body condition after two months of being transferred into sea cages (Gutierrez Rabadan, unpublished data), which highlights the need of an adequate feed management plan, especially at sea, to cover lumpfish nutritional needs.

Variation in sea lice grazing can be high among individuals of the same family (Imsland et al., 2016a). In the present study half of the population (52%) had sea lice in their stomachs, a value similar to that found by Imsland et al. (2018a). Although dissection is one of the easiest and most practical methods to analyse sea lice ingestion in the farm environment, there are concerns about its lethality and also its reliability as an indicator of how many lumpfish are delousers, due to variation in sea lice digestion times (Eysturskarð et al., 2017). In this sense, the use of non-lethal alternative methods, such as the use of stomach fluid real-time PCR (Eysturskarð et al., 2017, Imsland et al., 2019c) or gastric lavage/flushing (Hartleb and Moring, 1995), currently in violation of the Norwegian Animal Welfare Act (Mattilsynet, 2016), may have provided different results. The fact of not finding sea lice in some of the lumpfish stomachs in this study does not necessarily mean that these lumpfish are not consuming them, especially considering that sea lice can be digested and transited to the intestine as shortly as 6 hours post-ingestion in some individuals (Eysturskarð et al., 2017, Imsland et al., 2019c). Thus, even if no differences in microbiome networks were observed between non-delousing and delousing lumpfish, it cannot be ruled out that some lumpfish may have been feeding on sea lice, without these being found in their stomachs at the time of sampling.

The presence of specific gut microbial communities can also give insights into how diet can impact gut health. In this study, 6 out of 7 most common genera (*Tenacibaculum*, *Piscirickettsia*, *Vibrio*, *Aliivibrio*, *Photobacterium* and *Clostridium*) are considered pathogenic or opportunistic in lumpfish (Småge et al., 2016, Marcos-López et al., 2017, Tolås, 2020). Hence, it is not unexpected that these microorganisms dominated the gut microbiota of lumpfish with moderately compromised welfare, although they were also present in lumpfish with good welfare. Microbial

communities were represented using graphical networks, which allowed to explore positive and negative associations between taxa. Proteobacteria clearly dominated the gut microbiota of lumpfish in this study, which appears to be in accordance with other recent fish gut microbiome studies (Roeselers et al., 2011, Kim et al., 2021). Both cooperation and competition were dominated by taxa from the Gammaproteobacteria (Proteobacteria) phylum, although cooperation occurred between 9 different phyla and competition only between 4 (Tables 5.3 and 5.4), suggesting that diverse bacteria can co-exist for the indirect benefit of all the microbial taxa in the community. It is important to note that except *Mycoplasma*, possibly considered to be a commensal (Rasmussen et al., 2021), all the genera found to compete in the microbial networks (Photobacterium, Piscirickettsia, Vibrio, Aliivibrio and Staphylococcus) are infectious pathogens of fish (Sudheesh et al., 2012, Småge et al., 2016, Marcos-López et al., 2017, Tolås, 2020). Also, a higher number of cooperative taxa were involved in lumpfish showing good welfare than in lumpfish with compromised welfare, although further study on functional analysis of bacterial communities will be required to better understand these interactions. When comparing microbial networks, ARI values may have suggested that networks between delousing groups were clustering differently based on the welfare status of the fish, but they could be slightly more similar (0.055 vs -0.022) when measured between lumpfish with compromised welfare. However, pvalues for the two-tailed test were non-significant which would indicate no significant differences between the compared networks. The results of the analysis of microbiome networks did not differentiate between delousers and non-delousers, perhaps due to the limitations of stomach content analysis or because the microbiome associated with feeding on sea lice is not very different from the microbiome signature associated with feeding on other crustaceans (found to be ingested by 82% of the sampled lumpfish). In any case, the results suggest that feeding on sea lice does not appear detrimental for lumpfish welfare, as no differences in welfare were found between the delousing groups neither.

This study investigated the effect of sea lice ingestion on lumpfish gut microbiota and welfare through the analysis of stomach content in a commercial salmon farm. The results indicate that sea lice ingestion did not have any impact on lumpfish body size and condition, physiological stress levels, welfare scores or intestinal microbial communities, suggesting that sea lice ingestion is not harmful for lumpfish welfare. The lumpfish studied were sampled close to the end of the salmon grow-out cycle and presented moderately compromised welfare, but this does not appear to be associated with sea lice consumption. Future research should, in general terms, target a thorough evaluation of gut microbial communities depending on different specific diets in a more controlled environment; for instance, investigating communities when using formulated pellets or live feeding in larval stages. The study of microbiome markers could identify beneficial practices for the industry. In more specific terms, the industry could also benefit from the use of probiotics in hatcheries several weeks before sea transfer to ensure lumpfish have the best chance at survival in sea cages.

Acknowledgements

I thank Matthew Tomlinson[†] and Iain Webster for their support organising the visit to the salmon farm and Ben Jennings for helping with the sampling and data collection.

Table 5.1. Most representative (strongest) microbial associations within non-delouser

 lumpfish. Positive (+) associations indicate cooperation while negative (-) associations

 indicate competition.

Taxa	Phylum	Association	Correlation
Compromised welfare	;		
Enhydrobacter	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	1
Pseudoxanthomonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Flavobacteraceae	Bacteroidetes	(+)	
Tepidimonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Arcobacter	Epsilonbacteraeota	(+)	
Cloacibacterium	Bacteroidetes	(+)	
Synechococcus	Cyanobacteria	(+)	
Staphylococcus	Firmicutes	(-)	-0.598
Mycoplasma	Tenericutes	(-)	
Good welfare			
Cetobacterium	Fusobacteria	(+)	1
Shewanella	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Staphylococcus	Firmicutes	(+)	
Pseudoxanthomonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Francisella	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Plesiomonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Cloacibacterium	Bacteroidetes	(+)	
Synechococcus	Cyanobacteria	(+)	
Tepidimonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Aliivibrio	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Piscirickettsia	Gammaproteobacteria	(-)	-0.945
Photobacterium	Gammaproteobacteria	(-)	

Table 5.2. Most representative (strongest) microbial associations within delouser

 lumpfish. Positive (+) associations indicate cooperation while negative (-) associations

 indicate competition.

Таха	Phylum	Association	Correlation
Compromised welfare			
Burkholderia-Caballeronia-	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	1
Paraburkholderia			
Pseudoxanthomonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Aliivibrio	Gammaproteobacteria	(-)	-0.696
Tenacibaculum	Bacteroidetes	(-)	
Good welfare			
Arcobacter	Epsilonbacteraeota	(+)	1
Enterobacteriaceae	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Uncultured	Alphaproteobacteria	(+)	
Glutamicibacter	Actinobacteria	(+)	
Thermus	Deinococcus-Thermus	(+)	
Pseudoalteromonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Acinetobacter	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Burkholderia-Caballeronia-	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Paraburkholderia			
Brevundimonas	Alphaproteobacteria	(+)	
Cloacibacterium	Bacteroidetes	(+)	
Pseudoxanthomonas	Bacteroidetes	(+)	
Francisella	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Tepidimonas	Gammaproteobacteria	(+)	
Paracoccus	Alphaproteobacteria	(+)	
Sphingobium	Alphaproteobacteria	(+)	
Vibrio	Gammaproteobacteria	(-)	-0.998
Photobacterium	Gammaproteobacteria	(-)	

Table 5.3. Results for quantitative network comparison in non-delouser lumpfish
(Compromised welfare, n=10; Good welfare, n=6) on genus-level via permutation
tests (n=1000).

Clobal naturally proportion	walfora			1
Clobal naturally properties	wellale	welfare	difference	
Global network properties				
Number of components	1.000	1.000	0.000	1.00
Clustering coefficient	0.742	0.766	0.025	0.88
Moduarity	0.147	0.061	0.086	0.26
Positive edge percentage	89.020	72.527	16.492	0.36
Edge density	0.483	0.689	0.206	0.29
Natural connectivity	0.272	0.337	0.064	0.56
Vertex connectivity	3.000	14.000	11.000	0.02
Edge connectivity	3.000	14.000	11.000	0.03
Average dissimilarity	0.740	0.667	0.072	0.42
Average path length	1.021	0.950	0.071	0.17
Degree (normalized)				
Photobacterium	0.094	0.906	0.812	0.32
Francisella	0.125	0.688	0.562	0.98
Uncultured	0.312	0.812	0.500	0.98
Clostridium sensu stricto	0.156	0.594	0.438	0.98
Clostridiaceae	0.219	0.656	0.438	0.96
Betweenness centrality (nor	malized)			
Psychrobacter	0.107	0.006	0.101	0.31
Burkholderiaceae	0.091	0.006	0.085	0.46
Shewanella	0.087	0.002	0.085	0.31
Staphylococcus	0.058	0.001	0.057	0.46
Enterobacteriaceae	0.014	0.054	0.040	0.77
Eigenvector centrality (norm	nalized)			
Francisella	0.035	1.000	0.965	0.79
Enhydrobacter	1.000	0.191	0.809	0.96
Aeromonas	0.967	0.218	0.749	0.79
Plesiomonas	0.376	1.000	0.624	0.96
Arcobacter	1.000	0.388	0.612	0.79

Table 5.4. Results for quantitative network comparison in delouser lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=13; Good welfare, n=5) on genus-level via permutation tests (n=1000).

	Compromised	Good	Absolute	<i>padj</i>	
	welfare	welfare	difference		
Global network properties					
Number of components	1.000	1.000	0.000	1.000	
Clustering coefficient	0.568	0.825	0.258	0.327	
Moduarity	0.183	0.138	0.045	0.941	
Positive edge percentage	72.093	79.339	7.246	0.881	
Edge density	0.383	0.647	0.264	0.634	
Natural connectivity	0.147	0.359	0.211	0.257	
Vertex connectivity	2.000	11.000	9.000	0.198	
Edge connectivity	2.000	13.000	11.000	0.089	
Average dissimilarity	0.834	0.643	0.191	0.198	
Average path length	1.063	0.964	0.099	0.198	
Degree (normalized)					
Burkholderiaceae	0.212	0.970	0.758	0.073	
Undibacterium	0.182	0.909	0.727	0.073	
Clostridiaceae	0.242	0.848	0.606	0.073	
Arenicella	0.303	0.909	0.606	0.117	
Aliivibrio	0.364	0.909	0.545	0.073	
Betweenness centrality (no	rmalized)				
Sphingobium	0.108	0.000	0.108	0.311	
Undibacterium	0.000	0.085	0.085	0.518	
Piscirickettsia	0.019	0.095	0.076	0.518	
Pseudomonas	0.055	0.000	0.055	0.840	
Psychrobacter	0.057	0.004	0.053	0.678	
Eigenvector centrality (normalized)					
Glutamicibacter	0.109	1.000	0.891	0.376	
Undibacterium	0.108	0.989	0.882	0.376	
Arenicella	0.172	0.962	0.790	0.376	
Aeromonas	0.172	0.951	0.780	0.376	
Thermus	0.261	1.000	0.739	0.376	



Figure 5.1. Effect of size (total length, mm) on lumpfish welfare . The grey shadow represents confidence intervals (CI=95%). The green dashed line divides lumpfish from classes A and B, while the red dashed line separates lumpfish from classes B and C.



Figure 5.2. Microbial diversity and composition analysis, adjusted for body size. **a**) Boxplots of alpha diversity values (Chao's species richness and Shannon diversity), according to non-sea lice eating-lumpfish (No, n=16) and sea lice eating-lumpfish (Yes, n=18) groups. **b**) Non-metric dimensional scale (nMDS) of beta diversity (Bray-Curtis distances) for the same delousing groups.



Figure 5.3. The 25 most representative ASVs (at genus level) according to each delousing group (Sea lice ingestion: No, n=16 and Yes, n=18).



Figure 5.4. Microbiome network comparison for non-delouser lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=10; Good welfare, n=6) on genus-level with 33 taxa per group, using Pearson's correlation coefficient as association measure and Fruchterman & Reingold layout. Positive associations are shown by green lines while negative interactions are shown by red lines. The thickness of the connection lines represents the correlation strength between taxa.



Figure 5.5. Microbiome network comparison for delousing lumpfish (Compromised welfare, n=13; Good welfare, n=5) on genus-level with 34 taxa per group, using Pearson's correlation coefficient as association measure and Fruchterman & Reingold layout. Positive associations are shown by green lines while negative interactions are shown by red lines. The thickness of the connection lines represents the correlation strength between taxa.

Lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus* L.) have been farmed for the past 10 years and are now being widely used as cleaner fish in commercial salmon farms in many countries like Norway (Imsland et al., 2018a), Iceland (Steinarson and Árnason, 2018), Ireland (Bolton-Warberg, 2018), Scotland (Treasurer, 2018a), Faroe Islands (Eliasen et al., 2018) and Canada (Haugland et al., 2020). *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* continues being a major threat for the salmonid aquaculture (Igboeli et al., 2014), compromising fish welfare and the environment, and becoming resistant to almost every possible treatment (Denholm et al., 2002, Aaen et al., 2015). The stress associated to medicinal baths and the high mortalities due to mechanical and thermal treatments (Overton et al., 2019), make the use of cleaner fish a green and cost-effective alternative. However, the use of lumpfish comes with welfare implications.

Fish farmers have been reproved by the NFSA (Stranden, 2020), who claims their job may be not good enough as many lumpfish still disappear or die in cages. Lumpfish mortalities in cages are undoubtedly high and can range from 27% to 100% (Nilsen et al., 2014, EURLFD, 2016, Poppe, 2017, OneKind, 2018, Geitung et al., 2020, Erkinharju et al., 2021), indicating that lumpfish welfare is undoubtedly deteriorated. Hence, there are ethical concerns of whether the use of lumpfish continue to be acceptable and appropriate, due to the difficulties this species have at surviving in cages (Merakerås, 2020). Another issue is the fact that, despite salmon and lumpfish sharing the same environment at sea, salmon farming has developed in a way that covers well the needs of salmon, but not those of lumpfish (Garcia de Leaniz et al., 2021), and lumpfish are seen less valuable than salmon as they are not destined for human consumption. Some changes have been introduced in the salmon cages to accommodate the lumpfish needs for shelter (Imsland et al., 2015b, Imsland et al., 2018b, Imsland and Conlon, 2019a), but satisfying the needs of two different species under farming conditions has proven to be challenging.
Lumpfish welfare and stress

Lumpfish welfare is now a priority and the focus of some of the farmed fish welfare schemes (RSPCA, 2018). A practical way to measure, assess and lately improve welfare under farm conditions, is the use of Operational Welfare indicators (OWIs). Several OWIs have been developed for lumpfish during the past three years but many are unpractical, need training and instruments (laboratory-based OWIs) or require lethal sampling, which is not sustainable. Chapter 2 screened and selected different OWIs, already used in lumpfish or adapted from other farmed fish species (Freitas et al., 2014), with the aim to find the most practical and repeatable ones to combine them into an easy-to-use scoring index (LOWSI). The application of LOWSI (Table 2.3) allows assessing welfare in lumpfish populations under farming conditions in a rapid but still accurate manner and is very valuable for the aquaculture industry (mainly lumpfish producers and salmon farmers that use lumpfish as cleaner fish). Moreover, this index could benefit policy makers, NGOs and animal welfare associations that need scientific references to develop welfare standards and accreditations. The use of LOWSI in six commercial sites, including hatcheries and sea farms, revealed that lumpfish welfare can easily deteriorate, with 27% of lumpfish suffering from compromised welfare and 2% from severely poor, meaning that although some farms achieve welfare standards there are still some others that do not (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), and there is scope for improvement. Welfare can be monitored in regular basis to obtain a significant representation of the welfare status on lumpfish stocks and act as an early warning of health and welfare issues; but also, to assess specific farming operations such as grading, vaccination, disease treatments, transport, deployment at sea, etc. where is likely that welfare is compromised due to stress.

To better understand when welfare could begin to deteriorate in sea cages, lumpfish were monitored at three weeks and three months after deployment. Chapter 3 found that welfare significantly deteriorates with time spent at sea, which translated into worse LOWSI scores over time. It was also suggested that lumpfish size was a predictor of welfare, and this was also demonstrated in Chapter 5 where lumpfish with good welfare were nearly as 10% larger in average than lumpfish with compromised welfare. These results may suggest that poor welfare in lumpfish may have a negative impact on growth, as reduced growth in fish is often seen as indicative of poor welfare (Compassion In World Farming, 2009).

Lumpfish have shown modest cortisol stress responses in comparison to Ballan wrasse and Atlantic salmon (Treasurer et al., 2018b), which are more susceptible to stress and present higher levels of plasma cortisol (around 218 and 254 ng·ml-1, respectively) than those observed in lumpfish (circa 72.5 ng·ml-1) one hour after crowding stress (Iversen et al., 2015). Unlike other species, lumpfish apparently lack acute cortisol stress response, and seem not to reflect their stress levels externally. Chapter 2 used plasma cortisol levels to validate the scoring index and was found to be lower in hatcheries than in sea cages, which also gave insights into the stress experienced by lumpfish when cohabiting with salmon in sea farms. An adaptation period may be highly recommendable as lumpfish that have previously exposed to salmon have less plasma cortisol levels and calmer behaviour than naïve lumpfish (Staven et al., 2019), suggesting lumpfish may need some time to acclimate to cage conditions before they start showing any cleaning behaviour. Some acclimatization cages, previously trialled for farmed ballan wrasse (Brooker et al., 2020), have been successful and could be likely applied to lumpfish as well.

Ideally, lumpfish should live long enough at sea to match the salmon's grow out stage in cages until harvest to ensure sea lice levels are under control, unless their health or welfare is compromised. Salmon's production cycle at sea can last for 12-14 months, depending on the input, which indicates that lumpfish will be around 500g-1kg if they survive. However, it is thought that lumpfish may decrease their delousing efficacy as they become older and may prefer to eat salmon pellets to have a better satiation than feeding on sea lice. In that case, lumpfish could be removed from sea cages and kept in captivity (and quarantine) to be used as a brood stock in the future, which will improve the sustainability of the industry.

At the moment this has not been possible in significant numbers due to low survival at the end of the salmon's production life. If survival was significant, there would be a need to deal with lumpfish at the slaughterhouse, and proper methods for humanely culling this species, along a market for the use of their flesh should be in place.

Lumpfish transfer and deployment at sea

The transition of lumpfish from hatchery to sea cages involves a series of stressors: from the handling to be loaded into lorries or wellboats and the transfer *per se* (Sampaio and Freire, 2016); to deployment into sea cages, a new unknown environment with new fast-

swimming species (salmon). It is then not surprising that some of the acute mortalities, occurring immediately or few weeks after release in sea cages, are associated to transport (Bornø et al., 2016), although the exact numbers are unknown. Chapter 4 investigated the effect of the transfer and the first two months at sea in lumpfish welfare. Although mean LOWSI did not vary in this period, eye condition deteriorated in 41% of lumpfish, and body condition decreased in 16% after deployment. These results may be related as visual impairment could increase the risk of emaciation, being lumpfish visual feeders (Jonassen et al., 2017, Powell et al., 2018b). Future research on lumpfish feeds at the sea cage stage is also crucial to avoid nutritional deficiencies that can lead to the presence of cataracts.

One of the best strategies to safeguard the welfare of lumpfish during transfer and deployment at sea is to ensure all staff are competent and well trained on Specific Operational Procedures (SOPs) at each of the stages (hatchery pre-conditioning, loading, transport and delivery). Understanding all the steps, good communication between the different parties involved and commitment is critical for a good deployment and a high chance of survival. For complying with these, best practice guidelines are available (Sigstadstø, 2017).

Lumpfish microbial communities

Microbiome applications are promising as they have the potential for monitoring health and welfare in farmed animals and can be a predictor of stress-related conditions and biomarkers in aquaculture (Perry et al., 2020). Studies of lumpfish gut microbiota are still rare. Lumpfish gut microbiota was characterized in Chapter 4 and compared between stocks showing main differences in diversity. Low microbial diversity in fish gut has popularly been associated with poor health (Talwar et al., 2018), although this is not necessarily always the case (Johnson and Burnet, 2016). *Mycoplasma* dominated the gut microbiota of Icelandic lumpfish, which were larger and showed better welfare than Scottish lumpfish. The role of *Mycoplasma* in the gut microbiota of salmon has recently been described as symbiotic or commensal (Cheaib et al., 2020) and has characterized the gut of healthy salmon as well as its relative abundance has been positive correlated with the fish weight (Bozzi et al., 2021).

This thesis found that some specific taxa could be used as potential biomarkers such as *Candidatus branchiomonas* and *Clostridium*, found to be associated to compromised welfare and high plasma cortisol levels, respectively. *Candidatus* *branchiomonas* has been associated with complex gill disease in salmon (Gjessing et al., 2019), while genera from the Clostridia class were promoted in stressed salmon (Uren Webster et al., 2020b). In this case, microbial communities were sequenced using intestine tissue, but non-lethal approaches (using faeces or even skin mucus) could be used instead to reduce the number of sampling casualties and increase sustainability. The use of accurate microbial biomarkers (to measure stress, welfare or even health status) can be a valuable diagnostic tool for the industry, not only to understand the biology of fish but also to see how they perform under different conditions and environments. Currently it may not be economical, but next generation sequencing seems to be expanding in a way that microbiome sampling will be possible in the farm environment on regular basis fairly soon.

Sea lice ingestion

Chapter 5 assessed the effect of sea lice ingestion in welfare and microbial communities and found that the fact of eating or not eating sea did not have any influence on welfare and gut microbiome.

Cleaning behaviour in lumpfish has proven to have a genetical component (Imsland et al., 2016a), which means that some genetic stocks may be more suitable to be used as cleaner fish than others. It could seem that selecting lumpfish families or stocks for slow growth rate in sea cages, as suggested in Chapter 3, could be a potential strategy to maximise lumpfish delousing efficiency, described to be 40% better in smaller size than larger size lumpfish (Imsland et al., 2016b, Imsland et al., 2021).

High variation in sea lice grazing is extremely common, which poses doubts about the efficiency of cleaner fish (Anon, 2020d). In this thesis, the prevalence of ingested sea lice found in lumpfish stomachs was very variable and ranged from 1.5 to 52%. Other authors, however, have found this prevalence to range from 13 to 38% (Eliasen et al., 2018, Imsland et al., 2018a). Sea lice ingestion in lumpish can be affected by factors like the infection levels on the farm or the sampling method, among others. Chapters 3 and 4 showed relatively low infection levels at the sea farms (1 and 0.2 average sea lice/salmon) and sea lice ingestion occurred in 1.5% and 5% of the population; whereas Chapter 5 showed higher infection pressure (5.5 sea lice/salmon) and 52% of lumpfish ingested sea lice. Sea lice ingestion was quantified by assessing lumpfish stomach

contents, although the fact of not finding sea lice in the stomachs does not necessarily mean that lumpfish did not ingest them, as digestion times can vary between individuals (Eysturskarð et al., 2017, Imsland et al., 2019c). It appears that there is a widespread suboptimal use of lumpfish (Overton et al., 2020), reflecting that many producers may excel at rearing lumpfish in hatcheries while husbandry is inadequate for lumpfish to thrive at sea. Robust evidence of their efficacy is needed to justify their use, constrained by the limited number of studies performed under commercial conditions (Overton et al., 2020). It is important that research is applicable into the industry, mimicking the conditions of a real farm.

Stock differentiation

Phenotypic differences have been reported between lumpfish from different genetical backgrounds, where Northern lumpfish grew faster than Southern lumpfish(Whittaker, 2019). Chapter 3 compared English and Norwegian lumpfish whileChapter 4 assessed the performance of Icelandic and Scottish lumpfish. Growth rateswere reported to be faster in Icelandic than Scottish lumpfish in Chapter 3, which arein accordance with results found by Whittaker et al. (2018). In contrast, English lumpfishgrew faster than Norwegian lumpfish in Chapter 4, oppositely than expected. This thesis results suggest that faster growth rates were observed on those lumpfish that predominantly fed formulated pellets, e.g., Icelandic and English stocks, indicating that formulated feed has a high nutritional value and promotes growth, although fast growth is not an aim for lumpfish in sea cages. Further research in the genetic structure of lumpfish as well as in feed management at sea cages is needed.

Lumpfish underweight and emaciation

The length-weight percentile charts (Appendix, Figure S2.6), developed in Chapter 2, are a useful tool to monitor body condition and identify the proportion of underweight and emaciated individuals in lumpfish populations. Chapter 2 found 28% of underweight lumpfish and 10% emaciated when assessing six commercial sites, indicating that there is a need for a suitable feed management plan, especially after deployment in sea cages (Gutierrez Rabadan et al., 2021), as it cannot be expected that lumpfish rely only on feeding sea lice. Lumpfish can easily lose body condition in four weeks if not optimally reared (Johannesen et al., 2018). Chapter 3 showed that the

proportion of emaciated lumpfish increased with time at sea, highlighting the importance of providing supplementary feeding (for instance, the use of feed blocks) in sea cages to maintain lumpfish nutritional needs, condition and welfare. Further research into lumpfish nutritional requirements, specific needs during the deployment stage (including the use of probiotics to boost the immune system) as well as an agreed criteria for supplemental feeding in cages is needed.

Conclusions

- A reliable scoring index for lumpfish was developed, validated and tested under commercial conditions and proved to be a practical tool to monitor welfare in lumpfish. This index consisted in the visual assessment of body damage, caudal fin damage, eye condition, suction disc deformities and body condition and its usage revealed that welfare can deteriorate at any stage of thelumpfish life cycle.
- Lumpfish welfare worsened with time spent at sea, with increasing prevalenceof most of the OWIs and with fish size, with smaller fish showing the worst welfare scores. These results showed that the three first months at sea can be acritical period for lumpfish and welfare monitoring should be particularly regular.
- Under a common commercial environment, Icelandic and Scottish lumpfish differed in growth rates, diet and welfare scores with Icelandic lumpfish growing faster, ingesting more formulated pellets and showing better welfare scores than Scottish lumpfish. These differences were also reflected in their gut microbial communities, where Scottish lumpfish gut microbiota was muchmore diverse. Significant associations found indicated that the abundance of specific taxa such as *Candidatus branchiomonas* and *Clostridium* and welfarestatus and cortisol levels, suggesting these could be used as potential markers of welfare and stress, respectively.
- Sea lice ingestion did not influence lumpfish body size or condition, plasma cortisol levels, welfare scores or intestinal microbial communities, suggesting that sea lice ingestion is not harmful for lumpfish welfare. The lumpfish studied were sampled close to the end of the salmon grow-out cycle and presented moderately compromised welfare, but this does not appear to be associated with sea lice consumption.

References

AAEN, S. M., HELGESEN, K. O., BAKKE, M. J., KAUR, K. & HORSBERG, T. E. 2015. Drug resistance in sea lice: a threat to salmonid aquaculture. *Trends in Parasitology*, 31, 72-81.

ABOLOFIA, J., ASCHE, F. & WILEN, J. E. 2017. The cost of lice: quantifying the impacts of parasitic sea lice on farmed salmon. *Marine Resource Economics*, 32, 329-349.

ADAMS, C., TURNBULL, J., BELL, A., BRON, J. & HUNTINGFORD, F. 2007. Multiple determinants of welfare in farmed fish: stocking density, disturbance, and aggression in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Canadian journal of fisheries and aquatic sciences*, 64, 336-344.

AMUNDSEN, P. A. & SÁNCHEZ-HERNÁNDEZ, J. 2019. Feeding studies take guts-critical review and recommendations of methods for stomach contents analysis in fish. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 95, 1364-1373.

ANDERSON, M. J. 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*, 26, 32-46.

ANON 2020a. Nasjonal tilsynskampanje 2018/2019: Velferd hos rensefisk (National oversight campaign 2018-2019: Cleaner fish welfare). Mattilsynet.

ANON 2020b. UK lumpfish producer reports record year. *The Fish Site*. Online. ANON 2020c. Ethics of using cleaner fish questioned. *The Fish Site*. Online.

ANON 2020d. Study questions cleaner fish efficiency. *The Fish Site*. Online. ANON 2020e. Innovation in their DNA. *Fish Farmer*. Online.

ASHLEY, P. J. 2007. Fish welfare: current issues in aquaculture. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 104, 199-235.

AUSTIN, B. 2006. The bacterial microflora of fish (revised). The Scientific World Journal, 6, 931-945.

BAKER, R., BUCKLAND, A. & SHEAVES, M. 2014. Fish gut content analysis: robust measures of diet composition. *Fish and Fisheries*, 15, 170-177.

BANNISTER, J., SIEVERS, M., BUSH, F. & BLOECHER, N. 2019. Biofouling in marine aquaculture: a review of recent research and developments. *Biofouling*, 35, 631-648.

BAÑÓN, R., GARAZO, A. & FERNÁNDEZ, A. 2007. Note about the presence of the lumpsucker Cyclopterus lumpus (Teleostei, Cyclopteridae) in Galician waters (NW Spain). *Journal of Applied Ichthiology*, 24, 108-109.

BARRETT, L. T., OPPEDAL, F., ROBINSON, N. & DEMPSTER, T. 2020b. Prevention not cure: a review of methods to avoid sea lice infestations in salmon aquaculture. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 12, 2527-2543.

BARRETT, L. T., OVERTON, K., STIEN, L. H., OPPEDAL, F. & DEMPSTER, T. 2020a. Effect of cleaner fish on sea lice in Norwegian salmon aquaculture: a national scale data analysis. *International journal for parasitology*, 50, 787-796.

BARTLETT, J. W. & FROST, C. 2008. Reliability, repeatability and reproducibility: analysis of measurement errors in continuous variables. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol*, 31, 466-75.

BARTON, B. A. & IWAMA, G. K. 1991. Physiological changes in fish from stress in aquaculture with emphasis on the response and effects of corticosteroids. *Annual Review of fish diseases*, 1, 3-26. BARTON, B. A. 2002. Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. *Integrative and comparative biology*, 42, 517-525.

BARTON, K. 2019. Package 'MuMIn' in R. R package version

BARTON, K. 2020. MuMIn: Multi-model inference. R package version 1.43. 17. 2020

BATES, D., MAECHLER, M., BOLKER, B., WALKER, S., CHRISTENSEN, R. H. B., SINGMANN, H., DAI, BATES, D., SARKAR, D., BATES, M. D. & MATRIX, L. 2007. The lme4 package. *R package version, 2, 74*.

BEHJATI, S. & TARPEY, P. S. 2013. What is next generation sequencing? Archives of Disease in Childhood-Education and Practice, 98, 236-238.

BENJAMINI, Y. & HOCHBERG, Y. 1995. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal of the Royal statistical society: series B (Methodological)*, 57, 289-300.

BENJAMINI, Y. & HOCHBERG, Y. 2000. On the adaptive control of the false discovery rate in multiple testing with independent statistics. *Journal of educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 25, 60-83.

BERGE, A. 2019. Use of lumpfish to fight sea lice is declining. Salmon Business (online)

BERILLIS, P. 2015. Factors that can lead to the development of skeletal deformities in fishes: A review. *Journal of Fisheries Sciences*, 9, 17.

BJORDAL, Å. 1990. Sea lice infestation on farmed salmon: possible use of cleaner- fish as an alternative method for de-lousing. *Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 1761, 85-89.

BJORDAL, Å. 1991. Wrasse as cleaner-fish for farmed salmon.

BJORDAL, Å. Cleaning symbiosis between wrasses (Labridae) and lice infested salmon (Salmo salar) in mariculture. 1988. ICES.

BLACKET, M., ROBIN, C., GOOD, R., LEE, S. & MILLER, A. 2012. Universal primers for fluorescent labelling of PCR fragments - an efficient and cost- effective approach to genotyping by fluorescence. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 12, 456-463.

BLACKWELL, B. G., BROWN, M. L. & WILLIS, D. W. 2010. Relative Weight (Wr) Status and Current Use in Fisheries Assessment and Management. *Reviews in Fisheries Science*, 8, 1-44.

BOLTON-WARBERG, M. 2018. An overview of cleaner fish use in Ireland. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 41, 935-939.

BOLYEN, E., RIDEOUT, J. R., DILLON, M. R., BOKULICH, N. A., ABNET, C. C., AL-GHALITH, G. A., ALEXANDER, H., ALM, E. J., ARUMUGAM, M. & ASNICAR, F. 2019. Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nature biotechnology*, 37, 852-857.

BORNØ, G., ALARCÓN, M., LINAKER, M., COLQUHOUN, D., NILSEN, H., GU, J., GJERSET, B., HANSEN, H., THOEN, E. & GULLA, S. 2016. Akutt dødelighet hos rognkjeks (Cyclopterus lumpus) i 2015. Veterinærinstituttets rapportserie. Veterinærinstituttet (The Norwegian Veterinæry Institute), Oslo.

BORTHWICK, M. 2020. Welfare Issues in Farmed Atlantic Salmon.

BOSAKOWSKI, T. & WAGNER, E. J. 1994. Assessment of fin erosion by comparison of relative fin length in hatchery and wild trout in Utah. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 51, 636-641.

BOZZI, D., RASMUSSEN, J. A., CARØE, C., SVEIER, H., NORDØY, K., GILBERT, M. T. P. & LIMBORG, M. T. 2021. Salmon gut microbiota correlates with disease infection status: potential for monitoring health in farmed animals. *Animal Microbiome*, 3, 1-17.

BRANSON, E., RØNSBERG, S. & RITCHIE, G. 2000. Efficacy of teflubenzuron (Calicide®) for the treatment of sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer 1838), infestations of farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Aquaculture Research*, 31, 861-867.

BRAY, J. R. & CURTIS, J. T. 1957. An ordination of the upland forest communities of southern Wisconsin. *Ecological monographs*, 27, 325-349.

BREDAHL, H. 2014. Electrical fence and use of the same in a fish farm. Norway patent application.

BRON, J., SOMMERVILLE, C., WOOTTEN, R. & RAE, G. 1993. Fallowing of marine Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., farms as a method for the control of sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Kroyer, 1837). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 16, 487-493.

BROOKER, A. J., DAVIE, A., LECLERCQ, E., ZERAFA, B. & MIGAUD, H. 2020. Pre-deployment acclimatisation of farmed ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta) to sea-cage conditions promotes behaviour analogous to wild conspecifics when used as cleaner fish in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) farms. Aquaculture, 520, 734771.

BROOKER, A. J., PAPADOPOULOU, A., GUTIERREZ RABADAN, C., REY, S., DAVIE, A. & MIGAUD, H. 2018. Sustainable production and use of cleaner fish for the biological control of sea lice: recent advances and current challenges. *Veterinary Record*, 183, 383-383.

BROOM, D. M. 1991. Animal welfare: concepts and measurement. *Journal of Animal Science*, 69, 4167-4175.

BROOM, D. M. 2014. Sentience and Animal Welfare. Wallingford: CABI.

BROOM, D. M. 2016. Fish brains and behaviour indicate capacity for feeling pain. Animal Sentience, 1, 4.

BROOM, D. M. 2001. Evolution of pain. R Soc Med Int Congr Symp Ser 246:17–25, 2001.

BROWMAN, H., BOXASPEN, K. & KUHN, P. 2004. The effect of light on the settlement of the salmon louse, Lepeophtheirus salmonis, on Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 27, 701-708.

BROWN, C. 2015. Fish intelligence, sentience and ethics. Animal cognition, 18, 1-17.

BSHARY, R. & CÔTÉ, I. M. 2008. New perspectives on marine cleaning mutualism. *Fish behaviour*. *Enfield (NH): Science Publishers*, 563-592.

BUI, S., GEITUNG, L., OPPEDAL, F. & BARRETT, L. T. 2020b. Salmon lice survive the straight shooter: A commercial scale sea cage trial of laser delousing. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 181, 105063.

BUI, S., STIEN, L. H., NILSSON, J., TRENGEREID, H. & OPPEDAL, F. 2020a. Efficiency and welfare impact of long-term simultaneous in situ management strategies for salmon louse reduction in commercial sea cages. *Aquaculture*, 520, 734934.

BUROKAS, A., MOLONEY, R. D., DINAN, T. G. & CRYAN, J. F. 2015. Microbiota regulation of the mammalian gut–brain axis. *Advances in Applied Microbiology*, 91, 1-62.

BURRELLS, C., WILLIAMS, P. & FORNO, P. 2001. Dietary nucleotides: a novel supplement in fish feeds: 1. Effects on resistance to disease in salmonids. *Aquaculture*, 199, 159-169.

BUTLER, A. B. & HODOS, W. 1996. Comparative vertebrate neuroanatomy, New York, Wiley-Liss.

BUTT, R. L. & VOLKOFF, H. 2019. Gut microbiota and energy homeostasis in fish. Frontiers in endocrinology, 10, 9.

BYRNE, A. A., PEARCE, C. M., CROSS, S. F., JONES, S. R., ROBINSON, S. M., HUTCHINSON, M. J., MILLER, M. R., HADDAD, C. A. & JOHNSON, D. L. 2018. Field assessment of Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas) growth and ingestion of planktonic salmon louse (Lepeophtheirus salmonis) larvae at an Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) farm in British Columbia, Canada. *Aquaculture*, 490, 53-63.

CAHILL, M. M. 1990. Bacterial flora of fishes: a review. Microbial ecology, 19, 21-41.

CALLAHAN, B. J., MCMURDIE, P. J., ROSEN, M. J., HAN, A. W., JOHNSON, A. J. A. & HOLMES, S. P. 2016. DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature methods*, 13, 581-583.

CAPORASO, J. G., LAUBER, C. L., WALTERS, W. A., BERG-LYONS, D., LOZUPONE, C. A., TURNBAUGH, P. J., FIERER, N. & KNIGHT, R. 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108, 4516-4522.

CARNEVALI, O., MARADONNA, F. & GIOACCHINI, G. 2017. Integrated control of fish metabolism, wellbeing and reproduction: the role of probiotic. *Aquaculture*, 472, 144-155.

CHAMPNEYS, T., CASTALDO, G., CONSUEGRA, S. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2018. Densitydependent changes in neophobia and stress-coping styles in the world's oldest farmed fish. *R Soc Open Sci*, 5, 181473.

CHANDROO, K. P., DUNCAN, I. J. & MOCCIA, R. D. 2004. Can fish suffer?: perspectives on sentience, pain, fear and stress. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 86, 225-250.

CHAO, A. & CHIU, C. H. 2006. Species richness: estimation and comparison. *Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences*, 1-26.

CHEAIB, B., YANG, P., KAZLAUSKAITE, R., LINDSAY, E., HEYS, C., DE NOA, M., SCHAAL, P., DWYER, T., SLOAN, W. & IJAZ, U. 2020. Unpicking the mysterious symbiosis of Mycoplasma in salmonids. *bioRxiv*.

CHRISTENSEN, R. H. B. 2019. "Ordinal-regression models for ordinal data". R package. Vienna, Austria.

CHRISTIE, L., VERNER-JEFFREYS, D. & FEIL, E. 2018. Characterisation of the lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) gut microbiome using multiple sequencing platforms. *ARCH UK Finfish and Shellfish Microbiome Workshop*. Aberdeen.

COATES, A., PHILLIPS, B. L., BUI, S., OPPEDAL, F., ROBINSON, N. A. & DEMPSTER, T. 2021. Evolution of salmon lice in response to management strategies: a review. *Reviews in Aquaculture*.

COMMAND PAPER 2836 1965. Report of the Technical Committee to Enquire into the Welfare of Animal Kept under Intensive Livestock Husbandry Systems. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

COMPASSION IN WORLD FARMING, C. 2009. The welfare of farmed fish.

COMPASSION IN WORLD FARMING, C. 2018. Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee. Environmental impacts of salmon farming. Scottish Parliament: CIWF.

CONRADT, L. & ROPER, T. J. 2005. Consensus decision making in animals. Trends in ecology & evolution, 20, 449-456.

CONTE, F. 2004. Stress and the welfare of cultured fish. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 86, 205-223.

CONTRERAS, M., KARLSEN, M., VILLAR, M., OLSEN, R. H., LEKNES, L. M., FUREVIK, A., YTTREDAL, K. L., TARTOR, H., GROVE, S. & ALBERDI, P. 2020. Vaccination with ectoparasite proteins involved in midgut function and blood digestion reduces salmon louse infestations. *Vaccines*, 8, 32.

COOKE, M. 2016. Animal welfare in farmed fish. Business Benchmark on Farm Animal Welfare, Investor Briefing, 23, 1-16.

COSTA, I., HAMOUTENE, D., MURRAY, H., LUSH, L., BURT, K., EAVES, A. & ANG, K. P. 2016. *Documentation of cunner (Tautogolabrus adspersus) cleaning behaviour in tanks with Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) smolts infested with sea lice (Lepeophtheirus salmonis)*, Fisheries and Oceans Canada.

COSTELLO, M. 1993. Review of methods to control sea lice (Caligidae: Crustacea) infestations on salmon (Salmo salar) farms. *Pathogens of wild and farmed fish: sea lice*, 219, 252.

COSTELLO, M. J. 2006. Ecology of sea lice parasitic on farmed and wild fish. *Trends in parasitology*, 22, 475-483.

COSTELLO, M. J. 2009a. The global economic cost of sea lice to the salmonid farming industry. *Journal* of fish diseases, 32, 115.

COSTELLO, M. J. 2009b. How sea lice from salmon farms may cause wild salmonid declines in Europe and North America and be a threat to fishes elsewhere. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276, 3385-3394.

CRUZ, E. M. V. & BROWN, C. L. 2007. The influence of social status on the rate of growth, eye color pattern and insulin-like growth factor-I gene expression in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus. *Hormones and Behavior*, 51, 611-619.

D'ARCY, J., KELLY, S., MCDERMOTT, T., HYLAND, J., JACKSON, D. & BOLTON-WARBERG, M. 2020. Assessment of PIT tag retention, growth and post-tagging survival in juvenile lumpfish, Cyclopterus lumpus. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 8, 1-9.

DAHLE, S. W., BAKKE, I., BIRKELAND, M., NORDØY, K., DALUM, A. S. & ATTRAMADAL, K. J. 2020. Production of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) in RAS with distinct water treatments: Effects on fish survival, growth, gill health and microbial communities in rearing water and biofilm. *Aquaculture*, 522, 735097.

DAHLE, S., HAGEMANN, A., ATTRAMADAL, K., KJØRSVIK, E. & BARDAL, T. 2017. AnnVkvalitet og Startfôring av Rognkjeks. *Trondheim: SINTEF Fiskeri og havbruk*, 39.

DAHRENDORF, R. 1987. Max Weber and modern social science. *Max Weber and His Contemporaries*, 574-580.

DAVENPORT, J. & THORSTEINSSON, V. 1990. Sucker action in the lumpsucker Cyclopterus lumpus L. *Sarsia*, 75, 33-42.

DAVENPORT, J. 1985. Synopsis of biological data on the lumpsucker, Cyclopterus lumpus (Linnaeus, 1758). *FAO Fisheries Synopsis*.

DAVIS, D. J., BRYDA, E. C., GILLESPIE, C. H. & ERICSSON, A. C. 2016. Microbial modulation of behavior and stress responses in zebrafish larvae. *Behavioural brain research*, 311, 219-227.

DAVIS, K. B. 2006. Management of physiological stress in finfish aquaculture. *North American Journal of Aquaculture*, 68, 116-121.

DE BRUIJN, I., LIU, Y., WIEGERTJES, G. F. & RAAIJMAKERS, J. M. 2018. Exploring fish microbial communities to mitigate emerging diseases in aquaculture. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94, fix161.

DE CACERES, M., JANSEN, F. & DE CACERES, M. M. 2020. Package 'indicspecies'. *R package*, 8, 1.

DENHOLM, I., DEVINE, G. J., HORSBERG, T. E., SEVATDAL, S., FALLANG, A., NOLAN, D. V. & POWELL, R. 2002. Analysis and management of resistance to chemotherapeutants in salmon lice,

Lepeophtheirus salmonis 136 (Copepoda: Caligidae). Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science, 58, 528-536.

DESMARAIS, B. A. & HARDEN, J. J. 2013. Testing for zero inflation in count models: Bias correction for the Vuong test. *The Stata Journal*, 13, 810-835

DULČIĆ, J. & GOLANI, D. 2006. First record of Cyclopterus lumpus L., 1758 (Osteichthyes: Cyclopteridae) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 69, 300-303.

DUNCAN, I. J. 2006. The changing concept of animal sentience. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 100, 11-19.

ECONOMICS, J. 2021. Dead Loss: The high cost of poor farming practices and mortalities on salmon farms. 64.

EGERTON, S., CULLOTY, S., WHOOLEY, J., STANTON, C. & ROSS, R. P. 2018. The gut microbiota of marine fish. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 873.

EHRENSING, R. H., MICHELL, G. F. & KASTIN, A. J. 1982. Similar antagonism of morphine analgesia by MIF-1 and naloxone in Carassius auratus. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 17, 757-761.

EILENBERG, J., HAJEK, A. & LOMER, C. 2001. Suggestions for unifying the terminology in biological control. *BioControl*, 46, 387-400.

ELIASEN, K., DANIELSEN, E., JOHANNESEN, Á., JOENSEN, L. L. & PATURSSON, E. J. 2018. The cleaning efficacy of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) in Faroese salmon (Salmo salar L.) farming pens in relation to lumpfish size and seasonality. *Aquaculture*, 488, 61-65.

ELIASEN, K., PATURSSON, E. J., MCADAM, B. J., PINO, E., MORRO, B., BETANCOR, M., BAILY, J. & REY, S. 2020. Liver colour scoring index, carotenoids and lipid content assessment as a proxy for lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) health and welfare condition. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-12.

ELLIS, T., OIDTMANN, B., ST-HILAIRE, S., TURNBULL, J., NORTH, B., MACINTYRE, C., NIKOLAIDIS, J., HOYLE, I., KESTIN, S. & KNOWLES, T. 2008. Fin erosion in farmed fish. Fish welfare, 121-149.

ERIKSEN, E., DURIF, C. M. & PROZORKEVICH, D. 2014. Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) in the Barents Sea: development of biomass and abundance indices, and spatial distribution. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71, 2398-2402.

ERKINHARJU, T., DALMO, R. A., HANSEN, M. & SETERNES, T. 2021. Cleaner fish in aquaculture: review on diseases and vaccination. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 13, 189-237.

EUROPEAN UNION REFERENCE LABORATORY OF FISH DISEASES, E. 2016. Cleaner fish in aquaculture: Health management and legislative issues. *In:* DENMARK, T. U. O. (ed.). Copenhagen: National Veterinary Institute.

EYSTURSKARÐ, J., JOHANNESEN, Á. & ELIASEN, K. 2017. Application of real- time PCR for specific detection of Lepeophtheirus salmonis in fluid samples from lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) stomachs. *Aquaculture International*, 25, 969-973.

FAO 1988. Rural Aquaculture: Overview and Framework for Country Reviews.

FAO 2008. Aquaculture Information and Statistics Service, 2008. Aquaculture Production 1950–2006. FISHSTAT Plus–Universal Software for Fishery Statistical Time Series [online or CD-ROM]. Food and Agriculture organization of the United Nations.

FAO 2009. Salmo salar. In Cultured aquatic species fact sheets., FAO. FAO 2020. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture.

FAO 2020. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture.

FAUGHT, E., BEST, C. & VIJAYAN, M. M. 2016. Maternal stress-associated cortisol stimulation may protect embryos from cortisol excess in zebrafish. *Royal Society open science*, 3, 160032.

FAWC 1993. Second Report on Priorities for Animal Welfare Research and Development. Surrey, UK: MAFF (Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food).

FAWC 2009. Farm Animal Welfare in Great Britain: Past, Present and Future.

FAWC 2014. Opinion on the Welfare of Farmed Fish Farm Animal Welfare Committee. London

FINSTAD, B., BJØRN, P., GRIMNES, A. & HVIDSTEN, N. 2000. Laboratory and field investigations of salmon lice [Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer)] infestation on Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) postsmolts. *Aquaculture Research*, 31, 795-803.

FJELLDAL, P. G., MADARO, A., HVAS, M., STIEN, L. H., OPPEDAL, F. & FRASER, T. W. 2020b. Skeletal deformities in wild and farmed cleaner fish species used in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar aquaculture. *Journal of fish biology*, 98, 1049-1058.

FLETCHER, R. 2019. Counting the true cost of combatting sea lice. The Fish Site (online)

FLINT, M. L. & DREISTADT, S. H. 1998. *Natural enemies handbook: the illustrated guide to biological pest control*, Univ of California Press.

FORSATKAR, M. N., NEMATOLLAHI, M. A., RAFIEE, G., FARAHMAND, H. & LAWRENCE, C. 2017. Effects of the prebiotic mannan-oligosaccharide on the stress response of feed deprived zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Physiology & behavior*, 180, 70-77.

FRASER, D. 2008. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 50, 1-7.

FREITAS, R. H., NEGRAO, C. A., FELICIO, A. K. & VOLPATO, G. L. 2014. Eye darkening as a reliable, easy and inexpensive indicator of stress in fish. *Zoology (Jena)*, 117, 179-84.

FRENZL, B., STIEN, L. H., COCKERILL, D., OPPEDAL, F., RICHARDS, R., SHINN, A., BRON, J. & MIGAUD, H. 2014. Manipulation of farmed Atlantic salmon swimming behaviour through the adjustment of lighting and feeding regimes as a tool for salmon lice control. *Aquaculture*, 424, 183-188.

FROESE, R. & PAULY, D. 2014. FishBase version 06/2021. World Wide Web electronic publication.

FULLER, R. 1989. Probiotics in man and animals. Journal of applied bacteriology, 66, 365-378.

GALLEY, J. D., NELSON, M. C., YU, Z., DOWD, S. E., WALTER, J., KUMAR, P. S., LYTE, M. & BAILEY, M. T. 2014. Exposure to a social stressor disrupts the community structure of the colonic mucosa-associated microbiota. *BMC microbiology*, 14, 1-13.

GAMER, M., LEMON, J., FELLOWS, I. & SINGH, P. 2019. Package 'irr': Various Coefficients of Interrater Reliability and Agreement. 2012.

GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C., GUTIERREZ RABADAN, C., BARRENTO, S. I., STRINGWELL, R., HOWES, P. N., WHITTAKER, B. A., MINETT, J. F., SMITH, R. G., POOLEY, C. L. & OVERLAND, B. J. 2021. Addressing the welfare needs of farmed lumpfish: Knowledge gaps, challenges and solutions. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 14(1), pp. 139-155.

GEITUNG, L., WRIGHT, D. W., OPPEDAL, F., STIEN, L. H., VÅGSETH, T. & MADARO, A. 2020. Cleaner fish growth, welfare and survival in Atlantic salmon sea cages during an autumn-winter production. *Aquaculture*, 528, 735623.

GENNA, R., MORDUE, W., PIKE, A. W. & MORDUE, A. J. 2005. Light intensity, salinity, and host velocity influence presettlement intensity and distribution on hosts by copepodids of sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 62, 2675-2682.

GENTRY, K., BUI, S., OPPEDAL, F. & DEMPSTER, T. 2020. Sea lice prevention strategies affect cleaner fish delousing efficacy in commercial Atlantic salmon sea cages. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*, 12, 67-80.

GISMERVIK, K., NIELSEN, K., LIND, M. & VILJUGREIN, H. 2017. Mekanisk avlusing med FLSavlusersystem-dokumentasjon av fiskevelferd og effekt mot lus. *Veterinærinstituttets rapportserie 6-*2017, 41.

GJESSING, M. C., STEINUM, T., OLSEN, A. B., LIE, K. I., TAVORNPANICH, S., COLQUHOUN, D. J. & GJEVRE, A.-G. 2019. Histopathological investigation of complex gill disease in sea farmed Atlantic salmon. *PloS one*, 14, e0222926.

GLÖCKNER, F. O. 2019. The SILVA Database Project: An ELIXIR core data resource for high-quality ribosomal RNA sequences. *Biodiversity Information Science and Standards*, 3, e36125.

GLOOR, G. B., MACKLAIM, J. M., PAWLOWSKY-GLAHN, V. & EGOZCUE, J. J. 2017. Microbiome datasets are compositional: and this is not optional. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 8, 2224.

GOODE, K. & REY, K. 2019. ggResidpanel: panels and interactive versions of diagnostic plots using 'ggplot2'. *R package version 0.3.0*.

GREAKER, M., VORMEDAL, I. & ROSENDAL, K. 2020. Environmental policy and innovation in Norwegian fish farming: Resolving the sea lice problem? *Marine Policy*, 117, 103942.

GREFSRUD, E. S., SVÅSAND, T., GLOVER, K., HUSA, V., HANSEN, P. K., SAMUELSEN, O., SANDLUND, N. & STIEN, L. H. 2019. Risikorapport norsk fiskeoppdrett 2019: Miljøeffekter av lakseoppdrett. Havforsknings Instituttet.

GRIMNES, A. & JAKOBSEN, P. 1996. The physiological effects of salmon lice infection on post-smolt of Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 48, 1179-1194.

GRONER, M., COX, R., GETTINBY, G. & REVIE, C. 2013. Use of agent-based modelling to predict benefits of cleaner fish in controlling sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis, infestations on farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 36, 195-208.

GRØNTVEDT, R. N., NERBØVIK, I.-K. G., VILJUGREIN, H., LILLEHAUG, A., NILSEN, H. & GJEVRE, A.-G. 2015. Thermal de-licing of salmonid fish– documentation of fish welfare and effect. *Norwegian Veterinary Institute's Report series*, 13-2015.

GUTIERREZ RABADAN, C., SPREADBURY, C., CONSUEGRA, S. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2021. Development, validation and testing of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus L. *Aquaculture*, 531, 735777.

HALE, M. E. 2000. Startle responses of fish without Mauthner neurons: escape behavior of the lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus). *The Biological Bulletin*, 199, 180-182.

HAMRE, L. A., EICHNER, C., CAIPANG, C. M. A., DALVIN, S. T., BRON, J. E., NILSEN, F., BOXSHALL, G. & SKERN-MAURITZEN, R. 2013. The salmon louse Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Copepoda: Caligidae) life cycle has only two chalimus stages. *PloS one,* 8, e73539.

HARMON, T. S. 2009. Methods for reducing stressors and maintaining water quality associated with live fish transport in tanks: a review of the basics. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 1, 58-66.

HARPER, G. 2001. Consumer concerncs about animal welfare and the impact on food choice. EU Fair CT98-3678, Proceedings of the Dissemination Seminar.

HARRISON, R. 1964. Animal Machines, London, Vincent Stuart.

HART, J., THACKER, J., BRAIDWOOD, J., FRASER, N. & MATTHEWS, J. 1997. Novel cypermethrin formulation for the control of sea lice on salmon (Salmo salar). *Veterinary Record*, 140, 179-181.

HARTLEB, C. F. & MORING, J. R. 1995. An improved gastric lavage device for removing stomach contents from live fish. *Fisheries Research*, 24, 261-265.

HASTIE, L., WALLACE, C., BIRKETT, M., DOUGLAS, A., JONES, O., MORDUE, A., RITCHIE, G., PICKETT, J., WEBSTER, J. & BOWMAN, A. 2013. Prevalence and infection intensity of sea lice (Lepeophtheirus salmonis) on Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) host is reduced by the non-host compound 2- aminoacetophenone. *Aquaculture*, 410, 179-183.

HAUGLAND, G. T., IMSLAND, A. K. D., REYNOLDS, P. & TREASURER, J. 2020. Application of biological control: use of cleaner fish. *Aquaculture Health Management*. Elsevier.

HERRMANN, B., SISTIAGA, M. & JØRGENSEN, T. 2021. Size-dependent escape risk of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) from salmonid farm nets. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 162, 111904.

HEUCH, P., NORDHAGEN, J. & SCHRAM, T. 2000. Egg production in the salmon louse [Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer)] in relation to origin and water temperature. *Aquaculture Research*, 31, 805-814.

HEVRØY, E., BOXASPEN, K., OPPEDAL, F., TARANGER, G. & HOLM, J. 2003. The effect of artificial light treatment and depth on the infestation of the sea louse Lepeophtheirus salmonis on Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) culture. *Aquaculture*, 220, 1-14.

HEYS, C., CHEAIB, B., BUSETTI, A., KAZLAUSKAITE, R., MAIER, L., SLOAN, W., IJAZ, U. Z., KAUFMANN, J., MCGINNITY, P. & LLEWELLYN, M. 2020. Neutral processes dominate microbial community assembly in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 86.

HJELTNES, B., BORNØ, G., JANSEN, M. D., HAUKAAS, A., WALDE, C. & (EDS.) 2017. The Health Situation in Norwegian Aquaculture 2016. Norwegian Veterinary Institute.

HJELTNES, B., BORNØ, G., JANSEN, M., HAUKAAS, A. & WALDE, C. 2019. The health situation in Norwegian aquaculture 2018. *Norwegian Veterinary Institute*, 127.

HOFFMAN, M., STEINLEY, D. & BRUSCO, M. J. 2016. A note on using the Adjusted Rand index for link prediction in networks. *Social networks*, 42, 72-79.

HOLAN, A. B., ROTH, B., BREILAND, M. S. W., KOLAREVIC, J., HANSEN, Ø. J., IVERSEN, A., HERMANSEN, Ø., GJERDE, B., HATLEN, B. & MORTENSEN, A. 2017. Beste praksis for medikamentfrie metoder for lakseluskontroll (MEDFRI)-Faglig sluttrapport. *Nofima rapportserie*.

HOLBEN, W. E., WILLIAMS, P., SAARINEN, M., SÄRKILAHTI, L. & APAJALAHTI, J. H. 2002. Phylogenetic analysis of intestinal microflora indicates a novel Mycoplasma phylotype in farmed and wild salmon. *Microbial ecology*, *44*, *175-185*.

HOLM, H. J., WADSWORTH, S., BJELLAND, A.-K., KRASNOV, A., EVENSEN, Ø. & SKUGOR, S. 2016. Dietary phytochemicals modulate skin gene expression profiles and result in reduced lice counts after experimental infection in Atlantic salmon. *Parasites & vectors*, 9, 1-14.

HOLM, H., SANTI, N., KJØGLUM, S., PERISIC, N., SKUGOR, S. & EVENSEN, Ø. 2015. Difference in skin immune responses to infection with salmon louse (Lepeophtheirus salmonis) in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) of families selected for resistance and susceptibility. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 42, 384-394.

HOLST, J. C. 1993. Observations on the distribution of lumpsucker (Cyclopterus lumpus, L.) in the Norwegian Sea. *Fisheries research*, 17, 369-372.

HONKANEN, P. & OLSEN, S. O. 2009. Environmental and animal welfare issues in food choice: The case of farmed fish. *British Food Journal*.

HOPKINS, K. D. 1992. Reporting fish growth: A review of the basics. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 23, 173-179.

HOYLE, I., OIDTMANN, B., ELLIS, T., TURNBULL, J. F., NORTH, B. P., NIKOLAIDIS, J. & KNOWLES, T. G. 2007. A validated macroscopic key to assess fin damage in farmed rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Aquaculture*, 270, 142-148.

HUANG, Q., SHAM, R. C., DENG, Y., MAO, Y., WANG, C., ZHANG, T. & LEUNG, K. M. 2020. Diversity of gut microbiomes in marine fishes is shaped by host-related factors. *Molecular ecology*, 29, 5019-5034.

HUBERT, L. & ARABIE, P. 1985. Comparing partitions. *Journal of classification*, 2, 193-218. HUNTINGFORD, F. & KADRI, S. 2009. Taking account of fish welfare: lessons from aquaculture. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 75, 2862-2867.

HUNTINGFORD, F. & KADRI, S. 2009. Taking account of fish welfare: lessons from aquaculture. Journal of Fish Biology, 75, 2862-2867.

HUNTINGFORD, F., ADAMS, C., BRAITHWAITE, V., KADRI, S., POTTINGER, T., SANDØE, P. & TURNBULL, J. 2006. Current issues in fish welfare. *Journal of fish biology*, 68, 332-372.

HVAS, M. & OPPEDAL, F. 2019. Physiological responses of farmed Atlantic salmon and two cohabitant species of cleaner fish to progressive hypoxia. *Aquaculture*, 512.

HVAS, M., FOLKEDAL, O. & OPPEDAL, F. 2021. Fish welfare in offshore salmon aquaculture. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 13, 836-852.

HVAS, M., FOLKEDAL, O., IMSLAND, A. & OPPEDAL, F. 2018. Metabolic rates, swimming capabilities, thermal niche and stress response of the lumpfish, Cyclopterus lumpus. *Biology Open*, 7.

HYNES, H. 1950. The food of fresh-water sticklebacks (Gasterosteus aculeatus and Pygosteus pungitius), with a review of methods used in studies of the food of fishes. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 36-58.

HYSLOP, E. 1980. Stomach contents analysis—a review of methods and their application. *Journal of fish biology*, 17, 411-429.

IGBOELI, O. O., BURKA, J. F. & FAST, M. D. 2014. Lepeophtheirus salmonis: a persisting challenge for salmon aquaculture. *Animal Frontiers*, 4, 22-32.

ILLUMINA INC., I. 2013. 16s Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation.

IMSLAND, A. K. & CONLON, H. 2019a. Money for nothing: The possible use of recycled fish farm material as habitat for lumpfish. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 87, 102015.

IMSLAND, A. K., DANIELSEN, M., JONASSEN, T. M., HANGSTAD, T. A. & FALK-PETERSEN, I.-B. 2019b. Effect of incubation temperature on eggs and larvae of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus). *Aquaculture*, 498, 217-222.

IMSLAND, A. K., MICALLEF, G., KORSNES, K. & REYNOLDS, P. 2019c. Consumption of sea lice by lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus): qPCR quantification and use of a non-destructive sampling method. *Aquaculture*, 500, 640-644.

IMSLAND, A. K. D., FROGG, N., STEFANSSON, S. O. & REYNOLDS, P. 2019e. Improving sea lice grazing of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) by feeding live feeds prior to transfer to Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) net-pens. *Aquaculture*, 511.

IMSLAND, A. K. D., REYNOLDS, P., JONASSEN, T. M., HANGSTAD, T. A., ADRON, J., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., URSKOG, T. C., HANSSEN, A. & MIKALSEN, B. 2019f. Comparison of diet composition, feeding, growth and health of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) fed either feed blocks or pelleted commercial feed. *Aquaculture Research*, 50, 1952-1963.

IMSLAND, A. K., HANSSEN, A., NYTRØ, A. V., REYNOLDS, P., JONASSEN, T. M., HANGSTAD, T. A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., URSKOG, T. C. & MIKALSEN, B. 2018a. It works! Lumpfish can significantly lower sea lice infestation in large-scale salmon farming. *Biology Open*, 7, 1-6.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., URSKOG, T. C. & MIKALSEN, B. 2018b. Assessment of artificial substrates for lumpfish: effect of material thickness and water current speed. *Aquaculture International*, 26, 1469-1479.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., HANGSTAD, T. A., JÓNSDÓTTIR, Ó. D. B., NOBLE, T., WILSON, M., MACKIE, J. A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., URSKOG, T. C. & MIKALSEN, B. 2018c. Feeding behaviour and growth of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) fed with feed blocks. *Aquaculture Research*, 49, 2006-2012.

IMSLAND, A. K. D., REYNOLDS, P., JONASSEN, T. M., HANGSTAD, T. A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., URSKOG, T. C. & MIKALSEN, B. 2018d. Effects of three commercial diets on growth, cataract development and histopathology of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.). *Aquaculture Research*, 49, 3131-3141.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., FOSS, A., VIKINGSTAD, E. & ELVEGÅRD, T. A. 2014a. The use of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) to control sea lice (Lepeophtheirus salmonis Krøyer) infestations in intensively farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Aquaculture*, 424-425, 18-23.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., NYTRØ, A. V., FOSS, A., VIKINGSTAD, E. & ELVEGÅRD, T. A. 2014b. Assessment of growth and sea lice infection levels in Atlantic salmon stocked in small- scale cages with lumpfish. *Aquaculture*, 433, 137-142.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., NYTRØ, A. V., FOSS, A., VIKINGSTAD, E. & ELVEGÅRD, T. A. 2014c. Notes on the behaviour of lumpfish in sea pens with and without Atlantic salmon present. *Journal of ethology*, 32, 117-122.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., NYTRØ, A. V., FOSS, A., VIKINGSTAD, E. & ELVEGÅRD, T. A. 2015a. Feeding preferences of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) maintained in open net-pens with Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). *Aquaculture*, 436, 47-51.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., NYTRØ, A. V., FOSS, A., VIKINGSTAD, E. & ELVEGÅRD, T. A. 2015b. Assessment of suitable substrates for lumpfish in sea pens. *Aquaculture International*, 23, 639-645.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., MORTENSEN, A., HANSEN, Ø. J., PUVANENDRAN, V., HANGSTAD, T. A., JÓNSDÓTTIR, Ó. D. B., EMAUS, P.-A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., LEMMENS, S. C. A., RYDLAND, R., NYTRØ, A. V. & JONASSEN, T. M. 2016a. Is cleaning behaviour in lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) parentally controlled? *Aquaculture*, 459, 156-165.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., HANGSTAD, T. A., KAPARI, L., MADUNA, S. N., HAGEN, S. B., JÓNSDÓTTIR, Ó. D. B., SPETLAND, F. & LINDBERG, K. S. 2021. Quantification of grazing efficacy, growth and health score of different lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) families: Possible size and gender effects. *Aquaculture*, 530, 735925.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., LORENTZEN, M., EILERTSEN, R. A., MICALLEF, G. & TVENNING, R. 2020. Improving survival and health of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) by the use of feed blocks and operational welfare indicators (OWIs) in commercial Atlantic salmon cages. *Aquaculture*, 527, 735476.

IMSLAND, A. K., REYNOLDS, P., NYTRØ, A. V., ELIASSEN, G., HANGSTAD, T. A., JÓNSDÓTTIR, Ó. D., EMAUS, P.-A., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., LEMMENS, S. C. & RYDLAND, R. 2016b. Effects of lumpfish size on foraging behaviour and co-existence with sea lice infected Atlantic salmon in sea cages. *Aquaculture*, 465, 19-27.

INGÓLFSSON, A. & KRISTJÁNSSON, B. K. 2002. Diet of juvenile lumpsucker Cyclopterus lumpus (Cyclopteridae) in floating seaweed: effects of ontogeny and prey availability. *Copeia*, 2002, 472-476.

IVERSEN, M. H., JAKOBSEN, R., ELIASSEN, R. & OTTESEN, O. 2015. Sedasjon av berggylt og rognkjeks for å redusere stress og dødelighet (Sedation of ballan wrasse and lumpfish to reduce stress and mortality). *Norsk Fiskeoppdrett*, 22, 42-46.

JACKMAN, S., FEARON, J., JACKMAN, M. S. & MCMCPACK, S. 2007. The pscl package. *R* Software.

JOHANNESEN, A., JOENSEN, N. E. & MAGNUSSEN, E. 2018. Shelters can negatively affect growth and welfare in lumpfish if feed is delivered continuously. *PeerJ*, 6, e4837; DOI 10.7717/peerj.4837.

JOHANNESSON, J. 2006. *Lumpfish caviar: from vessel to consumer*, Rome, Italy, Food & Agriculture Org.anization: Fisheries Technical Paper.

JOHNSEN, O. 2021. Can cleaner fish used for de-licing in fish farms become dinner? Science Norway.

JOHNSON, K. V.-A. & BURNET, P. W. 2016. Microbiome: should we diversify from diversity? *Gut* microbes, 7, 455-458.

JOHNSON, S. & ALBRIGHT, L. 1991. Development, growth, and survival of Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Copepoda: Caligidae) under laboratory conditions. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 71, 425-436.

JOHNSON, S. C. & FAST, M. D. 2004. Chapter 7. Interactions between sea lice and their hosts. *In:* WIEGERTJES, G. F. & FLIK, G. (eds.) *Host-Parasite Interactions*. Garland Science/BIOS Scientific Publishers (Taylor & Francis group).

JOHNSON, S. C., BRAVO, S., NAGASAWA, K., KABATA, Z., HWANG, J., HO, J. & SHIH, C. 2004. A review of the impact of parasitic copepods on marine aquaculture. *Zoological studies*, 43, 229-243.

JONASSEN, T., HAMADI, M., REMO, S. C. & WAAGBO, R. 2017. An epidemiological study of cataracts in wild and farmed lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) and the relation to nutrition. *J Fish Dis*, 40, 1903-1914.

JONASSEN, T., REMEN, M., LEKVA, A., STEINARSSON, A. & ÁRNASON, T. 2018. Transport of lumpfish and wrasse in: Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. E. (ed.) *Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications*.

JØRGENSEN, E. H., HAATUFT, A., PUVANENDRAN, V. & MORTENSEN, A. 2017. Effects of reduced water exchange rate and oxygen saturation on growth and stress indicators of juvenile lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, 474, 26-33.

KALINOWSKI, S. T., TAPER, M. L. & MARSHALL, T. C. 2007. Revising how the computer program CERVUS accommodates genotyping error increases success in paternity assignment. *Molecular ecology*, 16, 1099-1106.

KASSAMBARA, A. & MUNDT, F. 2019. Factoextra: Extract and Visualize the Results of Multivariate Data Analyses.

KENNEDY, J., JÓNSSON, S. Þ., KASPER, J. M. & OLAFSSON, H. G. 2015. Movements of female lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) around Iceland. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72, 880-889.

KENNEDY, J., JÓNSSON, S. Þ., OLAFSSON, H. G. & KASPER, J. M. 2016. Observations of vertical movements and depth distribution of migrating female lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) in Iceland from data storage tags and trawl surveys. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73, 1160-1169.

KEY, B. 2015. Fish do not feel pain and its implications for understanding phenomenal consciousness. Biology & philosophy, 30, 149-165.

KIM, P. S., SHIN, N.-R., LEE, J.-B., KIM, M.-S., WHON, T. W., HYUN, D.-W., YUN, J.-H., JUNG, M.-J., KIM, J. Y. & BAE, J.-W. 2021. Host Habitat Is the Major Determinant of the Gut Microbiome of Fish. *Microbiome*, *9*(1), pp. 1-16.

KLAKEGG, Ø., MYHREN, S., JUELL, R. A., AASE, M., SALONIUS, K. & SØRUM, H. 2020. Improved health and better survival of farmed lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) after a probiotic bath with two probiotic strains of Aliivibrio. *Aquaculture*, 518, 734810.

KOO, T. K. & LI, M. Y. 2016. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *J Chiropr Med*, 15, 155-63.

KOUSOULAKI, K., MIGAUD, H. & DAVIE, A. 2018. *Cleaner fish species nutrition and feeding practices*, Sheffield, 5M Publishing Ltd.

KRASNOV, A., BREILAND, M. S. W., HATLEN, B., AFANASYEV, S. & SKUGOR, S. 2015. Sexual maturation and administration of 17β-estradiol and testosterone induce complex gene expression changes in skin and increase resistance of Atlantic salmon to ectoparasite salmon louse. *General and comparative endocrinology*, 212, 34-43.

KRKOŠEK, M., LEWIS, M. A. & VOLPE, J. P. 2005. Transmission dynamics of parasitic sea lice from farm to wild salmon. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272, 689-696.

KUMARI SWAIN, J., JOHANSEN, L.-H. & CARPIO GONZÁLEZ, Y. 2018. Validating a salmon lice vaccine candidate as a preventive measure against salmon lice at the lab-scale. *Nofima rapportserie*.

KUMOLU-JOHNSON, C. & NDIMELE, P. 2010. Length-weight relationships and condition factors of twenty-one fish species in Ologe Lagoon, Lagos, Nigeria. *Asian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 2, 174-179.

KUZNETSOVA, A., BROCKHOFF, P. B. & CHRISTENSEN, R. H. B. 2015. Package 'Imertest'. *R* package version, 2, 734.

LAMPART-KALUZNIACKA, M. & HEESE, T. 2000. Morphological characteristics of South Baltic lumpfish, Cyclopterus lumpus L., 1758. *Acta Ichthyologica et Piscatoria*, 2.

LAYEGHIFARD, M., HWANG, D. M. & GUTTMAN, D. S. 2017. Disentangling interactions in the microbiome: a network perspective. *Trends in microbiology*, 25, 217-228.

LE CREN, E. D. 1951. The length-weight relationship and seasonal cycle in gonad weight and condition in the perch (Perca fluviatilis). *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, 201-219.

LEAL, E., FERNÁNDEZ-DURÁN, B., GUILLOT, R., RÍOS, D. & CERDÁ-REVERTER, J. M. 2011. Stress-induced effects on feeding behavior and growth performance of the sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax): a self-feeding approach. Journal of Comparative Physiology B, 181, 1035-1044.

LECLERCQ, E., ZERAFA, B., BROOKER, A. J., DAVIE, A. & MIGAUD, H. 2018. Application of passive-acoustic telemetry to explore the behaviour of ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta) and lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) in commercial Scottish salmon sea-pens. *Aquaculture*, 495, 1-12.

LEGRAND, T. P., WYNNE, J. W., WEYRICH, L. S. & OXLEY, A. P. 2020. A microbial sea of possibilities: current knowledge and prospects for an improved understanding of the fish microbiome. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 12, 1101-1134.

LINNAEUS, C. 1758. Systema naturae: per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differentiis, synonymis, locis, Io. Iac. Cvrt.

LLEWELLYN, M. S., MCGINNITY, P., DIONNE, M., LETOURNEAU, J., THONIER, F., CARVALHO, G. R., CREER, S. & DEROME, N. 2016. The biogeography of the atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) gut microbiome. *The ISME journal*, 10, 1280-1284.

LOPES, T. 2021. A novel means to improve lumpfish welfare. The Fish Site (online)

LORANCE, P., COOK, R., HERRERA, J., DE SOLA, L. & FLORIN, A. 2015. Cyclopterus lumpus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T18237406A45078284. *Downloaded on 15 February 2021*.

LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome biology*, 15, 550.

LYNDON, A. R. & TOOVEY, J. 2000. Does the AquasmartTM feeding system reduce sea louse [Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer)] infestation on farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) in winter? *Aquaculture Research*, 31, 843- 847.

MACLEAN, A., METCALFE, N. B. & MITCHELL, D. 2000. Alternative competitive strategies in juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar): evidence from fin damage. Aquaculture, 184, 291-302.

MADUNA, S. N., VIVIAN-SMITH, A., JÓNSDÓTTIR, Ó. D. B., IMSLAND, A. K., KLÜTSCH, C. F., NYMAN, T., EIKEN, H. G. & HAGEN, S. B. 2020. Genome-and transcriptome-derived microsatellite loci in lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus: molecular tools for aquaculture, conservation and fisheries management. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-11.

MAHESH, V., AMBARISH, G. P. & NAIR, R. J. 2019. Stomach Content Analysis Techniques in Fishes In: ICAR Sponsored Winter School on Recent Advances in Fishery Biology Techniques for Biodiversity Evaluation and Conservation, 1-21 December 2018, Kochi.

MAMER, E. R. & MEYER, K. A. 2016. Retention rates of passive integrated transponder tags, visible implant elastomer tags, and maxillary marks in wild trout. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 36, 1119-1124.

MANGIAFICO, S. S. 2016. Summary and Analysis of Extension Program Evaluation in R. Introduction to Likert Data. Descriptive Statistics for Likert Data. Introduction to Cumulative Link Models (CLM) for Ordinal Data. Confidence intervals for medians.

MANTECA, X., MAINAU, E. & TEMPLE, D. 2012. What is animal welfare. *Farm animal welfare education centre*.

MARCOS-LÓPEZ, M., RUANE, N., SCHOLZ, F., BOLTON-WARBERG, M., MITCHELL, S., MURPHY O'SULLIVAN, S., IRWIN MOORE, A. & RODGER, H. 2017. Piscirickettsia salmonis infection in cultured lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.). *Journal of fish diseases*, 40, 1625-1634.

MARINE CONSERVATION SOCIETY, M. 2018. Use of cleaner fish in salmon farming: Current use, concerns and recommendations. Marine Conservation Society.

MARTÍNEZ CRUZ, P., IBÁÑEZ, A. L., MONROY HERMOSILLO, O. A. & RAMÍREZ SAAD, H. C. 2012. Use of probiotics in aquaculture. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2012.

MARTINS, C. I., GALHARDO, L., NOBLE, C., DAMSGÅRD, B., SPEDICATO, M. T., ZUPA, W., BEAUCHAUD, M., KULCZYKOWSKA, E., MASSABUAU, J.-C. & CARTER, T. 2012. Behavioural indicators of welfare in farmed fish. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 38, 17-41.

MARTOS-SITCHA, J. A., MANCERA, J. M., PRUNET, P. & MAGNONI, L. J. 2020. Welfare and stressors in fish: Challenges facing aquaculture. *Frontiers in physiology*, 11, 162.

MATCHADO, M. S., LAUBER, M., REITMEIER, S., KACPROWSKI, T., BAUMBACH, J., HALLER, D. & LIST, M. 2021. Network analysis methods for studying microbial communities: A mini review. *Computational and structural biotechnology journal.*

MATTILSYNET 2016. Mageskylling av rognkjeks er i strid med dyrevelferdsloven (in Norwegian). Stomach flushing of lumpfish is in violation of the Animal Welfare Act (in English).

MCEWEN, B. S. & WINGFIELD, J. C. 2003. The concept of allostasis in biology and biomedicine. *Hormones and behavior*, 43, 2-15.

MERAKERÅS, G. K. 2020. Cleaner fish being sacrificed in the fight against salmon lice. *Norwegian SciTech News (Research News from NTU and SINTEF)*.

MICHIE, I. 2001. Causes of downgrading in the salmon farming industry. *In:* KESTIN, S. & WARRISS, P. (eds.) *Farmed fish quality*. London: Fishing News Books.

MITCHELL, S. O., STEINUM, T. M., TOENSHOFF, E. R., KVELLESTAD, A., FALK, K., HORN, M. & COLQUHOUN, D. J. 2013. 'Candidatus Branchiomonas cysticola'is a common agent of epitheliocysts in seawater- farmed Atlantic salmon Salmo salar in Norway and Ireland. *Diseases of aquatic organisms*, 103, 35-43.

MIYAI, C. A., SANCHES, F. H. C., COSTA, T. M., COLPO, K. D., VOLPATO, G. L. & BARRETO, R. E. 2011. The correlation between subordinate fish eye colour and received attacks: a negative social feedback mechanism for the reduction of aggression during the formation of dominance hierarchies. *Zoology*, 114, 335-339.

MIYASHITA, S., SAWADA, Y., HATTORI, N., NAKATSUKASA, H., OKADA, T., MURATA, O. & KUMAI, H. 2000. Mortality of northern bluefin tuna Thunnus thynnus due to trauma caused by collision during growout culture. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 31, 632-639.

MIYASHITA, S., SAWADA, Y., HATTORI, N., NAKATSUKASA, H., OKADA, T., MURATA, O. & KUMAI, H. 2000. Mortality of northern bluefin tuna Thunnus thynnus due to trauma caused by collision during growout culture. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 31, 632-639.

MOBERG, G. P. 2000. Biological responses to stress: implications for animal welfare. *In:* MOBERG, G. & MENCH, J. (eds.) *The biology of animal stress: basic principles and implications for animal welfare.* Wallingford: CAB International.

MOHAPATRA, S., CHAKRABORTY, T., KUMAR, V., DEBOECK, G. & MOHANTA, K. 2013. Aquaculture and stress management: a review of probiotic intervention. *Journal of animal physiology and animal nutrition*, 97, 405-430.

MOKHTAR, M. A., SUDAN, P. & SUDAN, P. 2015. Length-Weight and Some Morphometric Relationships of Valamugil seheli from Sudanese Red Sea Coast. *Open Access Library Journal*, 2, 1.

MOKKINK, L. B., TERWEE, C. B., KNOL, D. L., STRATFORD, P. W., ALONSO, J., PATRICK, D. L., BOUTER, L. M. & DE VET, H. C. 2010. The COSMIN checklist for evaluating the methodological quality of studies on measurement properties: a clarification of its content. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 10, 22.

MOREL, G., SHRIVES, J., BOSSY, S. & MEYER, C. 2013. Residency and behavioural rhythmicity of ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta) and rays (Raja spp.) captured in Portelet Bay, Jersey: implications for Marine Protected Area design. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 93, 1407-1414.

MUNRO, L. & WALLACE, I. 2017. Scottish Fish Farm Production Survey 2016, Marine Scotland Science.

MURDOCH, W. W., CHESSON, J. & CHESSON, P. L. 1985. Biological control in theory and practice. *The American Naturalist*, 125, 344-366.

MUSTAFA, A., RANKADUWA, W. & CAMPBELL, P. 2001. Estimating the cost of sea lice to salmon aquaculture in eastern Canada. *The Canadian veterinary journal*, 42, 54.

MUSTAFA, A., SPEARE, D. J., DALEY, J., CONBOY, G. A. & BURKA, J. F. 2000. Enhanced susceptibility of seawater cultured rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), to the microsporidian Loma salmonae during a primary infection with the sea louse, Lepeophtheirus salmonis. *Journal of fish diseases*, 23, 337-341.

NAYLOR, R. L., GOLDBURG, R. J., PRIMAVERA, J. H., KAUTSKY, N., BEVERIDGE, M. C., CLAY, J., FOLKE, C., LUBCHENCO, J., MOONEY, H. & TROELL, M. 2000. Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. *Nature*, 405, 1017-1024.

NILSEN, A., NIELSEN, K. V., BIERING, E. & BERGHEIM, A. 2017. Effective protection against sea lice during the production of Atlantic salmon in floating enclosures. *Aquaculture*, 466, 41-50.

NILSEN, A., VILJUGREIN, H., RØSÆG, M. V. & COLQUHOUN, D. 2014. Rensefiskhelse-kartlegging av dødelighet og dødelighetsårsaker. *Veterinærinstituttets rapportserie*, 12, 74.

NOBLE, C., GISMERVIK, K., IVERSEN, M. H., KOLAREVIC, J., NILSSON, J., STIEN, L. H. & TURNBULL, J. F. 2018. Welfare Indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon: tools for assessing fish welfare. *NOFIMA*.

NOBLE, C., IVERSEN, M. H., LEIN, I., KOLAREVIC, J., JOHANSEN, L.-H., BERGE, G. M., BURGERHOUT, E., PUVANENDRAN, V., MORTENSEN, A. & STENE, A. 2019. Rensvel OWI Fact Sheet Series: An introduction to Operational and Laboratory-based Welfare Indicators for lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.).

NOBLE, C., JONES, H. A., DAMSGARD, B., FLOOD, M. J., MIDLING, K. O., ROQUE, A., SAETHER, B. S. & COTTEE, S. Y. 2012. Injuries and deformities in fish: their potential impacts upon aquacultural production and welfare. *Fish Physiol Biochem*, 38, 61-83.

NORTH, B., TURNBULL, J., ELLIS, T., PORTER, M., MIGAUD, H., BRON, J. & BROMAGE, N. 2006. The impact of stocking density on the welfare of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture, 255, 466-479.

NORWEGIAN DIRECTORATE OF FISHERIES, N. 2020. Akvakulturstatistikk: Laks, Regnbueørret og ørret (in Norwegian) [Online] Aquaculture statistics: salmon, rainbow trout and trout. Bergen: Norwegian Directorate of Fisheries.

NORWEGIAN DIRECTORATE OF FISHERIES, N. 2021a. Cleanerfish (lumpfish and wrasse). Updated: 27.05.2021.

NORWEGIAN DIRECTORATE OF FISHERIES, N. 2021b. Sale of Farmed Cleaner Fish 2012-2020. Last updated: 27.05.2021 (online)

NYTRØ, A. V., VIKINGSTAD, E., FOSS, A., HANGSTAD, T. A., REYNOLDS, P., ELIASSEN, G., ELVEGÅRD, T. A., FALK-PETERSEN, I.-B. & IMSLAND, A. K. 2014. The effect of temperature and fish size on growth of juvenile lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.). *Aquaculture*, 434, 296-302.

O'CONNOR, K. I., METCALFE, N. B. & TAYLOR, A. C. 1999. Does darkening signal submission in territorial contests between juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar? *Animal Behaviour*, 58, 1269-1276.

OIE 2019a. Terrestrial Animal Health Code. Section 7. Animal Welfare (online)

OIE 2019b. Chapter 7.2. Welfare of farmed fish during transport. Aquatic Animal Health Code. Online.

OIE 2021. Aquatic Animal Health Code.

OKSANEN, J., BLANCHET, F. G., KINDT, R., LEGENDRE, P., MINCHIN, P. R., O'HARA, R., SIMPSON, G. L., SOLYMOS, P., STEVENS, M. H. H. & WAGNER, H. 2013. Package 'vegan'. *Community ecology package, version,* 2, 1-295.

ONEKIND 2018. Cleaner Fish Welfare on Scotland's Salmon Farms. In: ONEKIND (ed.). Edinburgh.

OVERTON, K., BARRETT, L. T., OPPEDAL, F., KRISTIANSEN, T. S. & DEMPSTER, T. 2020. Sea lice removal by cleaner fish in salmon aquaculture: a review of the evidence base. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*, 12, 31-44.

OVERTON, K., DEMPSTER, T., OPPEDAL, F., KRISTIANSEN, T. S., GISMERVIK, K. & STIEN, L. H. 2019. Salmon lice treatments and salmon mortality in Norwegian aquaculture: a review. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 11, 1398-1417.

PAHL, B., COLE, D. & BAYER, R. 1999. Sea lice control II: evaluation of a photomechanical device as an alternate sea lice control strategy. *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*, 9, 75-88.

PALMER, R., RODGER, H., DRINAN, E., DWYER, C. & SMITH, P. 1987. Preliminary trials on the efficacy of ivermectin against parasitic copepods of Atlantic salmon. *Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists*, 7, 47-54.

PAMPOULIE, C., SKIRNISDOTTIR, S., OLAFSDOTTIR, G., HELYAR, S. J., THORSTEINSSON, V., JÓNSSON, S. Þ., FRÉCHET, A., DURIF, C. M., SHERMAN, S. & LAMPART-KAŁUŻNIACKA, M. 2014. Genetic structure of the lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus across the North Atlantic. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71, 2390-2397.

PERRY, W. B., LINDSAY, E., PAYNE, C. J., BRODIE, C. & KAZLAUSKAITE, R. 2020. The role of the gut microbiome in sustainable teleost aquaculture. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 287, 20200184.

PERSON-LE RUYET, J. & LE BAYON, N. 2009. Effects of temperature, stocking density and farming conditions on fin damage in European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Aquatic Living Resources, 22, 349-362.

PESCHEL, S., MÜCLLER, C. L., VON MUTIUS, E., BOULESTEIX, A.-L. & DEPNER, M. 2020. NetCoMi: network construction and comparison for microbiome data in R. *bioRxiv*.

PETTERSEN, J. M., BRACKE, M. B. M., MIDTLYNG, P. J., FOLKEDAL, O., STIEN, L. H., STEFFENAK, H. & KRISTIANSEN, T. S. 2014. Salmon welfare index model 2.0: an extended model for overall welfare assessment of caged Atlantic salmon, based on a review of selected welfare indicators and intended for fish health professionals. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 6, 162-179.

PIKE, A. & WADSWORTH, S. 1999. Sea lice on salmonids: their biology and control. Advances in parasitology, 44, 233-337.

POLEY, J., PURCELL, S., IGBOELI, O., DONKIN, A., WOTTON, H. & FAST, M. 2013. Combinatorial effects of administration of immunostimulatory compounds in feed and follow-up administration of triple-dose SLICE®(e mamectin benzoate) on A tlantic salmon, S almo salar L., infection with L epeophtheirus salmonis. *Journal of fish diseases*, 36, 299-309.

POPPE, T. 2017. Salmon and lice: An animal welfare impossibility. Aftenposten Innsikt.

POWELL, A., POOLEY, C., SCOLAMACCHIA, M. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2018a. *Review of lumpfish biology in: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications,* Sheffield, 5M Publishing Ltd.

POWELL, A., TREASURER, J. W., POOLEY, C. L., KEAY, A. J., LLOYD, R., IMSLAND, A. K. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2018b. Use of lumpfish for sea-lice control in salmon farming: challenges and opportunities. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 10, 683-702.

QUIST, M. C., GUY, C. S. & BRAATEN, P. J. 1998. Standard weight (Ws) equation and length categories for shovelnose sturgeon. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 18, 992-997.

R CORE TEAM, R. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria.

R CORE TEAM, R. 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria.

RAE, G. H. 2002. Sea louse control in Scotland, past and present. *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 58, 515-520.

RASMUSSEN, J. A., VILLUMSEN, K. R., DUCHÊNE, D. A., PUETZ, L. C., DELMONT, T. O., SVEIER, H., VON GERSDORFF JØRGENSEN, L., PRÆBEL, K., MARTIN, M. D. & BOJESEN, A. M. 2021. Genome-resolved metagenomics suggests a mutualistic relationship between Mycoplasma and salmonid hosts. *Communications biology*, 4(1), pp.1-10.

REFSTIE, S., BAEVERFJORD, G., SEIM, R. R. & ELVEBØ, O. 2010. Effects of dietary yeast cell wall β -glucans and MOS on performance, gut health, and salmon lice resistance in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) fed sunflower and soybean meal. *Aquaculture*, 305, 109-116.

REID, S. G., BERNIER, N. J. & PERRY, S. F. 1998. The adrenergic stress response in fish: control of catecholamine storage and release. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology*, 120, 1-27.

RELIĆ, R., HRISTOV, S., VUČINIĆ, M. M., POLEKSIĆ, V. & MARKOVIĆ, Z. 2010. Principles of fish welfare assessment in farm rearing conditions. Journal of Agricultural Sciences (Belgrade), 55, 273-282.

REY, S., TREASURER, J., PATTILLO, C. & MCADAM, B. J. 2021. Using model selection to choose a size-based condition index that is consistent with operational welfare indicators. *Journal of Fish Biology*.

RINGØ, E., ZHOU, Z., VECINO, J. G., WADSWORTH, S., ROMERO, J., KROGDAHL, Å., OLSEN, R., DIMITROGLOU, A., FOEY, A. & DAVIES, S. 2016. Effect of dietary components on the gut microbiota of aquatic animals. A never-ending story? *Aquaculture nutrition*, 22, 219-282.

ROALKVAM, I., DRØNEN, K., DAHLE, H. & WERGELAND, H. 2019. Microbial communities in a flow-through fish farm for lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) during healthy rearing conditions. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 10, 1594.

ROESELERS, G., MITTGE, E. K., STEPHENS, W. Z., PARICHY, D. M., CAVANAUGH, C. M., GUILLEMIN, K. & RAWLS, J. F. 2011. Evidence for a core gut microbiota in the zebrafish. *The ISME journal*, *5*, 1595-1608.

ROMBOUT, J. H., ABELLI, L., PICCHIETTI, S., SCAPIGLIATI, G. & KIRON, V. 2011. Teleost intestinal immunology. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 31, 616-626.

ROMERO, J., RINGØ, E. & MERRIFIELD, D. L. 2014. The gut microbiota of fish. Aquaculture nutrition: Gut health, probiotics and prebiotics, 75-100.

ROSE, J. D. 2002. The neurobehavioral nature of fishes and the question of awareness and pain. *Reviews in Fisheries Science*, 10, 1-38.

ROSE, J. D., ARLINGHAUS, R., COOKE, S. J., DIGGLES, B. K., SAWYNOK, W., STEVENS, E. D. & WYNNE, C. D. 2014. Can fish really feel pain? Fish and Fisheries, 15, 97-133.

ROTH, M. 2000. The availability and use of chemotherapeutic sea lice control products. *Contributions to Zoology*, 69, 109-118.

ROTH, M., RICHARDS, R. H., DOBSON, D. P. & RAE, G. H. 1996. Field trials on the efficacy of the organophosphorus compound azamethiphos for the control of sea lice (Copepoda: Caligidae) infestations of farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Aquaculture*, 140, 217-239.

RSPCA 2018. RSPCA Standards for Farmed Atlantic Salmon. Horsham, UK: Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.

RSPCA 2020. RSPCA Welfare Standards for farmed rainbow trout.

RSPCA 2021. RSPCA Welfare Standards for Farmed Atlantic Salmon.

RSPCA. Animal Sentience: science, policy and 'real world' application. 2019 Friends House.

SAMPAIO, F. D. & FREIRE, C. A. 2016. An overview of stress physiology of fish transport: changes in water quality as a function of transport duration. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17, 1055-1072.

SAMSING, F., JOHNSEN, I., TREML, E. A. & DEMPSTER, T. 2019. Identifying 'firebreaks' to fragment dispersal networks of a marine parasite. *International journal for parasitology*, 49, 277-286.

SARAIVA, J. L., ARECHAVALA-LOPEZ, P., CASTANHEIRA, M. F., VOLSTORF, J. & HEINZPETER STUDER, B. 2019. A global assessment of welfare in farmed fishes: The FishEthoBase. Fishes, 4, 30.

SCHOLZ, F., GLOSVIK, H. & MARCOS-LÓPEZ, M. 2018. Cleaner fish health in: Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. E. (ed.) *Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications*. Sheffield: 5M Publishing Ltd.

SCHRECK, C. B., TORT, L., FARRELL, A. P. & BRAUNER, C. J. 2016. Biology of stress in fish, Academic Press.

SEGNER, H., SUNDH, H., BUCHMANN, K., DOUXFILS, J., SUNDELL, K. S., MATHIEU, C., RUANE, N., JUTFELT, F., TOFTEN, H. & VAUGHAN, L. 2012. Health of farmed fish: its relation to fish welfare and its utility as welfare indicator. *Fish physiology and biochemistry*, 38, 85-105.

SHANNON, C. E. 1948. A mathematical theory of communication. ACM SIGMOBILE mobile computing and communications review, 5, 3-55.

SKIRNISDOTTIR, S., OLAFSDOTTIR, G., OLAFSSON, K., JENDROSSEK, T., AP DAFYDD LLOYD, H., HELYAR, S., PAMPOULIE, C., DANIELSDOTTIR, A. K. & KASPER, J. M. 2013. Twenty-two novel microsatellite loci for lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus). *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 5, 177-179.

SKJELVAREID, M. H., BREILAND, M. S. & MORTENSEN, A. 2018. Ultrasound as potential inhibitor of salmon louse infestation—A small-scale study. *Aquaculture Research*, 49, 2684-2692.

SMÅGE, S. B., FRISCH, K., BREVIK, Ø. J., WATANABE, K. & NYLUND, A. 2016. First isolation, identification and characterisation of *Tenacibaculum maritimum* in Norway, isolated from diseased farmed sea lice cleaner fish Cyclopterus lumpus L. *Aquaculture*, 464, 178-184.

SMRIGA, S., SANDIN, S. A. & AZAM, F. 2010. Abundance, diversity, and activity of microbial assemblages associated with coral reef fish guts and feces. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 73, 31-42.

SNEDDON, L. U. 2003. The evidence for pain in fish: the use of morphine as an analgesic. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 83, 153-162.

SOLGAARD, H. S. & YANG, Y. 2011. Consumers' perception of farmed fish and willingness to pay for fish welfare. *British Food Journal*.

SOMMERSET, I., JENSEN, B. B., BORNØ, G., HAUKAAS, A. & BRUN, E. B. 2021. The Health Situation in Norwegian Aquaculture 2020. *In:* INSTITUTE, N. V. (ed.) *Norwegian Veterinary Institute annual summary of fish health in Norway.*

SRUC, R. 2018. Understanding the Relative Cost-Effectiveness of Sea Lice Management Measures for Farmed Salmon Production in Scotland. *In:* RURAL ECONOMY, E. A. S. (ed.). Edinburgh: Scottish Government.

STAVEN, F. R., NORDEIDE, J. T., GESTO, M., ANDERSEN, P., PATEL, D. M. & KRISTENSEN, T. 2021. Behavioural and physiological responses of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) exposed to Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) sensory cues. *Aquaculture*, 737066.

STAVEN, F. R., NORDEIDE, J. T., IMSLAND, A. K., ANDERSEN, P., IVERSEN, N. S. & KRISTENSEN, T. 2019. Is habituation measurable in lumpfish Cyclopterus lumpus when used as cleaner fish in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar aquaculture? *Frontiers in veterinary science*, *6*, 227.

STEIN, D. L. 1986. Cyclopteridae. *In:* WHITEHEAD, P. J. P., BAUCHOT, M.L., HUREAU, J.C., NIELSEN, J., TORTONESE, E. (EDS.) (ed.) *Fishes of the North-eastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean. UNESCO, Vol. III.* Paris.

STEINARSON, A. & ÁRNASON, T. 2018. Rearing of cleaner fish in Iceland. In: Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. E. (ed.) *Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications*. 5M Publishing Ltd.

STIEN, L. H., DEMPSTER, T., BUI, S., GLAROPOULOS, A., FOSSEIDENGEN, J. E., WRIGHT, D. W. & OPPEDAL, F. 2016. 'Snorkel'sea lice barrier technology reduces sea lice loads on harvest-sized Atlantic salmon with minimal welfare impacts. *Aquaculture*, 458, 29-37.

STIEN, L. H., NILSSON, J., HEVRØY, E. M., OPPEDAL, F., KRISTIANSEN, T. S., LIEN, A. M. & FOLKEDAL, O. 2012. Skirt around a salmon sea cage to reduce infestation of salmon lice resulted in low oxygen levels. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 51, 21-25.

STIEN, L., STØRKERSEN, K. & GÅSNES, S. 2020. Analyse av dødelighetsdata fra spørreundersøkelse om velferd hos rensefisk [Analysis of mortality numbers from survey about welfare in cleaner fish]. Institute of Marine Research, Rapport fra Havforskningen, 2020–6. Retrieved on October 29, 2020.

STONE, J., BOYD, S., SOMMERVILLE, C. & RAE, G. 2002. An evaluation of freshwater bath treatments for the control of sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Krøyer), infections in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. *Journal of fish diseases*, 25, 371-373.

STONE, J., SUTHERLAND, I., SOMMERVILLE, C., RICHARDS, R. & VARMA, K. 1999. The efficacy of emamectin benzoate as an oral treatment of sea lice, Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Kroyer), infestations in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 22, 261-270.

STOTT, G. 1981. What is animal stress and how is it measured? Journal of animal science, 52, 150-153.

STRANDEN, A. 2020. Norwegian fish farmers reprimanded for poor treatment of cleaner fish. *sciencenorway. com. forskning. no.*

SUDHEESH, P. S., AL-GHABSHI, A., AL-MAZROOEI, N. & AL-HABSI, S. 2012. Comparative pathogenomics of bacteria causing infectious diseases in fish. *International Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 2012.

SUMPTER, D. J., KRAUSE, J., JAMES, R., COUZIN, I. D. & WARD, A. J. 2008. Consensus decision making by fish. Current Biology, 18, 1773-1777.

SUTER, H. C. & HUNTINGFORD, F. A. 2002. Eye colour in juvenile Atlantic salmon: effects of social status, aggression and foraging success. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 61, 606-614.

SUTHERLAND, B. J., COVELLO, J. M., FRIEND, S. E., POLEY, J. D., KOCZKA, K. W., PURCELL, S. L., MACLEOD, T. L., DONOVAN, B. R., PINO, J. & GONZÁLEZ-VECINO, J. L. 2017. Host– parasite transcriptomics during immunostimulant-enhanced rejection of salmon lice (Lepeophtheirus salmonis) by Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Facets*, 2, 477-495.

TALWAR, C., NAGAR, S., LAL, R. & NEGI, R. K. 2018. Fish gut microbiome: current approaches and future perspectives. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 58, 397-414.

TARNECKI, A. M., BURGOS, F. A., RAY, C. L. & ARIAS, C. R. 2017. Fish intestinal microbiome: diversity and symbiosis unravelled by metagenomics. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *123*, *2-17*.

THAVASU, P., LONGHURST, S., JOEL, S., SLEVIN, M. & BALKWILL, F. 1992. Measuring cytokine levels in blood. Importance of anticoagulants, processing, and storage conditions. *Journal of immunological methods*, 153, 115.

THORSTEINSSON, V. 1981. The ageing validation of the lumpsucker (Cyclopterus lumpus) and the age composition of the lumpsucker in Icelandic lumpsucker fisheries. *International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES CM)*, 26.

TOCHER, J. A., DICK, J. R., BRON, J., SHINN, A. & TOCHER, D. R. 2010. Lipid and fatty acid composition of parasitic caligid copepods belonging to the genus Lepeophtheirus. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 156, 107-114.

TOENSHOFF, E. R., KVELLESTAD, A., MITCHELL, S. O., STEINUM, T., FALK, K., COLQUHOUN, D. J. & HORN, M. 2012. A novel betaproteobacterial agent of gill epitheliocystis in seawater farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *PloS one*, 7, e32696.

TOLÅS, A. H. P. 2020. Bacteriophages targeting pathogenic bacteria isolated from lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus L.*) and Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Masther thesis, University of Bergen.

TOMA, L., SHRESTHA, S., LEINONEN, I., BOERLAGE, A., JANSEN, M. D., REVIE, C. & REEVES, A. 2020. Understanding the Relative Cost-Effectiveness of Sea Lice Management Measures for Farmed Salmon Production in Scotland. In: RURAL ECONOMY, E. A. S. S. R. (ed.). Edinburgh: The Scottish Government.

TONI, M., MANCIOCCO, A., ANGIULLI, E., ALLEVA, E., CIONI, C. & MALAVASI, S. 2019. Review: Assessing fish welfare in research and aquaculture, with a focus on European directives. Animal, 13, 161-170.

TORRISSEN, O., JONES, S., ASCHE, F., GUTTORMSEN, A., SKILBREI, O. T., NILSEN, F., HORSBERG, T. E. & JACKSON, D. 2013. Salmon lice–impact on wild salmonids and salmon aquaculture. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 36, 171-194.

TREASURER, J. & FELEDI, T. 2014. The Physical Condition and Welfare of Five Species of Wildcaught Wrasse Stocked under Aquaculture Conditions and when Stocked in Atlantic Salmon, Salmo salar, Production Cages. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 45, 213-219.

TREASURER, J. W. & GRANT, A. 1997. The efficacy of hydrogen peroxide for the treatment of farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. infested with sea lice (Copepoda: Caligidae). *Aquaculture*, 148, 265-275.

TREASURER, J. W. 2018a. Cleaner fish in aquaculture review and looking to the future. In: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. E. (ed.) *Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications*. Sheffield, UK: 5M publications.

TREASURER, J., NOBLE, C., PUVANENDRAN, V., REY PLANELLAS, S. & IVERSEN, M. H. 2018b. Cleaner fish welfare in: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. E. (ed.) *Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications.* Sheffield: 5M Publishing Ltd.

TREASURER, J., PRICKETT, R., ZIETZ, M., HEMPLEMAN, C. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2018c. Cleaner fish rearing and deployment in the UK in: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. *In:* TREASURER, J. (ed.) *Cleaner fish biology and aquaculture applications*. Sheffield: 5M Publishing Ltd.

TULLY, O. & NOLAN, D. 2002. A review of the population biology and host-parasite interactions of the sea louse Lepeophtheirus salmonis (Copepoda: Caligidae). *Parasitology*, 124, 165-182.

TURNBULL, J. & KADRI, S. 2007. Safeguarding the many guises of farmed fish welfare. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 75, 173-182.

TURNBULL, J., RICHARDS, R. & ROBERTSON, D. 1996. Gross, histological and scanning electron microscopic appearance of dorsal fin rot in farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., parr. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 19, 415-427.

UNTERGASSER, A., CUTCUTACHE, I., KORESSAAR, T., YE, J., FAIRCLOTH, B. C., REMM, M. & ROZEN, S. G. 2012. Primer3 - new capabilities and interfaces. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40, e115-e115.

UREN WEBSTER, T. M., RODRIGUEZ-BARRETO, D., CONSUEGRA, S. & GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. 2020b. Cortisol-related signatures of stress in the fish microbiome. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 11, 1621.

UREN WEBSTER, T. M., RODRIGUEZ-BARRETO, D., MARTIN, S. A., VAN OOSTERHOUT, C., OROZCO-TERWENGEL, P., CABLE, J., HAMILTON, A., GARCIA DE LEANIZ, C. & CONSUEGRA, S. 2018b. Contrasting effects of acute and chronic stress on the transcriptome, epigenome, and immune response of Atlantic salmon. Epigenetics, 13, 1191-1207.

VAN DER MEEREN, T., OLSEN, R. E., HAMRE, K. & FYHN, H. J. 2008. Biochemical composition of copepods for evaluation of feed quality in production of juvenile marine fish. *Aquaculture*, 274, 375-397.

VAN OOSTERHOUT, C., HUTCHINSON, W. F., WILLS, D. P. & SHIPLEY, P. 2004. MICRO-CHECKER: software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 4, 535-538.

VANDEPUTTE, M., MAUGER, S. & DUPONT-NIVET, M. 2006. An evaluation of allowing for mismatches as a way to manage genotyping errors in parentage assignment by exclusion. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 6, 265-267.

VASCONCELOS, P., MONTEIRO, C., SANTOS, M. & GASPAR, M. 2004. First record of the lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus Linnaeus, 1758) off the Algarve coast (southern Portugal): southward extension of the species distributional range. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 20, 159-160.

VASCONCELOS, P., MONTEIRO, C., SANTOS, M. & GASPAR, M. 2004. First record of the lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus Linnaeus, 1758) off the Algarve coast (southern Portugal): southward extension of the species distributional range. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 20, 159-160.

VATSOS, I. 2017. Standardizing the microbiota of fish used in research. *Laboratory animals*, 51, 353-364.

VAUGHAN, D. B., GRUTTER, A. S., COSTELLO, M. J. & HUTSON, K. S. 2017. Cleaner fishes and shrimp diversity and a re-evaluation of cleaning symbioses. *Fish and Fisheries*, 18, 698-716.

VERA CRUZ, E. M. & TAULI, M. P. 2015. Eye color pattern during isolation indicates stress-coping style in Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus L. *Sci. Res. Knowl*, **3**, 181-186.

VOLPATO, G. L. 2009. Challenges in assessing fish welfare. *Ilar Journal*, 50, 329-337.

VOLPATO, G. L., GONÇALVES-DE-FREITAS, E. & FERNANDES-DE- CASTILHO, M. 2007. Insights into the concept of fish welfare. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 75, 165-171.

VOLPATO, G. L., LUCHIARI, A., DUARTE, C., BARRETO, R. & RAMANZINI, G. 2003. Eye color as an indicator of social rank in the fish Nile tilapia. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 36, 1659-1663.

WAAGBØ, R., JØRGENSEN, S. M., TIMMERHAUS, G., BRECK, O. & OLSVIK, P. A. 2017. Shortterm starvation at low temperature prior to harvest does not impact the health and acute stress response of adult Atlantic salmon. *PeerJ*, 5, e3273.

WAGNER, G., MCKINLEY, R., BJØRN, P. & FINSTAD, B. 2003. Physiological impact of sea lice on swimming performance of Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 62, 1000-1009.

WANG, J., JARAMILLO-TORRES, A., LI, Y., KORTNER, T. M., GAJARDO, K., BREVIK, Ø. J., JAKOBSEN, J. V. & KROGDAHL, Å. 2021. Microbiota in intestinal digesta of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), observed from late freshwater stage until one year in seawater, and effects of functional ingredients: a case study from a commercial sized research site in the Arctic region. *Animal microbiome*, 3, 1-16.

WEBSTER, J. 1994. Animal welfare. A cool eye towards Eden., (Blackwell Science: Oxford, UK).

WEISS, S., VAN TREUREN, W., LOZUPONE, C., FAUST, K., FRIEDMAN, J., DENG, Y., XIA, L. C., XU, Z. Z., URSELL, L. & ALM, E. J. 2016. Correlation detection strategies in microbial data sets vary widely in sensitivity and precision. *The ISME journal*, 10, 1669-1681.

WENDELAAR BONGA, S. E. 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiological reviews, 77, 591-625.

WHITTAKER, B. A. 2019. *Quantifying phenotypic and genetic variation of the lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus): application towards the sustainable aquaculture of cleaner fish.* Doctor of Philosophy, Swansea University.

WHITTAKER, B. A., CONSUEGRA, S. & DE LEANIZ, C. G. 2018. Genetic and phenotypic differentiation of lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) across the North Atlantic: implications for conservation and aquaculture. *PeerJ*, 6, e5974.

WHITTAKER, B. A., CONSUEGRA, S. & DE LEANIZ, C. G. 2021. Personality profiling may help select better cleaner fish for sea-lice control in salmon farming. *bioRxiv*.

WOOTTEN, R., SMITH, J. W. & NEEDHAM, E. 1982. Aspects of the biology of the parasitic copepods Lepeophtheirus salmonis and Caligus elongatus on farmed salmonids, and their treatment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Section B: Biological Sciences*, 81, 185-197.

YUKGEHNAISH, K., KUMAR, P., SIVACHANDRAN, P., MARIMUTHU, K., ARSHAD, A., PARAY, B. A. & AROCKIARAJ, J. 2020. Gut microbiota metagenomics in aquaculture: Factors influencing gut microbiome and its physiological role in fish. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 12, 1903-1927.

Supplementary tables

Table S2.1. Reported use and utility of lumpfish welfare indicators based on the results of a questionnaire given to 53 participants attending the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture (Swansea, 2019). Pseudo-medians and 95% confidence intervals are shown for the Likert-scale responses (1: Not useful, 2: Rarely useful, 3: Moderately useful, 4: Useful, 5: Very useful).

Welfare indicator	Reported	n	(Pseudo)	95%	р
	use		Median	CI	
Fin damage	96.8 %	53	5.0	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Mortality	80.6 %	52	4.5	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Suction disc deformities	80.6 %	50	4.5	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Skin damage	77.4 %	53	4.5	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Eye damage	77.4 %	51	4.5	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Condition factor	61.3 %	53	4.0	4.0-4.5	< 0.001
Poor growth	61.3 %	53	4.0	4.0-4.0	< 0.001
Disease/Parasites	61.2 %	51	4.5	4.5-5.0	< 0.001
Body deformities	58.1 %	52	4.0	4.0-4.5	< 0.001
Operculum/gill damage	51.6 %	50	4.5	4.0-4.5	< 0.001
Body/eye darkening	32.2 %	43	4.0	4.0-4.5	< 0.001
Blood parameters	29.0 %	48	4.0	3.5-4.0	< 0.001

Table S2.2. Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) performance based on the results of a questionnaire given to 8 farmers that scored 150 lumpfish at 2 commercial sites. Pseudo-medians and 95% confidence intervals are shown for the Likert-scale responses (1: Strongly disagree, 2: Disagree, 3: Neutral, 4: Agree, 5: Strongly agree).

Performance trait	n	(Pseudo)	95% CI	р
		Median		
Q1. Practicality	8	4.0	4.0-4.0	0.008
Q2. Efficiency	8	5.0	5.0-5.0	0.008
Q3. Ease of implementation	8	4.0	4.0-4.0	0.008
Q4. Willingness to use	8	4.0	3.5-4.5	0.012

Table S2.3. Model selection for the validation of the individual-based OWIs, using principal components (PC1 and PC2) and size (TL) as predictors of relative weight at pre- (WR_{pre}) and post- (WR_{post}) deployment. Only models with delta < 2 are represented. Included are degrees of freedom (df), log likelihood (logLik), corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), delta and model weight.

Model	PC1	PC2	TL	PC1:PC2	PC1:TL	PC2:TL	PC1:PC2:TL	df	logLik	AICc	Delta	Weight
Relative weight at pre-deployment (WR _{pre)}												
WR _{pre} 56	х	х	х		Х	Х		7	-265.69	547.5	0.00	0.579
WR _{pre} 64	х	х	х	Х	Х	Х		8	-265.20	549.2	1.71	0.246
Relative w	eight at	t post-de	eployn	nent (WR _{post})							
WR _{post} 5			х					3	-120.98	248.7	0.00	0.407

Table S2.4. Model selection for the validation of the individual-based OWIs, using principal components (PC1 and PC2) and size (TL) as predictors of plasma cortisol levels at pre- ($Cort_{pre}$) and post- ($Cort_{post}$) deployment. Only models with delta < 2 are represented. Included are degrees of freedom (df), log likelihood (logLik), corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), delta and model weight.

Model	PC1	PC2	TL	PC1:PC2	PC1:TL	PC2:TL	PC1:PC2:TL	df	logLik	AICc	Delta	Weight
Cortisol at pre-deployment (Cort _{pre)}												
Cort _{pre} 1	Х							2	-71.66	148.03	0.00	0.385
Cort _{pre} 2								3	-70.77	149.04	1.01	0.232
Cortisol at	post-de	eployme	ent (Co	ort _{post})								
Cort _{post} 39		Х	Х			X		5	-190.89	393.8	0.00	0.376
Cort _{post} 3		Х						3	-194.39	395.6	1.73	0.158
Cort _{post} 40	Х	Х	х			Х		6	-190.34	395.7	1.84	0.150

Table S3.1. Number of lumpfish stocked at deployment/cage (n=4) and sampled at each time-point (T1: three weeks, n=160; T2: three months, n=160) for each of the genetic stocks and families.

Stock/family	Deployment	T1 (three weeks)	T2 (three months)
Norwegian	2754	117	119
English	2256	43	41
English family 1	752	6	8
English family 2	752	35	30
English family 4	752	2	3

Date	Sea temperature (°C)	Cage	No. of salmon	Avg. weight (g)	No. of lumpfish	Stocking density (%)
19/10/2018	12.70	3	48,227	165.9	5,010	10.4
(Lumpfish		4	49,661	163.9	5,010	10.1
deployment)		7	51,143	166.8	5,010	9.8
		8	51,237	163.9	5,010	9.8
06/11/2018	11.69	3	48,052	225.6	4,962	10.3
(T1: three		4	49,312	221.3	4,909	9.9
weeks pd)		7	50,711	229.2	4,976	9.8
1		8	50,876	225.6	4,986	9.8
11/01/2019	9.46	3	47,393	692.1	4,723	9.9
(T2: three		4	48,532	655.5	4,625	9.7
months pd)		7	50,032	638.4	4,767	9.5
1 /		8	50,165	633.1	4,785	9.5

Table S3.2. Summary information about the cohabiting salmon and lumpfish stocking densities in each cage at deployment and each of the time-points (T1,T2). pd = post-deployment.

Locus ID	Primer sequence (5' 3')	Repeated	Allele size	Origin	Dye	N _A
		motifs	range (bp)			
NG_Clu121	F: GGTGCACATCACCTCACATC	2 4	250-286	EST	NED	11
	R: TGCATCTCCTCACCATGAAA	L				
NG_Clu133	F: GCAGAGGTGAGCCTTAGGA	C 4	198-314	Genomic	6-FAM	22
	R: CACAAGTCTCTGCGCCATAA	Α				
NG_Clu202	F: AATGAAAGAGGGAGCCACA	G 4	308-360	Genomic	6-FAM	8
	R: CATCACAGTTGGCGAGAGT	Ĵ				
NG_Clu226	F: GTTCGATTTCCAGGAACGAG	2 4	140-200	EST	6-FAM	14
	R: ATATCCAACACCCGGATGA	4				
NG_Clu277	F: CCAAAGCAGCATGGGATAT	Г 4	290-362	EST	VIC	7
	R: ATGGGCGTGTTATCCTGAA	Ĵ				
NG_Clu330	F: TCCTCCTCTTCCTCCCTTTC	4	100-128	EST	VIC	6
	R: CGGCGGAGCATAAAGATAA	А				
NG_Clu344	F: GATGACTGAGGAAGAAGCG	G 4	185-241	EST	VIC	8
	R: AACTGGACCTCCTTGTGTCC	ŕ				
NG_Clu355	F: TCCATCCTCAACCCACTTTC	4	280-380	EST	NED	17
	R: AACAAATTAGCAACCCACG	С				
NG_Clu410	F: AGATCAGCGTCCTTAAGCCA	A 4	120-172	EST	NED	6
	R: CGCGACCCTAATGAGGATA	A				
NG_Clu800	F: AGCCATCACTCCCTCTTCCT	4	240-292	Genomic	VIC	8
	R: AAGACCGGATGTTTCCCAT	-				

Table S3.3. Lumpfish tetranucleotide sequences used to generate the microsatellite panel M1-10 mix. NA: Number of alleles per locus.
Multiplex	Locus ID	Primer sequence (5' 3')	Repeated motifs	Allele size range (bp)	Dye
M2-4mix	Clu29	F: CGCGCGGTCAGCTCATCCTTAG	2	136-150	PET
		R: TCGCGTGACGGACAGGTTTCG			
	Clu34	F: TCTGCGATAGTAGCGTCAGGGTTC	2	191-225	NED
		R: AGGCCGGCTGATCAAGAGCAC			
	Clu36	F: CACGGCGAGTCAGACGAGGC	3	191-211	6-FAM
		R: GCTGCCGCTACTCCGCACAG			
	Clu45	F: GCGCAGGAATGCGCCTGAAG	2	274-298	PET
		R: ACCGCAGCTTGTTGGGCAGG			
M3-6mix	Clu12	F: CCACAACCGGTGGGTCCCG	2	200-208	6-FAM
		R: ACGCTCCTTCTGATCTTCGCCC			
	Clu26	F: CGAGAGAGGAGAACGCACGGC	2	103-125	6-FAM
		R: GGCACAAGTGCATGGGCACG			
	Clu33	F: TCATGCAAGCATTTGAGCGCCG	2	179-197	VIC
		R: TGTTGCCTTGTAACTGCGCTTGAG			
	Clu37	F: CTTCACAGGTCGGGCGACGG	2	218-234	PET
		R: GCACAGCGATGACGCTTGCAG			
	Clu40	F: TGGGCATACAGGTCTGAACACGC	2	254-276	NED
		R: GCCACCTGCTGCAGCCTCTC			
	Clu44	F: CCGGCCCAGCCTGCCTTATG	2	279-295	6-FAM
		R: TGCCTGGAAACAGTGTATGGCAC	_		

Table S3.4. Lumpfish microsatellite sequences used to generate the microsatellite panels M2-4 mix and M3-6 mix .

Table S3.5. Model selection table for welfare model (Welf, LOWSI scores) with predictors of lumpfish origin (Or), sampling time point (SP) and size as total length (TL). Included are degrees of freedom (df), log likelihood (logLik), corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), delta and model weight. Retained model is shown in bold.

Model	Or	SP	TL	Or:SP	Or:TL	SP:TL	Or:SP:TL	df	logLik	AICc	Delta	Weight
Welf.7		X	X					3	-439.79	885.7	0.00	0.282
Welf.39		Х	X			х		4	-439.19	886.5	0.83	0.186
Welf.8	х	Х	X					4	-439.69	887.5	1.83	0.113
Welf.40	х	х	х			х		5	-442.58	895.3	2.51	0.09

Table S3.6. Model selection table for sea lice ingestion model (SLI, counts) with predictors of lumpfish origin (Or), sampling time point (SP) and size as total length (TL). Included are degrees of freedom (df), log likelihood (logLik), corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), delta and model weight. Retained model is shown in bold.

Model	Or	SP	TL	df	logLik	AICc	Delta	Weight
SLI.7		X	X	3	-79.91	165.9	0.00	0.462
SLI.3		х		2	-81.47	167.0	1.08	0.270
SLI.8	Х	х	х	4	-79.89	167.9	2.01	0.169

Table S3.7. Model selection table for pellet ingestion model (PI, counts) with predictors of lumpfish origin (Or), sampling time point (SP) and size as total length (TL). Included are degrees of freedom (df), log likelihood (logLik), corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), delta and model weight. Retained model is shown in bold.

Model	Or	SP	TL	df	logLik	AICc	Delta	Weight
PI.8	X	X	X	4	-1190.27	2388.7	0.00	1
PI.4	х	Х		3	-1203.20	2412.5	23.80	0

Table S4.1. Defined microbial composition (theoretical %) in the ZymoBIOMICS® Microbial Community Standards (I and II), with species and concentrations contained, used as a control for the preparation of 16S metagenomic libraries.

Microbial	Community	Microbia	l Community
DNA St	andard I	DNA S	tandard II
gDNA	16S only	gDNA	16S only
89.1	95.9	12	14.1
8.9	2.8	12	4.2
0.89	1.2	12	17.4
0.89	NA	2	NA
0.089	0.069	12	10.1
0.089	0.07	12	10.4
0.0089	0.012	12	18.4
0.00089	0.000067	12	9.9
0.00089	NA	2	NA
0.000089	0.0001	12	15.5
	Microbial DNA St gDNA 89.1 8.9 0.89 0.89 0.089 0.089 0.0089 0.00089 0.00089 0.00089 0.00089	Microbial Community DNA Standard I gDNA 16S only 89.1 95.9 8.9 2.8 0.89 1.2 0.89 0.069 0.089 0.069 0.0089 0.012 0.00089 0.000067 0.00089 NA	Microbial Community Microbial DNA Standard I DNA S gDNA 16S only gDNA 89.1 95.9 12 8.9 2.8 12 0.89 1.2 12 0.89 NA 2 0.089 0.069 12 0.089 0.07 12 0.0089 0.012 12 0.00089 0.00067 12 0.00089 NA 2 0.00089 0.0001 12

Table S4.2. Percentage of each food item (ordered by abundance) contributing to the diet composition of lumpfish (n=60) sampled at the sea cage. The 'Crustacean' category included gammarids, caprellids and copepods while the 'Fish' category was constituted by tissue, scales and prey.

Food item	Percentage
Crustaceans – Gammarids	73.4 %
Unknown/unidentifiable	11.5 %
Formulated feed (pellets)	9.21 %
Seaweed	1.65 %
Fish – Tissue	1.43 %
Hydrozoans	1.13 %
Crustaceans – Copepods	0.87 %
Fish – Scales	0.26 %
Plastics	0.20 %
Sea lice	0.13 %
Crustaceans – Caprellids	0.09 %
Bivalves	0.09 %
Fish – Prey	0.04%

Table S5.1. Detailed reagents and volumes for the 16S rRNA metagenomic library preparation with a few adjustments, employed for both chapters 2 and 3. The number of cycles varied between PCR 1 (x30) and PCR2 (x7).

1 st stage PCR (25µl)*	2 nd stage PCR (27.5µl)**	Thermal Cycler program
12.5µl 2x InvitrogenPlatinum TM	12.5µl 2x Invitrogen Platinum TM	Activation: 95°C (3 min)
8µl microbial DNA	2.5µl DNA (product PCR 1)	95°C (30 sec)
0.5µl F515 primer (10µM)	1.25µl Nextera N7xx Index	55°C (30 sec) $x30^*$ $x7^{**}$
0.5µl R806 primer (10µM)	1.25µl Nextera S5xx Index	72°C (30 sec)
3.5µl molecular water	10µl molecular water	Elongation: 72°C (5 min)

Supplementary figures



Figure S2.1. Scoring (0–1) of external body damage (0: no external lesions, 1: presence of skin lesions such as reddening, abrasion, wounds and ulcers).

Figure S2.2. Scoring (0–4) of fin damage (0: fin in good condition, with no damage, splitting, thickening or deformities present; 1: minor damage affecting up to 25% of the fin area; 2: moderate damage affecting 25–50% of the fin; 3: substantial damage affecting 50–75% of the fin; 4: severe damage, muscle tissue frequently exposed, affecting more than 75% of the fin). Image forscores 3–4 for the dorsal, anal, and pectoral fins were reconstructed with Photoshop, as these scoreswere not found in the test.



Score 0	Score 1	Score 2
L R	L R	L R

Figure S2.3. Scoring (0–2) of three eye conditions (0: eyes in good condition with no damage, exophthalmia or cataracts; 1: unilateral damage, exophthalmia or cataract; 2: bilateral damage, exophthalmia or cataract). Image for score 2 was reconstructed in Photoshop as this score was not found in the test sample.

Score 0	Score 1	Score 2	Score 3	Score 4
L R	L R	L R	L R	L R
	00	0		0

Figure S2.4. Scoring (0–4) of eye darkening (0: absence of darkening in the eye sclera; 1: average darkening affects up to 25% of the eye sclera; 2: average darkening affects 25–50% of the eye sclera; 3: average darkening affects 50–75% of the eye sclera; 4: average darkening affects 75–100% of the eye sclera). Images for score 0 was reconstructed in Photoshop as this score was not found in the test sample.



Figure S2.5. Scoring (0–4) of five suction disc conditions (symmetry, indentations, depressions, papillae development and curling of pectoral fins). *a. Symmetry*. 0 - right and left sides of the suction disc are symmetrical; 1 - minor asymmetry affecting up to 25% of the suction disc; 2 - moderate asymmetry affecting 25–50% of the suction disc; 3 - substantial asymmetry affecting 50–75% of the suction disc; 4 - severe asymmetry affecting more than 75% of the suction disc area. *b. Indentation* (i.e. inward bending or folding of the suction cup, usually towards the centre). 0 – no indentations present; 1 - minor indentation affecting up to 25% of the suction disc; 2 -moderate

indentation affecting 25–50% of the suction disc; 3 - substantial indentationaffecting 50–75% of the suction disc; 4 - severe indentation affecting more than 75% of the suction disc area. c. Depression. 0 - suction disc is flat, with no depression); 1 -minor depression affecting up to 25% of the suction disc; 2 - moderate depression affecting 25–50% of the suction disc; 3 - substantial depression affecting 50–75% of the suction disc; 4 - severe depression affecting more than 75% of the suction disc area. d. Papillae *development.* 0 – all muscular papillae (pads) are present and well developed; 1 – minor underdevelopment, up to 25% of the papillae are under-developed or absent; 2 - moderate under-development, 25–50% of the papillae are under-developed or absent; 3 – substantial under-development, 50–75% of the papillae are under-developed or absent; 4 – severe under-development, more than 75% of the papillae are underdeveloped or absent. e. Curling/deformity of pectoral fins. 0 - the ventral side of pectoral fins is well developed, not curled, and expose the entire suctioncup; 1 – minor deformity, up to 25% of the pectoral fin area is deformed or curled; 2 – moderate deformity, 25–50% of the pectoral fin area is deformed or curled; 3 – substantial deformity, 50–75% of the pectoral fin area is deformed or curled; 4 – severedeformity, more than 75% of the pectoral fin area is deformed or curled and cover theentire suction disc. Aggregated suction disc scores (0-20): Class A – Perfect suction disc (total score = 0). Symmetrical, without indentations, flat, with well-developed papillae and with pectoral fins that do not obliterate the suction cup. Class B - Mild deformity (total score 1–5). Slight asymmetry, with some depression and/or indentations and minor under-development of the papillae or slight curling of the pectoral fins. Class C – Moderate deformity (total score 6-10). Moderate asymmetry, depressions and indentations, and moderate under-development of the papillae and curling of the pectoral fins that hide parts of the suction cup. Class D – Substantial deformity (total score 11–15). Substantial asymmetry, with deep depressions and indentations, substantial under-development of the papillae, and marked curling of the pectoral fins that hide most of the suction cup. Class E - Severe deformity (total score > 15), nonfunctional suction disc. Severe asymmetry, with severe depressions, indentations and under-development of the papillae and totally deformed or curled pectoral fins that cover all the suction cup.



Stage 1 - Lumpfish Larvae (0-1g)

Figure S2.6. a. Percentile length-weight charts for farmed lumpfish at larval stage (S1: 0-1g) to allow the quick identification of normal (blackline, $W_R > 90\%$), underweight (orange line, $W_R = 90-75\%$) and emaciated (red line, $W_R < 75\%$) fish.



Stage 2 - Pre-deployment juveniles (1-10g)

Figure S2.6. b. Percentile length-weight charts for farmed lumpfish at pre-deployment stage (S2: 1-10g) to allow the quick identification of normal (black line, $W_R > 90\%$), underweight (orange line, $W_R = 90-75\%$) and emaciated (red line, $W_R < 75\%$) fish.



Stage 3 - Pre-deployment lumpfish (+10g)

Figure S2.6. c. Percentile length-weight charts for farmed lumpfish at pre-deployment stage (S3: >10g) to allow the quick identification of normal (black line, $W_R > 90\%$), underweight (orange line, $W_R = 90-75\%$) and emaciated (red line, $W_R < 75\%$) fish.



Stage S4 - Post-deployment lumpfish

Figure S2.6. c. Percentile length-weight charts for farmed lumpfish at post-deployment stage (S4: sea cages) to allow the quick identification of normal (black line, $W_R > 90\%$), underweight (orange line, $W_R = 90-75\%$) and emaciated (red line, $W_R < 75\%$) fish.



Figure S2.7. Rater effect obtained from the questionnaire given at the 1st Symposium on Welfare in Aquaculture to 53 participants to assess the utility of 12 welfare indicators for lumpfish.



Figure S2.8. Rater effect obtained from the questionnaire given to 8 farmers assessing the performance of the LOWSI through four traits: practicality, efficiency, implementation and willingness to use.



Figure S3.1. Average sea lice count (by life stages) in salmon: (a) Cage 3, (b) Cage 4, (c) Cage 7 and (d) Cage 8. Sampling time points 1 (three weeks) and 2 (three months) are shown by the yellow and blue arrows, respectively. Lumpfish were stocked on 19/10/2018 (*).



Figure S4.1. Weekly average counts (sea lice counts/total fish counted) of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* (juveniles or *Chalimus*, pre-adults, males and females -gravid and non-gravid-) and *Caligus elongatus* of the commercial Scottish cage used in the study, from the start (25/03/2019) to the end (13/10/2019) of the production cycle. Sea water temperatures are represented by the grey line. Lumpfish were sampled on week 24 (blue arrow).



Figure S4.2. Sea lice found in lumpfish stomach contents. Partially digested *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* (a and b). Intact *Caligus elongatus* (c).



Figure S5.1. Weekly sea lice count (average/total salmon counted) at the studied salmon cage, from the start (27/02/2017) to the end (25/09/2018) of the production cycle. Lumpfish were stocked at 4% on 25/05/2018 (green, first arrow) and sampled at the end of the salmon cycle (blue, second arrow). All stages of *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* (juveniles, pre-adults, adult males and adult females) as well as *Caligus elongatus*, with a strong seasonal pattern, were recorded. The grey line shows sea water temperatures.



Figure S5.2. a. Mixed *Lepeophtheirus salmonis* and *Caligus elongatus* partially digested specimens recovered from lumpfish stomachs. b. Crustacean gammarids/caprellids, hydroid biofouling and sea lice found in lumpfish stomachs.

Ethics Approval

Ethics Approval Number: SU-Ethics-Student-110618/713

Student Deta	nils
Name:	Carolina Gutierrez Rabadan
Student Number:	
Level:	8 Pasareh Studu
Project Supervisor:	Prof. Carlos Garcia De Leaniz
Projects Ethics A	ssessment Status
Project Title	Status Approval Number
Photographic Scoring	System for Lumpfish Condition and Welfare
r no coBrabine ocering	Completed
Project Et	hics Assessment
It is mandatory requir	ement to complete this Project Ethics Assessment before starting any project in the College. Any further assessments can be submitted as and when
required. A unique re	erence number will be generated and sent to you by email for each of the completed Ethics Assessment below.
Approval Numb	er: SU-Ethics-Student-110618/713
Reference Num	STU_BIOL_87077_110618095649_1
Status: Complete	d
You will find useful	documents at: Ethics Resources
Project Title: Photog	raphic Scoring System for Lumpfish Condition and Welfare
Project Start Date: 1	/06/2018
Project Duration: 11	06/2019
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 ○ No. STOP. You car	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study make	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor Yes. Go to 2 No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak Yes. Go to 3 No. Tick DECLARA	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 ○ No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak © Yes. Go to 3 ○ No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA @ No. Go to 4	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 ○ No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak © Yes. Go to 3 ○ No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only ○ Yes. Tick DECLARA © No. Go to 4 4. Does your study pop pathogens, environment	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? tion box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. e use of low and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal intal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak © Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA © No. Go to 4 4. Does your study po pathogens, environme O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal intal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 @ No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3 @ No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only @ Yes. Tick DECLARA @ No. Go to 4 4. Does your study po pathogens, environmed @ Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top @ No. Go to 5	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal intal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved.
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA @ No. Go to 4 4. Does your study po pathogens, environme O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top @ No. Go to 5 5. Does your study inv	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal intal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLRARTION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA @ No. Go to 4 4. Does your study po pathogens, environme O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top @ No. Go to 5 5. Does your study inv O Yes. Go to 10	Object Stations below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal ntal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak © Yes. Go to 3 No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA 4. Does your study pop pathogens, environme O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top © No. Go to 5 5. Does your study inv O Yes. Go to 10 © No. Go to 6	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal nutal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor © Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak © Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA © No. Go to 4 4. Does your study por pathogens, environmed O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top © No. Go to 5 5. Does your study inv O Yes. Go to 10 © No. Go to 6 6. Does your study inv	Bock 2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal nutal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects? olve a living vertebrate or cephalopod?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2	bit ations below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? and begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal ntal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLRARTION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects? olve a living vertebrate or cephalopod?
Project Duration: 11, Please respond to que 1. Have you read infor @ Yes. Go to 2 O No. STOP. You car 2. Does the study mak @ Yes. Go to 3 O No. Tick DECLARA 3. Does the study only O Yes. Tick DECLARA @ No. Go to 4 4. Does your study po pathogens, environme O Yes. STOP. Tick DE will appear at the top @ No. Go to 5 5. Does your study inv O Yes. Go to 10 @ No. Go to 6 6. Does your study inv O Yes. Go to 7 @ No. Tick DECLARA	06/2019 stions below as accurately as possible and tick the DECLARATION box at the end of the form before submitting to your supervisor. mation within the University's Research Ethics and Governance Framework document that is relevant to your research? not begin your project without reading it. Then Go to 2. e use of OR generate data? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. make use of data which are already in the public domain? TION box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment. se a potential risk to the environment, such as the escape of invasive species, genetically modified organisms (GMO), work involving human or animal intal contaminants, radioactive material or active outdoor vegetation fires? CLARATION box and Save this form. Complete a Environmental risk review form and submit to the College Ethics Committee using the dedicated link which of this form once saved. olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects? olve humans as the focus of research, or make use of data collected from human subjects? IDN box and Save this form. You can begin your project once your supervisor has reviewed this assessment.

R Scripts

```
#### Chapter 2 ####
```

```
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 2. LOWSI/Datasets")
Quest <- read.csv("QuestSWELA_53.csv")</pre>
library(psych)
# Check the data frame
headTail(Quest)
str(Quest)
summary(Quest)
# Remove rows containing 'Don't know' or Score 0 as an answer
Quest <- Quest[!grep1("0", Quest$Score),]</pre>
summary(Quest)
# Utility variation by OWI
mod1 <- glm (Score ~ WI, data=Quest)</pre>
summary(mod1)
anova(mod1, test="Chisq", type=3)
mod2 <- lm (Score ~ WI, data=Quest)</pre>
summary(mod2)
anova(mod2, test="Chisq")
# Summarise data
xtabs(~ Participant + LikertScore, data=Quest)
XT = xtabs( ~ Participant + LikertScore, data =Quest)
prop.table(XT, margin = 1)
# Welfare Indicator frequency barplot
XT = xtabs(~ LikertScore + WI, data=Quest)
barplot(XT, col="dark gray", xlab="WI Likert", ylab="Frequency")
# Utility variation by OWI
mod1 <- glm (Score ~ WI, data=Quest)</pre>
summary(mod1)
mod2 <- glm (Score ~ WI + Participant, data=Quest)</pre>
summary(mod2)
anova(mod1,mod2)
anova(mod1, test="Chisq", type=3)
anova(mod2, test="Chisq")
# Subset dataset by each welfare indicator
Findam <- subset(Quest, WI=="Fin damage")
Skidam <- subset(Quest, WI=="Skin damage")</pre>
Mort <- subset(Quest, WI=="Mortality")</pre>
Dispar <- subset(Quest, WI=="Disease/Parasites")</pre>
Eyedam <- subset(Quest, WI=="Eye damage")</pre>
Sucdef <- subset(Quest, WI=="Suction cup deformities")</pre>
Opdef <- subset(Quest, WI=="Operculum/Gill damage")</pre>
Bodef <- subset(Quest, WI=="Body deformities")</pre>
```

```
Condfac <- subset(Quest, WI=="Condition factor/Relative size")</pre>
Growth <- subset(Quest, WI=="Poor growth")</pre>
Dark <- subset(Quest, WI=="Body/eye darkening")</pre>
Blood <- subset(Quest, WI=="Blood parameters")</pre>
# Apply Wilcoxon signed-rank test to obtain pseudo-medians with 95%
CI (Table S2.1)
wilcox.test(Findam$score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Skidam$score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Mort$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Dispar$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Eyedam$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Sucdef$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Opdef$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Bodef$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Condfac$score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Growth$score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Dark$score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
wilcox.test(Blood$Score, mu=1, conf.int=TRUE, conf.level=0.95)
### Consensus between participants and rater effect on WI ##########
Quest_SWELA <- read.csv("QuestSWELA_53.csv")</pre>
library(ordinal)
# Remove rows containing 'Don't know' or Score 0 as an answer
Quest_SWELA <- Quest_SWELA[!grep1("0", Quest_SWELA$Score),]</pre>
# Create a new variable for ordered Likert scores (factor)
Quest_SWELA$Score <- factor(Quest_SWELA$Score, ordered=TRUE)</pre>
Quest_SWELA$ordered.Score <- factor(Quest_SWELA$Score,</pre>
                                       levels=c("1","2","3","4","5"),
                                       ordered=TRUE)
# Rater effect SWELA
# Model
m1 <- clm(ordered.Score ~ WI, data=Quest_SWELA)</pre>
summary(m1)
# Mixed model
m1_mixed <- clmm2(ordered.Score ~ WI, random=factor(Participant),
Hess=TRUE.
                   data=Ouest SWELA)
summary(m1_mixed) # AIC=1238.3
m2_mixed <- clmm2(ordered.Score ~ WI + (1|Participant),</pre>
data=Quest_SWELA)
summary(m2_mixed) # AIC=1287.8
ci <- m1_mixed$ranef + qnorm(0.975) * sqrt(m1_mixed$condVar) %0% c(-</pre>
1,1)
ord.re <- order(m1_mixed$ranef)</pre>
ci <- ci[order(m1_mixed$ranef),]</pre>
# Plot rater effect (Fig.S2.7)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
plot(1:53, m1_mixed$ranef[ord.re], axes=FALSE, ylim=range(ci),
xlab="Rater", ylab="Rater effect", pch=19)
axis(1, at=seq(0,55,by=5), labels=seq(0,55,by=5))
```

```
axis(2, at=seq(-2,2,by=1), labels=seq(-2,2,by=1))
for(i in 1:53) segments(i, ci[i,1], i, ci[i,2])
abline(h=0, lty=2)
welfare <- read.csv("welfare.csv")</pre>
# Subset by stage of development
welfare pre <- subset(Welfare. stage=="pre-dep") # n=60
Welfare_post <- subset(Welfare, stage=="post-dep") # n=35</pre>
# Prevalence of Body damage
BodyDam_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$BodyDam!=0)/60*100</pre>
BodyDam_post <- table(welfare_post$BodyDam!=0)/35*100</pre>
filter(Welfare_pre, BodyDam!=0) #n=1
filter(Welfare_post, BodyDam!=0) #n=16
prop.test(x=c(1,16), n=c(60,35))
# Prevalence of Fin damage
FinDam_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$FinDamage!=0)/60*100</pre>
FinDam_post <- table(Welfare_post$FinDamage!=0)/35*100</pre>
Dorsal_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$dorsalfin_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Dorsal_post <- table(Welfare_post$dorsalfin_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Caudal_pre <- table(welfare_pre$caudalfin_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Caudal_post <- table(Welfare_post$caudalfin_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Anal_pre <- table(welfare_pre$analfin_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Anal_post <- table(welfare_post$analfin_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Pect_pre <- table(welfare_pre$pecfin_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Pect_post <- table(welfare_post$pecfin_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Venpec_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$pelfin_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Venpec_post <- table(welfare_post$pelfin_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
# Prevalence of Eye darkening
ED_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$EyeDarkening!=0)/60*100</pre>
ED_post <- table(Welfare_post$EyeDarkening!=0)/35*100</pre>
# Prevalence of Eve condition
Eyecond_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$EyeCondition!=0)/60*100</pre>
Eyecond_post <- table(Welfare_post$EyeCondition!=0)/35*100</pre>
filter(Welfare_pre, EyeCondition!=0) n=4
filter(welfare_post, EyeCondition!=0) n=8
prop.test(x=c(4,8),n=c(60,35))
# Prevalence of Suction disc deformities
SuckDef_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$SuckerDef!=0)/60*100</pre>
SuckerDef_post <- table(Welfare_post$SuckerDef!=0)/35*100</pre>
Sym_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$sym_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Sym_post <- table(Welfare_post$sym_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Ind_pre <- table(welfare_pre$ind_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Ind_post <- table(welfare_post$ind_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Dep_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$dep_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
```

```
Dep_post <- table(Welfare_post$dep_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Pap_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$pap_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Pap_post <- table(welfare_post$pap_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
Pel_pre <- table(Welfare_pre$pel_sco!=0)/60*100</pre>
Pel_post <- table(welfare_post$pel_sco!=0)/35*100</pre>
PCA <- read.csv("PCA.csv")</pre>
library(factoextra)
# Data standardization (normalisation of variables)
PCA$ExternalCondition <- scale(PCA$ExternalCondition)</pre>
PCA$FinDamage <- scale(PCA$FinDamage)</pre>
PCA$EyeDarkening <- scale(PCA$EyeDarkening)</pre>
PCA$EyeCondition <- scale(PCA$EyeCondition)</pre>
PCA$SuckerDeformity <- scale(PCA$SuckerDeformity)</pre>
# Principal Component Analysis
PRCOMP1 <- prcomp(~ ExternalCondition + FinDamage + EyeDarkening +</pre>
                   EyeCondition + SuckerDeformity,
                 data=PCA, na.action=na.omit, scale=TRUE)
summary(PRCOMP1)
#Scree plot
fviz_eig(PRCOMP1)
# Get coordinates of variables
var <- get_pca_var(PRCOMP1)</pre>
var
var$coord
var$cos2
# PCA - Contribution of variables
repel=TRUE) #Fig.2.3A
# PCA biplot - Variables and individuals by life stage
PCA$stage <- factor(PCA$stage, levels=c("pre-dep","post-dep"))</pre>
fviz_pca_biplot(PRCOMP1, geom.ind="point", col.ind=PCA$stage,
                       palette=c("#00AFBB", "#E7B800", "#FC4E07"),
                       addEllipses=TRUE, label="var",
col.var="black",
                       repel=TRUE, legend.title="Life stage") #
Fig.2.3B
```

```
# Extraction of eigenvalues and eigenvectors
PRCOMP1$sdev^2 # to extract eigenvalues
PRCOMP1$rotation # to extract the eigenvectors
eig.val <- get_eigenvalue(PRCOMP1)</pre>
eig.val
# Contribution of each variable to the PC
res.var <- get_pca_var(PRCOMP1)</pre>
res.var$contrib
# Obtain coordinates and add PC1 and PC2 values to the dataset
PC1 <- predict(PRCOMP1)[,1]</pre>
PCA$PC1 <- predict(PRCOMP1)[,1]</pre>
PC1
PC2 <- predict(PRCOMP1)[,2]</pre>
PCA$PC2 <- predict(PRCOMP1)[,2]</pre>
PC2
LWR_DE <- read.csv("LWR_differentEquations.csv")</pre>
### Using 1 equation for all stages (WS1, n=2658) ###
library(ggplot2)
ggplot(LWR_DE, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS1 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_DE)</pre>
summary(WS1)
### Using 2 equations for pre- and post- stages (WS2) ###
LWR_pre <- subset(LWR_DE, time=="pre-dep") # n=2303</pre>
LWR_post <- subset(LWR_DE, time=="post-dep") # n=355
ggplot(LWR_pre, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
ggplot(LWR_post, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS2_pre <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_pre)</pre>
summary(WS2_pre)
WS2_post <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_post)</pre>
summary(WS2_post)
### Using 4 equations for each of the stages S1-S4 (WS4) ###
LWR_S1 <- subset(LWR_DE, life_stage=="S1") # n=948</pre>
LWR_S2 <- subset(LWR_DE, life_stage=="S2") # n=126
LWR_S3 <- subset(LWR_DE, life_stage=="S3") # n=1229</pre>
LWR_S4 <- subset(LWR_DE, life_stage=="S4") # n=355</pre>
ggplot(LWR_S1, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
ggplot(LWR_S2, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
ggplot(LWR_S3, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
```

```
ggplot(LWR_S4, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS4_S1 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_S1)
summary(WS4_S1)
WS4_S2 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_S2)</pre>
summary(WS4_S2)
WS4_S3 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_S3)
summary(WS4_S3)
WS4_S4 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR_S4)
summary(WS4_S4)
# Table 2.2. Length weight regression coefficients #
LWR <- read.csv("Lumpfish_Length_weight.csv")</pre>
WS <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR)</pre>
summary(WS)
### Using 4 equations for each life stage ###
# S1. Larvae (0-1g)
StageS1 <- subset(LWR, life_stage=="S1")</pre>
qqplot(StageS1, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS_S1 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=StageS1)</pre>
summary(WS_S1)
# S2. Pre-deployment (0-10g)
StageS2 <- subset(LWR, life_stage=="S2")</pre>
ggplot(StageS2, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS_S2 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=StageS2)</pre>
summary(WS_S2)
# S3. Pre-deployment (+10g)
StageS3 <- subset(LWR, life_stage=="S3")</pre>
ggplot(StageS3, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS_S3 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=StageS3)</pre>
summary(WS_S3)
# S4. Post-deployment
StageS4 <- subset(LWR, life_stage=="S4")</pre>
ggplot(StageS4, aes(x=log(tl_mm, 10), y=log(bw_g, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS_S4 <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) ~ log(tl_mm, 10), data=StageS4)</pre>
summary(WS_S4)
# All stages
qqplot(LWR, aes(x=loq(tl_mm, 10), y=loq(bw_q, 10))) +
  geom_point() + geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE)
WS_All <- lm(log(bw_g, 10) \sim log(tl_mm, 10), data=LWR)
summary(WS_All)
```

```
Emaciation <- read.csv("Emaciation.csv")</pre>
library(Hmisc)
p <- cbind(Emaciation$Positive, Emaciation$Negative)</pre>
binomprops <- binconf(Emaciation$Positive, Emaciation$Total)</pre>
gqplot(Emaciation, aes(x=Stage, y=binomprops[,1], fill=Measure)) +
  geom_bar(position=position_dodge(), stat="identity",
  colour="black") + geom_errorbar(aes(ymin=binomprops[,1],
ymax=binomprops[,3]),width=0.3,
               position=position_dodge(0.9)) +
 ylab("Frequency") + xlab("Stage of development") +
scale_fill_discrete(name="Relative Weight",
                     labels=c("Emaciated \n Wr<75% \n",
                               "Underweight n Wr=75-90\% (n") +
ylim(0, 0.4) +
  scale_x_discrete(labels=c("S1" = "S1 (0-1g)",
                                         "S2" = "S2 (1-10g)",
                                         "S3" = "S3 (+10g)"
                                         "S4" = "S4 (+10g)") +
theme_bw()
# Frequency/proportion test for U/E fish
prop.test(x=c(484,265),n=c(2658,2658))
Cortisol <- read.csv("Lumpfish_Blood_plasma_Cortisol.csv")</pre>
hist(Cortisol$Cortisol)
# Subset for stages
Cortisol_S3 <- subset(Cortisol, stage=="S3")</pre>
Cortisol_S4 <- subset(Cortisol, stage=="S4")</pre>
# Mean cortisol +/- SE for pre-deployment stage (S3)
mean(Cortisol S3$Cortisol)
sd(Cortisol_S3$Cortisol)
sart(20)
se_S3 = sd(Cortisol_S3$Cortisol)/sqrt(20)
## Mean cortisol +/- SE for post-deployment stage (S4)
mean(Cortisol S4$Cortisol)
sd(Cortisol_S4$Cortisol)
sqrt(35)
se_S4 = sd(Cortisol_S4$Cortisol)/sqrt(35)
# Plasma cortisol between life stages
t.test(Cortisol_S4$Cortisol, Cortisol_S3$Cortisol)
# Cortisol variability
library(raster)
cv(Cortisol_S3$Cortisol)
cv(Cortisol_S4$Cortisol)
# Cortisol distribution: not normally distributed
hist(Cortisol$Cortisol)
# Plasma cortisol variability (Fligner-Killeen test)
fligner.test(Cortisol ~ stage, Cortisol)
```

```
### Validation OWIs against relative weight and plasma cortisol ####
PC1PC2_C_pre <- read.csv("PC1PC2_C_pre.csv")</pre>
### Model for cortisol at pre-deployment ###
Cort_pre<-lm(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC1*PC2*tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_C_pre)</pre>
step(Cort_pre)
library(MuMIn)
options(na.action = "na.fail")
dredge(Cort_pre)
Cort_pre_clean <- lm(cortisol_ng.ml_new ~ PC1 + PC2 + tl_mm +</pre>
PC1:PC2 + PC2:tl_mm, data=PC1PC2_C_pre)
dredge(Cort_pre_clean)
# Model averaging from MuMIN documentation
msA_pre <- dredge(Cort_pre)</pre>
msA_pre
# Models with delta.aicc < 2</pre>
summary(model.avg(msA_pre, subset = delta < 2))</pre>
# Final model
Cort_final_pre<-lm(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC1, data=PC1PC2_C_pre)</pre>
summary(Cort_final_pre)
plot(Cort_final_pre) # Observation #17 is very influent
# Using robust regression to correct for increasing variance
library(estimatr)
Cort_final_rob_pre<-lm_robust(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC1,</pre>
data=PC1PC2_C_pre)
summary(Cort_final_rob_pre)
# Try withouth obs #17
Cort_final_rob_17<-lm_robust(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC1,</pre>
data=PC1PC2_C_pre[-17, ])
summary(Cort_final_rob_17)
PC1PC2_C_post <- read.csv("PC1PC2_C_post.csv")</pre>
### Model for cortisol at post-deployment ###
Cort_post<-lm(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC1*PC2*tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_C_post)</pre>
step(Cort_post)
dredge(Cort_post)
# Model averaging from MuMIN documentation
msA_post <- dredge(Cort_post)</pre>
msA_post
# Models with delta.aicc < 2</pre>
summary(model.avg(msA_post, subset = delta < 2))</pre>
# Final model
Cort_final_post<-
lm(cortisol_ng.ml_new~PC2+tl_mm+PC2:tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_C_post)
summary(Cort_final_post)
plot(Cort_final_post)
PC1PC2_WR_pre <- read.csv("PC1PC2_WR_pre.csv")</pre>
```

```
### Model for relative weight at pre-deployment ###
WR4_pre<-lm(WR4~PC1*PC2*t1_mm,data=PC1PC2_WR_pre)</pre>
step(WR4_pre)
dredge(WR4_pre)
# Model averaging from MuMIN documentation
ms4_pre <- dredge(WR4_pre)</pre>
# Final model
WR4_final<-lm(WR4~PC1*tl_mm+PC2*tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_WR_pre)</pre>
summary(WR4_final)
plot(WR4_final)
PC1PC2_WR_post <- read.csv("PC1PC2_WR_post.csv")</pre>
### Model for relative weight at post-deployment
WR4_post<-lm(WR4~PC1*PC2*tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_WR_post)</pre>
step(WR4_post)
dredge(WR4_post)
# Model averaging from MuMIN documentation
ms1_post <- dredge(WR4_post)</pre>
# Final model
WR4_final<-lm(WR4~tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_WR_post)</pre>
summary(WR4_final)
plot(WR4_final)
# Remove observation #19 and use robust regression to correct for
variance
WR4_final_rob<-lm_robust(WR4~tl_mm,data=PC1PC2_WR_post[-19, ])</pre>
summary(WR4_final_rob)
# Correlation between fins
Correlation <- read.csv("FinCorrelation.csv")</pre>
library(irr)
# Dorsal and caudal fins
ggplot(Correlation, aes(x=dorsalfin_sco, y=caudalfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
dorVScau <- cor.test(x=Correlation$dorsalfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$caudalfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Dorsal and anal fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=dorsalfin_sco, y=analfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
dorVSana <- cor.test(x=Correlation$dorsalfin_sco.</pre>
y=Correlation$analfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Dorsal and pectoral fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=dorsalfin_sco, y=pecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
dorVSpec <- cor.test(x=Correlation$dorsalfin_sco,</pre>
```

```
y=Correlation$pecfin_sco,
                     method='spearman')
# Dorsal and ventral section of pectoral fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=dorsalfin_sco, y=venpecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=1m, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
dorVSven <- cor.test(x=Correlation$dorsalfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$venpecfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Caudal and anal fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=caudalfin_sco, y=analfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
cauVSana <- cor.test(x=Correlation$caudalfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$analfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Caudal and pectoral fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=caudalfin_sco, y=pecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
cauVSpec <- cor.test(x=Correlation$caudalfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$pecfin_sco.
                     method='spearman')
# Caudal and ventral section of pectoral fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=caudalfin_sco, y=venpecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
cauVSven <- cor.test(x=Correlation$caudalfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$venpecfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Anal and pectoral fins
gqplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=analfin_sco, y=pecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
anaVSpec <- cor.test(x=Correlation$analfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$pecfin_sco,
                     method='spearman')
# Anal and ventral section of pectoral fins
ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=analfin_sco, y=venpecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
anaVSven <- cor.test(x=Correlation$analfin_sco.</pre>
y=Correlation$venpecfin_sco, method='spearman')
# Pectoral and ventral section of pectoral fins
gqplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=pecfin_sco, y=venpecfin_sco)) +
  geom_point(color='#2980B9', size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method=lm, se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE, color='#2C3E50')
pecVSven <- cor.test(x=Correlation$pecfin_sco,</pre>
y=Correlation$venpecfin_sco,
                     method='spearman')
```

```
# Correlation between sucker deformity conditions
p <- ggplot(data=Correlation, aes(x=venpecfin_sco, y=SuckDef.PF)) +</pre>
  geom_point(color="grey", size=4) +
  geom_smooth(method="loess", se=FALSE, fullrange=TRUE,
color="blue") +
  xlab("Ventral section pectoral fins Score") + ylab("Sucker
deformity
  Score")
p + theme(axis.title.x = element_text(color="black",size=14,
face="bold"),
          axis.title.y = element_text(color="black",size=14,
face="bold"))
venpecVSsucker <- cor.test(x=Correlation$venpecfin_sco,</pre>
                           y=Correlation$SuckDef.PF,
method='spearman')
# Skin damage
SD <- read.csv("Skindamage_ICC.csv")
icc(SD, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),</pre>
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
# Caudal fin damage
CFD <- read.csv("Caudalfindamage_ICC.csv")</pre>
icc(CFD, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
# Eye condition
EC <- read.csv("Eyecondition_ICC.csv")</pre>
icc(EC, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
# Suction disc deformity
SDD <- read.csv("Suctiondiscdeformity_ICC.csv")</pre>
icc(SDD, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
# Relative weight
RW <- read.csv("Relativeweight_ICC.csv")
icc(RW, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),</pre>
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
# LOWSI
LOWSI <- read.csv("LOWSI_ICC.csv")</pre>
icc(LOWSI, model=c("twoway"), type=c("agreement"), unit=c("single"),
    r0=0, conf.level=0.95)
LOWSI <- read.csv("Lumpfish_Welfare_Score_Index_LOWSI.csv")</pre>
# Subset by site to extract proportions of welfare classes
LOWSI_H1 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="H1")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_H1)
LOWSI_H2 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="H2")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_H2)
```
```
LOWSI_H3 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="H3")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_H3)
LOWSI_F1 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="F1")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_F1)
LOWSI_F2 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="F2")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_F2)
LOWSI_F3 <- subset(LOWSI, site=="F3")</pre>
summary(LOWSI_F3)
LOWSI_props <- read.csv("LOWSI_props.csv")</pre>
# Proportion between sites
prop.test(x=c(51,10,29,11,45,28),n=c(74,16,30,35,60,30)) # Class A
prop.test(x=c(20,6,1,16,15,2),n=c(74,16,30,35,60,30)) # Class B
prop.test(x=c(3,0,0,8,0,0),n=c(74,16,30,35,60,30)) # Class C
#### Chapter 3 ####
Lumpfish_STR <- read.csv("Lumpfish_STR.csv")</pre>
# Explore data
head(Lumpfish_STR)
str(Lumpfish STR)
Lumpfish_STR$SP <- factor(Lumpfish_STR$SP, levels=c("1","2"))</pre>
# Get summary statistics
Library(dplyr)
Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(Cage, SP) %>%
  summarise(meanBW=mean(BW_g),
            meanTL=mean(TL_mm),
            meanWr=mean(Wr),
            sdBW=sd(BW_q),
            sdTL=sd(TL_mm),
            sdwr=sd(wr))
Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(Origin, SP) %>%
  summarise(meanBW=mean(BW_g),
            meanTL=mean(TL_mm),
            meanWr=mean(Wr),
            sdBW=sd(BW_g),
            sdTL=sd(TL_mm),
            sdwr=sd(wr))
Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(Stock, SP) %>%
  summarise(meanBW=mean(BW_g),
            meanTL=mean(TL_mm),
            meanWr=mean(Wr),
            sdBW=sd(BW_q),
            sdTL=sd(TL_mm),
            sdwr=sd(wr))
```

```
# By each stock
zEng1 <- prop.test(x=c(14,306), n=c(320,320)) #Sign</pre>
zEng2 <- prop.test(x=c(65,255), n=c(320,320)) #Sign</pre>
zEng4 <- prop.test(x=c(5,315), n=c(320,320)) #Sign</pre>
zNorw <- prop.test(x=c(236,84), n=c(320,320)) #Sign</pre>
# Over time
zEng1SP <- prop.test(x=c(6,8), n=c(160,160)) #No sign</pre>
zEng2SP <- prop.test(x=c(35,30), n=c(160,160)) #No sign</pre>
zEng4SP <- prop.test(x=c(2,3), n=c(160,160)) #No sign</pre>
zNorwSP <- prop.test(x=c(117,119), n=c(160,160)) #No sign</pre>
### Changes in body size and condition between origins and over time
######
### Body weight (BW) ###
library(lmerTest)
# Full model
BW.m1 <- lmer (BW_g ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage),
REML=FALSE, data=Lumpfish_STR)
BW.m2 <- lm (BW_g ~ Origin * SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)</pre>
anova(BW.m1, BW.m2, test="Chisq") # No differences, use LM
# Model assumptions
plot(BW.m2)
# Model reduction
dredge(BW.m2, options(na.action="na.fail"))
# Final model
BW.m3 <- lm (BW_g ~ Origin * SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)</pre>
summary(BW.m3)
plot(BW.m3)
Lumpfish_STR$SP <- factor(Lumpfish_STR$SP, levels=c("1","2"))</pre>
Lumpfish_STR$Origin <- factor(Lumpfish_STR$Origin,</pre>
levels=c("English","Norwegian"))
# Plot (Fig.3.1a)
Lumpfish_STRsum <- Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(SP, Origin) %>%
  summarise(sd = sd(BW_g, na.rm=TRUE),
            BW_g = mean(BW_g))
qqplot(Lumpfish_STRsum, aes(SP, BW_q)) +
  geom_line(aes(linetype = Origin, group = Origin)) +
  geom_jitter(aes(x=SP, y=BW_g, color=Origin), data=Lumpfish_STR,
              position = position_jitter(0.25)) +
  geom_errorbar(aes(ymin = BW_g-sd, ymax = BW_g+sd, group =
Origin), width = 0.2) +
  xlab("Time-point") + ylab("Body weight (g)") + theme_bw() +
  scale_x_discrete(breaks=c("1","2"), labels=c("1 (3 weeks)","2 (3
months)")) +
  theme(axis.title.x=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        legend.position="top", legend.title=element_blank())
### Total length (TL) ###
# Full model
TL.m1 <- lmer (TL_mm ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage),
```

```
REML=FALSE,data=Lumpfish_STR)
TL.m2 <- lm (TL_mm ~ Origin * SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)
anova(TL.m1, TL.m2, test="Chisq") # LMM (TL.m1) is better than LM
(TL.m2)
AIC(TL.m1, TL.m2)
# Model reduction
dredge(TL.m1, options(na.action="na.fail"))
# Model refit
TL.m3 <- 1mer (TL_mm ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage), REML=TRUE,
data=Lumpfish_STR)
summary(TL.m3)
plot(TL.m3)
ranef(TL.m3)
drop1(TL.m3, test="Chisq")
# Model assumptions #
# Linearity #
Linearity <- plot(resid(TL.m3), Lumpfish_STR$TL_mm) # Non-random</pre>
pattern
# Homogenetiy of variance
Lumpfish_STR$TL.m3_res <- residuals(TL.m3)</pre>
Lumpfish_STR$Abs.TL.m3_res <-abs(Lumpfish_STR$TL.m3_res)</pre>
Lumpfish_STR$TL.m3_res2 <- Lumpfish_STR$Abs.TL.m3_res^2</pre>
Levene.TL.m3 <- lm (TL.m3_res2 ~ Cage, data=Lumpfish_STR)</pre>
anova(Levene.TL.m3) # Equal variance of residuals (homoscedasticity
ok)
# Residuals normally distributed
librarv(lattice)
qqmath(TL.m3, id=0.05) # looks ok
# Transform TL to meet model assumptions
Lumpfish_STR$lgTL <- log10(Lumpfish_STR$TL_mm)</pre>
lgTL.m4 <- lmer (lgTL ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage), REML=TRUE,
data=Lumpfish_STR)
summary(1gTL.m4)
# Assumptions
library(ggResidpanel)
resid_panel(lgTL.m4) #looks OK
plot(cooks.distance(lgTL.m4))
# Plot (Fig.3.1b)
Lumpfish_STRsum <- Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(SP, Origin) %>%
  summarise(sd = sd(TL_mm, na.rm=TRUE),
            TL_mm = mean(TL_mm))
ggplot(Lumpfish_STRsum, aes(SP, TL_mm)) +
  geom_line(aes(linetype = Origin, group = Origin)) +
  geom_jitter(aes(x=SP, y=TL_mm, color=Origin), data=Lumpfish_STR,
              position = position_jitter(0.25)) +
  geom_errorbar(aes(ymin = TL_mm-sd, ymax = TL_mm+sd, group =
Origin), width = 0.2) +
  xlab("Time-point") + ylab("Total length (mm)") + theme_bw() +
  scale_x_discrete(breaks=c("1","2"), labels=c("1 (3 weeks)","2 (3
months)")) +
  theme(axis.title.x=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
```

```
legend.position="top", legend.title=element_blank())
### Body condition (Wr) ###
# Full model
Wr.m1 <- lmer (Wr ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage),
REML=FALSE, data=Lumpfish_STR)
Wr.m2 <- lm (Wr ~ Origin * SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)</pre>
anova(Wr.m1, Wr.m2, test="Chisg") # LMM (Wr.m1) is better than LM
(wr.m2)
AIC(TL.m1, TL.m2)
# Model reduction
dredge(Wr.m1, options(na.action="na.fail"))
# Model refit
Wr.m3 <- lmer (Wr ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage), REML=TRUE,
data=Lumpfish_STR)
summary(Wr.m3)
drop1(Wr.m3, test="Chisq")
# Model assumptions #
# Linearity
Linearity <- plot(resid(Wr.m3), Lumpfish_STR$Wr) # Not-random</pre>
pattern
# Homogeneity of variance
Lumpfish_STR$Wr.m3_res <- residuals(Wr.m3)</pre>
Lumpfish_STR$Abs.Wr.m3_res <-abs(Lumpfish_STR$Wr.m3_res)</pre>
Lumpfish_STR$Wr.m3_res2 <- Lumpfish_STR$Abs.Wr.m3_res^2</pre>
Levene.Wr.m3 <- lm (Wr.m3_res2 ~ Cage, data=Lumpfish_STR)</pre>
anova(Levene.Wr.m3) # Homoscedasticity NOT met
# Residuals normally distributed
qqmath(wr.m3, id=0.05) # looks more or less ok
# Transform Wr to meet model assumptions
Lumpfish_STR$lqWr <- log10(Lumpfish_STR$Wr)</pre>
lgWr.m4 <- lmer (lgWr ~ Origin * SP + (1|Cage), REML=TRUE,
data=Lumpfish_STR)
summary(1gWr.m4)
ranef(lgwr.m4)
# Assumptions
resid_panel(lgwr.m4) #looks better
plot(cooks.distance(lgwr.m4))
# Plot (Fig.3.2)
Lumpfish_STRsum <- Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(Origin) %>%
  summarise(sd = sd(Wr, na.rm=TRUE),
            Wr = mean(Wr)
qqplot(Lumpfish_STRsum, aes(SP, Wr)) +
  geom_line(aes(linetype = Origin, group = Origin)) +
  geom_jitter(aes(x=SP, y=Wr, color=Origin), data=Lumpfish_STR,
              position = position_jitter(0.25)) +
  geom_errorbar(aes(ymin = Wr-sd, ymax = Wr+sd, group =
Origin, width = 0.2) +
  xlab("Time-point") + ylab("Body condition or \n Relative weight
(%)") + theme_bw() +
```

```
scale_x_discrete(breaks=c("1","2"), labels=c("1 (3 weeks)","2 (3
months)")) +
  theme(axis.title.x=element_text(size=11, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=11, face="bold"),
        legend.position="top", legend.title=element_blank())
# Frequency/proportion test for underweight+emaciated lumpfish over
time
prop.test(x=c(16,28),n=c(160,160))
# Frequency/ proportion test for emaciated lumpfish over time
prop.test(x=c(0,6),n=c(160,160))
# Test for variance between sampling time points
shapiro.test(Lumpfish_STR$BW_g) # not normally distributed
shapiro.test(Lumpfish_STR$TL_mm) # not normally distributed
shapiro.test(Lumpfish_STR$Wr) # not normally distributed
# Use Levene's test to compare variances
Lumpfish_STR$SP <- factor(Lumpfish_STR$SP, levels=c("1","2"))</pre>
library(car)
leveneTest (BW_g ~ SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)
leveneTest (TL_mm ~ SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)
leveneTest (Wr ~ SP, data=Lumpfish_STR)
### Changes in welfare (LOWSI) between origins and over time #######
# Full model
library(lme4)
welf.m1 <- glmer (LOWSI ~ Origin * SP * TL_mm + (1|Cage),
                  family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
welf.m2 <- glm (LOWSI ~ Origin * SP * TL_mm,</pre>
                family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
lrtest(welf.m1, welf.m2) # Adding a random factor does not fit the
model better
dredge(welf.m2)
summary(welf.m2)
# Reduced model
welf.m3 <- glm (LOWSI ~ Origin + SP + TL_mm,</pre>
                family="poisson",data=Lumpfish_STR)
summary(welf.m3)
# Model Assumptions #
plot(welf.m3)
resid_panel(welf.m3)
plot(cooks.distance(welf.m3))
gqplot(data=Lumpfish_STR, aes(x=SP, y=LOWSI, fill=Origin)) +
  geom_violin(draw_quantiles=0.5) +
  ylab ("LOWSI") + xlab("Time-point") +
  scale_x_discrete(breaks=c("1","2"), labels=c("1 (3 weeks)","2 (3
months)")) +
  theme(axis.title.x=element_text(size=11, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=11, face="bold"),
        legend.position="top", legend.title=element_blank())
```

```
# Summary statistics for welfare
Lumpfish_STR %>%
  group_by(SP, Origin) %>%
  get_summary_stats(LOWSI, type="median_iqr")
qqplot(data=Lumpfish_STR, aes (x=TL_mm, y=LOWSI)) +
  geom_point() +
  geom_smooth(method='lm', formula=y~x) +
  geom_line(aes(y=3), size=1, colour="pale green",
linetype="dashed") +
  geom_line(aes(y=5), size=1, colour="orange", linetype="dashed") +
  xlab("Total length (mm)") + ylab("welfare (LOWSI points)") +
  scale_y_continuous(breaks=seq(0,10,by=1), limits=c(0,10)) +
  scale_x_continuous(breaks=seq(70,170,by=10), limits=c(70,170)) +
  theme_bw()
### Body damage ###
BD.m1 <- glm (BD ~ SP + TL_mm,
              family="poisson",data=Lumpfish_STR)
dredge(BD.m1)
summary(BD.m1)
resid_panel(BD.m1)
### Caudal fin damage ###
CFD.m1 <- glm (CFD ~ SP + TL_mm,
               family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
dredge(CFD.m1)
summary(CFD.m1)
resid_panel(CFD.m1)
### Eye Condition ###
EC.m1 <- glm (EC ~ SP + TL_mm,
              family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
dredge(EC.m1)
summary(EC.m1)
resid_panel(EC.m1)
### Suction Disc Deformity ###
SDD.m1 <- qlm (SDD ~ SP + TL_mm,</pre>
               family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
dredge(SDD.m1)
summary(SDD.m1)
resid_panel(SDD.m1)
### Relative weight ###
RW.m1 <- glm (RW ~ SP + TL_mm,
              family="poisson", data=Lumpfish_STR)
dredge(RW.m1)
summary(RW.m1)
resid_panel(RW.m1)
### Changes in ingested sea lice between origins and over time #####
SCA <- read.csv("StomachContent_STR.csv")</pre>
hist(SCA$SeaLiceC)
# Sea lice ingestion (counts) full model
SLI.m1 <- glm (SeaLiceC ~ Origin * SP * TL_mm,</pre>
               family=poisson (link=log),
               data=SCA)
```

```
SLI.m2 <- glm (SeaLiceC ~ Origin + SP + TL_mm,</pre>
               family=poisson (link=log),
               data=SCA)
anova(SLI.m1, SLI.m2) # no diffs
dredge(SLI.m2, options(na.action="na.fail"))
# Reduced model
SLI.m3 <- qlm (SeaLiceC ~ SP + TL_mm,</pre>
               family=poisson (link=log),
               data=SCA)
resid_panel(SLI.m3)
summary(SLI.m3)
resid_panel(SLI.m3) # assumptions not met
# Assess over/under dispersion
Ov.SLIm3 <- SLI.m3$deviance/SLI.m3$df.residual
Ov.SLIm3 # 0.465 (under-dispersion)
# Alternative model: Zero-Inflated Poisson regression (ZIP)
library(pscl)
SLI.m4 <- zeroinfl(SeaLiceC ~ TL_mm + SP,</pre>
                   data=SCA)
summary(SLI.m4)
# Null model with no predictors
mnull <- update(SLI.m4, \sim 1)
pchisq(2 * (logLik(SLI.m4) - logLik(mnull)), df = 2, lower.tail =
FALSE)
# Test if ZIP model is better than GLM
SLI.m3 <- glm (SeaLiceC ~ TL_mm + SP,
               family=poisson (link=log),
               data=SCA)
summary(SLI.m3)
vuong(SLI.m3, SLI.m4) #ZIP model is no better than GLM
# Summary statistics
SCA %>%
 group_by(SP) %>%
  get_summary_stats(SeaLiceC, type="mean_sd")
### Changes in ingested pellets between origins and over time ######
SCA <- read.csv("StomachContent_STR.csv")</pre>
# Pellet ingestion (counts) full model #
PI.m1 <- glm (PelletsC ~ Origin * SP * TL_mm,
              family=poisson (link=log),
              data=SCA)
PI.m2 <- glm (PelletsC ~ Origin + SP + TL_mm,</pre>
              family=poisson (link=log),
              data=SCA)
anova(PI.m1, PI.m2) # no diffs
dredge(PI.m2, options(na.action="na.fail"))
resid_panel(PI.m2)
```

```
# Assess overdisperison/underdispersion
Ov.PIm2 <- PI.m2$deviance/PI.m2$df.residua]
Ov.PIm2 # 6.74 (overdispersion)
# Try with family=quasipoisson
PI.m3 <- glm (PelletsC ~ Origin + SP + TL_mm,
             family=quasipoisson (link=log),
             data=SCA)
resid_panel(PI.m3)
dredge(PI.m3)
summary(PI.m3)
# Summary statistics #
SCA %>%
 group_by(Origin) %>%
 get_summary_stats(PelletsC, type="mean_sd")
SCA %>%
 group_by(SP) %>%
 get_summary_stats(PelletsC, type="mean_sd")
FR.m1 <- glm(StomachContent ~ SP + Origin + TL_mm,</pre>
            family=binomial(link="logit"),
            data=Lumpfish_STR)
FR.m2 <- glm(StomachContent ~ SP * Origin * TL_mm,</pre>
            family=binomial(link="logit"),
            data=Lumpfish_STR)
anova(FR.m1,FR.m2)
summary(FR.m1)
summary(FR.m2)
plot(FR.m1)
resid_panel(FR.m1)
summary(Lumpfish_STR$StomachContent)
Lumpfish_STR %>%
 group_by(Origin) %>%
 summarise(SC=mean(StomachContent),
           sd=sd(StomachContent))
#### Chapter 4 ####
Lumpfish_ETB <- read.csv("Lumpfish_ETB.csv")</pre>
library(gvlma)
librarv(ggplotr)
library(performance)
library(olsrr)
options(ggrepel.max.overlaps = Inf)
Lumpfish_ETB %>%
 group_by(Stock) %>%
 summarise(meanBW=mean(BW_g),
```

```
sdBW=sd(BW_g))
Lumpfish_ETB %>%
 group_by(Stock) %>%
 summarise(meanTL=mean(TL_mm),
           sdTL=sd(TL_mm))
Lumpfish_ETB %>%
 group_by(Stock) %>%
 summarise(meanWr=mean(Wr),
           sdwr=sd(wr))
t.test(BW_g ~ Stock, data=Lumpfish_ETB)
t.test(TL_mm ~ Stock, data=Lumpfish_ETB)
t.test(Wr ~ Stock, data=Lumpfish_ETB)
ggplot(data=Lumpfish_ETB, aes(LOWSI,BW_g)) +
 geom_point() +
 facet_grid(~Stock)
gqplot(data=Lumpfish_ETB, aes(TL_mm, LOWSI)) +
 geom point() +
 facet_grid(~Stock)
# Coefficient of variation for BW and TL
cv(Lumpfish_ETB$BW_q) # more variable
cv(Lumpfish_ETB$TL_mm) # less variable
# Model with LOWSI #
welf_1 <- glm(LOWSI ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(welf_1) # LOWSI differed significantly between stocks, but
TL not significant
plot(welf_1)
check_outliers(welf_1)
# Non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test
kruskal.test(LOWSI ~ Stock, data=Lumpfish_ETB)
# Assessing distribution of LOWSI scores
hist(Lumpfish_ETB$LOWSI)
# Welfare problems by stock #
Lumpfish_ETB$CountBD <- ave(Lumpfish_ETB$BD, Lumpfish_ETB$Stock,</pre>
                          FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
Lumpfish_ETB$CountCFD <- ave(Lumpfish_ETB$CFD, Lumpfish_ETB$Stock,</pre>
                           FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
Lumpfish_ETB$CountEC <- ave(Lumpfish_ETB$EC, Lumpfish_ETB$Stock,</pre>
                          FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0)
Lumpfish_ETB$CountSDD <- ave(Lumpfish_ETB$SDD, Lumpfish_ETB$Stock,</pre>
                           FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0)
Lumpfish_ETB$CountRW <- ave(Lumpfish_ETB$RW, Lumpfish_ETB$Stock,</pre>
                          FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
```

```
# Subset Icelandic (n=86) and Scottish (n=xx) lumpfish
Icelandic <- subset (Lumpfish_ETB, Stock=="Icelandic")</pre>
Scottish <- subset (Lumpfish_ETB, Stock=="Scottish")</pre>
# Welfare problems Icelandic stock
BD_Ice <- (10/86)*100
CFD_Ice <- (61/86)*100
EC_ICe <- (13/86)*100
SDD_Ice <- (8/86)*100
RW_Ice <- (6/86)*100
# Welfare problems Scottish stock
BD_Sco <- (3/56)*100
CFD_Sco <- (25/56)*100
EC_Sco <- (24/56)*100
SDD_Sco <- (39/56)*100
RW_Sco <- (6/56)*100
# 2-proportion z-test #
zBD <- prop.test(x=c(10,3), n=c(86,56))</pre>
zCFD <- prop.test(x=c(61,25), n=c(86,56))</pre>
zEC <- prop.test(x=c(13,24), n=c(86,56))</pre>
zSDD <- prop.test(x=c(8,39), n=c(86,56))</pre>
zRW <- prop.test(x=c(6,6), n=c(86,56))</pre>
### Body damage (BD) ###
BDmod <- lm(BD ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(BDmod) # Stock and size not significant
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot(BDmod)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
# Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test
wilcox.test(BD ~ Stock, conf.int=TRUE, data=Lumpfish_ETB) #No sign
diffs
### Caudal fin damage (CFD) ###
CFDmod <- lm(CFD ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(CFDmod)
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot(CFDmod)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
# Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test
wilcox.test(CFD ~ Stock, conf.int=TRUE, data=Lumpfish_ETB) #Sign
diffs
### Eye condition (EC) ###
ECmod <- lm(EC ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(ECmod)
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot(ECmod)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
# Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test
```

```
wilcox.test(EC ~ Stock, conf.int=TRUE, data=Lumpfish_ETB) #Sign
diffs
### Sucker deformity (SDD) ###
SDDmod <- lm(SDD ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(SDDmod)
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot(SDDmod)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
# Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test
wilcox.test(SDD ~ Stock, conf.int=TRUE, data=Lumpfish_ETB) #Sign
diffs
### Relative weight (RW) ###
RWmod <- lm(RW ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
summary(RWmod)
par(mfrow=c(2,2))
plot(RWmod)
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
# Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test
wilcox.test(RW ~ Stock, conf.int=TRUE, data=Lumpfish_ETB) #No sign
diffs
# Subset data (only first n=60)
Cortisol <- Lumpfish_ETB[1:60,]</pre>
#Range of cortisol values
min(Cortisol$Cortisol)
max(Cortisol$Cortisol)
# Cortisol differences between stocks
mcort <- lm(Cortisol ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=Cortisol)</pre>
summary(mcort) # No differences between stocks, with size adjustment
plot(mcort) #looks ok
# Distribution of cortisol
hist(Cortisol$Cortisol)
LumpfishETB <- na.omit(Lumpfish_ETB)</pre>
hist(LumpfishETB$Cortisol)
# Plasma cortisol summary statitics
Cortisol %>%
  group_by(Stock) %>%
  summarise(meanCort=mean(Cortisol), sdCort=sd(Cortisol))
mean(Cortisol$Cortisol)
sd(Cortisol$Cortisol)
### Growth and changes before and after deployment (tagged, n=55) ##
TAGtime <- read.csv("TAG_time.csv")</pre>
TAGtime$Time <- factor(TAGtime$Time, levels=c("Before","After"))</pre>
#### Body size and condition ####
TAGtime %>%
  group_by(Time) %>%
  get_summary_stats(BW_g, TL_mm, Wr, type="mean_sd")
```

```
library(ggpubr)
ggboxplot(TAGtime, x="Time", y=c("BW_g", "TL_mm", "Wr"), merge=TRUE,
          ylab="", xlab="Time")
# Linear Mixed Models (LMMs) for repeated measures data
library(lme4)
library(lmerTest)
### LMM for BW ###
modBw <- lmer (BW_g ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
              REML=TRUE, data=TAGtime)
summary(modBW)
drop1(modBW, test="Chi")
anova(modBW) #Sign diffs
# Model Assumptions #
# Linearity
modBW.Linearity <- plot(resid(modBW),TAGtime$BW_g) #ok</pre>
# Variance homogeneity
TAGtime$modBW.res <- residuals(modBW)</pre>
TAGtime$modBW.absres <- abs(TAGtime$modBW.res)</pre>
TAGtime$modBW.res2 <- TAGtime$modBW.absres^2</pre>
Levene.modBW <- lm(modBW.res2 ~ FishID, data=TAGtime)</pre>
anova(Levene.modBW) #p=0.4 (equal variance residuals,
homoscedasticity ok)
plot(modBW)
# Normality
gqmath(modBW, id=0.05) #ok
### LMM for TL ###
modTL <- lmer (TL_mm ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                REML=TRUE, data=TAGtime)
summary(modTL)
drop1(modTL, test="Chi")
anova(modTL) #Sign diffs
# Model Assumptions #
# Linearity
modTL.Linearity <- plot(resid(modTL),TAGtime$TL_mm) #ok</pre>
# Variance homogeneity
TAGtime$modTL.res <- residuals(modTL)</pre>
TAGtime$modTL.absres <- abs(TAGtime$modTL.res)</pre>
TAGtime$modTL.res2 <- TAGtime$modTL.absres^2</pre>
Levene.modTL <- lm(modTL.res2 ~ FishID, data=TAGtime)</pre>
anova(Levene.modTL) #p=0.6 (equal variance residuals,
homoscedasticity ok)
plot(modTL)
# Normality
qqmath(modTL, id=0.05) #ok
### LMM for WR ###
modWR <- lmer (Wr ~ Time + (1|FishID), REML=TRUE, data=TAGtime)
summary(modWR)
drop1(modWR, test="Chi") #Sign diffs
# Model Assumptions #
# Linearity
```

```
modWR.Linearity <- plot(resid(modWR),TAGtime$Wr) #ok</pre>
# Variance homogeneity
TAGtime$modWR.res <- residuals(modWR)</pre>
TAGtime$modwR.absres <- abs(TAGtime$modwR.res)</pre>
TAGtime$modWR.res2 <- TAGtime$modWR.absres^2</pre>
Levene.modwR <- lm(modwR.res2 ~ FishID, data=TAGtime)</pre>
anova(Levene.modWR) #p=0.3 (equal variance residuals,
homoscedasticity ok)
plot(modWR)
# Normality
qqmath(modWR, id=0.05) #ok
### Welfare (LOWSI) ###
TAGtime %>%
  group_by(Time) %>%
  get_summary_stats(LOWSI, type="median_iqr")
ggboxplot(TAGtime, x="Time", y=c("LOWSI"), merge=TRUE,
          ylab="", xlab="Time")
# Generalised Linear Mixed Models (GLMMs) for repeated measures data
### GLMM for LOWSI ###
modLOWSI <- glmer (LOWSI ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                    family=poisson (link="log"),
                    data=TAGtime)
summary(modLOWSI)
isSingular(modLOWSI, tol=1e-4)
drop1(modLOWSI, test="Chi")
### Welfare (by OWI) ###
# Summary statistics for welfare (LOWSI)
TAGtime %>%
  group_by(Time) %>%
  get_summary_stats(BD, CFD, EC, SDD, RW, type="median_iqr")
ggboxplot(TAGtime, x="Time", y=c("BD","CFD","EC","SDD","RW"),
merge=TRUE,
          ylab="", xlab="Time")
### GLMM for Body Damage (BD) ###
modBD <- glmer (BD ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                    family=poisson (link="log"),
                    data=TAGtime)
summary(modBD)
isSingular(modBD, tol=1e-4)
drop1(modBD, test="Chi")
### GLMM for Caudal Fin Damage (CFD) ###
modCFD <- glmer (CFD ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                  family=poisson (link="log"),
                  data=TAGtime)
summary(modCFD)
### GLMM for Eye Condition (EC) ###
modEC <- glmer (EC ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                  family=poisson (link="log"),
```

```
data=TAGtime)
summary(modEC)
### GLMM for Suction Disc Deformity (SDD) ###
modSDD <- glmer (SDD ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                family=poisson (link="log"),
                data=TAGtime)
summary(modSDD)
### GLMM for Relative Weight (RW) ###
modRW <- glmer (RW ~ Time + (1|FishID),</pre>
                 family=poisson (link="log"),
                 data=TAGtime)
summary(modRW)
TAGdata <- read.csv("TAGdata.csv")</pre>
meanSGR.BW <- mean(TAGdata$SGR_BW)</pre>
meanSGR.BW # Overall growth of lumpfish for 60-day trial: 0.56%/d
meanSGR.TL <- mean(TAGdata$SGR_TL)</pre>
meanSGR.TL # Overall growth of lumpfish for 60-day trial: 0.29%/d
meanSGR.WR <- mean(TAGdata$SGR_Wr)</pre>
meanSGR.WR # Overall growth of lumpfish for 60-day trial: 0.15%/d
SCA_N <- read.csv("SCA_N.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)</pre>
# Calculate total of each food item
Pellets T <- sum(SCA N$Pellets)</pre>
Bivalves_T <- sum(SCA_N$Bivalves)</pre>
Hydrozoans_T <- sum(SCA_N$Hydrozoans)</pre>
Gammarids_T <- sum(SCA_N$Gammarids)</pre>
Caprellids_T <- sum(SCA_N$Caprellids)</pre>
Copepods_T <- sum(SCA_N$Copepods)</pre>
SeaLice_T <- sum(SCA_N$SeaLice)</pre>
FishPrey_T <- sum(SCA_N$FishPrey)</pre>
FishScales_T <- sum(SCA_N$FishScales)</pre>
FishTissue_T <- sum(SCA_N$FishTissue)</pre>
Seaweed T <- sum(SCA N$Seaweed)</pre>
Microplastics_T <- sum(SCA_N$Microplastics)</pre>
Unknown_T <- sum(SCA_N$Unknown)</pre>
# Total food items
Food_T=sum(Pellets_T,Bivalves_T,Hydrozoans_T,Gammarids_T,Caprellids_
T,Copepods_T,SeaLice_T,FishPrey_T,FishScales_T,FishTissue_T,SeaWeed_
T,Microplastics_T,Unknown_T)
# Calculate each food item % (ordered by abundance)
Gammarids <- (Gammarids_T/Food_T)*100
Unknown <- (Unknown_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
Pellets <- (Pellets_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
Seaweed <- (Seaweed_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
FishTissue <- (FishTissue_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
Hydrozoans <- (Hydrozoans_T/Food_T)*100
Copepods <- (Copepods_T/Food_T)*100
FishScales <- (FishScales_T/Food_T)*100
```

```
Microplastics <- (Microplastics_T/Food_T)*100
Sealice <- (SeaLice_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
Caprellids <- (Caprellids_T/Food_T)*100
Bivalves <- (Bivalves_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
FishPrey <- (FishPrey_T/Food_T)*100</pre>
SCA_FO <- read.csv("SCA_FO.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)</pre>
# Subset by genetic stock
SCA_Ice <- subset(SCA_FO, Stock=="Icelandic")</pre>
SCA_Sco <- subset(SCA_F0, Stock=="Scottish")</pre>
# Remove individuals with empty stomachs
SCA_Ice.SC <- SCA_Ice[-c(7,20,23),]</pre>
SCA_Sco.SC <- SCA_Sco[-17,]</pre>
# %FO for each food item/group for Icelandic lumpfish
FO.Pellets_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Pellets)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
FO.Bivalves_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Bivalves)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
FO.Hydrozoans_Ice <-
(sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Hydrozoans)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
F0.Gammarids_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Gammarids)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100</pre>
FO.Caprellids_Ice <-
(sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Caprellids)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
F0.Copepods_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Copepods)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100</pre>
F0.SeaLice_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$SeaLice)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100</pre>
F0.FishPrey_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$FishPrey)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100</pre>
FO.FishScales_Ice <-
(sum(SCA_Ice.SC$FishScales)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
FO.FishTissue_Ice <-
(sum(SCA_Ice.SC$FishTissue)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
F0.Seaweed_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$SeaWeed)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100</pre>
FO.Microplastics_Ice <-
(sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Microplastics)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
FO.Unknown_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice.SC$Unknown)/nrow(SCA_Ice.SC))*100
FO.Crustaceans_Ice <-
(sum(FO.Gammarids_Ice,FO.Caprellids_Ice,FO.Copepods_Ice))
FO.Fish_Ice <-
(sum(F0.FishPrey_Ice,F0.FishScales_Ice,F0.FishTissue_Ice))
# %FO for each food item/group for Scottish lumpfish
F0.Pellets_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Pellets)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100</pre>
F0.Bivalves_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Bivalves)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100</pre>
FO.Hydrozoans_Sco <-
(sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Hydrozoans)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Gammarids_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Gammarids)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Caprellids_Sco <-
(sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Caprellids)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
F0.Copepods_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Copepods)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.SeaLice_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$SeaLice)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
F0.FishPrey_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$FishPrey)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.FishScales_Sco <-
(sum(SCA_Sco.SC$FishScales)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.FishTissue_Sco <-
(sum(SCA_Sco.SC$FishTissue)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Seaweed_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$SeaWeed)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Microplastics_Sco <-
```

```
(sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Microplastics)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Unknown_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco.SC$Unknown)/nrow(SCA_Sco.SC))*100
FO.Crustaceans_Sco <-
(sum(FO.Gammarids_Sco,FO.Caprellids_Sco,FO.Copepods_Sco))
FO.Fish Sco <-
(sum(F0.FishPrey_Sco,F0.FishScales_Sco,F0.FishTissue_Sco))
SCA_N <- read.csv("SCA_N.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)</pre>
# Subset by genetic stock
SCA_Ice <- subset(SCA_N, Stock=="Icelandic")</pre>
SCA_Sco <- subset(SCA_N, Stock=="Scottish")</pre>
# %N for each food item/group for Icelandic lumpfish (Nt=549)
N.Pellets_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Pellets)/549)*100</pre>
N.Bivalves_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Bivalves)/549)*100
N.Hydrozoans_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Hydrozoans)/549)*100</pre>
N.Gammarids_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Gammarids))</pre>
N.Caprellids Ice <- (sum(SCA Ice$Caprellids))
N.Copepods_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Copepods))</pre>
N.SeaLice_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$SeaLice)/549)*100</pre>
N.FishPrey_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishPrey))</pre>
N.FishScales_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishScales))</pre>
N.FishTissue_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishTissue))
N.Seaweed_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$SeaWeed)/549)*100</pre>
N.Microplastics_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Microplastics)/549)*100</pre>
N.Unknown_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Unknown)/549)*100</pre>
N.Crustaceans_Ice <-
(sum(N.Gammarids_Ice,N.Caprellids_Ice,N.Copepods_Ice)/549)*100
N.Fish Ice <-
(sum(N.FishPrey_Ice.N.FishScales_Ice.N.FishTissue_Ice)/549)*100
# %N for each food item/group for Scottish lumpfish (Nt=1752)
N.Pellets_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Pellets)/1752)*100</pre>
N.Bivalves_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Bivalves)/1752)*100
N.Hydrozoans_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Hydrozoans)/1752)*100
N.Gammarids_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Gammarids))</pre>
N.Caprellids_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Caprellids))</pre>
N.Copepods_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Copepods))</pre>
N.SeaLice_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$SeaLice)/1752)*100</pre>
N.FishPrey_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishPrey))</pre>
N.FishScales_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishScales))</pre>
N.FishTissue_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishTissue))</pre>
N.Seaweed_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$SeaWeed)/1752)*100</pre>
N.Microplastics_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Microplastics)/1752)*100</pre>
N.Unknown_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Unknown)/1752)*100</pre>
N.Crustaceans_Sco <-
(sum(N.Gammarids_Sco,N.Caprellids_Sco,N.Copepods_Sco)/1752)*100
N.Fish_Sco <-
(sum(N.FishPrey_Sco, N.FishScales_Sco, N.FishTissue_Sco)/1752)*100
SCA_W <- read.csv("SCA_W.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)</pre>
# Subset by genetic stock
SCA_Ice <- subset(SCA_W, Stock=="Icelandic")</pre>
SCA_Sco <- subset(SCA_W, Stock=="Scottish")</pre>
```

```
# %W for each food item/group for Icelandic lumpfish (Wt=43.73)
W.Pellets_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Pellets)/43.73)*100</pre>
W.Bivalves_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Bivalves)/43.73)*100</pre>
W.Hydrozoans_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Hydrozoans)/43.73)*100
W.Gammarids_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Gammarids))</pre>
W.Caprellids_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Caprellids))</pre>
W.Copepods_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Copepods))</pre>
W.SeaLice_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$SeaLice)/43.73)*100</pre>
W.FishPrey_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishPrey))</pre>
W.FishScales_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishScales))</pre>
W.FishTissue_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$FishTissue))</pre>
W.Seaweed_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Seaweed)/43.73)*100</pre>
W.Microplastics_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Microplastics)/43.73)*100
W.Unknown_Ice <- (sum(SCA_Ice$Unknown)/43.73)*100</pre>
W.Crustaceans_Ice <-
(sum(W.Gammarids_Ice,W.Caprellids_Ice,W.Copepods_Ice)/43.73)*100
W.Fish_Ice <-
(sum(W.FishPrey_Ice,W.FishScales_Ice,W.FishTissue_Ice)/43.73)*100
# %W for each food item/group for Scottish lumpfish (Wt=16.42)
W.Pellets_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Pellets)/16.42)*100</pre>
W.Bivalves_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Bivalves)/16.42)*100
W.Hydrozoans_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Hydrozoans)/16.42)*100
W.Gammarids_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Gammarids))</pre>
W.Caprellids_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Caprellids))</pre>
W.Copepods_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Copepods))</pre>
W.SeaLice_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$SeaLice)/16.42)*100
W.FishPrey_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishPrey))</pre>
W.FishScales_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishScales))</pre>
W.FishTissue_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$FishTissue))</pre>
W.Seaweed_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Seaweed)/16.42)*100</pre>
W.Microplastics_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Microplastics)/16.42)*100
W.Unknown_Sco <- (sum(SCA_Sco$Unknown)/16.42)*100</pre>
W.Crustaceans_Sco <-
(sum(W.Gammarids_Sco,W.Caprellids_Sco,W.Copepods_Sco)/16.42)*100
W.Fish_Sco <-
(sum(W.FishPrey_Sco,W.FishScales_Sco,W.FishTissue_Sco)/16.42)*100
# Index of Relative Importance (IRI) for Icelandic lumpfish
IRI.Pellets_Ice <- (sum(N.Pellets_Ice,W.Pellets_Ice))*F0.Pellets_Ice</pre>
IRI.Bivalves_Ice <-</pre>
(sum(N.Bivalves_Ice,W.Bivalves_Ice))*F0.Bivalves_Ice
IRI.Hydrozoans_Ice <-</pre>
(sum(N.Hydrozoans_Ice,W.Hydrozoans_Ice))*F0.Hydrozoans_Ice
IRI.Crustaceans_Ice <-</pre>
(sum(N.Crustaceans_Ice,W.Crustaceans_Ice))*F0.Crustaceans_Ice
IRI.SeaLice_Ice <- (sum(N.SeaLice_Ice,W.SeaLice_Ice))*FO.SeaLice_Ice</pre>
IRI.Fish_Ice <- (sum(N.Fish_Ice,W.Fish_Ice))*F0.Fish_Ice</pre>
IRI.Seaweed_Ice <- (sum(N.Seaweed_Ice,W.Seaweed_Ice))*F0.Seaweed_Ice</pre>
IRI.Microplastics_Ice <-</pre>
(sum(N.Microplastics_Ice,W.Microplastics_Ice))*F0.Microplastics_Ice
IRI.Unknown_Ice <- (sum(N.Unknown_Ice,W.Unknown_Ice))*FO.Unknown_Ice</pre>
IRI_ICe = sum(IRI.Pellets_ICe, IRI.Bivalves_ICe, IRI.Hydrozoans_ICe,
IRI.Crustaceans_Ice,
               IRI.SeaLice_Ice, IRI.Fish_Ice, IRI.Seaweed_Ice,
IRI.Microplastics_Ice,
               IRI.Unknown_Ice)
# Index of Relative Importance (IRI) for Scottish lumpfish
```

```
IRI.Pellets_Sco <- (sum(N.Pellets_Sco,W.Pellets_Sco))*F0.Pellets_Sco</pre>
IRI.Bivalves_Sco <-</pre>
(sum(N.Bivalves_Sco,W.Bivalves_Sco))*FO.Bivalves_Sco
IRI.Hvdrozoans Sco <-
(sum(N.Hydrozoans_Sco,W.Hydrozoans_Sco))*FO.Hydrozoans_Sco
IRI.Crustaceans_Sco <-</pre>
(sum(N.Crustaceans_Sco,W.Crustaceans_Sco))*F0.Crustaceans_Sco
IRI.SeaLice_Sco <- (sum(N.SeaLice_Sco,W.SeaLice_Sco))*FO.SeaLice_Sco</pre>
IRI.Fish_Sco <- (sum(N.Fish_Sco,W.Fish_Sco))*F0.Fish_Sco</pre>
IRI.Seaweed_Sco <- (sum(N.Seaweed_Sco,W.Seaweed_Sco))*FO.Seaweed_Sco</pre>
IRI.Microplastics_Sco <-</pre>
(sum(N.Microplastics_Sco,W.Microplastics_Sco))*FO.Microplastics_Sco
IRI.Unknown_Sco <- (sum(N.Unknown_Sco,W.Unknown_Sco))*FO.Unknown_Sco</pre>
IRI_Sco = sum(IRI.Pellets_Sco, IRI.Bivalves_Sco, IRI.Hydrozoans_Sco,
IRI.Crustaceans_Sco,
             IRI.SeaLice_Sco, IRI.Fish_Sco, IRI.Seaweed_Sco,
IRI.Microplastics_Sco,
              IRI.Unknown_Sco)
### Differences in diet composition between stocks (PERMANOVA) #####
adonis2 (SCA_FO.bc ~ SCA_FO.$Stock + SCA_FO.$TL_mm) #Sign
adonis2 (SCA_N.bc ~ SCA_N.$Stock + SCA_N.$TL_mm) #No sign
adonis2 (SCA_W.bc ~ SCA_W.$Stock + SCA_W.$TL_mm) # TL and stock
significant
### SC by absence/presence (FO) ###
SCA_F0.$group <- paste(SCA_F0.$Stock)</pre>
F0.bc <- as.dist(SCA_F0.bc)</pre>
permdisp_F0 <- betadisper(F0.bc, SCA_F0.$group)</pre>
plot(permdisp_F0)
anova(permdisp_F0)
permutest(permdisp_F0)
### SC by abundance (N) ###
SCA_N.$group <- paste(SCA_N.$Stock)</pre>
N.bc <- as.dist(SCA_N.bc)</pre>
permdisp_N <- betadisper(N.bc, SCA_N.$group)</pre>
plot(permdisp_N)
anova(permdisp_N)
permutest(permdisp_N)
### SC by weight (W) ###
SCA_W.$group <- paste(SCA_W.$Stock)</pre>
w.bc <- as.dist(SCA_w.bc)</pre>
permdisp_W <- betadisper(W.bc, SCA_W.$group)</pre>
plot(permdisp_W)
anova(permdisp_W)
permutest(permdisp_W)
```

```
# SIMPER function to be applied in the Bray-Curtis distance matrix
library(vegan)
SC.env <- SCA_N.[,1:7]</pre>
# SC bv FO
simper.FO <- simper(SCA_FOdata, SC.env$Stock, permutations=999)</pre>
simper.FO
summary(simper.FO, ordered=TRUE, digits=3)
# SC by N
simper.N <- simper(SCA_Ndata, SC.env$Stock, permutations=999)</pre>
simper.N
summary(simper.N, ordered=TRUE, digits=3)
# SC by W
simper.W <- simper(SCA_Wdata, SC.env$Stock, permutations=999)</pre>
simper.W
summary(simper.W, ordered=TRUE, digits=3)
# Calculate the overall dissimilarity between the two genetic stocks
lapply(simper.FO, FUN=function(x)[x$overall]) # 52.4% different
lapply(simper.N, FUN=function(x)[x$overall]) # 80.21% different
lapply(simper.W, FUN=function(x)[x$overall]) # 84.17% different
# Install core packages of Bioconductor
if (!requireNamespace("BiocManager", quietly = TRUE))
 install.packages("BiocManager")
BiocManager::install()
#Install specific packages
BiocManager::install(c("GenomicFeatures", "AnnotationDbi"))
BiocManager::install("DESeq2")
# Load packages
library(grid)
library(gridExtra)
library(lme4)
library(nlme)
library(permute)
library(lattice)
library(vegan)
library(pheatmap)
library(patchwork)
library(reshape2)
library(stringr)
library(DESeq2)
metadata <- read.csv("metadata.csv")</pre>
alpha <- read.table("alpha_results.text", header=T)</pre>
# Subset datasets for Scottish and Icelandic lumpfish (n=57)
metadata <- metadata[-c(58:91),]</pre>
alpha <- alpha[-c(58:91),]
# Double check samples are in the same order
```

```
all.equal(metadata$SampleID, alpha$sample)
# Add information from metadata to alpha
alpha$Fish <- metadata$Fish
alpha$Site <- metadata$Site</pre>
alpha$Stock <- metadata$Stock</pre>
alpha$Cage <- metadata$Cage</pre>
alpha$BW_g <- metadata$BW_g
alpha$TL_mm <- metadata$TL_mm
alpha$SL_mm <- metadata$SL_mm</pre>
alpha$Size <- metadata$Size
alpha$Cortisol <- metadata$Cortisol</pre>
alpha$CortisolRange <- metadata$CortisolRange</pre>
alpha$SD <- metadata$SD
alpha$CFD <- metadata$CFD
alpha$EC <- metadata$EC
alpha$SuD <- metadata$SuD
alpha$WR <- metadata$WR
alpha$LOWSI <- metadata$LOWSI</pre>
alpha$Class <- metadata$Class
alpha$welfare <- metadata$welfare</pre>
alpha$SeaLice <- metadata$SeaLice</pre>
alpha$Pellets <- metadata$Pellets</pre>
alpha$Content <- metadata$Content
alpha$ws <- metadata$ws
alpha$wr <- metadata$wr
# Establish rank levels in some of the variables:
alpha$Stock <- factor(alpha$Stock, levels=c("Scottish","Icelandic"))</pre>
alpha$Size <- factor(alpha$Size, levels=c("Smaller","Bigger"))</pre>
alpha$SD <- factor(alpha$SD, levels=c("0","0.5","1"))</pre>
alpha$CFD <- factor(alpha$CFD, levels=c("0","0.5","1","2"))</pre>
alpha$EC <- factor(alpha$EC, levels=c("0","0.5","1","1.5","2"))
alpha$SuD <- factor(alpha$SuD, levels=c("0","0.5","1","1.5","2"))
alpha$WR <- factor(alpha$WR, levels=c("0","1","2"))</pre>
alpha$LOWSI <- factor(alpha$LOWSI,</pre>
levels=c("0","0.5","1","1.5","2","2.5",
"3", "3.5", "4", "5", "6", "7"))
alpha$Class <- factor(alpha$Class, levels=c("A","B","C"))</pre>
alpha$welfare <- factor(alpha$welfare,</pre>
levels=c("Compromised","Good"))
alpha$CortisolRange <- factor(alpha$CortisolRange,
levels=c("Low","High"))
alpha$SeaLice <- factor(alpha$SeaLice, levels=c("No","Yes"))</pre>
alpha$Pellets <- factor(alpha$Pellets, levels=c("No", "Yes"))</pre>
alpha$Content <- factor(alpha$Content, levels=c("Empty", "Full"))</pre>
# Chao Richness
chao_m1 <- lm(chao1 ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=alpha)</pre>
chao_m2 <- lm(chao1 ~ Stock, data=alpha)
summary(chao_m1)
shapiro.test(residuals(chao_m1)) # not normally distributed
anova(chao_m2)
chao_m3 <- lm(chao1 ~ Welfare, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(shan_m3)
```

```
chao_m4 <- lm(chao1 ~ TL_mm, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(chao_m4)
chao_m5 <- lm(chao1 ~ Cortisol, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(chao_m5)
# Shannon Diversity
shan_m1 <- lm(shannon ~ Stock + TL_mm, data=alpha)</pre>
shan_m2 <- lm(shannon ~ Stock, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(shan_m1)
shapiro.test(residuals(shan_m2)) # not normally distributed
anova(shan_m2)
shan_m3 <- lm(shannon ~ Welfare, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(shan_m3)
shan_m4 <- lm(shannon ~ TL_mm, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(shan_m4)
shan_m5 <- lm(shannon ~ Cortisol, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(shan_m5)
# PERMANOVA
adonis2(bc_dist ~ metadata$Stock * metadata$Welfare *
metadata$TL mm)
adonis2(bc_dist ~ metadata$Stock + metadata$Welfare +
metadata$TL mm)
adonis2(bc_dist ~ metadata$Stock + metadata$TL_mm)
adonis2(bc_dist ~ metadata$CortisolRange) # no differences
adonis2(bc_dist ~ metadata$Welfare) # significant differences
# Extract mean distance to centroids
bc_dist.S <- as.dist(bc_dist)</pre>
betadisper_stock <- betadisper(bc_dist.S, metadata$Stock,</pre>
type="centroid", bias.adjust=TRUE)
summary(betadisper_stock)
plot(betadisper_stock)
anova(betadisper_stock)
permutest(betadisper_stock)
MDTC.stock <- meandist(bc_dist.S, metadata$Stock)</pre>
MDTC.stock
ASV <- read.csv("asv259_table.csv", check.names = F, row.names = 1)
meta <- read.csv("metadata.csv", row.names=1)</pre>
# Sum rows and sort by most abundant ASVs
ASV <- cbind(ASV, rowSums(ASV))
ASV <- ASV[order(rowSums(-ASV)),]
ASV[,c("rowSums(ASV)")] <- list(NULL)</pre>
# Subset metadata for Icelandic/Scottish stock
meta <- meta[1:57,]</pre>
# Transpose matrix so samples are in rows and species in columns
```

```
(requirement)
tASV <- t(ASV)
# Create relative abundance matrix from a total abundance matrix
library(funrar)
abs\_abund = as.matrix(tASV)
head(abs_abund) #absolute abundances
rel_abund = make_relative(abs_abund)
head(rel_abund) #relative abundances
ASVra <- rel abund
# Select the 25 most abundant ASVs
tASVra <- t(ASVra)
Bar25ra <- head(tASVra, 25)</pre>
# Transpose data back so species are in columns and samples in rows
tBar25ra <- t(Bar25ra)
# Create SampleID name so they can be split later:
meta$name2 <- paste(meta$Fish, meta$Stock, meta$Welfare,</pre>
meta$CortisolRange)
all.equal(row.names(tBar25ra), row.names(meta)) #check same order
row.names(tBar25ra) <- meta$name2 #change header name in rows</pre>
# Convert data frame from a "wide" format to a "long" format where
# Var1=SampleID, Var2=ASV, Var3=Value(count):
mtop25ra = melt(tBar25ra, id=c("ASV"))
mtop25ra$Var1 #57 levels=samples arranged in the new format
# Split names into extra columns for annotations:
fish_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$Var1," ", 4)</pre>
fish annot <- fish annot[.1]
stock_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$Var1," ", 4)</pre>
stock_annot <- stock_annot[,2]</pre>
welfare_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$Var1," ", 4)</pre>
welfare_annot <- welfare_annot[,3]</pre>
cortisol_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$Var1," ", 4)</pre>
cortisol_annot <- cortisol_annot[,4]</pre>
# Add separate colums to the mtop25 dataset:
mtop25ra$fish <- fish_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$stock <- stock_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$welfare <- welfare_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$cortisol <- cortisol_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$stock <- factor(mtop25ra$stock,</pre>
levels=c("Icelandic","Scottish"))
mtop25ra$welfare <- factor(mtop25ra$welfare,</pre>
levels=c("Compromised","Good"))
mtop25ra$cortisol <- factor(mtop25ra$cortisol,</pre>
levels=c("Low","High"))
ggplot(mtop25ra, aes(x=fish, y=value, fill=var2)) +
  geom_bar(stat="identity", position="fill", colour="black") +
  facet_grid(rows=NULL, cols=vars(stock), scales="free",
space="fixed") +
  theme(axis.text.x=element_text(angle=90, size=8, vjust=0),
        axis.title.x=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
         legend.title=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
         legend.text=element_text(size=10)) +
```

```
labs(x="Fish ID", y="Relative abundance", fill="ASV")
library(indicspecies)
ASVab = read.csv("ASV.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)
# Split ASV abundance in a dataframe and the vectors for the factors
to group
abund = ASVab[,16:nco](ASVab)]
stock = ASVab$Stock
welfare = ASVab$Welfare
cortisol = ASVab$CortisolRange
# Run indicator species command multipatt
IS_stock = multipatt(abund, stock, func="r.g",
control=how(nperm=9999))
summary(IS_stock, alpha=0.01)
# Re-analyse with Scottish classes (Clostridia related to stress)
ASVclass = read.csv("ASV_Class.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)
# Split ASV abundance in a dataframe and the vectors for the factors
to group
abund = ASVclass[4:ncol(ASVclass)]
stock = ASVclass$Stock
welfare = ASVclass$Welfare
cortisol = ASVclass$CortisolRange
# Run indicator species command multipatt
IS1 = multipatt(abund, stock, func="r.g", control=how(nperm=9999))
summary(IS1, alpha=0.01)
# Extract p-values
IS1.all <- IS1$sign</pre>
IS1.all.pvals <- IS1.all[,"p.value"]</pre>
## Correct p-values (FDR correction) and bind the results to
original output
fdr.p.value.IS1 <- p.adjust(IS1.all.pvals, method="fdr")</pre>
IS1.all.fdr <- cbind(IS1.all, fdr.p.value.IS1)</pre>
## Omit NA values and print only those with p \ll 0.05
attach(IS1.all.fdr)
IS1.all.fdr.nona.sort <- IS1.all.fdr[order(fdr.p.value.IS1, p.value,</pre>
na.last=NA),]
IS1.all.fdr.nona.sort
detach(phi.all.fdr)
# Re-analyse by subsetting only the Scottish stock (greater
diversity)
ASVclass_Sco = read.csv("ASV_Class_Sco.csv", header=TRUE,
row.names=1)
# Split ASV abundance in a dataframe and the vectors for the factors
to group
abund_Sco = ASVclass_Sco[5:ncol(ASVclass_Sco)]
welfare_Sco = ASVclass_Sco$Welfare
cortisol_Sco = ASVclass_Sco$CortisolRange
```

```
m1 <- lm (Gammaproteobacteria ~ Cortisol, data=ASVclass_Sco)</pre>
summary(m1)
m1 <- lm (Clostridia ~ Cortisol, data=ASVclass_Sco)</pre>
summary(m1)
m1 <- lm (Bacteroidia ~ Cortisol, data=ASVclass_Sco)</pre>
summary(m1)
countData <- as.matrix(read.csv("asv259_table.csv",</pre>
                        row.names=1, check.names=F))
countData <- countData+1 #sums 1 to each cell</pre>
colData <- read.csv("metadata.csv", row.names=1)</pre>
colData <- colData[-c(58:91),]</pre>
all(rownames(colData) %in% colnames(countData))
countData <- countData[,rownames(colData)]</pre>
all(rownames(colData) == colnames(countData))
### Deseq2 by Stock ###
Sco_stock_dseq <- DESeqDataSetFromMatrix(countData=countData,</pre>
                                          colData=colData,
                                          design=~Stock)
Sco_stock_dseq <- Sco_stock_dseq[rowSums(counts(Sco_stock_dseq)) >
58,]
design(Sco_stock_dseq) <- formula(~Stock)</pre>
Sco_stock_dseq <- DESeq(Sco_stock_dseq)</pre>
# Apply pairwise comparison and get output results
Sco_stock_res <- summary(results(Sco_stock_dseq, alpha=0.01,</pre>
contrast=c("Stock","Icelandic","Scottish")),
                            alpha=0.01)
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden Experiment/Datasets")
write.csv(results(Sco_stock_dseq, alpha=0.01,
                  contrast=c("Stock","Icelandic","Scottish")),
          "Deseq_out/Results_Sco_Stock.csv")
# Load result (output) file to analyse
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden
Experiment/Datasets/Deseq_out")
results <- read.csv("Results_Sco_Stock.csv", header=T, row.names=1)</pre>
summary(results)
res <- results(Sco_stock_dseq, alpha=0.01)</pre>
head(results(Sco_stock_dseq, tidy=TRUE))
summary(res)
# Summary list by adjusted p-val (in order):
res <- res[order(res$padj),]</pre>
head(res)
# Subsetting by Scottish Stock
Scotland_colData <- subset(colData, colData$Stock =="Scottish")</pre>
#n=28
Scottish_countData <-</pre>
countData[,c(1,3,7,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,18,19,20,21,22,26,
```

```
28,29,30,31,32,34,41,42,44,46,47,50,57)]
### Deseg2 by Welfare ###
Sco welfare dseg <-</pre>
DESeqDataSetFromMatrix(countData=Scottish_countData,
                                             colData=Scotland_colData.
                                             design=~Welfare)
Sco_welfare_dseg <-</pre>
sco_welfare_dseq[rowSums(counts(sco_welfare_dseq)) > 29,]
design(Sco_welfare_dseq) <- formula(~welfare)</pre>
Sco_welfare_dseq <- DESeq(Sco_welfare_dseq)</pre>
# Apply pairwise comparison and get output results
sco_welfare_res <- summary(results(Sco_welfare_dseq, alpha=0.01,</pre>
contrast=c("Welfare","Compromised","Good")),
                            alpha=0.01)
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden Experiment/Datasets")
write.csv(results(Sco_welfare_dseq, alpha=0.01,
                   contrast=c("Welfare","Compromised","Good")),
          "Deseq_out/Results_Sco_Welfare.csv")
# Load result (output) file to analyse
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden
Experiment/Datasets/Deseq_out")
results <- read.csv("Results_Sco_Welfare.csv", header=T,</pre>
row.names=1)
summary(results)
res <- results(Sco_welfare_dseq, alpha=0.01)</pre>
head(results(Sco_welfare_dseq, tidy=TRUE))
summary(res)
# Summary list by adjusted p-val (in order):
res <- res[order(res$padj),]</pre>
head(res)
# Plotcounts to compare the normalized counts:
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
plotCounts(Sco_welfare_dseq, gene="ASV008_Candidatus Branchiomonas",
           intgroup="Welfare")
### Deseq2 by CortisolRange ###
Sco_cortisol_dseg <-</pre>
DESegDataSetFromMatrix(countData=Scottish_countData,
                                             colData=Scotland_colData,
                                             design=~CortisolRange)
Sco_cortisol_dseq <-</pre>
Sco_cortisol_dseq[rowSums(counts(Sco_cortisol_dseq)) > 29,]
design(Sco_cortisol_dseq) <- formula(~CortisolRange)</pre>
Sco_cortisol_dseq <- DESeq(Sco_cortisol_dseq)</pre>
# Apply pairwise comparison and get output results
Sco_cortisol_res <- summary(results(Sco_cortisol_dseq,</pre>
contrast=c("CortisolRange","Low","High")),
```

```
alpha=0.01)
```

```
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden Experiment/Datasets")
write.csv(results(Sco_cortisol_dseq, alpha=0.01,
                   contrast=c("CortisolRange","Low","High")),
          "Deseq_out/Results_Sco_Cortisol.csv")
# Load result (output) file to analyse
setwd("~/PhD/Chapter 3. Common Garden
Experiment/Datasets/Deseq_out")
results <- read.csv("Results_Sco_Cortisol.csv", header=T,</pre>
row.names=1)
summary(results)
res <- results(Sco_cortisol_dseq, alpha=0.01)</pre>
head(results(Sco_cortisol_dseq, tidy=TRUE))
summary(res)
# Summary list by adjusted p-val (in order):
res <- res[order(res$padj),]</pre>
head(res)
# Plotcounts to compare the normalized counts:
par(mfrow=c(1,1))
plotCounts(Sco_cortisol_dseq, gene="ASV005_clostridium sensu stricto
1",
           intgroup="CortisolRange")
#### Chapter 5 ####
Lumpfish_SD <- read.csv("Lumpfish_SD.csv")</pre>
str(Lumpfish_SD)
summary(Lumpfish_SD)
# Sea lice variability
library(raster)
cv(Lumpfish_SD$SeaLiceC)
# Summary statistics
library(dplyr)
Lumpfish_SD %>%
  group_by(SeaLicePA) %>%
  summarise(meanBW=mean(BW_g),
            sdBW=sd(BW_q))
Lumpfish_SD %>%
  group_by(SeaLicePA) %>%
  summarise(meanTL=mean(TL_mm),
            sdTL=sd(TL_mm))
Lumpfish_SD %>%
  group_by(SeaLicePA) %>%
  summarise(meanWr=mean(Wr),
            sdwr=sd(wr))
Lumpfish_SD %>%
  group_by(SeaLicePA) %>%
  summarise(meanCortisol=mean(Cortisol),
```

```
sdCortisol=sd(Cortisol))
```

```
Lumpfish_SD %>%
 group_by(SeaLicePA) %>%
 summarise(meanLOWSI=mean(LOWSI).
           sdLOWSI=sd(LOWSI))
# Body condition: Underweight and emaciated lumpfish #
Lumpfish_SD %>%
 group_by(NutritionStatus) %>%
 summarise(meanWr=mean(Wr),
           sdwr=sd(wr))
t.test(BW_g ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD)
t.test(TL_mm ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD)
t.test(Wr ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD)
# Subset dataset according to sea lice ingestion (SeaLicePA =
factor)
Lumpfish_SD$SeaLicePA <- factor(Lumpfish_SD$SeaLicePA,</pre>
levels=c("0","1"))
SLC_No <- subset(Lumpfish_SD, SeaLicePA=="0")</pre>
SLC_Yes <- subset(Lumpfish_SD, SeaLicePA=="1")</pre>
# Morphometric range and Mean&SE for non sea lice eaters
summary(SLC_No)
median(SLC_No$LOWSI)
range(SLC_No$LOWSI)
# Morphometric range and Mean&SE for sea lice eaters
summary(SLC_Yes)
median(SLC_Yes$LOWSI)
range(SLC_Yes$LOWSI)
welf.m1 <- glm(LOWSI ~ SeaLicePA + TL_mm,</pre>
              family=poisson(link="log"),
              data=Lumpfish_SD)
summary(welf.m1) #TL significant
plot(welf.m1)
drop1(welf.m1) #better AIC if dropping SeaLicePA
welf.m2 <- glm(LOWSI ~ TL_mm,</pre>
              family=poisson(link="log"),
              data=Lumpfish_SD)
summary(welf.m2) #LOWSI is predicted by size of the fish
plot(welf.m2)
# Mean/median LOWSI value
library(rstatix)
Lumpfish SD %>%
 get_summary_stats(LOWSI, type="median_iqr")
mean(Lumpfish_SD$LOWSI) # 3.37 (already classified as compromised
welfare)
sd(Lumpfish_SD$LOWSI)/sqrt(length(Lumpfish_SD$LOWSI))
```

```
median(Lumpfish_SD$LOWSI) #3
iqr(Lumpfish_SD$LOWSI)
```

```
# Welfare problems by delousing groups (0=No, 1=Yes)
ave(SLC_No$BD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
BodyDamage_0=(5/17)*100
ave(SLC_No$CFD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
CaudalFinDamage_0=(6/17)*100
ave(SLC_No$EC, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
EyeCondition_0=(3/17)*100
ave(SLC_No$SDD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
SuctionDiscDeformity_0=(9/17)*100
ave(SLC_No$RW, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
RelativeWeight_0=(17/17)*100
```

```
ave(SLC_Yes$BD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
BodyDamage_1=(11/18)*100
ave(SLC_Yes$CFD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
CaudalFinDamage_1=(7/18)*100
ave(SLC_Yes$EC, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
EyeCondition_1=(5/18)*100
ave(SLC_Yes$SDD, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
SuctionDiscDeformity_1=(12/18)*100
ave(SLC_Yes$RW, FUN = function(x) sum(x!=0))
RelativeWeight_1=(16/18)*100
```

```
# Tests for welfare differences in delousing groups
wilcox.test(BD ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD, paired=FALSE)
wilcox.test(CFD ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD, paired=FALSE)
wilcox.test(EC ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD, paired=FALSE)
wilcox.test(SDD ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD, paired=FALSE)
wilcox.test(RW ~ SeaLicePA, data=Lumpfish_SD, paired=FALSE)
```

```
# Size effect on lumpfish welfare (Fig.5.1)
library(ggplot2)
library(tidyverse)
ggplot(data=Lumpfish_SD, aes (x=TL_mm, y=LOWSI)) +
   geom_point() +
   geom_smooth(method='lm', formula=y~x) +
   geom_line(aes(y=3), size=1, colour="pale green",
linetype="dashed") +
   geom_line(aes(y=5), size=1, colour="orange", linetype="dashed") +
   xlab("Total length (mm)") + ylab("Welfare (LOWSI points)") +
   scale_y_continuous(breaks=seq(0,10,by=1), limits=c(0,10)) +
   scale_x_continuous(breaks=seq(90,150,by=10), limits=c(90,150)) +
   theme_bw()
```

```
t.test(TL_mm ~ Welfare, data=Lumpfish_SD)
Lumpfish SD %>%
  group bv(Welfare) %>%
  summarise(TL=mean(TL_mm),
           sd=sd(TL_mm))
library(performance)
cort_1 <- lm (Cortisol ~ SeaLicePA + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_SD[-5,])</pre>
summary(cort_1) #p=0.3
plot(cort_1)
check_outliers(cort_1)
cort_2 <- lm (Cortisol ~ SeaLiceC + TL_mm, data=Lumpfish_SD[-5,])</pre>
summary(cort_2) #p=0.4
plot(cort_2)
AIC(cort_1, cort_2)
Lumpfish_SD$SeaLicePA <- factor (Lumpfish_SD$SeaLicePA,</pre>
                               levels=c("0","1"),
labels=c("No","Yes"))
ggplot(Lumpfish_SD, aes(x=SeaLicePA, y=Cortisol, fill=SeaLicePA)) +
  geom_boxplot() +
  xlab("Sea lice ingestion") +
  ylab("Plasma cortisol (ng/ml)") +
  ylim(0,260) + theme_bw()
# Relationship cortisol and LOWSI
qqplot(Lumpfish_SD, aes(x=LOWSI, y=Cortisol)) +
  geom_point() +
  geom_smooth(method='lm', formula=y~x)
alpha <- read.table("alpha_results.text", header=TRUE)</pre>
metadata <- read.csv("metadata.csv")</pre>
library(ggplot2)
library(grid)
library(gridExtra)
library(lme4)
library(nlme)
library(permute)
library(lattice)
library(vegan)
library(pheatmap)
library(patchwork)
library(reshape2)
library(stringr)
library(DESeq2)
# Double check samples are in the same order
all.equal(alpha$sample, metadata$SampleID)
# Add variables to alpha dataset
alpha$SeaLicePA <- metadata$SeaLicePA</pre>
alpha$SeaLicePA <- factor(alpha$SeaLicePA, levels=c("0","1"),</pre>
```

```
labels=c("No","Yes"))
alpha$TL_mm <- metadata$TL_mm</pre>
alpha$welfare <- metadata$welfare
alpha$welfare<- factor(alpha$welfare,</pre>
levels=c("Compromised","Good"))
alpha$LOWSI <- metadata$LOWSI
alpha$LOWSI <- factor(alpha$LOWSI,</pre>
levels=c("1","2","3","4","5","6","7"))
alpha1 <- lm(chao1 ~ SeaLicePA + TL_mm, data=alpha)</pre>
summary(alpha1)
plot(alpha1)
alpha2 <- lm(shannon ~ SeaLicePA + TL_mm, data=alpha)
summary(alpha2)
plot(alpha2)
beta <- read.table("braycurtis_distance.tsv", header=TRUE)</pre>
beta <- beta[-c(1:57),-c(1:57)]</pre>
metadata <- read.csv("metadata.csv")</pre>
# Double check samples are in the same order:
all.equal(rownames(metadata), rownames(beta))
# Subset metadata by sea lice ingestion
Sealice_No <- subset (metadata, SeaLicePA=="0")</pre>
Sealice_Yes <- subset (metadata, SeaLicePA=="1")</pre>
# Betadisper
bcMDS <- metaMDS(beta) #beta is BrayCurtis distance matrix</pre>
bCMDS
stressplot(bcMDS) # Stress=0.21; Non-metric fit (R2)=0.956; Linear
fit (R2)=0.76
# Extract points (NMDS1 and NMDS2) from MDS
NMDS1 <- bcMDS$points[,1]</pre>
NMDS2 <- bcMDS$points[,2]</pre>
# Add them to the metadata dataset
nMDS.plot <- cbind(NMDS1,NMDS2,metadata)</pre>
# Plot NMDS ordination with sea lice consumption groups
nMDS.plot$SeaLicePA <- factor(nMDS.plot$SeaLicePA,</pre>
levels=c("0","1"),
                              labels=c("No","Yes"))
ggplot(nMDS.plot, aes(NMDS1,NMDS2,colour=SeaLicePA)) +
  geom_point(position=position_jitter(0.1), size=3) +
  theme_bw(base_size=12) +
  labs(x="nMDS1", y="nMDS2") +
  theme(axis.title.x=element_text(face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(face="bold"))
# PERMANOVA
adonis2(beta ~ metadata$SeaLicePA * metadata$TL_mm)
adonis2(beta ~ metadata$SeaLicePA + metadata$TL_mm)
# Extract p-values from adonis model
```

```
adonis.coeffs <- adonis$aov.tab</pre>
adonis.pvals <- adonis.coeffs[,"Pr(>F)"]
# Correct p-values (FDR correction) and bind results to original
output
fdr.pvals <- p.adjust(adonis.pvals, method="fdr")</pre>
adonis.all.fdr <- cbind(adonis.coeffs, fdr.pvals)</pre>
# Stats for beta diversity differences #
# Sea lice ingestion
# Extract mean distance to centroids
beta.SL <- as.dist(beta)</pre>
betadisper_SL <- betadisper(beta.SL, metadata$SeaLicePA,</pre>
                            type="centroid", bias.adjust=TRUE)
summary(betadisper_SL)
plot(betadisper_SL)
anova(betadisper_SL)
permutest(betadisper_SL)
MDTC.SL <- meandist(beta.SL, metadata$SeaLicePA)</pre>
MDTC.SL
ASV_gen <- read.csv("asv191_table.csv", row.names=1)</pre>
metadata <- read.csv("metadata.csv", row.names=1)</pre>
# Transpose matrix so samples are in rows and species in columns
tASV_gen <- t(ASV_gen)</pre>
# Create relative abundance matrix from a total abundance matrix
library(funrar)
abs\_abund = as.matrix(tASV\_gen)
head(abs_abund) #absolute abundances
rel_abund = make_relative(abs_abund)
head(rel_abund) #relative abundances
ASVra <- rel_abund
# Select the 25 most abundant ASVs
tASVra <- t(ASVra)
Bar25ra <- head(tASVra, 25)</pre>
# Transpose data back so species are in columns and samples in rows
tBar25ra < - t(Bar25ra)
# Create SampleID name so they can be split later:
metadata$name2 <- paste(metadata$Fish, metadata$SeaLicePA,</pre>
metadata$welfare.
                        metadata$NutritionStatus,
metadata$CortisolRange)
all.equal(row.names(tBar25ra), row.names(metadata)) #check same
order
row.names(tBar25ra) <- metadata$name2 #change header name in rows</pre>
# Convert data frame from a "wide" format to a "long" format where
library(reshape)
mtop25ra = melt(tBar25ra, id=c("ASV"))
mtop25ra$x1 #34 levels=samples arranged in the new format
# Split names into extra columns for annotations
```

```
library(stringr)
fish_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$X1," ", 5)
fish_annot <- fish_annot[,1]</pre>
sealice_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$x1, " ". 5)</pre>
sealice_annot <- sealice_annot[,2]</pre>
welfare_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$x1, " ", 5)</pre>
welfare_annot <- welfare_annot[,3]</pre>
wr_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$X1, " ", 5)</pre>
wr_annot <- wr_annot[,4]</pre>
cort_annot <- str_split_fixed(mtop25ra$x1," ", 5)</pre>
cort_annot <- cort_annot[,5]</pre>
# Add separate columns to the mtop25 dataset
mtop25ra$fish <- fish_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$sealice <- sealice_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$welfare <- welfare_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$wr <- wr_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$cort <- cort_annot</pre>
mtop25ra$sealice <- factor(mtop25ra$sealice, levels=c("0","1"),</pre>
labels=c("No"."Yes"))
mtop25ra$welfare <- factor(mtop25ra$welfare, levels=c("Compromised",</pre>
"Good"))
mtop25ra$wr <- factor(mtop25ra$wr,</pre>
levels=c("Normal","Underweight","Emaciated"))
mtop25ra$cort <- factor(mtop25ra$cort, levels=c("Low","High"))</pre>
# Relative abundance according to the ingestion of sea lice
(Fiq.5.3)
qqplot(mtop25ra, aes(x=fish, y=value, fill=x2)) +
  geom_bar(stat="identity", position="fill", colour="black") +
  facet_grid(rows=NULL, cols=vars(sealice), scales="free",
space="fixed") +
  theme(axis.text.x=element_text(angle=90, size=8, vjust=0),
        axis.title.x=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        axis.title.y=element_text(size=12, face="bold"
        legend.title=element_text(size=12, face="bold"),
        legend.text=element_text(size=10)) +
  labs(x="Fish ID", y="Relative abundance", fill="ASV")
ASVab = read.csv("asv191_metatable.csv", header=TRUE, row.names=1)
library(indicspecies)
# Split ASV abundance in a dataframe and the vectors for the factors
to group
abund = ASVab[,8:nco](ASVab)]
sealice = ASVab$SeaLicePA
welfare = ASVab$welfare
cortisol = ASVab$CortisolRange
condition = ASVab$NutritionStatus
# Run indicator species command multipatt
IS1 = multipatt(abund, sealice, func="r.g", control=how(nperm=9999))
summary(IS1, alpha=0.05)
# Extract p-values for each analysis
IS1.all <- IS1$sign</pre>
IS1.all.pvals <- IS1.all[,"p.value"]</pre>
```

```
# Correct p-values (FDR correction) and bind the results to original
     output
     fdr.p.value.IS1 <- p.adjust(IS1.all.pvals, method="fdr")</pre>
     IS1.all.fdr <- cbind(IS1.all, fdr.p.value.IS1)</pre>
     # Omit NA values and print only taxa with p < 0.05
     attach(IS1.all.fdr)
     IS1.all.fdr.nona.sort <- IS1.all.fdr[order(fdr.p.value.IS1, p.value,</pre>
     na.last=NA),]
     IS1.all.fdr.nona.sort
     detach(IS1.all.fdr) # No DA taxa after FDR correction
     if (!requireNamespace("BiocManager", quietly = TRUE))
       install.packages("BiocManager")
     BiocManager::install("DESeg2")
     library(DESeq2)
     # Convert phyloseq object to DeSeq format
     library(DESeq2)
     DES <- phyloseq_to_deseq2(LumpMic1, ~ SeaLicePA * Welfare)</pre>
     # Run DESeq2 analysis (negative binomial GLM framework)
     dds <- DESeq(DES)
     # Investigate results
     res <- results(dds)</pre>
     deseq.results <- as.data.frame(res)</pre>
     df <- deseq.results
     df$taxon <- rownames(df)
     df <- df %>% arrange(log2FoldChange, padj)
     # Print the results; flitered and sorted by pvalue and effectsize
     library(knitr)
     df <- df %>% filter(pvalue < 0.05 & log2FoldChange > 1.5) %>%
       arrange(pvalue, log2FoldChange)
     kable(df, digits = 5)
     devtools::install_github("stefpeschel/NetCoMi", dependencies = TRUE,
     force=TRUE, repos = c("https://cloud.r-project.org/",
BiocManager::repositories()))
     # Load packages
     library(NetCoMi)
     library(readx1)
     library(phyloseq)
     library(dplyr)
     # Load datasets for non-delousing lumpfish
    asv_mat1 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLINo.xlsx", sheet="ASVtable")
tax_mat1 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLINo.xlsx", sheet="ASVtaxonomy")</pre>
     samples_df1 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLINo.xlsx", sheet="Samples")</pre>
    samples_df1$welfare <- factor(samples_df1$welfare,
levels=c("Compromised","Good"))
     # Define row names for each dataset
     asv_mat1 <- asv_mat1 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("ASV")
     tax_mat1 <- tax_mat1 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("ASV")
     samples_df1 <- samples_df1 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("Samples")
```

```
# Transform asv_mat and tax_mat into matrices
asv_mat1 <- as.matrix(asv_mat1)</pre>
tax_mat1 <- as.matrix(tax_mat1)</pre>
# Transform to phyloseg object
OTU = otu_table(asv_mat1, taxa_are_rows=TRUE)
TAX = tax_table(tax_mat1)
samples = sample_data(samples_df1)
LumpMic_NoSLI <- phyloseq(OTU, TAX, samples)</pre>
LumpMic_NoSLI
# Load datasets for delousing lumpfish
asv_mat2 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLIYes.xlsx", sheet="ASVtable")</pre>
tax_mat2 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLIYes.xlsx", sheet="ASVtaxonomy")</pre>
samples_df2 <- read_excel("phyloseq1_SLIYes.xlsx", sheet="Samples")</pre>
samples_df2$welfare <- factor(samples_df2$welfare,</pre>
levels=c("Compromised", "Good"))
# Define row names for each dataset
asv_mat2 <- asv_mat2 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("ASV")
tax_mat2 <- tax_mat2 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("ASV"
samples_df2 <- samples_df2 %>% tibble::column_to_rownames("samples")
# Transform asv_mat and tax_mat into matrices
asv_mat2 <- as.matrix(asv_mat2)</pre>
tax_mat2 <- as.matrix(tax_mat2)</pre>
# Transform to phyloseq object
OTU = otu_table(asv_mat2, taxa_are_rows=TRUE)
TAX = tax_table(tax_mat2)
samples = sample_data(samples_df2)
LumpMic_SLI <- phyloseq(OTU, TAX, samples)</pre>
LumpMic_SLI
# Split phyloseq object according to welfare
NoSLI <- metagMisc::phyloseq_sep_variable(LumpMic_NoSLI, "Welfare")</pre>
# Network construction
net_NoSLI <- netConstruct(data=NoSLI$Compromised,</pre>
                          data2=NoSLI$Good.
                          filtTax="highestFreq",
                          filtTaxPar=list(highestFreg=50),
                          measure="pearson",
                          normMethod="mclr",
                          zeroMethod="none",
                          sparsMethod="threshold",
                          thresh=0.3)
# Network analysis
props_NoSLI <- netAnalyze(net_NoSLI)</pre>
summary(props_NoSLI)
# Identify the strongest positive and negative associations of each
network
# Group 1 - Compromised welfare
```

```
assomat1 <- net_NoSLI$assoMat1</pre>
diag(assomat1) <- 0
max(assomat1)
which(assomat1 == max(assomat1), arr.ind = TRUE)
min(assomat1)
which(assomat1 == min(assomat1), arr.ind = TRUE) # no negative
associations
# Group 2 - Good welfare
assomat2 <- net_NoSLI$assoMat2</pre>
diag(assomat2) <- 0
max(assomat2)
which(assomat2 == max(assomat2), arr.ind = TRUE)
min(assomat2)
which(assomat2 == min(assomat2), arr.ind = TRUE)
# Network plot (Fig.5.4)
plot(props_NoSLI, sameLayout=TRUE, layoutGroup="union",
     rmSingles="inboth", nodeSize="mclr", nodeColor="cluster",
     labelScale=TRUE, shortenLabels="intelligent", labelLength=14,
     labelPattern=c(10,"'",3), cexNodes = 4, cexLabels = 5.5,
     cexHubLabels = 3, cexTitle = 1.8,
     groupNames = c("Compromised welfare", "Good welfare"),
     showTitle=TRUE, colorVec=rainbow(30), nodeTransp=50,
repulsion=1.05,
     hubBorderCol = "black")
# Network quantitative comparison (permutation tests) with block-
wise execution (in parallel)
# Create the matrix with permuted group labels
permGroupMat <- createAssoPerm(props_NoSLI,</pre>
                                nPerm = 100,
                                computeAsso = FALSE,
                                 seed = 123456)
nPerm_all <- 100
blocksize <- 20
repetitions <- nPerm_all / blocksize # 5 repetitions</pre>
# Execute in parallel
library("foreach")
cores <- 2 # depending on PC power
cl <- snow::makeCluster(cores)</pre>
doSNOW::registerDoSNOW(cl)
# Create progress bar:
pb <- utils::txtProgressBar(0, repetitions, style=3)</pre>
progress <- function(n){</pre>
  utils::setTxtProgressBar(pb, n)
}
opts <- list(progress = progress)</pre>
tmp <- foreach(i = 1:repetitions,</pre>
                .packages = c("NetCoMi"),
                .options.snow = opts) %dopar% {
```

```
blocksize,
```

```
ress(i) NetCoMi::createAssoPerm(props_NoSLI,
р
r
                 nPerm =
0
                                          permGroupMat =
g
permGroupMat[(i-1) * blocksize
+ 1:blocksize, ],
                                          computeAsso = TRUE,
                                          fileStoreAssoPerm =
paste0("assoPerm", i),
                                          storeCountsPerm = FALSE,
append = FALSE)
               }
# Close progress bar
close(pb)
# Stop cluster
snow::stopCluster(cl)
```
```
# Combine the matrices and store them into a new file (netCompare
needs ext file)
library(filematrix)
assoPerm_all <- NULL
for(i in 1:repetitions){
 assoPerm_tmp <- fm.open(filenamebase = paste0("assoPerm", i) ,
readonly = TRUE)
 assoPerm_all <- rbind(assoPerm_all, as.matrix(assoPerm_tmp))</pre>
 close(assoPerm_tmp)
}
dim(assoPerm_all)
# Combine the permutation association matrices
fm.create.from.matrix(filenamebase = "assoPerm", mat = assoPerm_all)
# Pass the combined matrix to netCompare function
comp_noSLI <- netCompare(props_NoSLI, permTest = TRUE, nPerm = 1000,</pre>
                         fileLoadAssoPerm = "assoPerm"
                         storeCountsPerm = FALSE, seed = 123456)
summary(comp_noSLI)
# Split phyloseq object according to sea lice ingestion
YesSLI <- metagMisc::phyloseq_sep_variable(LumpMic_SLI, "welfare")
# Network construction
net_YesSLI <- netConstruct(data=YesSLI$Compromised,</pre>
                           data2=YesSLI$Good,
                           filtTax="highestFreq",
                           filtTaxPar=list(highestFreq=50),
                           measure="pearson",
                           normMethod="mclr"
                           zeroMethod="none".
                           sparsMethod="threshold",
                           thresh=0.3.
                           seed=123456)
# Network analysis
props_YesSLI <- netAnalyze(net_YesSLI)</pre>
summary(props_YesSLI)
# Identify the strongest positive and negative associations of each
network
# Group 1 - Compromised welfare
assomat1 <- net_YesSLI$assoMat1</pre>
diag(assomat1) <- 0
max(assomat1)
which(assomat1 == max(assomat1), arr.ind = TRUE)
min(assomat1)
which(assomat1 == min(assomat1), arr.ind = TRUE) # no negative
associations
# Group 2 - Good welfare
assomat2 <- net_YesSLI$assoMat2</pre>
```

```
diag(assomat2) <- 0</pre>
max(assomat2)
which(assomat2 == max(assomat2), arr.ind = TRUE)
min(assomat2)
which(assomat2 == min(assomat2), arr.ind = TRUE)
# Network plot
plot(props_YesSLI, sameLayout=TRUE, layoutGroup="union",
     rmSingles="inboth", nodeSize="mclr", nodeColor="cluster",
     labelScale=TRUE, shortenLabels="intelligent", labelLength=14,
     labelPattern=c(10,"'",3), cexNodes = 4, cexLabels = 5.5,
     cexHubLabels = 3, cexTitle = 1.8,
     groupNames = c("Compromised welfare", "Good welfare"),
     showTitle=TRUE, colorVec=rainbow(30), nodeTransp=50,
repulsion=1.05,
     hubBorderCol = "black")
# Network quantitative comparison (permutation tests) with block-
wise execution (in parallel)
# Create the matrix with permuted group labels
permGroupMat <- createAssoPerm(props_YesSLI,</pre>
                                nPerm = 100,
                                computeAsso = FALSE,
                                seed = 123456)
nPerm_all <- 100
blocksize <- 20
repetitions <- nPerm_all / blocksize # 5 repetitions</pre>
# Execute in parallel
library("foreach")
cores <- 2 # depending on PC power
cl <- snow::makeCluster(cores)</pre>
doSNOW::registerDoSNOW(cl)
# Create progress bar:
pb <- utils::txtProgressBar(0, repetitions, style=3)</pre>
progress <- function(n){</pre>
  utils::setTxtProgressBar(pb, n)
}
opts <- list(progress = progress)</pre>
tmp <- foreach(i = 1:repetitions,</pre>
                .packages = c("NetCoMi"),
                .options.snow = opts) %dopar% {
                  progress(i)
                  NetCoMi::createAssoPerm(props_YesSLI, nPerm =
blocksize,
                                           permGroupMat =
```

```
permGroupMat[(i-1) * blocksize
+ 1:blocksize, ],
paste0("assoPerm", i),append = FALSE)
}
```

Close progress barclose(pb)

```
computeAsso = TRUE,fileStoreAssoPerm =
storeCountsPerm = FALSE,
# Stop cluster
snow::stopCluster(cl)
# Combine the matrices and store them into a new file (netCompare
needs ext file)
library(filematrix)
assoPerm_all <- NULL
for(i in 1:repetitions){
  assoPerm_tmp <- fm.open(filenamebase = paste0("assoPerm", i) ,</pre>
readonly = TRUE)
  assoPerm_all <- rbind(assoPerm_all, as.matrix(assoPerm_tmp))</pre>
 close(assoPerm_tmp)
}
dim(assoPerm_all)
# Combine the permutation association matrices
fm.create.from.matrix(filenamebase = "assoPerm", mat = assoPerm_all)
# Pass the combined matrix to netCompare function
comp_YesSLI <- netCompare(props_YesSLI, permTest = TRUE, nPerm =</pre>
1000,
                           fileLoadAssoPerm = "assoPerm",
                           storeCountsPerm = FALSE, seed = 123456)
summary(comp_YesSLI)
```

###

Scientific publication

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Aquaculture journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aquaculture

Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777

Development, validation and testing of an Operational Welfare Score Index for farmed lumpfish *Cyclopterus lumpus* L



C. Gutierrez Rabadan, C. Spreadbury, S. Consuegra, C. Garcia de Leaniz*

Centre for Sustainable Aquadic Research (CSAR), Swansea University, Department of Biosciences, Swansea SA2 8PP, UK

ARTICLEINFO ABSTRACT Keywords: Lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) are widely used for controlling sea lice in salmon farming, but their welfare is OWI often challenged by poor husbandry, stress, and disease outbreaks, which compromise their ability to delouse Relative weight salmon and cause public concern. It is hence important to identify when the welfare of lumpfish is being Salmon farming compromised in a simple and effective manner so that remedial actions can be taken. We developed, validated Cleaner fish and tested a Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) based on a visual assessment of skin and fin Welfare indicators damage, eye condition, sucker deformities and relative weight, operational welfare indicators that fish farmers considered to be the most informative and were validated against cortisol measurements. We also present percentile length-weight charts to enable fish farmers to detect underweight and emaciated lumpfish at different stages of development. The lumpish welfare score index was quick and easy to score and was highly repeatable (intra class correlation coefficient = 0.83 ± 0.05). Most lumpfish (71%) displayed good welfare, but significant differences were found between six commercial sites and 28% of lumpfish had lower than normal weights for their length, and 10% were emaciated. The most common welfare problems were sucker deformities and fin damage in hatcheries, and poor eye condition and body damage in sea cages, conditions that may increase the risk of emaciation. Being able to score the welfare of lumpfish quickly and accurately will help improve their welfare, reduce stress-related mortalities, and improve the sustainability of the salmon farming industry.

1. Introduction

Growing consumer demand for ethically-produced food has led to the development of specific welfare standards for a few farmed fish such as Atlantic salmon (Pettersen et al., 2014; RSPCA, 2018), but only generic guidelines exist for most farmed species (Cooke, 2016). Given the large diversity of fish, and their very different habitat and social requirements, welfare criteria that may work well for some species may not be applicable to others (Tont et al., 2019; Treasurer and Feledi, 2014).

The lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus L.) is a novel species to aquaculture that is increasingly being used to control sea lice (Lepeophthetrus salmonts), an ectoparasite that represents one of the major threats to salmon farming (Torrissen et al., 2013). Sea lice cause substantial economic losses to industry (Costello, 2009b), impact the survival and welfare of wild and farmed salmon alike (Costello, 2006; Costello, 2009a), and tarnish public's perception of salmon farming (Hersoug, 2015; Jackson et al., 2018). Increasing resistance to chemotherapeutants traditionally used to combat sea lice (Aaen et al., 2015) has prompted an interest on the use of cleaner fish as an environmentally-

friendly 'green' alternative to medicines (Powell et al., 2018b). Commercial production of lumpfish has grown exponentially over the past few years, and reached 4.8 million in 2017 in the UK alone (Trea urer et al., 2018b). However, their survival is often poor, and there is increasing concern regarding their welfare (Brooker et al., 2018; Treasurer and Feledi, 2014). Studies suggest that between 33% and 50% of lumpfish may die following deployment in salmon cages (Imsland et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2019; Stien et al., 2020), reaching 100% in some cases (European Union Reference Laboratory for Fish Diseases, 2016; OneKind, 2018). Infectious diseases are a common cause of mortality in lumpfish (Brooker et al., 2018; Powell et al., 2018b), but they are not the only ones. Starvation, poor husbandry, high water temperatures, strong currents, low oxygen, and traumatic injuries caused by rough handling have also been cited as sources of mortality (Anon, 2020; Grefsrud et al., 2019; Stien et al., 2020) and compromise the welfare of lumpfish (Hjeltnes et al., 2018; Treasurer et al., 2018a). The public and retailers generally support the use of lumpfish for controlling sea lice because of the environmental and efficacy benefits that they provide (Anon, 2013), but only as long as the welfare of cleaner fish is not compromised (Treasurer et al., 2018a).

E-mail address: c.garciadeleaniz@swamea.ac.uk (C. Garcia de Leaniz).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735777

Available online 04 August 2020

^{*} Corresponding author.

Received 4 April 2020; Received in revised form 3 July 2020; Accepted 25 July 2020

^{0044-8486/ © 2020} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Thus, the development of suitable metrics of lumpfish welfare is important, not only for identifying those activities that compromise welfare, but also for quality assurance (Brooker et al., 2018; Treasurer et al., 2018a) and for restoring public confidence on the salmon farming industry and its ability to tackle the threat posed by sea lice (Hersoug, 2015; Jackson et al., 2018).

To be effective, operational welfare indicators need to be practical and easy to use, or they will not be used by fish farmers (North et al., 2008; van de Vis et al., 2012). The use of Operational Welfare Indicators (OWIs) represents a practical approach to achieve this, as these Indicators are designed to be easily scored at the farm (Folkedal et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2018). Welfare indicators need to be fit for purpose and be tailored to particular species and uses (Gismervik et al., 2018; Kolarevic et al., 2018), although some OWIs are more generic than others and may be used across species and contexts. For example, a high prevalence of deformities, external injuries, and fin damage may signal low welfare in many species, particularly those reared at high densities (Hoyle et al., 2007; Noble et al., 2012). Although genetic factors should not be excluded, fin damage can result from aggression, but also from stress (Turnbull et al., 1996) and may cause detrimental effects on growth and survival by increasing the susceptibility to infection, potentially impacting swimming ability (Noble et al., 2012). In contrast, some welfare indicators, like eye and body darkening, can be indicative of social stress in territorial or aggressive species like Nile tilapia (Champneys et al., 2018; Freitas et al., 2014) or Atlantic salmon (O'Connor et al., 1999; Suter and Huntingford, 2002), but may be totally unsuitable for shoaling fish. Other individual based indicators, such as plasma cortisol (Pavlidis et al., 2013), expression of stress-related genes (Rodriguez-Barreto et al., 2019; Uren Webster et al., 2018), or the presence of bacterial biomarkers (Uren Webster et al., 2020), require analytical equipment and training that are not typically available within an aquaculture setting; they are laboratory-based welfare indicators, not operational ones (Noble et al., 2018).

Assessing the welfare of lumpfish under farm conditions poses particular challenges. Lumpfish are weak swimmers (Hvas et al., 2018) and lack a swim bladder, which makes them particularly vulnerable to exhaustion and barotrauma if they cannot attach to a suitable substrate (Powell et al., 2018a). Juveniles tend to aggregate in clumps, display a low cortisol response (Treasurer et al., 2018a) and lack Mauthner neurons (Hale, 2000), which makes it difficult to assess their stress response and determine optimal rearing densities (Powell et al., 2018b). In addition, lumpfish can easily suffer from malnutrition, as they cannot survive grazing on sea lice alone and need supplemental feeding (Imsland et al., 2018b; Treasurer et al., 2018a). Thus, some measure of body condition should be included in an operational welfare indicator for this species (Johannesen et al., 2018). A recent report has reviewed some potential welfare indicators for lumpfish (Noble et al., 2019), but there is no validated index that can be used under farm conditions. Here we used an aggregated welfare indicator approach (Rousing et al., 2001) to develop, validate, refine and test a Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) based on the visual assessment of several operational individual-based welfare indicators that can be easily scored in hatcheries and sea cages.

2. Materials and methods

To develop a practical index of welfare for lumpfish (LOWSI) we adopted a workflow that consisted of four steps (Fig. 1): (1) selection and screening of individual-based OWIs in collaboration with lumpfish farmers; (2) validation of OWIs against measures of cortisol and body condition; (3) refinement and simplification of OWIs, and (4) testing of an aggregated operational welfare score index at six commercial sites.

2.1. Selection and screening of individual-based OWIs

To select potential welfare indicators for testing, a questionnaire



Fig. 1. Work-flow used to develop an operational welfare score index for farmed lumpfish.

was given to 53 lumpfish farmers and other participants in the Lumpfish Welfare Workshop at the First Welfare In Aquaculture Symposium (Swansea, 14th May 2019). During the focus group, respondents were asked to assess the potential utility of 12 welfare indicators for lumpfish (Table S1). We excluded from further testing those indicators that were group based (mortality, growth), laboratory based (blood analysis), or required specialized training (parasite/disease screening), or had proved unreliable (body darkening) or shown limited or no variation in pilot trials (operculum erosion, body deformities). We focussed on 6 potential OWIs (external body damage, fin damage, eye condition, eye darkening, suction cup deformities, and relative weight) as described below. For these, we scored high resolution photographs (Canon EOS 800D; EFS 18-55 mm, TAMRON 90 mm lens) of the body, eyes, fins and suction cup of 95 freshly euthanized lumpfish (overdose of anaesthesia, UK HO schedule 1) sampled at two hatcheries (n = 60, 5-152 g) and one salmon cage (n = 35, 22-100 g) in the UK. A tripod and a standard black background fitted with a scale and a reference colour chart (Colour Checker Passport, X-rite) were used to ensure consistency between photographs.

2.2. External body damage

External body damage was assessed on a 2-point scale (absence: 0, presence: 1) depending on the presence of skin lesions, including erosion, reddening, abrasion and body ulcers (Fig. S1).

2.3. Fin damage

We scored damage of the 4-rayed fins (dorsal, caudal, anal and pectoral) on a 5-point Likert scale according to the extension of the tissue area affected (Fig. S2). Left and right pectoral fins were averaged, and an aggregated total fin damage score ranging between 0 and 20 was obtained by summing the erosion of the four fins.

2

2.4. Eye condition

Three eye conditions (eye damage, exophthalmia and cataracts) were scored on a 3-point scale, depending on the extension of the condition (0: absence; 1: one eye affected; 2: both eyes affected; Fig. S3). An aggregated eye condition score was obtained by adding the three scores, with values ranging from 0 to 6.

2.5. Eye darkening

To quantify eye darkening, we divided photographs of the eye sciera into eight equal sections and assessed the percentage of darkening in each octant (Champneys et al., 2018). The average of the left and right eyes was converted to a 5-point Likert scale depending on the extent of the darkened area (Fig. S4).

2.6. Suction cup deformities

Deformity of the ventral suction cup was assessed according to five parameters that were found to vary on a pilot screening: (1) symmetry of the suction cup, (2) indentations, (3) depressions, (4) papillae development, and (5) deformity or curling of the ventral section of the pectoral fins. Each condition was assessed on a 5-point Likert scale depending on severity and extent (Fig. S5), and all scores were summed to provide a suction cup deformity score, with values ranging from 0 to 20, that classified the fish into five suction cup deformity classes: Class A - Perfect suction cup (total score = 0). Symmetrical, without indentations, flat, with well-developed papillae and with pectoral fins that do not obliterate the suction cup. Class B - Mild deformity (total score 1-5). Slight asymmetry, with some depression and/or indentations and minor under-development of the papillae or slight curling of the pectoral fins. Class C - Moderate deformity (total score 6-10). Moderate asymmetry, depressions and indentations, and clear underdevelopment of the papillae or curling of the pectoral fins that hide parts of the suction cup. Class D - Substantial deformity (total score 11-15). Substantial asymmetry, with deep depressions and indentations, substantial under-development of the papillae, and significant curling of the pectoral fins that hide most of the suction cup. Class E -Severe deformity (total score > 15), non-functional suction cup. Severe asymmetry, with severe depressions, indentations and underdevelopment of the papillae and totally deformed or curled pectoral fins that cover all the suction cup.

2.7. Relative weight

Relative weight (W,) was used as an index of body condition, rather than Fulton's condition factor (Blackwell et al., 2000), because it is more appropriate for fish like lumpfish that have an unusual body shape (Al Nahdi et al., 2016). We collected data on total length (TL, mm) and body mass (W, wet weight, g) of 2658 farmed lumpfish sampled during 2015-2019 at four stages of development: (S1) Larvae (0-1 g), (S2) Predeployment juveniles (1-10 g), (S3) Pre-deployment juveniles (+10 g) and (S4) Post-deployment. From these, expected standard weights (Wa) were computed for each stage of development using the parameters of the fitted regressions log10 $W_a = a + (b * \log 10 \text{ TL})$, where a is the intercept, b is the slope and TL is the total length. Relative weight was then calculated as $W_r = 100^*(W/W_s)$, where W is the observed weight and Ws is the standard (i.e. expected) weight for fish of that length and that stage of development (Blackwell et al., 2000). We considered that fish were underweight if they were 10-25% below their expected weight (i.e. Wr = 90-75%) and severely underweight or emaciated if they were 25% or more below their expected weight (i.e. Wr < 75%), when their head typically becomes the widest part of the body (Noble et al., 2019). To aid farmers to quickly identify underweight fish we constructed percentile length-weight charts for each stage of development (Fig. S6).

2.8. Validation of individual-based OWIs

We used two criteria for OWI validation: (1) reliability, and (2) construct validity. Reliability measures the magnitude of the measurement error in relation to the inherent variability between subjects (Bartlett and Frost, 2008) and was calculated by scoring the same fish twice by the same and different raters. Construct validity is the degree to which scores are consistent with a priori hypothesised differences between relevant groups, based on the assumption that the scale validly accurately captures the construct it purports to measure (Mokkink et al., 2010).

2.9. Reltability

Two raters (A and B) working independently scored the images of the 95 lumpfish used for the OWI screening above. Images were allocated at random. Observer A also scored the same images after 8 months, to provide a measure of intra-rater reliability. For each OWI, we calculated the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) using the *tr* R package (Gamer et al., 2019) and the single-rating, absolute-agreement, 2-way random-effects model. The ICC is a suitable tool to measure reliability, as it considers both the strength of the correlation and the agreement between measurements (Koo and Li, 2016).

2.10. Construct validity

In the absence of an agreed standard for measuring lumpfish welfare, construct validity was evaluated via two surrogate welfare measures previously tested on other species (Noble et al., 2018): relative weight (as an indication of poor growth) as described above, and plasma cortisol (involved in the stress response). An aggregated welfare score was calculated for each fish by adding the scores of each OWI (range: 0 to 51), these were standardized and centred by subtracting the mean and dividing by the standard deviation before being analysed by principal component analysis (PCA) using the *factoextra* R package (Kassambara and Mundt, 2019).

To measure plasma cortisol, we collected blood through a puncture of the caudal vein (lithium-heparinised Vacutainer Blood Collection System) in a sample of recently euthanized lumpfish used in the OWI scoring above (n = 55, range = 22–152 g). Blood was collected mainly in the morning (0900–1300 h), by the same person, using the same equipment, and within 30 s from cessation of opercular movement to reduce unwanted variation. We employed the plasma preparation protocol from ThermoFisher Scientific to separate plasma from whole blood (Thavasu et al., 1992) consisting of centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 10 min at 15 °C and storage at -80 °C until analysis. For cortisol quantification we used a competitive ELISA test (DetectX Cortisol Enzyme Immunoassay Kit, Arbor Assays, Michigan, USA), that has been widely used before to measure plasma cortisol in fish (Huyben et al., 2019; Uren Webster et al., 2020).

Each plasma sample was treated with a dissociation reagent to increase its yield (mean recovery rate 96.7%) and diluted with buffer (1:50) before cortisol determination. Standards, blanks and test samples were loaded in duplicate and absorbance values (OD) were read with a SpectroStar Nano Plate Reader at 450 nm wave-length. The average of two duplicates was used to create a standard curve (R² = 0.994), and concentrations were multiplied by the dilution factor (1:100) to obtain plasma cortisol values (ng/ml). Assay sensitivity was 24.7 pg/ml, while detection limit was 18.01 pg/ml. Intra-assay and inter-assay precision (CV%) for duplicate samples was 15.4% and 6.8%, respectively.

2.11. Refinement & simplification

As fish that had one eroded fin typically showed erosion in others, we examined the pairwise matrix of Spearman's rank correlation coefficients between fin erosion scores to identify the most sensitive fins for

3

Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777



Fig. 2. Variation in operational welfare indicatom (OWIs) in lumpfish sampled from (A) hatcheries (pre-deployment, n = 60) and (B) in sea cages (post-deployment, n = 35). Shown are the percentage of fish scored on a 5-point Likert scale (score 0-4) for each indicator, depending on the extent and severity of each condition.

damage scoring. We then simplified the original OWI scores into a 10point Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) that included relative weight and the four most reliable OWIs, all scored on a 3-point scale to ensure equal weighting.

2.12. Testing

To test the application of the LOWSI, 245 lumpfish from three hatcherles (H1-H3, n = 120) and three sea farms (F1-F3, n = 125) were scored by one or two raters during 2018-2019. Rearing temperature ranged between 8 and 12 °C, density between 4.5 and 24 kg/m3 in hatcherles and between 4 and 15% of salmon numbers in sea cages, and photoperiod between 12 and 24h light at hatcheries, depending on stage of development. Lumpfish were classified into three welfare classes depending on the values of the LOWSI: (A) Good welfare (< 3 points), (B) Moderately compromised welfare (3-5 points), and (C) Severely compromised welfare (> 5 points). ICC estimates of reliability were computed as above, using the scores of the lead author and 8 fish farmers on a subsample of 150 fish that were scored twice. To assess the practical implementation of the LOWSI, a questionnaire (Table S2) consisting of four questions and five possible responses (1-Strongly disagree, 2-Disagree, 3-Neutral, 4-Agree, 5-Strongly agree) was given to 8 fish farmers who had previously scored the welfare of lumpfish.

2.13. Statistical analysis

All data were analysed using R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). We used the Wilcoxon test to compute pseudo-medians and 95% CI on the Likert scale to estimate the perceived utility of each welfare Indicator (Mangiafico, 2016), and a cumulative link mixed model with the *chmm2* function in the R package ordinal to assess the degree of consensus among participants, having tested the proportional odds assumption via the *nominal test* and the *scale test* (Christensen, 2019). Consensus among lumpfish farmers on the practical application of the aggregated welfare score index was analysed with a cumulative link mixed model, as above.

To asses construct validity, we used changes in the Akalke Information Criterion (AIC) and the *MuMin* package (Barton, 2019) to investigate how the first two principal components of the aggregated welfare score (PC1, PC2) varied in relation to plasma cortisol and relative weight while statistically controlling for variation in body size. We tested model assumptions by examining the distribution of residuals with respect to linearity, normality, homogeneity of variances, and leverage using the *plot* command and the *gvima* package in R (Pena and Slate, 2019). Two observations were identified as overly influential outliers by the olstr R package (Hebball, 2020) and were excluded from the validation of relative weight (obs. #19, Cook's distance = 0.142, Studentized residual = 2.77) or cortisol (obs #17, Cook's distance = 2.31, Studentized residual = 2.84).

2.14. Ethical statement

The study was conducted following approval by Swansea University Ethics Committee (Permits SU-Ethics-Student-130718/692, SU-Ethics-Student-110618/713).

3. Results

3.1. Selection of operational welfare indicator (OWIs)

3.1.1. Percetved utility

The 12 OWIs considered by participants at the Lumpfish Welfare Workshop group differed significantly in perceived utility (type III analysis of deviance, $\chi 2 = 68.041$, df = 11, P < .001); model assumptions were met (tests of nominal effects, background LRT = 10.2, P = .12; tests of scale effects, trait LRT = 17.03, P = .11; background LRT = 1.13, P = .57). Fin eroston and body damage were considered to be the most useful, while body/eye darkening and blood parameters were considered to be the least useful (Table S1). Although participants differed in opinion about the utility of different OWIs for lumpfish, depending on their background ($\chi 2 = 11.504$, df = 2, P = .003), consensus was high, and 87% of them did not deviate significantly from the responses of the average rater.

3.1.2. Variation in OWIs

The prevalence of different welfare conditions varied significantly between stages of development (Fig. 2). For example, the prevalence of fish with external body damage was rare in hatcheries (2%), but common in sea cages (46%; z-test with continuity correction, $\chi^2 = 26.27$, df = 1, P < .001). In general, lumpfish in hatcheries were mostly affected by fin erosion, particularly of the caudal (52%) and pelvic fins (53%), and by suction cup deformities (37–58%), whereas lumpfish in the sea cages were more affected by eye damage (23%), which was significantly less common in hatcheries (7%, $\chi^2 = 3.89$, df = 1, P = .048). Such separation was confirmed by Principal Component Analysis (Fig. 3). PC1 accounted for 39% of variation and was mainly associated with sucker deformity (-0.78), eye darkening (0.67) and external body damage (0.64), while PC2 (21%) mostly captured variation in eye condition (-0.81) and fin damage (-0.46).

3.1.3. Incidence of underweight and emactated fish

The length-weight relationships of farmed lumpfish differed significantly between life stages (Table 1; life stage x total length

Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777

Interaction, $F_{3,2650} = 61.346$, P < .001). Growth was positively allometric (i.e. b > 3.0) in hatcheries, i.e. fish became progressively fatter as they grew, and negatively allometric (i.e. b < 3.0) in the sea, i.e. fish became progressively thinner over time. Using a common length-weight regression for all stages of development (instead or four) would introduce a mean absolute error of 5.2% in the estimation of relative weight, but this varied between 1.1% for stage S3 (just prior to deployment) to 9.5% for stage 1 (larvae). In general, a single lengthweight regression would overestimate relative weight in hatcheries (i.e. lumpfish would appear to be fatter than they really are) and underestimate It in sea cages (i.e. lumpfish would appear to be thinner).

The frequency of underweight fish (i.e. those with weights between 10% and 25% below their expected value) varied significantly between life stages ($\chi 2 = 8.235$, df = 3, P = .041), being highest prior to deployment (stage S3, 20.3%). In contrast, the incidence of emaclated fish (i.e. fish weighing 25% or less below the expected value) was significantly higher during the larval S1 stage (18.4%) than at any other stage ($\chi 2 = 121.51$, df = 3, P < .001; Fig. 4). Overall, 28% of the 2658 farmed lumpfish we sampled had lower than normal weights for their length, and 10% were emaclated.

3.1.4. Variation in plasma cortisol

Mean plasma cortisol differed significantly between life stages (Welch two sample t-test for unequal variances, t = 6.56, df = 35.975, P < .001), being approximately 7 times higher among post-deployment lumpfish sampled in salmon sea cages (mean = 84.70 ng/ml \pm 10.99 SE) than among pre-deployment juveniles sampled in hatcheries (mean = 11.61 ng/ml \pm 1.88 SE; Fig. 5). Cortisol values were also significantly more variable post-deployment (CV = 76.7%) than pre-deployment (CV = 72.6%; Filgner-Killeen test, $\chi 2 = 21.84$, df = 1, P < .001).

3.2. Validation of OWIs

3.2.1. Reliability

All welfare indicators showed good (ICC = 0.75-0.90) or excellent reliability (ICC > 0.9; Table 2) except for eye condition, which was



Fig. 3. Principal Components Analysis biplot of lumpfish welfare showing separation of individuals depending on their stage of development (pre-deployment vs. post-deployment) and relative influence of different welfare indicators.

Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777

Table 1

 $\label{eq:length-weight regression coefficients (\pm SE) for farmed lumpfish at different stages of development (log10 Ws = a + b-(log10 TL), where Ws = standard weight (g) and TL = total length (mm).$

Stage	Weight range (g)	N	a	D	\mathbb{R}^2	P
S1. Larvae	0-1	948	-5.023 ± 0.035	3.532 ± 0.038	0.903	< 0.001
S2. Pre-deployment	1-10	126	-4.301 ± 0.101	2.926 ± 0.060	0.950	< 0.001
S3. Pre-deployment	+10	1229	-4.737 ± 0.034	3.181 ± 0.016	0.970	< 0.001
S4. Post-deployment	+10	355	-3.516 ± 0.117	2.559 ± 0.058	0.847	< 0.001
All Stages	0-1380	2658	-4.692 ± 0.007	3.157 ± 0.004	0,996	< 0.001



Fig. 4. Variation in the proportion (\pm binomial 95% CI) of underweight (Wr = 90.75%) and emaciated (Wr < 75%) lumpfish (n = 2658) at different stages of development sampled from three hatcheries (stages \$1.53) and three sea farms (stage \$4).



Fig. 5. Variation in blood plasma cortisol (ng/ml) of lumpfish (n = 55) sampled in two hatcheries (stage S3 - pre-deployment) and one sea farm (stage S4 - postdeployment).

highly repeatable when measured by different raters (ICC = 1.0), but had a modest repeatability when it was assessed at two different times by the same rater (ICC = 0.60, 95% CI = 0.46-0.72). 3.2.2. Construct validity against relative weight and plasma cortisol

As both relative weight and cortisol differed significantly between stages of development (P < .001), construct validity was assessed separately for the pre- and post-deployment stages. Relative weight was found to be dependent on PC1 and PC2 and their interactions with total length during the pre-deployment stages ($F_{5.5.4} = 6.6$, $R_{\rm add}^2 = 0.32$, P < .001), but was only dependent on total length during post-deployment ($F_{1,32} = 6.19$, $R_{\rm add}^2 = 0.14$, P = .02). PC1 was a significant predictor of plasma cortisol during pre-deployment ($F_{1,17} = 8.98$, $R_{\rm add}^2 = 0.31$, P < .01), while PC2 and the interaction between PC2 and total length were significant cortisol predictors at post-deployment ($F_{3,31} = 4.58$, $R_{\rm add}^2 = 0.24$, P < .01).

3.3. Refinement and simplification

The caudal was the fin most commonly damaged (47%), the easiest to score, and also the one that showed the highest variation among individuals, with scores ranging from 0 to 4. The ventral section of the pectoral fins was also highly variable, but it was less affected by erosion (43%) than the caudal fin. Damage of the dorsal and anal fins was positively correlated (Spearman's $\rho = 0.302$, P < .01), as was damage on the anal fin and the ventral section of the pectoral fins (Spearman's $\rho = 0.222, P < .05)$, both positioned in the ventral part of the longitudinal axis of the lumpfish. Scores for the ventral section of the pectoral fin and deformities of the suction disc were also positively correlated ($\rho = 0.531$, P < .001). Inspection of the data indicated that scoring of the caudal fin would identify 74% of individuals that had also damage in other fins, and that scoring of the suction papillae was positively correlated with other suction cup conditions ($\rho = 0.786$, P < .001), indicating redundancy and lending support to the use of a simplified Welfare Score Index (Table 3).

3.4. Testing and application

The simplified Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index was tested on 245 farmed lumpfish from six commercial sites (three hatcheries and three sea farms), showing high repeatability (ICC = 0.826, 0.767-0.871, P < .001). Consensus among farmers on the performance of the index was high, as 75% of them did not deviate significantly from the average response; model assumptions were met (tests of nominal effects, trait LRT = 3.12, P = .37). Farmers agreed that it was easy to score, lasting less than 2 min per fish, and that it was practical and easy to implement at the farm. Moreover, they were also willing to train their staff to implement it (Table S2).

Overall, 71% of lumpfish were classified as class "A" (good welfare, unlikely to be compromised), 27% as class "B" (moderately compromised welfare) and 2% as class "C" (severely compromised welfare) but this differed significantly among farms (analysis of deviance on binomial proportions, $\chi 2 = 47.397$, df = 5, P < .001; Fig. 6). Mean LOWSI values ranged from 0.82 to 3.37 among the six sites, suggesting there was a $4 \times$ difference in welfare conditions. Post-hoc Tukey contrasts indicated that the welfare at one of the sea farms (Farm 1) was significantly poorer than the rest with 57% of fish classified as class "B" and 11% classified as class "C"; poor welfare was typically associated with fin damage and suction cup deformities on hatcheries, and poor

Table 2

Repeatability of different operational welfare indicators (OWI) based on the inter- and intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) of two raters (R1 and R2) independently scoring 95 farmed lumpfish.

OWI	Intra-rater repeatability (R1 at time 1 & time 2)			Inter-rater repeatability (R1 vs R2)		
	ICC	95 CI	P	201	95 CI	P
Body damage	0.82	0.74-0.87	< 0.001	0.83	0.76-0.88	< 0,001
Fin damage	0.79	0.68-0.86	< 0.001	0.93	0.90-0.96	< 0.001
Eye darkening	0.83	0.76-0.89	< 0.001	0.85	0.78-0.90	< 0.001
Eye condition	0.60	0.46-0.72	< 0.001	1.00	1.00-1.00	< 0.001
Sucker deformity	0.85	0.78-0.90	< 0.001	0.94	0.91-0.96	< 0.001

growth and eye damage in sea cages (Fig. 6).

4. Discussion

The salmon farming industry has been criticized for not doing enough to maintain the welfare of lumpfish (Compassion in World arming, 2018; 2019; Stranden, 2020) and for causing unacceptably high mortalities in some cases (European Union Reference Laboratory for Fish Diseases, 2016; Imsland et al., 2016; OneKind, 2018). This has caused concern among consumers and prompted some pressure groups to discourage the use of cleaner fish until high mortalities are addressed and welfare standards can be guaranteed (Marine Conservation Society, 2018; OneKind, 2018), Compassion in World Farming, pers. comm. 27/ 02/2020). The Norwegian Food Safety Authority has recently warned salmon farms that they may have to stop using cleaner fish if welfare standards are not met (Anon, 2020). However, it is difficult to maintain good welfare if farmers do not know what to measure. The development of welfare standards has been flagged as an urgent priority for lumpfish (FAWC, 2014; Noble et al., 2019; OneKind, 2018), because without standards, mortality is often the only indicator of compromised welfare, which is of course too late to take remedial action (Stranden, 2020). Although several welfare indicators have recently been proposed for lumpfish (Imsland et al., 2020; Noble et al., 2019), these have not been validated and there is a need for a simple index that fish farmers can use under working conditions.

We developed and validated a repeatable lumpfish operational welfare score index (LOWSI) that is easy to score and can be used for routine welfare assessment under commercial conditions with minimal training (Table 3). Our welfare index is based on the same OWIs recently employed to assess variation in growth and mortality of lumpfish in sea cages in Norway (Imsland et al., 2020), indicating that the welfare metrics we used are meaningful across contexts. Our screening at six commercial sites indicates that although the welfare of most lumpfish (71%) was not compromised (class "A"), it was likely compromised in 27% of cases (class "B"), and was clearly poor in the remaining 2% (class "C"). However, welfare scores varied by a factor of $4 \times$ among sites, and the prevalence of fish with good welfare varied three-fold (from 31% to 97% class A). This indicates that while some farms are already achieving high welfare standards, others are not.

One key finding from our study was the relatively high incidence of under-weight lumpfish at all stages of development, which raises ethical concerns. Our results indicate that 28% of lumpfish had lower than normal weights for their length, and 10% were clearly emaciated. In previous studies, between 10% and 30% of lumpfish were found to have empty stomachs in sea cages (Ellasen et al., 2018), and only 13–38% were found to eat sea lice (Ellasen et al., 2018; Imsland et al., 2014; Imsland et al., 2015b; Imsland et al., 2016), although this can be as low as 0% during the summer (Ellasen et al., 2018). Clearly, reducing the risk of emaciation is a major challenge for the ethical use of lumpfish. This could be achieved by supplementary feeding, better diets, and novel feeding methods (Imsland et al., 2019a; Imsland et al., 2019d), but also by reducing stress and excessive energy expenditure. In this sense, our length-weight charts could be used by fish farmers to regularly monitor growth, and to take remedial actions before emaclation becomes a problem. They could also be used to select elite lines that are efficient sea lice eaters (imsiand et al., 2016; imsiand et al., 2018d; Powell et al., 2018b), as they provide a benchmark against which growth can be easily compared.

Four welfare conditions were identified in our study that affected lumpfish differently depending on the stage of development, and which may have also increased the risk of emaciation: suction cup deformities and fin erosion in hatcheries, and eye damage and external body in-Juries in sea cages. The prevalence of fish with suction disk deformities was relatively high (mean 37%, range 3-69%), and was higher in hatcheries than in sea cages, probably because juveniles are typically screened for deformities before they are deployed. Treasurer et al. (2018a) reported that 65% of juveniles had deformed suction disks at one rearing facility, but as deformed fish are more likely to die (Hustad, 2008), the true frequency of deformities at birth is probably higher. The causes of suction cup deformities are unclear but nutritional, environmental, and genetic factors have been implicated in deformities in other species (reviewed in Bertilis (2015). Over one third of lumpfish larvae may show different types of malformations upon hatching (Hustad, 2008), which may be exacerbated by high temperatures during development (Imsland et al., 2019b). It has also been suggested that suction cup deformities may be associated with poor nutritional status (Kousoulakt et al., 2018), although it is more likely that deformities result in poor growth, rather than the other way around, as the suction cup is completely formed at hatching (Hanssen, 2018). Deformities may also result from inbreeding depression, as some lumpfish populations are very small and have gone through genetic bottlenecks (Whittaker et al., 2018). There is some evidence that deformities may vary among families (Danielsen, 2016), which might make it easier to select for deformity-free lines. Whatever the reasons, deformities are known to compromise the welfare of many farmed fish (Noble et al., 2012), and represent a particularly acute problem for lumpfish because they can affect the ability to rest (European Union Reference Laboratory for Fish Diseases, 2016; Imsland et al., 2018a; Imsland et al., 2015a; Johannesen et al., 2018; Leclercq et al., 2018), move (Davenport and Thorsteinsson, 1990), and perhaps also to cope with stress (Hvas et al., 2018). Unlike most other fish, lumpfish lack Mauthner neurons involved in the fast startle response, so their primary response to threat is to cling and hide, rather than to escape (Hale, 2000). A deformed, nonfunctional suction disc, therefore, will likely increase stress and energy expenditure.

Fin damage was another common welfare problem observed in our study. We found that 62% of juveniles had caudal fin damage in three hatcheries (range 50–93%), which is similar to the 69–87% prevalence reported by Johannesen et al. (2018). Many of the health conditions that affect lumpfish are stress related (Brooker et al., 2018; Powell et al., 2018b), and secondary bacterial and fungal infections will be exacerbated by fin and body damage, so any actions that reduce stress will likely improve welfare and survival. For example, manual feeding combined with automated pulse feeding may be used to reduce stress caused by competition (Johannesen et al., 2018), while regular grading may also reduce fin nipping and fin erosion (European Union Reference)

Table 3

Rapid visual scoring of the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI).

OWI	0 points	1 point	2 points
Skin damage • reddening • abrasion • wounds • ulcers	Ro damage	Moderate damage	Severe damage
Caudal fin damage • ray splitting • fin erosion	No damage	Moderate damage	Severe damage
Eye condition • cataracts • exophthalmia • injuries	R R R No damage	L R C R C R C R C R R C R R R R R R R R R	L R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R R
OWI	0 pointe	1 noint	2 points
Suction disc • asymmetry • indentation • depression • papillae • curling	No deformities, fully functional	Moderate deformity, some impairment	Severe deformity, non-functional
Relative weight	Normal Normal weight for its size (Wr>90%)	Underweight 10-25% below expected weight (Wr = 75-90%)	Emaciated 25% or more below expected weight (Wr = <75%)
Average LOWSI	Class A: <3 points Good welfare	Class B: 3-5 points Moderately compromised welfare	Class C: >5 points Severely compromised welfare
ACTION PLAN	No action needed Continue monitoring	Increase frequency of monitoring Check mortality Check diet and food delivery Check use of shelters Check diseases & parasites Check sources of stress Check environmental parameters	Consider immediate corrective actions Consult with Veterinary Services Consider culling (under veterinary advice) Continue monitoring & reassess

Aquacidaire 531 (2021) 735777

8



Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777

Fig. 6. Variation in the Lumpfish Operational Welfare Score Index (LOWSI) at six commercial sites (three hatcheries – H1-H3, and three sea farms, F1-F3; n = 245). The proportion of fish falling into each of the three welfare classes (A-C) is shown by the violin plots in different colours (class A, green: welfare unlikely to be compromised; class B, orange: moderately compromised welfare; class C, red: poor welfare). The radar plots at the top indicate the mean site scores for each of the five OWIs (scored from 0 to 2) that make up the LOWSI (FD – caudal fin damage; SC = suction cup deformity; RW – relative weight; BD – body damage; EC – eye condition).

Laboratory for Fish Diseases, 2016). Although lumpfish are relatively sedentary outside the spawning migrations (Powell et al., 2018a), delousing requires active swimming (Imsland et al., 2015b; Imsland et al., 2016; Leclercq et al., 2018), which may be compromised by damaged or eroded caudal fins. Salmon net pens are often thermally stratified which forces salmon to undertake vertical migrations (Oppedal et al., 2011), which cleaner fish must also follow to graze on sea lice. Some salmon pens may also be exposed to high current velocities (Johansson et al., 2014), which may exceed the 70–110 cm/s maximum current velocity lumpfish can withstand (Hvas et al., 2018). Damaged fins will likely make swimming less efficient and more energetically costly, leading to poor growth and increasing the risk of emaciation.

More than 15% of lumpfish displayed eye damage and poor eye condition in our study, particularly in sea cages, where this figure reached 26%. Maintaining healthy eyes is essential for sit-and-wait, visual feeders like the lumpfish (Powell et al., 2018a), which depend on having unimpaired vision to feed (Jonassen et al., 2017). Eye damage, cataracts and exophthalmia will likely affect feeding and may therefore also increase the risk of emaciation. While exophthalmia may be symptomatic of several underlying diseases (Austin et al., 2012), other conditions like cataracts may be improved by changes in diet (imsland et al., 2018c) and feeding regimes (Imsland et al., 2019c). Eye cataracts are rare among wild lumpfish, but can affect 20-100% of lumpfish in captivity (imsland et al., 2018c; Jonassen et al., 2017). Cataracts may be indicative of malnutrition (Jonassen et al., 2017), but also of overfeeding (Imsland et al., 2019c) and nutritional deficiencies (Imsland et al., 2018c). In our study, cataracts were detected in 17% of fish in sea cages, but only in 5% of juveniles in hatcheries (where nutrition is probably better controlled), which serves to highlight the importance of ensuring that lumpfish have access to suitable diets at all stages of development, and not just in hatcheries.

Seasonal changes in the welfare of lumpfish need to be monitored, and critical periods identified. For example, heavy mortalities have been reported during the summer (MOWI, 2019), when lumpfish tend to be more active (Leclercq et al., 2018), food is less abundant (Eltasen et al., 2018), and temperatures may exceed the species' optimum (Mortensen et al., 2020), making conditions more stressful. In this sense, our measurements of blood plasma cortisol provide some insights into the stress expertenced by lumpfish in salmon net-pens. We found a mean cortisol value of 85 ng/ml \pm 11 in sea cages, which is higher than that found for unstressed (5.6–16 ng/ml, or even stressed (36–63 ng/ml) lumpfish in other studies (Hvas and Oppedal, 2019; Hvas et al., 2018; Iversen et al., 2015; Jørgensen et al., 2017; Staven et al., 2019). Using a plasma cortisol cut-off of 63 ng/ml for stressed fish, our results suggest that 54% of the lumpfish we sampled in salmon net-pens might have been chronically stressed.

5. Conclusions

We developed and validated an operational welfare index for farmed lumpfish and tested its application across six commercial sites. The results indicate that the welfare of one third of the lumpfish we sampled was probably compromised, and in 2% of cases was undoubtedly poor.

6. Recommendations to improve the welfare of farmed lumpfish

Approximately one in four lumpfish was underweight, and one in ten was severely undernourished or emaciated. These figures appear unacceptably high, and highlight the need for a suitable feed management plan (lumpfish cannot be expected to rely on sea lice alone), as well as for the provision of suitable shelters where lumpfish can rest and be sheltered from strong currents. They also highlight the need for the artificial selection of elite lines that adapt well to captivity and are efficient at eating sea lice. Lumpfish are farmed to feed on sea lice, so underweight fish represent a system failure in every way, not just from a welfare and ethical angle, but also from an economic perspective.

Three of the four welfare conditions that affected lumpfish in our study may be expected to impact growth. Thus, loss of weight is a useful welfare metric for lumpfish because it results from multiple welfare insults. The percentile length-weight charts we developed should enable farmers to identify underweight and emaciated fish rapidly and easily at different stages of development.

A large proportion of lumpfish (37%) displayed suction cup deformities, both in hatcheries and in sea pens, and it is likely that this results in excessive energy expenditure, poor growth and compromised survival. A better understanding of the environmental and genetic basis of sucker deformities may help alleviate this problem, but rapid

screening methods are also needed to identify larvae with deformed suckers and exclude them from commercial production.

Almost half of the lumpfish in sea pens were affected by eye or skin damage, which represent potential routes of infection and may be indicative of underlying pathologies, but also of physical injury. While the incidence of eye cataracts can be reduced by changes in diet, improvements are also needed in the way lumpfish are handled during farm operations in order to reduce the risk of physical injury.

Fin damage appears widespread in lumpfish hatcheries, in common with many other intensively farmed fish. Frequent grading, provision of shelters, improvements in diet, use of on-demand feeders, and in general husbandry practices that reduce stress and aggression, have proved beneficial in other species and may also reduce fin damage in lumpfish.

A 4× fold difference in welfare scores was found between the best and worst farms, indicating considerable scope for improvement. There are now more than 530 salmon farms using lumpfish in Europe, each facing slightly different welfare challenges, but most of which source their lumpfish from a small number of hatcheries. This provides unique opportunities for ensuring that juveniles sent for deployment are free of suction cup deformities and other conditions that compromise welfare. In this sense, it is recommended that a Code of Best Welfare Practices is drawn with farmers, regulators and NGOs to ensure that the welfare of lumpfish is properly monitored, that farmers are trained in the use of operational welfare indicators, and that best practices are agreed and shared. Improving the welfare standards of lumpfish will result in better survival, better delousing efficacy, and ultimately, in fewer cleaner fish and a more sustainable and ethically sound industry.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https:// dot.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735777.

Statement of relevance

The operational welfare index presented here will enable fish farmers to monitor and improve the welfare of farmed lumpfish, making the industry more sustainable.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

Funding for this research was provided by a Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarship (KESS-II) to CGR in collaboration with Ocean Matters Ltd., and the ERDF SMARTAQUA Operation. We are grateful to Dave Cockerill, Matt Tomlinson[†], Joel Ellis, Anita Nielsen, Ronnie Hawkins, Connie Patillo, Daniel Phillips, Luis Fonseca, Ben Jennings, Sara Barrento, Sofia Tretiak, Paul Howes and Rebecca Stringwell for help with the OWI development and scoring, and to Craig Pooley, Rob Smith, Ben Whittaker, Sergio Trevi, Alex McCurrach, Ben Overland, Dominic Jarvis, and Edward Miller for making their length-weight data available to us.

References

Agen, S.M., Heigesen, K.O., Bakke, M.J., Kaur, K., Horsberg, T.E., 2015. Drug resistance in sea lice: a threat to salmonid aquanilize. Trends Parasitol. 31, 72–81.
Al Nahdi, A., García de Leaniz, C., King, A.J., 2016. Spatio-temporal variation in length weight relationships and condition of the ribbonfish Trichturus Ignarus (Linnaeus,

1758): implications for fisheries management. PLoS One 11, e0161989.

Anon, 2013. Murine Stewardship Council. Cleaner Fish Position Paper. pp. 12. Anun, 2020. Nasjonal disynskampunje 2018-2019: Velferd hos renselisk, (national oversight campaign 2018-2019: cleaner fish weifare). Mattilisynet, pp. 1–29. Austin, B., Austin, D.A., Austin, B., Austin, D.A., 2012. Bacterial Fish Pathogens. Springer. Bartlett, J.W., Prost, C., 2008. Reliability, repeatability and reproducibility: analy measurement errors in continuous variables. Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol. 31,

Aquaculare 531 (2021) 735777

466.475

rton, K., 2019. MuMin: Multi-Model Interence.

- ent of skeletal deformities in Bertillis, P., 2015. Factors that can lead to the develope s: a review. Journal of Fisheries Sciences 9, 17-23.
- Blackwell, B.G., Brown, M.L., Willis, D.W., 2000. Relative weight (Wr) status and current use in fisheries assessment and management. Rev. Fish. Sci. 8, 1–44. oker, A.J., Papadopoulou, A., Gutierrer, C., Rey, S., Davle, A., Migaud, H., 2018. Sustainable production and use of cleaner fish for the biological control of sea lice:
- recent advances and current challenges. Vet. Rec. 183, 1-11. mpneys, T., Castaldo, G., Consaegra, S., Garcia de Leaniz, C., 2018. Density-dr
- dent changes in neophobia and stress-coping styles in the world's oldest farmed fish. R. Soc. Open Sci. 5, 181473, Christensen, R.H.B., 2019. "Ordinal-Regression Models for Ordinal Data." R package
- Vienna, Austria, pp. 1-10,
- passion in World Farming, 2018. Scottish Parliament, EISF038. Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee. Environmental Impacts of salm
- farming, Writien submission from Compassion in World Farming, CIFW, pp. 4, Cooke, M., 2016. Animal Welfure in Farmed Fish, BBFAW Investor Briefing No. 23. Business Benchmark on Farm Animal Welfare, London, pp. 16.
- Core Team, R., 2019. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Costello, M.J., 2006, Ecology of sea lice parasitic on farmed and wild fish. Trends
- Parasitol. 22, 475-483. Co tello, M.J., 2009a. How sea lice fro
- m salmon farms may cause wild sain In Europe and North America and be a threat to fishes elsewhere, Proc. II, Soc. B 276, 394.
- Gostello, M.J., 2009b. The global economic cost of sea lice to the salmonid farming in-dustry. J. Fish Dis. 32, 115–118.
- telsen, M., 2016. Effect of Incubation Temperature on Eggs and Larvae of Lumpsucker (Cyclopsens humpus L.), Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries and Economics. Departmen of Arctic and Marine Biology. The Arctic University of Norway, Tromsø, Norway, pp. 87.
- ort, J., Thorsteinsson, V., 1990. Sucker action in the lumpsucker Cyclop Their himpus 1, Sarsla. 75, 33-42.
- Ellasen, K., Danielsen, E., Johannesen, Å., Joensen, L.L., Patursson, E.J., 2018. The cleaning efficacy of lumpfish (Cycloparus Jumpus L.) in Parcese salmon (Salmo a L.) farming pens in relation to lumpfish size and seasonality. Aquaculture, 488, AL_14
- pean Union Reference Laboratory for Fish Diseases, 2016. Cleaner Fish in Aquaculture: Health Management and Legislative Issues National Veterinary
- Institute. Technical University of Denmark, Copenhagen, pp. 35. FAWC, 2014. Opinion on the Welfare of Farmed Fish Farm Animal Welfare Committee,
- WG, 2014. Optimon on the venance of rational restrict restrictions. London, pp. 40. Iedal, O., Pettersen, J.M., Bracke, M.B.M., Stlen, L.H., Nilsson, J., Martins, C., Breck, O., Midtilyng, P.J., Kristlansen, T., 2016. On-farm evaluation of the Salmon Welfare Index Model (SWIM 1.0): theoretical and practical considerations. Anim. Welf. 25, 135-149.
- Freitas, R.H., Negrao, C.A., Felicio, A.K., Volnato, G.L., 2014, Eve darke easy and inexpensive indicator of stress in fish. Zoology (Jena). 117, 179-184. Gamer, M., Lemon, J., Pellows, L., Singh, P., 2019. Package 'in'. Various chefficient
- Interrater reliability and agreement. It package version 0.84,1. mervik, K., Tumbuli, J.F., Nielsen, K.V., Iversen, M.H., Nilsson, J., Espmark, Á.M., Metdell, C.M., Sæther, B.-S., Stien, L.H., Iznuterdo-Gomez, D., 2018, Welfare indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon: part C-ft for purpose OWIs for different ro-and operations. 2018. In: Welfare Indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon: tools
- ussessing fish welfare, pp. 238–351 351 pp. Brud, E.S., Svåsand, T., Glover, K., Husa, V., Hansen, P.K., Samuelsen, O., Sandhund, N., Stien, L.H., 2019. Risk Report Norwegian Fish Farming 2019 Environmental Effects of Salmon Farming, the Fish and the Sea 2019-5. Havforsknings Instituttet, pp. 115.
- Stale, M.E., 2000. Startle responses of fish without Mauth ic escare behavior of the lumpitsh (Cycloperus aurquat). Biol. Bull. 199, 180-182, assen, J.T., 2018. Effects on Growth, Survival and Bone Develo
- Feeding Lumpsucker (Cyclopierus hangus) Larvae with Artenita, Copepods and ated Feed. NUNU,

Hebball, A., 2020. R Package 'olarr'

- Hersoug, B., 2015. The greening of Norweglan salmon production. Maritime Studies.
- Hjeltnes, B., Walde, C.S., Jensen, B.B., Haukaas, A., 2018. The health situation in
- Norwegian aquaculture 2017. Norwegian Veterinary Institute 75, Hoyle, L. Otdimann, B., Elits, T., Turnbull, J., North, B., Nikolaidis, J., Knowles, T.G., 2007. A validated macroscopic key in assess fin dumage in farmed rainbow trout (Oncortynchus mystist). Aquaculture. 270, 142–148. Hustad, A., 2008. Effects of crude oil contaminated sediment on the early life stages of
- lumpsucker (Cyclopurus lumpus L.), Department of Aquatic BioSciences, Norwegian College of Fishery Science University of Tromsø Tromsø pp. 47.
- Huyben, D., Vidakovic, A., Sundh, H., Sundell, K., Klessling, A., Lundh, T., 2019. Haematolesical and Intertinal Institute and International Institute In Haematological and intestinal health parameters of rainbow trout are influenced by dietary live yeast and increased water temperature. Fish & Sheliftah Immunology, 89,
- Hvas, M., Oppedal, F., 2019. Physiological responses of farmed Atlantic salm
- cohabiliant species of cleaner fish to progressive hypoxia. Aquaculture. 512, 734353.
 Hvas, M., Folkedai, O., Imsiand, A., Oppedal, F., 2018. Metabolic rates, swimming cap-abilities, thermal niche and stress response of the lumpfish, Cyclopiena lampas. Biology Open 7, bto036079.
- nd, A.K., Reyn olds, P., Ellassen, G., Hangstad, T.A., Foss, A., Vikingstad, E.,

Elvegård, T.A., 2014. The use of lumpfish (Cyclopuerus lumpus L.) to control seu lice (Lopeoptizhetrus subnotis Krayer) intestations in Intensively farmed Atlantic salmon (Sulmo salar L.). Aquaculture, 424–425, 18–23. Imsland, A.K., Reynolds, P., Eltassen, G., Hungstad, T.A., Nytrø, A.V., Fors, A., Vikingstad,

- E., Elveghrd, T.A., 2015a. Assessment of suital fish in sea pens. strates for lump Aguac. Int. 23, 639-645.
- Imsland, A.K., Reynolds, P., Ellassen, G., Arne, T., Vigdisdatter, A., Foss, A., Vikingstad, E., Anders, T., 2015b. Feeding preferences of lumpfish (Cyclopurus Impus L.) maintained in open net-pens with Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Aquaculture, 436, 47-51.
- 97-31. Insland, A.K., Reynolds, P., Ellassen, G., Mortensen, A., Hansen, Ø.J., Puvanendran, V. Hangstad, T.A., Jönsdöttir, Ö.D.B., Emans, P.A., Elvegård, T.A., Lemmens, S.C.A., Rydland, R., Nytrø, A.V., Jonassen, T.M., 2016. Is cleaning behaviour in immfitha (Cyckepterns Jampus) parentally controlled? Aquaculture. 459, 356–165. Insland, A.K., Reynolds, P., Ellassen, G., Hangstad, T.A., Elvegård, T.A., Urskog, T.C., m. V., mpfish
- Mikalsen, B., 2018a. Assessment of artificial substrates for humpfish: effect of
- minimen, in, an other Association of Angune Int. 26, 1469–1479. Instand, A.K., Reynolds, P., Hangstad, T.A., Mondottir, O.D.B., Noble, T., Wilson, M., Mackle, J.A., Elvegård, T.A., Urskog, T.C., Mikalsen, B., 2018b. Feeding behaviour and growth of lumpfish (Cycloperna Amgun L) fed with feed blocks. Aquae. Res. 49, -2012 2006
- nd, A.K.D., Reynolds, P., Jonassen, T.M., Hungstad, T.A., Elvegård, T.A., Ursko T.C., Mikalsen, B., 2018c. Effects of three commercial diets on growth, cataract dement and histopathology of lumpfish (Cyclopurus lumpus L.). Aquac. Res. 49, 3131-3141.
- 3131-3144. Insland, A.K.D., Hanssen, A., Nyiri, A.V., Reynolds, F., Jonassen, T.M., Hangstad, T.A., Elvegård, T.A., Urskog, T.C., Mikalsen, B., 2018d. It workst Lumpfish can sig-nificantly lower sea lice infestation in large-scale salmon farming. Biology Open 7, htp036301.
- annassori, A.B.D., Progg, N., Stefansson, S.O., Reynolds, P., 2010a. Improving sea lice grazing of lumpifish (Cycloparus lumpus L.) by feeding live feeds prior in immater to Atlantic salmon (Salmo aular L.) net-pens. Aquaculture 511, 734224.
- and, A.K.D., Danleisen, M., Jonassen, T.M., Hangstad, T.A., Falk-Petersen, 1-8., Ten 2019b. Effect of incubation temperature on eggs and larvae of iumpflsh (Cyclopierus hmpss). Aquaculture, 498, 217-222,
- and, A.D., Reynolds, P., Jonassen, T.M., Hangstad, T.A., Elvegård, T.A., Urske T.C., Hanssen, A., Mikaisen, B., 2019c. Effects of different feeding frequencies of growth, cataract development and histopathology of lumpfish (Cyclopierus lumpis L.). rn. 501, 161-168.
- Imsland, A.K.D., Reynolds, P., Jonassen, T.M., Hangstad, T.A., Adron, J., Elvegård, T.A., Urskog, T.C., Hanssen, A., Mikalsen, B., 2019d. Comparison of diet composition, feeding, growth and health of lumpfish (Cyclopierus Iumpus L.) fed either feed blocks or pelleted commercial feed. Aquac. Res. 50, 1952–1963.
- Imsland, A.K., Reynolds, P., Lorentzen, M., Ellertsen, R.A., Micailef, G., Tvenning, R., 2020. Improving survival and health of lumpfish (Cycloporus lumpus L.) by the use of feed blocks and operational welfare indicators (OWIs) in commercial Atlantic salmon cages. Aquaculture, 735476.
- Iversen, M.H., Jakobsen, R., Ellassen, H., Ottesen, O., 2015. Sedasjon av bergylte og rognigels for å redusere stress og dødelighet [sedation of ballan wrasse and hampfish to reduce stress and mortality]. Norsk Fiskeoppdrett. 22-7, 42-46. Jackson, D., Moherg, O., Stenevik Djupevåg, E., Kane, F., Hareide, H., 2018. The drivers of sea lice management policies and huw best to integrate them into a risk man-
- nt strategy: an ecosystem approach to sea lice management, J. Fish Dis. 41, 027-033.
- sen, A., Joensen, N.E., Magnussen, E., 2018. Shelters can negatively affect growth weithre in lumpitsh if feed is delivered continuously. PeerJ. 6, e6837. on, D., Laursen, F., Ferno, A., Fosseidengen, J.E., Klebert, P., Stien, L.H., Vagseth, Teh and we
- T., Oppedal, F., 2014. The interaction between water currents and salmon swim ming behaviour in sea cages. PLoS One 9, e97635. Jonassen, T., Hamadi, M., Remø, S.C., Waagbø, R., 2017. An epidemiological study of
- cntaracts in wild and formed lumpfish (Cyclopterus hospus L.) and the relation to multition. J. Fish Dis. 40, 1903-1014.
- Jørgensen, E.H., Haatuft, A., Puvanendran, V., Mortensen, A., 2017. Effects of reduced water exchange rate and oxygen saturation on growth and stress indicators of juve-nile humpflub (Cyclopterus humpus L.) in aquaculture. Aquaculture. 474, 26–33. Rassamhara, A., Mundt, F., 2019. Factoextra: Extract and Visualize the Results of
- riate Data Analyses Multhe
- Multivarian Data Analyses, Kolarevic, J., Stien, L.H., Espinark, Å.M., Izquierdo-Gomez, D., Siether, B.-S., Nikson, J., Oppedal, F., Wright, D.W., Nielsen, K.V., Gismervik, K., 2018. Welfare indicators for formed Atlantic salmon: Part B-Pit for Purpose OWIs for different production sys-tems, 2018. Welfare indicators for farmed Atlantic salmon: tools for assessing fish
- welfare. 351 pp. pp. 146–237.Koo, T.K., IJ, M.Y., 2016. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass coefficients for reliability research. J. Chiropractic Med. 15, 155–163.
- coefficients for reliability research. J. Chiropractic Med. 15, 155–163.
 Koustulaki, K., Migaud, H., Davie, A., 2018. Cleaner fish species multitos and feeding practices. In: Treasurer, J.W. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. 5M Publications, Sheffleki, pp. 179–196.
 Leclerop, E., Zernin, B., Brooker, A.J., Davie, A., Migaud, H., 2018. Application of passive acoustic telemetry to explore the behaviour of ballan wrase (Labvar bergvin) and however, in creating the sensitive acoustic telemetry to explore the behaviour of ballan wrase (Labvar bergvin).
- lumpfish (Cyclopterus lumpus) in commercial Scottish salmon sest-pens. Aquaculture, 405, 1-12
- Manglaffeo, S.S., 2016. Summary and analysis of extension program evaluation in R. Introduction to Likert data. Descriptive statistics for Likert data. Introduction to

cumulative link models (CLM) for ordinal data. Confidence intervals for medians. rcompanion.org/handbook/[Pdfversion:rcompanion.org/docum RHandbookProgramEvaluation.pdf.

- Marine Conservation Society, 2018. Use of Cleaner Fish in Salmon Farming: Current Use, Concerns and Recommendations. pp. 16. Mokkink, L.B., Terwee, C.B., Knol, D.L., Stratford, F.W., Alonso, J., Patrick, D.L., Bouter,
- LM., De Vet, H.C.W., 2010. The OXSMIN checkliss for evaluating the methodological quality of studies on measurement properties: a clarification of its content. IIMC Med. Res. Methodol. 10, 22.
- Moriensen, A., Johansen, R.H., Hansen, Ø.J., Puvanendran, V., 2020. Temperature preference of juvenile lumpfish (Cyclopserus lumpus) originating from the southern and northern parts of Norway, J. Therm. Biol. 102562.
- MOWI, 2019. Warm Temperatures Challenge Fish Health. Noble, C., Jones, H.A.C., Damsgård, B., Flood, M.J., Midling, K.O., Roque, A., Sæiter,
- B.S., Cottee, S.Y., 2012. Injuries and deformities in fish: their potential impacts upo aquacultural production and weikare. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 61–83. Noble, C., Giamervik, K., Iversen, M.H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stlen, L.H., Turnbull, al impacts upon
- J.F., 2018; Welfare Indicators for Farmed Atlantic Salmon: Tools for Assessing Fish re, NOFTMA.
- Noble, C., Iversen, M.H., Lein, L., Kolarevic, J., Johansen, L.-H., Berge, G.M., Burg E., Puvanendrun, V., Mortensen, A., Stene, A., Espmark, Å.M., 2019. Rensvel OWI fact sheet series: an introduction to operational and laboratory-based welfure indicators
- for lumpfish (Cycloperus lampus L.), pp. 46. North, B.P., Ellis, T., Knowles, T., Bron, J., Turnbull, J.F., 2008. The Use of Stakeholder Focus Groups to Identify Indicators for the on-Farm Assessment of Trout Welfare. Fish
- welture, Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 243–267.O'Connor, K.L., Metcalfe, N.B., Taylor, A.C., 1999. Does darkening signal submission in territorial contests between juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar? Anim. Behav. 58 1269-1276
- Stind, 2018. Cleaner fish welfare on Scotland's Salmon farms. OneRind, Edinburgh 24. Onexina, and e. Cramer nor weature on scottanor's samon rams. Orestina, rainourge 24. Oppedal, F., Dempster, T., Silen, L.H., 2011. Environmenial drivers of Atlancific salmon behaviour in see-cages: a review. Aquacultare, 311, 1–18. Pavildis, M., Dégiar, N., Theodoridi, A., Campo, A., Barsakis, K., Skouradakis, G., Samaras, A., Tsalafouta, A., 2013. Husbandry of zebratah, Denko rero, and the cortisol stress
- response, Zebrafish, 10, 524-531, a, E.A., Slate, E.H., 2019. Package 'gvima'. Global Validation of Linear Mo
- Assumptions. Pettersen, J.M., Bracke, M.B.M., Midilyng, P.J., Folkedal, O., Stien, I.H., Steffenak, H., Bristianien, T.S., 2014. Salmon weifure index model 2.0: an extended model for overall weifure assessment of caged Atlantic salmon, based on a review of selected
- weitare indicators and intended for fish health professionals. Rev. Aquac. 6, 162–170.
 Powell, A., Treasurer, J.W., Pooley, G.L., Keny, A.J., Lloyd, R., Imsland, A.K., Garcia de Leantz, C., 2018b. Use of lumpfish for sea-lice control in salmont farming: challenges and opportunities. Rev. Aquac. 10, 683–702.
 Powell, A., Pooley, C., Sculamaechia, M., Garcia de Leantz, C., 2018a. Review of humpfish weil.
- biology. In: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications.
- 5M Publishing Ltd, Sheffield, pp. 98–121. Rodriguez-Barreto, D., Rey, O., Uren-Webster, T.M., Castaldo, G., Consuegra, S., Garcia de Leaniz, C., 2019. Transcriptomic response to aquaculture intensification in Nile I lapia, Evol. Appl. 12, 1757–1771.Rousing, T., Bonde, M., Sørensen, J.T., 2001. Aggregating welfare indicators into an scriptomic response to aquaculture intensification in Nile II-
- operational welfare assessment system; a bottom-up approach. Acta Agriculturae
- Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science, 51, 53-57. RSPCA, 2018. RSPCA standards for farmed Atlantic Salmon. Royal Society for the
- Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, Horsham, UK pp. 89. em, F.H., Nordelde, J.T., Imsland, A.K., Andersen, F., Iversen, N.S., Kristensen, T., 2010: Is habituation measurable in lumpfish Cycloprome langua when used as cleaner fish in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar aquaculture? Frontiers in Veterinary Science 6.
- Boh III Atlantic Salurou Source and source equinaments in contrasts in Accessing presence science, L.H., Starkerssen, K.V., Gabres, S.K., 2020. Analysis of morticality data from survey on cleaner fish welfare, Postboks 1870 Nordnes 5817 Bergen, pp. 33.
- Stranden, A.I., 2020. Norwegian fish famers reprimanded for p fish. (sciencenorway.com.forskning.no). or treatment of cleaner
- Suter, H.C., Huntingford, F.A., 2002. Eye colour in juventle Atlantic salm on: effects of social status, aggression and foraging success. J. Fish Biol. 61, 606-614, Thavasa, P., Longhumi, S., Joel, S., Slevin, M., Balkwill, F., 1992. Measuring cytokine
- levels in blood. Importance of anticoagulants, processing, and storage co L. znot Immunol. Methods 153, 115-124. Toni, M., Manriocco, A., Angiulli, E., Alleva, E., Cloni, C., Malavasi, S., 2019. Assessing
- fish welfare in research and aquaculture, with a focus on European direct Animal. 13, 161-170.
- ssen, O., Jones, S., Asche, F., Guttormsen, A., Skilbrei, O.T., Nilsen, F., Horsberg, Tor T.E., Jackson, D., 2013. Salmon Ree - Impact on wild salmonids and salmon aqu rulture, J., Bish Dis, 36, 171–194.
 Treasurer, J., Fieldi, T., 2014. The physical condition and welfure of five species of wild-
- caught wrasse stocked under aquiculture conditions and when stocked in Atlantic salmon, Somo salar, production cages. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 45, 213–219.
- Treasurer, J., Noble, C., Puvanendran, V., Rey Planellas, S., Iversen, M.H., 2018a. Cleaner fish welfare. In: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Cleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. 5M Publishing Ltd., Sheffleid, pp. 287-318.
- er, J., Prickett, R., Zietz, M., Hempleman, C., Garcia de Leantz, C., 2018b. Cleaner Bish rearing and deployment in the UK. In: Treasurer, J. (Ed.), Gleaner Fish Biology and Aquaculture Applications. 5M Publishing Idd, Sheffield, pp. 376–391.
 Turnhull, J.F., Richards, R.H., Robertson, D.A., 1996. Gross, histological and scanning

electron microscopic appearance of dorsal fin rot in farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L, parr. J. Fich Dis. 19, 415-427. Uren Websier, T.M., Rodriguez-Barrelo, D., Martin, S.A.M., van Oosterhout, C., Orozen-ter/Wengel, P., Cable, J., Hamilton, A., Garria de Leantz, C., Consuegra, S., 2018. Gontrasting effects of acute and chronic stress on the transcriptome, epigenome, and timuine response of Atlantic salmon. Epigenetics. 13, 1101–1207. Uren Webster, T.M., Rodriguez-Barrelo, D., Consuegra, S., Garcia de Leaniz, C., 2020. Cortisol-related signatures of stress in the fish microbiome. Prontiers in Microbiology

826503. van de Vis, J.W., Poelman, M., Lamboolj, E., Begout, M.L., Pilarczyk, M., 2012. Fish weifare assurance system: Initial steps to set up an effective tool to safeguard and monitor farmed fish welfare at a company level. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 243–257. Whittaker, B.A., Consuegra, S., Garcín de Leaniz, C., 2018. Genetic and phenotypic dif-ferentiation of lampfish (Cyclopienia barguar) across the North Atlantic: Implications for conservation and aquaculture. PeerJ. 6, e5074.

Aquaculture 531 (2021) 735777